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FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA, 

CHAPTEH XXXV. 

IN the autumn of 1863, while we were preparing for 
the usual winter tour, Sir Hugh Rose, who had accom- 
panied Lord Elgin on a trip through the hills, telegraphed 
to the Head-Quarters staff to join him at Mian Mir without 
delay. 

The news which greeted us on our arrival was indeed 
disturbing. Lord Elgin was at Dharmsala in a dying 
condition, and the Chief had been obliged to leave him and 
push on to Lahore, in consequence of unsatisfactory reports 
from Brigadier-Genera1 Chamberlain, who was just then 
commanding an expedition which had been sent into the 
mountains near Peshawar, and had met with unexpected 
opposition. The civil authorities on the spot reported 
that there existed a great deal of excitement all along 
the border, that the tribes were collecting in large 
numbers, that emissaries from Kabul had appeared 
amongst them, and that, unless reinforcements could be 
sent up at once, the Government would be involved in a 
war which must inevitably lead to the most serious com- 
plications, not only on the frontier, but with Afghanistan. 

VOL. n. 33 
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In so grave a light did the Lieutenant-Governor, Sir 
Robert Montgomery, view the position, that he contem- 
plated the force being withdrawn and the undertaking 
abandoned. 

Sir Hugh had had nothing to do with the despatch of thie 
expedition; it had been decided on by the Government of 
India in consultation with the Lieutenant-Governor of the  
Punjab. When the Commander-in-Chief was communi- 
cated with, he expressed himself adverse to the proposal, 
and placed hie views at length before the Government, 
pointing out the inexpediency of entering a di5cnlt and  
unknown country, unless the troops were properly 
equipped with transport, supplies, and reserve ammu- 
nition; that time did not permit of their being so 
equipped before the winter set in ;  and that, to provide a 
force of 5,000 men (the strength considered necessary by 
the Government), the frontier would have to be dangerously 
weakened. Moreover, he gave it as his opinion that i t  
would be better to postpone operations until the spring, 
when everything could be perfectly arranged. Subsequent 
events proved how sound was this advice. But before 
proceeding with my narrative it will be as well to 
explain the circumstances which led the authorities to 
undertake this expedition. 

In  1857, when all our resources were required to quell 
internal tumult, the Hindustani fanatics* took the oppor- 

* In 1825 a religious edventurer from Bareilly made his appeanrnoe 
on the Yuaafzai frontier with about forty Hindustani followers, and 
gave out that he was a man of superior sanctity, and had a divine 
oommand to wage a war of exterminetion, with the aid of all true 
believers, against the infidel. After studying Arabio at Delhi, he 
proceeded to Meoca by way of Calcutta, and during thie journey hie 
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tunity to stir up disturbances all along the Yusafzai frontier 
of the Peshawar district, and, aided by the rebel sepoys who 
had fled to them for protection, they made raids upon our 
border, and committed all kinds of atrocities. We were 
obliged, therefore, to send an expedition against them in 
1858, which resulted in their being driven from their 
stronghold, Sitana, and in the neighbouring tribes being 
bound down to prevent their re-occupying that place. Three 
years later the fanatics returned to their former haunts and 
built up a new settlement a t  Malka; the old troubles re- 
commenced, and for two years they had been allowed to 
go on raiding, murdering, and attacking our outposts with 
impunity. I t  was, therefore, quite time that measures 
should be taken to effectually rid the frontier of these 
disturbers of the peace, provided such measures could 
have been decided upon early enough in the year to 
ensure success. 

The Punjab Government advocated the despatch of a very 
strong force. Accordingly, two columns were employed, 
the base of one being in the Peshawar valley, and that of 
the other in Hazara. The Peshawar column was to move 
by the Umheyla Pass, the Buner frontier, and the Chamla 
valley, thus operating on the enemy's line of retreat. This 
route would not have been chosen, had not Chamberlain 
been assured by the civil authorities that no hostility need 
- - - -- - -- -- - - - 

doctrines had obtained so great an aecendency over the minds of the 
Mahomednns of Bengal that they have ever since supplied the colony 
which Syad Ahm~d Shah founded in Yusafzai with money and recruits. 
The Yyad waa eventually slain fighting against the Sikhs, but hia 
followers established themselves at Sitana, and in the neigWourhood 
of that p h  they continue to flourish, notwithstanding that we have 
deetroyed their settlements more than once during the leet forty yearn. 
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be feared from the Bunerwals, even if their country had to 
be entered, as they had given no trouble for fifteen years, 
and their spiritual head, the Akhund of Swat,* had no 
sympathy with the fanatics. I t  was not, therefore, con- 
sidered necesdary to warn the Buner people of our approach 
until preparations were completed ; indeed, it was thought 
madvieable to do so, as it was important to keep the 
proposed line of advance secret. The strength of the force 
was 6,000 men, with 19 guns, but to make up these 
numbers the stations in Upper India had to be coneiderably 
weakened, and there was no reserve nearer than Lahore. 

The Peshawar column t being all ready for a start, a 
Proclamation was forwarded to the Buner and other neigh- 
bowing tribes, informing them of the object of the expedition, 
and stating that there was no intention of interfering with 
them or their possessions. 

On the following morning, the 20th October, the Umbeyla 
Pass was entered, and by noon the kotal: mas reached 

The Akhund of Swat was a Inan of seventy years of age at  the 
time of the Urnbeyla expedition; he had led a holy life, and had gained 
such an influence over the minds of Mahomedans in general, that 
they believed he waa supplied by supernatural means with the 
n e c e d e s  of life, and that every morning, on rising from his prayers, 
a sum of money sufficient for the day's expenditure waa found under 
his praying carpet. 

t The Peshnwar colunln consisted of half of 19th Company Royal 
Artillery, No. 3 Punjab Light Field Battery, the Peshawnr and Hazara 
Mountain Batteries, the 71st and lOlst Foot, the Guides, one troop 11th 
Bengal Lancers, one comparly Bengal Yappers and Miners, 14th Sikhs, 
20th Punjnb Infantry, 32nd Pioneers, lst ,  ard, 5th and 6th Punjab 
Infantry, and 6th Gurkhas. The Hazara column consisted of a wing 
of the 51st l'oot, 300 Nntive Cavrrlry, a regiment of Native Infantry 
and eight guns, holding Darbnnd, Torbela, and Topi on the Indue. 

$ The highest point of a paw crowing a mountain range. 
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without any resistance to speak of ; but, from information 
brought in, it was evident that any further advance would 
be stoutly opposed. The road turned out to be much more 
difficult than had bean anticipated, and the hurriedly 
collected transport proved unequal to the strain. Not a 
single baggage animal, except the ammunition mules, got 
up that night; indeed, it was not until the morning of 
the 22nd-more than forty-eight hours after they started 
-that the rear guard reached the kotal, a distance of only 
six miles. As soon as it arrived Colonel Alex. Taylor, R.E., 
was sent off with a body of Cavalry, under Lieutenant- 
Colonel Probyn, to reconnoitre the road in front. The 
delay in reaching the top of the pass had given the tribes 
time to collect, and when the reconnoitring party entered 
the Chamla valley the Bunerwals could be seen about two 
miles and a half off, occupying in force the range which I 

separates Buner from Chamla. Whatever may have been 
their first intention, they apparently could not resist the 
temptation to try and cut off this small body of Cavalry, 
for our horsemen on their return journey found a large 
number of the trusted Bliner tribe attempting to block the 
mouth of the pass. A charge was made, but mounted men 
could not do much in such a hilly country ; the proceedings 
of the Bunerwals, however, had been observed from the 
kotal, and Major Brownlow,' with some of his own regiment 
(the 20th Punjab Infantry), was sent to the assistance of 
the party. A hand-to-hand fight ensued, and the enemy 
pressed our troops closely on their way back, coming right 
in amongst them with the utmost daring. 

Now General Sir Charles Brownlow, G.C.B. 
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There was now brought in to the Commissioner by a spy 
the copy of a letter from the Hindustani fanatics, addressed 
to the Bunerwals, telling them not to be taken in by our 
assurances that our only object was to punish the fanatics, 
for our real intentions were to annex Chamla, Buner, and 
Swat. This letter no doubt aroused the suspicions of the  
tribes, and, encouraged by the slowness of our movements, 
they all joined against us from Buner, Mahaban, and the 
Black Mountain. 

On the 23rd large bodies of men with numerous standards 
were to be seen approaching the mouth of the pass, and a 
day or two later a report was received that our foes were to 
have the support of the Akhund of Swat, which meant a 

most formidable accession of moral as well as material 
strength, and put a stop, for the time being, to any possi- 
bility of a successful advance being made with the force 
at Chamberlain's disposal. 

The position occupied by our troops mas enclosed on 
the left (west) by the Guru Mountain, which separates 
Umbeyla from Buner, and on the right (east) by a range of 
hills, not quite so high. The main piquet on the Guru 
occupied a position a h v e  some precipitous cliffs known as 

the Eagle's Nest, while that on the right was designated 
the 'Crag piquet.' The Eagle's Sest was only large 
enough to accommodate 110 men, so 120 more were placed 
under the shelter of some rocks at its base, and the 
remainder of the troops told off for the defence of the left 
piquet were drawn up on and about a rocky knoll, 400 feet 
west of the Eagle's Nest. 

Some 2,000 of the enemy occupied a breastwork on the 
crest of a spur of the Guru Mountain ; and about noon on 
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the 26th they moved down, and with loud shouta attacked 
the Eagle's Nest. Their matchlock men posted themselves 
to the greatest advantage in a wood, and opened a galling 
fire upon our defences, while their swordsmen made a 
determined advance. The nature of the ground prevented 
our guns from being brought to bear upon the assailants, 
end they were thus able to get across the open space 
in front of the piquet, and plant their standards close 
under its parapet. For some considerable time they re- 
mained in this position, all our efforts to dislodge them 
proving of no avail. Eventually, however, they were forced 
to give way and were driven up the hill, leaving the ground 
covered with their dead, and a great many wounded, who- 
were taken into our hospitals and carefully treated, while a 
still greater number were carried off by their friends. Our 
losses were, 2 British officers, 1 Native officer, and 26 men 
killed ; and 2 British officers, 7 Native officers, and 86 men 
wounded. 

The day following the fight the Bunerwals were told they 
might carry away their dead, and we took advantage of 
their acceptance of this permission to reason with them aa 
to the uselessness of an unnecessary sacrifice of their tribes- 
men, which would be the certain result of further oppo- 
sition to us. Their demeanour was courteous, and they 
conversed freely with General Chamberlain and Colonel 
Reynell Taylor, the Commissioner, but they made i t  
evident that they were determined not to give in. 

Our position had now become rather awkward; there 
was a combination against us of all the tribes between the 
Indue and the Kabul rivers, and their numbers could not 
be less than 15,000 armed men. Mutual animositiee were 
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for the time allowed to remain in abeyance, and the tribes 
all flocked to fight under the Akhund's standard in the 
interests of their common faith. Moreover, there was 
trouble in the rear from the people along the Ynsafzei 
border, who assisted the enemy by worrying our lines of 
communication. Under these changed conditions, and with 
such an inadequate force, Chamberlain came to the con- 
clusion that, for the moment, he could only remain on the 
defensive, and trust to time, to the discouragement which 
repeated unsuccessful attacks were sure to produce on the 
enemy, cmd to the gradual decrease of their numbers, to 
break up the combination against us ; for, as these tribes- 
men only bring with them the quantity of food they are 
able to carry, as soon as it is finished they are bound to 
suspend operations till more can be procured. 

For three weeks almost daily attacks were made on our 
position; the enemy fought magnificently, some of them 
being killed inside our batteries, and twice they gained 
possession of the ' Crag piquet,' the key of the position, 
which it was essential should be retaken at all hazards. 
On the second occasion General Chamberlain himself led 
the attacking party, and was so severely wounded that he  
was obliged to relinquish the command of the force. 

The Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, being convinced 
that reinforcements were necessary, in consultation with 
Colonels Durand*. and Norman (the Foreign and Military 
Secretaries, who had come to Lahore to meet the Viceroy), 
and without waiting for the sanction of the Comrnander-in- 
Chief, ordered to the frontier the three regiments which had 

* The late Sir Henry Marion Durand, K.C.S.I., C.B., afterwardo 
Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab. 
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been detailed for the Viceroy's camp,* as well as the 93rd 
Highlandere, then at Sialkot ; and when Sir Hugh Rose 
on his arrival at Lahore heard of the heavy losses the 
expeditionary force had sustained, and of General Chamber- 
lain being hors & covtbat from his wound, further rein- 
forcementa from every direction were hurried to the front. 
Subeeqnently, however, it became a question whether the 
troope ehould not be withdrawn altogether, and the punish- 
ment of the fanatics given up, the Government of India 
and the.Punjab Government being completely in accord in 
favouring this view, while the Commissioner of Peshawar, 
Major James (who had succeeded Repel1 Taylor), t and Sir 
Hugh Rose were as strongly opposed to a retrograde 
movement. The Commander-in-Chief pointed out to the 
'Government that the loss of prestige and power we must 
sustain by retiring from the Umbeyla Pass would be more 
dieastrous, both from a military and political point of view, 
than anything that could happen save the destruction of 
the force itself, and that General Chamberlain, on whose 
sound judgment he could rely, was quite sure that a re- 
tirement was unnecessar;v. 

Unfortunately at this time the Viceroy died at Dharmsala, 
and the question remained in abeyance pending the arrival 
of Sir William Denison, Governor of Madras, who was 
coming round to take over the reins of Government until a 
succeesor to Lord Elgin should be sent from England. 

In the meantime Sir Hugh Rose was most anxious to 
obtain exact information respecting our position at Umbeyle, 

7th Royd Fuailiers, 28rd Pioneers, and '24th Punjab Native 
Infantry. 

t Reynell Taylor r e m i n d  with the force M political officer. 
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the means of operating from it, the nature of the ground 
--in fact, all details which could only be satishtorily 
obtained by sending someone to report on the situation, 
with whom he had had personal communication regardmg 
the pointe about which he required to be enlightened. He 
therefore determined to despatch two officers on special 
service, whose duty it would be to put the Commander-in- 
Chief in possession of all the facts of the cam; accord- 
ingly, Colonel Adye* (Deputy-Adjutant-General of Royal 
Artillery) and I were ordered to proceed to Umbeyla without 
delay. 

Adye proved a most charming travelling companion, 
clever and entertaining, and I think we both enjoyed our 
journey. We reached the pass on the 25th November. 

There had been no fighting for some dnys, and most of 
the wounded had been removed. Sir Xeville Chamber- 
lain wae still in camp, and I was sorry to find him snfler- 
ing greatly from his wound. We were much interested in 
going over the piquets and listening to the story of the 
Merent  attacks made upon them, xhich had evidently 
been conducted by the enemy with as much skill aa 
c0urage.t The loyalty of our Xative soldiers struck me as 

General Sir John Adye, G.C.R. 
t The expedition was an admirable school for training men in outpod 

duty. The Patham and Gurkhas were quite at home at such work, 
and not only able to take care of themselves, but when stalked by the 
enemy were equal to a counter-stalk, often most mcceasful. The enemy 
used to joke with Brownlow's and Keyes's men on them occaeiom, and 
my, 'We don't want you. \\'here are tho la1 paqriwaIar? [as the 
14th Sikha were called from their la1 pugria (red turbans)] or the gwo- 
log [the Europeans]? They are better rhikar [sport] I' The tribes- 
man soon diecovered that the Sikhs and Europeans, though full of 
fight, were very helpless on the hill-side, and could not keep their h e d .  
under cover. 
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having been most remarkable. Not a single desertion had 
murred, although all the Native regiments engaged, with 
the exception of the Gurkhas and Punjab Pioneers, had 
amongst them members of the several tribes we were fight- 
ing, and many of our soldiers were even closely related 
to some of the hostile tribesmen ; on one occasion a young 
Buner sepoy actually recognized his own father amongst 
the enemy's dead when the fight was over.* 

We listened to many tales of the gallantry of the British 
oficere. The names of Brownlow, Iieyes, t and Hughes : 
were on everyone's lips, and Brownlow's defence of the 
Eagle's Sest on the 2Gth October, and of the ' Crag piquet ' 
on the 12th November, spoke volumes for his coolness and 
pluck, and for the implicit faith reposed in him by the 
men of the 20th Punjab Infantry, the regiment he had 
raised in 1857 when but a subaltern. In his oBcial 
report the General remarked that ' to Major Brownlow's 
determination and personal example he attributed the pre- 
m a t i o n  of the " Crag piquet." ' And Keyes'e recapture 

* Colonel Reynell Taylor, whilst bearing like testi~nony to the good 
aonduct of the Pathan soldiery, Beid the personal influence of o5cers 
wi l l  always be found to be the only stand-by for the O o v e m e n t  
interests when the religious cry is raised, and the fidelity of o w  t r o o p  
b being tampered with. Pay, pensions, and orders of merit may, and 
m u l d  be, m t  to the winds when the Lonow of the faith was in the 
d e ;  but to snap the associations of years, and to turn in his hour of 
need against the man whom he has proved to be just and worthy, 
whom he has noted in tho hour of danger, and praised aa a hero to his 
family, is just what a Pathan will not do-to his honour be it scrid. 
The fact wan that the officers in camp had been so long and kindly 
d t e d  with their soldiers thnt the latter were willing to net them 
before their great religions teacher, the Akhund of Swat (' Records of 
Expeditions against the North-West Frontier Tribes ';. 
f The late Oenersl Sir Charles Keyes, O.C.B. 
$ The late Major-General T. E. Hughes, C.B., Royal Artillery. 
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of the same piquet was described by Sir Neville as ' a 
most brilliant exploit, stamping Major Keyes as an officer 
possessing some of the highest military qualifications.' 
Brownlow and Keyes were both recommended for the 
Victoria Cross. 

We (Adye and I) had no difticulty in making up our 
minds as to the course which ought to be taken. The 
column was daily being strengthened by the arrival of rein- 
forcements, and although the combination of the tribes- 
men was still formidable, the enemy were showing signs of 
being disheartened by their many losses, and of a wish to 
come to'terms. 

Having consulted the civil and military authorities on 
the spot, we informed the Commander-in-Chief that they 
were of opinion a withdrawal would be most unwise, and 
that it was hoped that on the arrival of General Garvock 
(Chamberlain's successor) an advance would be made into 
the Chamla valley, for there would then be a sufficient 
number of troops to undertake an onward move, as well ee 

to hold the present position, which, as we told the Chief, 
was one of the strongest we had ever seen. 

Sir n7illiam Denison reached Calcutta on the 2nd 
December. h careful study of the correspondence in con- 
nexion with the Umbeyla expedition satisfied him that the 
Commander-in-Chief's views were correct, and that e 

retirement would be unwise. 
Sir Hugh Rose had previously requested to be allowed to 

personally conduct the operations, and in anticipation of 
the Government acceding to his request, he had sent a 
light camp to Hasan Abdal, from which place he intended 
to push on to Umbeyla; and with the object of collecting 
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troops near the frontier, where they would be available as 
a reserve should the expedition not be soon and errtie- 
factorily settled, he desired me to select an encamping- 
ground between Rawal Pindi and Attuck suitable for 
10,000 men. 

Leaving Adye in the pass, I started for Attuck, where I 
spent three days riding about in search of a promising site 
for the camp. I settled upon a place near Hasan Abdal, 
which, however, was not in the end made use of. The 
people of the country were very helpful to me ; indeed, 
when they heard I had been a friend of John Nicholson, 
they seemed to think they could not do enough for me, 
and delighted in talking of their old leader, whom they 
declared to be the greatest man they had ever known. 

On my return I marched up the pass with the Rev. W. 
G. Cowie* and Probyn, who, with 400 Cavalry, had been 
ordered to the front to be in readiness for a move into 
the Chamla valley. James, the Commissioner, had been 
working to detach the Bunerwals from the combination 
against us, and on the afternoon of our arrivnl a depu- 
tation of their headmen arrived in camp, and before their 
departure the next morning they promised to accompany a 
force proceeding to destroy Nalka, and to expel the Hindu- 
stani fanatics from the Buner country. Later, however, a 
messenger came in to say they could not fulfil their 
promise, being unable to resist the prestlure brought to 
bear upon them by their co-religionists. The man further 
reported that large numbers of fresh tribesmen had 
appeared on the wane, and that it was intended to attack 
us on the 16th. He advised the Commissioner to take the 

* Now Bishop of Ancklend and Primete of New Zealand. 
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initiative, and gave him to understand that if we advanced 
the Bunermals would stand aloof. 

Sir Hugh Rose had been accorded permission to take 
command of the troops in the field, and had sent word to 
General Garvock not ' to attempt any operations until 
further orders.' James, however, thinking that the situa- 
tion demanded immediate action, as disturbances had 
broken out in other parts of the Peshamar valley, deprecated 
delay, and pressed Garvock to advance, telling him that a 
euccessful fight would put matters straight. Garvock con- 
sented to follow the Commissioner's advice, and arranged 
to move on the following day. 

The force was divided into three columns. The first and 
second-consisting of about 4,800 men, and commanded 
respectively by Colonel W. Turner, C.B.,' and Lieutenant- 
Colonel Wilde, C.B.-mere to form the attacking party, 
while the third, about 3,000 strong, under the command of 
Lieutenant-Colonel Vaughan,t was to be left for the pro- 
tection of the camp. 

At daybreak, on the 15th, the troops for the advance, 
unencumbered by tents or baggage, and each man carrying 
two days' rations, assembled at the base of the 'Crag 
piquet.' Turner, an excellent officer, who dnring the short 
time he had been at Umbeyla had inspired great confidence 
by his soldierly qualities, had on the previous after- 
noon reconnoitred to the right of the camp, and had dis- 
covered that about 4,000 men were holding the village of 
Lalu, from which it was necessary to dislodge them before 
Umbeyla could be attacked. On being told to advance, 

* The late Brigadier-General Sir W. \V. Turner, K.C.B. 
t General Sir T. L. Vaughan, K.C.B. 
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therefore, Turner moved off in the direction of Lalu, and, 
driving the enemy's piquets before him, occupied the heights 
overlooking the valley, out of which rose, immediately in 
front about 200 yards off, a conical hill which hid Lalu 
from view. This hill, which wns crowded with Hindustani 
fanatics and their Pathnn allies, was a most formidable 
position ; the sides were precipitous, and the summit was 
strengthened by sangara.* No further move could be 
made until thr enemy were dislodged, so Turner lined 
the heights all round with his Infantry, and opened fire 
with his Mountain guns. Meanwhile, Wilde's column had 
cleared off the enemy from the front of the camp, and 
formed up on Turner's left. On the advnnce being sounded, 
Turner's Infnntry rushed down the slopes, and in ten 
minutes could be seen driving the enemy from the heights 
on his right; at the same time the lOlst Fusiliers, the 
leading regiment of Wilde's colnmn, made strnight for the 
top of the conical hill, nnd, under cover of the fire from 
the Mountain guns of both columns, and supported by the 
Guides and 2Srd Pioneers, they climbed the almost perpen- 
dicular aides. When near the top a short halt was made 
to give the men time to get their breath ; the signal being 
then given, amidst a shower of bullets and huge atones, 
the position was stormed, nnd carried at the point 
of the bayonet. I t  was a grand sight nu Adye and 
I watched it from Hughes's battery ; but we were con- 
siderably relieved when we perceived the enemy flying 
down the sides of the hill, and heard the cheers of the 
gallant Fusiliers as they stood victorious on the highest peak. 

+ Stone breastworks. 
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Now that the enemy were on the run it was the time bo 

press them, and this Turner did so effectually that the 
leading men of his column entered Lalu simultaneously 
with the last of the fugitives. The rapidity of this move- 
ment was so unexpected that it threw the enemy inside the 
walls into confusion ; they made no stand, and were soon 
in full retreat towards Umbeyla and the passes leading into 
Buner. 

While affairs were thus prospering on our right, the 
enemy, apparently imagining we were too busy to think 
of our left, came in large numbers from the village of 
Umbeyla, threatening the camp and the co~nmunications 
of the second column. Wilde, however, was prepared for 
them, and held his ground until reinforced by Turner, 
when he made a forward movement. The Guides, and 
detachments of the 5th Gurkhas and 3rd Sikhs, charged 
down one spur, and the lOlst down another; the enemy 
were driven off with great slaughter, leaving a standard in 
the hands of the Gurkhas, and exposing themselves in their 
flight to Turner's guns. During the day they returned, 
and, gathering on the heights, made several unsuccessful 
attacks upon our camp. At last, about 2 p.m., Brownlow, 
who was in command of the right defences, assumed the  
offensive, and, aided by Keyes, moved out of the breast- 
works and, by a succession of well-executed chargea, com- 
pletely cleared the whole front of the position, and drove 
the tribesmen with great loss into the plain below. 

All opposition having now ceased, and the foe being in  
full retreat, the force bivouacked for the night. 71Te had 
16 killed and 67 wounded ; while our opponents admitted 
to 400 killed and wounded. 
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The next morning we were joined by Probyn with 
200 sabres of the 11th Bengal Lancers and the same 
number of the Guides ; and after a hasty breakfast the 

order was given to march into the Chamla valley. My 
duty was to accompany the Mountain batteries and show 
them the way. Ae we debouched into comparatively open 
country, the enemy appeared on a ridge which completely 
covered our approach to Umbeyla, and we could descry 
many standards flying on the most prominent pointe. , 

The road was so extremely di5cult that it wee* half- 
past two o'clock before the whole force was clear of the 
hills. 

General Garvock, having made a careful reconnaissance 
of the enemy's position, which was of g e a t  strength and 
peculiarly capable of defence, had decided to turn their 
right, a movement which was to be entrusted to the second 
column, and I was told to inform Turner that he must 
try and cut them off from the Buner Pass as they re- 
treated. I found Turner close to Umbeyla and delivered 
my message. He moved forward a t  once with the 2Srd 
Pioneers and a wing of the 32nd Pioneers in line, s u p  
ported by the second wing, having in reserve a wing of 
the 7th Royal Fusiliers. 

When we had paseed the village of Umbeyla, which 
was in flames, having been set fire to by our Cavalry, the 
wing of the S2nd was brought up in prolongation of our 
line to the right. The advance was continued to within 
about 800 yards of the Buner Paes, when Turner, observing 
a large body of the enemy threatening hie left flank, imme- 
diately sent two companies of the Royal Fusiliers in that 
direction. Just at that moment a band of Ghazie furiou~ly 

VOL. n. 34 
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attacked the left Bank, which was at a disadvantage, having 
got into broken ground covered with low jungle. In a few 
seconds five of the Pioneer British officers were on the 
ground, one killed and four wounded ; numbers of the men 

,were knocked over, and the rest, staggered by the sudden- 
ness of the onslaught, fell back on their reserve, where 
they found the needed support, for the Fusiliers stood as 
fum as a rock. At the critical moment when the Ghotiu 
made their charge, Wright, the Assistant-Adjutant-General, 
and I, being close by, rushed in amongst the Pioneers and 
called on them to follow us ; as we were personally known 
to the men of both regiments, they quickly pulled them- 
selves together and responded to our efforts to rally them. 
It was lucky they did so, for had there been any delay or 
hesitation, the enemy, who thronged the slopes above us, 
would certainly have come down in great numbers, and 
we should have had a most difficult task. As it was, we 
were entirely successful in repulsing t h ~  Ghazis, not a man 
~f whom escaped. We counted 200 of the enemy killed; our 
losees were comparatively s l i g h t 8  killed and 80 wounded. 

We bivoutwked for the night near the village of Embeyla, 
and the next morning the Bunerwals, who, true to their 
word, had taken no part in the fighting on the 15th or 16th, 
came in and made their submission. 

The question which now had to be decided was, whether 
a force fully equipped and strong enough to overcome al l  
opposition should be sent to destroy the fanatic settlement 
of Malka, or whether the work of annihilation should be 
entrusted to the Bunerwals, witnessed by British o5cers- 
The latter course was eventually adopted, chiefly on account 
of the delay which provisioning a brigade would entail-+ 
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delay which the Commissioner was anxious to avoid-for 
although for the present the combination had broken up, 
and most of the tribesmen were dispersing to their homes, 
the Akhund of Swnt and his followers were still hovering 
about in the neighbourhood, nnd inaction on our part 
would in all probability have led to a fresh gathering 
and renewed hostilities. 

The terms which were drawn up, and to which the 
Bunerwnls agreed, were : 

The breaking-up of the tribal gathering in the Buner 
Pass. 

The destruction of Malka ; those carrying out the work 
to be accompanied by British officers and such escort as 
might be considered necessary by us. 

The expulsion of the Hindustanis from the Buner, 
Chamla, and Amazai countries. 

And, finally, it was stipulated that the headmen of their 
tribe should be left as hostages until such time as these 
requirements should have been fulfilled. 

On the afternoon of Saturday, the 19th December, the 
little party of British officers who were to witness the 
destruction of Malka assembled at Umbeyla. Its members 
were Reynell Taylor (who was in charge), Alex. Taylor 
(Commanding Engineer), two Survey officers, Wright, Adye, 
and myself. Twenty-five Cavalry and 4 companies of the 
Guides Infantry, under four officers, formed our escort, and 
it had been arranged that we were to be accompanied by 
four leading Buner Khans, with 2,000 followers, who would 
be responsible for our safety, and destroy the fanatics' 
stronghold in our presence. Rain was tslling heavily, but 
as all our arrangements had been made, and delay was 
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considered undesirable, it was settled that we should make 
a start. I t  was rough travelling, and it was almost dark 
when we reached Kuria, only eight miles on our way, where 
we halted for the night, and where we had to remain the  
next day, as the Bunerwals declared the-y could not continue 
the journey until they had come to an understanding with 
the Amazais, in whose territory Malka was situated. 

We had noticed on leaving Umbeyla that, instead of 
2,000 Bunerwals, there were only about sixty or seventy 
at the most, and in reply to our repeated questions as to 
what had become of the remainder, we were told they 
would join us later on. I t  soon became evident, however, 
that no more were coming, and that the Khans thought it 
wiser to trust to their own influence with the Amazais 
rather than to intimidation. 

We made a fresh start on the morning of the 21st. 

Malka was only twelve miles off, but the way was eo 

difficult, and our guides stopped so often to consult with 
the numerous bands of armed men we came across, that  
it was sunset before we arrived at our destination. 

hfalka was perched on a spur of the Mahabun mountain, 
some distance below its highest peak. It was a strong, 1 

well-built place, with accommodation for about 1,500 I 

people. The Amazais did not attempt to disguise their 
disgust at our presence in their country, and they gathered 
in knots, scowling and pointing at us, evidently discussing 
whether we should or should not be allowed to return. 

The next morning Malka was set on fire, and the huge , 
column of smoke which ascended from the burning village, 
and was visible for miles round, did not tend to allay 
the ill-feeling so plainly displayed. The Native o5cers of 



1 Saa] AfALKA DESTROYED 21 

the Guides warned us that delay was dangerous, as the 
people were becoming momentarily more excited, and were 
vowing we should never return. I t  was no use, however, to 
attempt to make a move without the consent uf the tribes- 
men, for we were a mere handful compared to the thousands 
who had assembled around M a l l ,  and we were separated 
from our camp by twenty miles of most difficult country. 
Our position was no doubt extremely critical, and it wee 
well for us that we had at our head such a cool, determined 
leader as Fbynell Taylor. I greatly admired the calm, 
quiet manner in which he went up and spoke to the head- 
men, telling them that, the object of our visit having  bee^ 
accomplished, we were ready to retrace our steps. At th is  
the Amazais became still further excited. They talked in 
loud tones, and gesticulated in true Pathan fashion, throng- 
ing round Taylor, who stood quite alone and perfectly self- 
poesessed in the midst of the angry and dangerous-looking 
multitude. At this crisis the Bunerwals came to our rescue. 
The most influential of the tribe, a grey-bearded warrior, who 
had lost an eye and an arm in some tribal contest, forced 
his way through the rapidly increasing crowd to Taylor's 
side, and, raking his one arm to enjoin silence, delivered ' 
himself as follows: 'You are hesitating whether you 
will allow these English to return unmolested. You can, 
of course, murder them and their escort; but if you do, 
you must kill us Bunerwals first, for we have sworn to 
protect them, and we will do so with our lives.' This 
plucky speech p r o d u d  a quieting effect, and taking 
advantage of the lull in the storm, we set out on our return 
journey ; but evidently the tribesmen did not consider the 
question finally or satisfactorily settled, for they followed us 
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the whole way to Kuria. The slopes of the hills on both sides 
were covered with Hen. Several times we were stopped 
while stormy discussions took place, and once, as we were 
passing through a narrow defile, an armed Amazai, waving 
a standard above his head, rushed down towards us. 
Fortunately for us, he was stopped by some of those 1- 
inimically disposed; for if he had succeeded in inciting 
anyone to fire a single shot, the desire for blood wodd 
quickly have spread, and in all probability not one of our 
party would have escaped. 

On the 28rd December we reached our camp in the  
Umbeyla Pass, when the force, which had only been kept 
there till our return, retired to the plains and was broken 

UP. 
During my absence at Umbeyla my wife remained with 

friends at Mian Mir for some time, and then made her way 
to Peshawar, where I joined her on Christmas Day. She 
spent one night en route in Sir Hugh Rose's camp at 
Hasan Abdal, and found the Chief in great excitement and 
very angry at such a small party having been sent to 
Nalka, and placed at the mercy of the tribes. He did ' not know that my wife had arrived, and in passing her 
tent she heard him say: ' I t  was madness, and not one 
of them will ever come back alive.' She was of course 
dreadfully frightened. As soon as Sir Hugh heard she 
was in camp, he went to see her, and tried to soften down 
what he knew she must have heard; but he could not 
conceal his apprehension ; and my poor wife's anxiety wee 
terrible, for she did not hear another word till the morning 
of the day I returned to her. 



CHAPTER XXXVI. 

EARLY in the Sew Year (1864) Sir Hugh Rose, with the 
Head-Quarters camp, marched into Peshawar, where we 
remained until the middle of February. The time was 
chiefly spent in inspections, parades, and field-days, varied 
by an occasional run with the hounds. The hunting about 
Peshawar was very fair, and we all, the Chief included, got 
a great deal of fun out of our small pack. 

On the 26th January a full-drese parade was held to 
announce to the garrison that Sir John Lawrence had 
been appointed Viceroy of India, and soon afterwards we 
left Peshawar and began our return march to Simla. 

We changed our house thie year and took one cloae to 
the Stewarts, an arrangement for which I was very thank- 
ful later, when my wife had a great sorrow in the death of 
her sister, Mrs. Sladen, at Peshawar. It was everything 
for her at such a time to have a kind and sympathizing 
friend close at hand, when I was engaged with my work 
and coulii be very little with her during the day. At this 
time, as at all others, Sir Hugh Rose was a most considerate 
friend to us ; he placed his house a t  Mashobra at my wife's 
disposal, thus providing her with a quiet reeort which she 
frequently made use of and which she learned to love MI 
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much that, when I returned to Simla as Commander-in- 
Chief, her first thought was to secure this lovely ' Retreat ' 
as a refuge from the (sometimes) slightly trying gaiety of 
Simla 

The Commander-in-Chief was good enough to send in 
my name for a brevet for the Umbeyla expedition, but the  
Viceroy refused to forward the recommendation, for the  
reason that I was 'too junior to be made a Lieutenant- 
Colonel.' I was then thirty-two ! 

Throughout the whole of 1864 I was more or less ill ; 
the office work (which never suited me quite as well ss 
more active employment) was excessive, for, in addition to 
the ordinary routine, I had undertaken to revise the 
'Bengal Route-Book,' which had become quite obsolete, 
having been compiled in 1837, when Kurnal was our 
frontier station. A voyage round the Cape was still con- 
sidered the panacea for all Indian ailments, and the doctors 
strongly advised my taking leave to England, and travelling 
by that route. 

We left Simla towards the end of October, and, after 
spending the next three months in Calcutta, where I was 
chiefly employed in taking up transports and superintend- 
ing the embarkation of troops returning to England, I was 
given the command of a batch of 300 time-expired men on 
board the Renotrn, one of Green's frigate-built ships which 
was chartered for their conveyance. TWO hundred of the 
men belonged to the 2nd and 3rd Battalions of the M e  
Brigade, the remainder to the Artillery and various other 
corps; they had all been twelve years in the army, and 
most of them were decorated tor service in the Crimea and 
Indian Mutiny. 
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At the inspection parade before we embarked, a certain 
number of men were brought up for punishment for various 
offences committed on the way down country ; none of the 
misdemeanours appeared to me very serious, so I deter- 
mined to let the culprits off. I told the men that we had 
now met for the first time and I was unwilling to com- 
mence our acquaintance by awarding punishments; we 
had to spend three or four months together, and I hoped 
they would show, by their good behaviour while under my 
command, that I had not made a mistake in condoning 
their transgressions The officers seemed somewhat sur- 
prised at my action in this matter, but I think it was 
proved by the men's subsequent conduct that I had not 
judged them incorrectly, for they all behaved in quite an 
exemplary manner throughout the voyage. 

We had been on board more than six weeb, when one of 
the crew was attacked by small-pox-an untoward circum- 
stance in a crowded ship. The sailor was placed in a 
boat which was hung over the ship's side, and a cabin-boy, 
the marks on whoee face plainly showed that he had 
already sdered badly from the disease, was told off to look 
a h r  him. The man recovered, and there was no other 
case. Shortly before we reached St. Helena, scurvy 
appeared amongst the troops, necessitating lime-juice being 
given in larger quantities, but what proved a more effectual 
remedy was water-cress, many sacks of which were laid in 
before we left the island. 

On the 29th May, 1865, we sighted the 'Lizard,' and 
took a pilot on board, who brought with him a few . 
newspapers, which confirmed the tidings signalled to us 
by an American ship that the war between the Federals 
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and Confederates was at an end. How eagerly we scanned 
the journals, after having heard nothing from home for 
four months, but the only piece of newe we found of 
personal interest to ourselves was &hat my father had 
been made a K.C.B. 

On the 80th May we reached Portsmouth, and landed 
between two ehowers of snow! I had a final parade 
of the men before leaving the ship, and I was quite 
sorry to say good-bye to them; some of the poor fellowa 
were already beginning to be anxious about their future, 
and to regret that their time with the colonrs waa 
over. 

My father, mother, and sister came up to London to 
meet us, very little changed since I had left them six years 
before. I remained in England till March, 1866, when I 
returned to India, leaving my wife behind to follow in the 
autumn. 

While I was a t  home, Sir Hugh Rose's term of the chief 
command in India came to an end, and his place had 
been taken by Sir William Mansfield. On my arrival in 

- Calcutta, I received orders to join the Allahabad divkion, 
and thither I proceeded. In October I went to Calcutta 
to meet my wife and take her to Allahabad, where we 
remained for nearly a year, her first experience of a hot 
season in the plains, and a very bad one it was. Cholera 
was rife ; the troops had to be sent away into camps, more 
or less distant from the station, all of which had to be 
visited once, if not twice, daily; this kept me pretty well 
on the move from morning till night. I t  was a sad time 
for everyone. People we had seen alive and well one day 
were dead and buried the next; and in the midst of all 
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this sorrow and tragedy, the most irksome-because such 
an incongruous-part of our experience was that we had 
mnstantly to get up entertainments, penny reading, and 
the like, to amuse the men and keep their minds ocaupied, 
for it once soldiers begin to think of the terrors of cholera, 
they are seized with panic, and many get the disease from 
pure fright. 

My wife usually accompanied me to the cholera camp,  
preferring to do this rather than be left alone at home. On 
one occasion, I had just got into our carriage after going 
round the hospital, when a young o5cer ran after us to 
tell me a corporal in whom I had been much interested was 
dead. The poor fellow's face was blue; the cholera panic 
had evidently seized him, and I said to my wife, ' He will 
be the next.' I had no sooner reached home than I re- 
ceived a report of his having been seized. 

We were fortunate in having at Allahabad as Chaplain 
the present Bishop of Lahore, who, with his wife, had only 
lately come to India ; they never wearied in doing all that 
was possible for the soldiers. Bishop Matthew is still one 
of our closest friends; his good, charming, and accom- 
plished wife, alas ! died some years ago. 

We remained at hllahabad until August, 1867, when we 
heard that s brigade from Bengal was likely to be required 
to take part in sn  expedition which would probably be sent 
from Bombay to Abyssinia for the relief of some Europeans 
whom the King, Theodore, had imprisoned, and that the 
Molintain battery, on the strength of which my name was 
still borne, would in such case be employed. I therefore 
thought I had better go to Simla, see the authorities, and 
arrange for rejoining my battery, if the rumour turned out 
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to be true. The cholera had now disappeared, so I was at 

liberty to take leave, and we both looked forward to a 
cooler climate and a change to brighter scenes after the  
wretched experience we had been through. On my a m v a l  
at Simla I called upon the Commander-in-Chief and bold 
him that, i f  my battery was sent on service, I wished 
to join it and was quite ready to resign my staff appoint- 
ment. 

Sir William Mansfield was particularly kind in his 
reception of me, from which I augured well; but I could 
learn nothing definite, and it was not until quite the'end 
of September that it was announced that Colonel Donald 
Stewart was to have command of the Bengal Brigade with 
the Abyssinian Force, and that I was to be his Assistant- I 

~uartermaster-~eneral. We at once hastened back to 
Allahabad, where we only remained long enough to pack 
up what we wanted to take with us, and arrange for the 
disposal of our property ; thence we proceeded to Calcutta, 
where, for the next two months, I had a busy time taking 1 
up transports and superintending the equipment of the 
force. 

I had often read and heard of the difficulties and deb-n, 
experienced by troops landing in a foreign country, in 
consequence of their requirements not being all shipped 
in the same vessels with themselves-men in one ehip, 
camp equipage in another, transport and field hospital 
in a third, or perhaps the mules in one and their pack- 
saddles in another ; and I determined to try and prevent 
these mistakes upon this occasion. With Stewart's 
approval, I arranged that each detachment should embark 
complete in every detail, which resulted in the t roop  
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being landed and marched off without the least delay ae 
each vessel reached its destination.* 

We were living with the Stawarta in the Commander- 
in-Chiefs quarters in Fort Wl iam,  which His Excellency 
had placed at our disposal for the time being. On the 
1st November Calcutta was visited by the second cyclone 
within my experience. We had arranged to go to the 
opera that evening, but when it mas time to start the 
wind was so high that there seemed every chance of the 
carriage being blown over before we could get there, eo 
we decided not to attempt it. I t  was well we did, for the 
few adventurous spirits who struggled through the storm 
had the greatest difficulty in getting back to their homes. 
The opera-house was unroofed before the performance was 
half over, and very little of the building remained standing 
the next day. At bedtime we still thought it mas only a 
bad storm, but towards midnight the wind increased to an 

4 The average strength of the regimente wee as follows: 10th and 
12th Bengal Cavalry, each 9 British oficers, 18 Native oficers, 460 
non-commiseioned officers and men, 8 Native doctors, 4&9 homes, 
8!2!2 mules. 680 followers. 2lst and 28rd Punjab Infantry, each 
9 British officers, 18 Sative officers, 788 non-commissioned oficers 
and men. 8 Native doctors, 10 horses, 850 mules, 400 followers. I 
found that six s h i p  were required for the conveyance of a Cavalry and 
four for that of an Infantry regiment ; for the Mountain battery three 
ships were necessary, and for the ooolie corps (1,650 strong) four ; in all 
twenty-seven s h i p ,  beeides nine tugs. I n  selecting ships, care WM 

taken to secure those intended for Artillery or Cavalry as high 'tween- 
decks as possible; a sufficient number of these were procurable a t  
Calcutta, either iron clippers from Liverpool or large North American 
built traders, with decks varying from 7 feet 6 inches to 8 feet 2 inch- 
high. I gave the preference to wooden ehip, es being cooler and more 
e d y  ventilated. The vessels taken up were each from 1,000 to 1,400 
tons, averaging in length from 150 to 200 feet, with a beam varying 
from 80 to 86 feet, and usually they had a clear upper deck, where 
from forty to fifty snimals were accommodated. 
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elarming extent, and my wife awoke me, and begged me 

to get up, as the windows were being burst open and 
deluges of rain coming in. Stewart and I tried to re- 
close the windows, hut the thick iron bare had been bent 
in two and forced out of their sockets ; a heavy oak plate- 
chest and boxes, which we with much difficulty d r a g d  
across the windows, were blown into the middle of the 
dining-room, like so much cardboard, and the whole place 

wes gradually flooded. K e  were driven out of each room 
in turn, till at length we aU took refuge in a small 
box room, about ten feet wide, right in the middle of the 
house, where we remained the rest of the night and ' hoped 
for the day.' 

Towards morning the wind abated, but what a scene of 
desolation was that upon which we emerged ! The m m a  
looked as if they could never be made habitable again, 
and much of our property was floating about in a foot 
of water. 

My first thought was for the shipping, and I harried 
down to the river to see how my transports had fared. 
Things were much better than I expected to h d  them- 
only two had been damaged. Most fortunately the cyclone, 
having come from a different direction, wee not accom- 
panied by a storm-wave such as that which worked so 
much miwhief amongst the shipping on a former occasion, 
but the destruction on land was even greater: all the  
h e s t  trees were torn up by the roots, a great pert of the 
Native bazaar was levelled, and lay from two to three 
feet deep in water, while many houses were wholly 
or partly demolished. We came across most curious 
sights when driving round Calcutta in the evening; 
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eome of the houses were divided clean down the centre, 
one half crumbled into a heap of ruins, the other half 
still standing and displaying, as in a doll's house, the 
furniture in the d8erent stories. 

The work of filling up and loading the vessels was greatly 
retarded, owing to a large number of cargo boats having 
been sunk, consequently it was the 5th December before 
the first transport got off; from that date the others started 
in quick succession, and on the 9th January, 1868, Stewart 
and his staff left Calcutta in the P. and 0. steamer 
ffo2condu. The officers and men of the Mountain battery 
were also on board, Captain Bogle in command, my friend 
Jemmy Hills in my place as second Captain, and Collen* 
and Disneg as subalterns. Mrs. Stewart and my wife 
accompanied us as far as Aden, where they were left to the 
kind care of Major-General Russell, t commanding there 
at the time, until the arrival of the mail-steamer in which 
they were to proceed to England. 

On the 3rd February we anchored in Annesley Bay and 
landed at Zula. 

Now Major-General 8i Edwin Collen, K.C.I.E., Military Member 
of the Governor-General's Council. 

t Now General Sir Edward Leahmew Rneeell. K.C.S.I. 



CHAPTER XXXVII. 

IT will, perhaps, be as well to recall to the reader's mind 
that the object of the expedition in which we were taking 
part was to rescue some sixty Europeans, who, from one 
cause or another, had found their way to Abyssinia, and 
been made prisoners by the King of that country. Amongst 
these were four English officials, Mr. Raseam, and Captain 
Cameron, who had at different times been the bearere 
of letters from Queen Victoria to King Theodore, and Lien- 
tenant Prideaux and Dr. Blanc of the Bombay Army; the 
rest were chiefly French and German missionaries, and 
artisans, with their wives and children. The prisoners were 
confined in a fort built on the Magdlla plateau, 9,150 feet 
above sea-level, and 379 miles inland from Annesley Bay. 

The repeated demands of the British Government for 
the restoration of the prisoners having been treated with 
contemptuous silence by the King, Colonel Merewether, 
the Political Agent at Aden, who in July, 1867, had been 
directed to proceed to Maesowa and endeavour to obtain 
the release of the captives, and to make inquiries and 
collect information in case of an expedition having to be 
sent, reported to the Secretary of State that he had failed 
to communicate with the King, and urged the advisability 
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of immediate measures being taken to prepare a fotce in 
India for the punishment of Theodore and the rescue of 
the prisoners. Colonel Merewether added that in Abyssinia 
the opinion had become very general that England knew 
herself to be too weak to resent insult, and that amongst 
the peoples of the neighbouring countries, even so far 
as Aden, there was a feeling of contemptuous surprise 
at the continued long-suffering endurance of the British 
Government. 

On receipt of this communication, Her Majesty's 
Government, having exhausted all their resources for 
the preservation of peace, decided to send an expedition 
from India under the oommand of Lieutenant-General Sir 
Robert Napier, the Commander-in-Chief of the Bombay 
Army. After carefully considering the distance along 
which operations would have to be prosecuted, and the 
necessity for holding a number of detached poets, Napier 
gave it as his opinion that the force should consist of not 
less than 12,000 men.* 

Profiting by the experience of the Crimean war, the 
Government was determined that the mobility of the force 
should not be hampered by want of food and clothing. 
Stores of all descriptions were despatched in unetinted 
quantities from England, and three of the steamers in 
which they were conveyed were fitted up as hospital 
ships. But food, clothing, and stores, however liberally 
supplied, would not take the army to Magdala without 
transport. 

The numbere actually despatched from India were 18,648, of whom 
3,786 were Europeans. In addition, a eompeny of Royal Engineers 
wcur sent from Enghd .  

VOL. n. 35 
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The question as to the most suitable organization for t h e  
Land Transport Corps occupied a good deal of Sir Robert 
Napier's attention while the expedition was being fitted 
out, and caused a considerable amount of correspondence 
between him and the Bombay Government. The Com- 
missary-General wished to keep the corps under hie own 
orders, and objected to its being given an entirely military 
organization. Sir Robert Napier preferred to establish 
the corps on an independent basis, but was at first over- 
ruled by the Bombay Government. While acting in 
accordance with their orders, the Commander-in-Chief 
wrote: ' I believe that the success of systems depends 
more on the men who work them than on the systems 
themselves ; but I cannot accept without protest a decision 
to throw such a body of men as the drivers of our transport 
animals will be (if we get them) on an expedition in a 

. foreign country without a very complete organization to 
secure order and discipline.' Eventually Sir Robert got 
his own way, but much valuable time had been lost, and the 
corps mas organized on too small a scale ;* the officers and 
non-commissioned officers were not sent to Zula in sufficient 
time or in sufficient numbers to take charge of the transport 
animals as they arrived. 

A compact, properly-supervised train of 2,600 mules, 
with serviceable, well-fitting pack-saddles, was sent from 
the Punjab ; and from Bombay came 1,400 mules and ponies 
and 5,600 bullocks, but these numbers proving altogether 
inadequate to the needs of the expedition, they were 

* At first it was thought thnt 10,000 mules, with a coolie corps 
8,000 strong, would stdice, but before the expedition wee over it was 
found neceeesry to purchase 18,000 mules, 1,500 ponies, 1,800 donkeyq 
12,000 camels, and 8,400 bullocks. 
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supplemented by animals purchased in Persia, Egypt, and 
on the shores of the Mediterranean. The men to look 
af ter  them were supplied from the same sources, but their 
number, even if they had been efficient, was insufficient, 
and they were a most unruly and unmanageable lot. They 
demanded double the pay for which they had enlisted, and 
struck work in a body because their demand was not at 
once complied with. They refused to take charge of the 
five mules each man mas hired to look after, and when 
that  number was reduced to three, they insisted that one 
should be used as a mount for the driver. But the worst 
part of the whole organization, or, rather, want of organi- 
zation, was that there had been no attempt to fit the 
animals with pack-saddles, some of which were sent from 
England, some from India, and had to be adjusted to the 
mules after they had been landed in Abyssinia, where there 
was not an establishment to make the necessary alterations. 
The consequence was that the wretched animals became 
cruelly galled, and in a few weeks a large percentage were 
unfit for work, and had to be sent to the sick depot. 

Other results of having no properly arranged transport 
train, and no supervision or discipline, Tere that mules 
mere lost or stolen, dtarved for want of food, or famished 
from want of water. The condition of the unfortunate 
animals was such that, though they had h e n  but a few 
weeks in the country, when they were required to proceed 
to Senafe, only sixty-seven miles distant, a very small pro- 
portion were able to accomplish the march ; hundreds died 
on the way, and their corcasee, quickly decomposing in the 
hot sun, became a fruitful source of dangerous disease to 
the force. 
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On arrival at Zula, we were told that Sir Robert h'apier 
was at Senafe, the first station in the Hills, and the 
advanced depot for supplies. We of the Bengal brigade 
were somewhat disconcerted at the orders which awaited 
us, from which we learned that our brigade mas to be 
broken up ;  the troops mere to proceed to the front ; 
while Stewart was to take command at Senafe, and I 
myself was to remain at Zula, as senior staff officer. The 
disappointment mas great, but, being the last-comer, I had 
no unfairness to complain of, and I had plenty to do. I 
spent the greater part gf each day amongst the shipping, 
superintending the embarkation and disembarkation of 
men, animals, and stores. 

Zula was not an attractive place of residence. The 
heat was intense-117' in the daytime in my tent. The 
allowance of fresh water mas extremely limitad," while 
the number of scorpions was quite the reverse, and 
the food, at the best, was not appetizing. Few who 
remained there as long as I did escaped scurvy and horrible 
boils or sores. I was fortunate, ho~over ,  in finding in 
charge of the transport arrangements afloat, my old friend 
and Eton schoolfellow, George Tryon,? to whom I owed 
many a good dinner, and, what I appreciated even more, 
many a refreshing bath on board the Errphratee, a transport 
belonging to the British India Steam Navigation Company 
which had been fitted up for Captain Tryon and his s t d .  
Indeed, all the officers of the Royal Navy mere most helpful 
and kind. and I have a very pleasant recollection of the 

Fresh water n-aa obtained by condensing the sea-wnter; there 
wcro few condensers, and no means of aerating the wnter. 

t 'I'he Into Admiral Sir George Tryon, K.C.B. 
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hospitality I received from Commodore Heath * and those 
serving under him. 

During the four months I remained at Zula, Tryon 
and I were constantly together, and I had plenty of 
opportunity for observing the masterly manner in which 
he could grasp a situation, his intimate knowledge of 
detail, and the strong hold he had over all those working 
with him, not only the officers of the Royal Navy, but also 
the commanders of the merchant vessels taken up as 
transports, and lying in Annesley Bay. 

On the 17th April news reached us that four days 
before Sir Robert Napier had successfully attacked MagdHla 
and released the prisoners, having experienced but very 
slight opposition ; and that King Theodore, deeerted by his 
army, which had apparently become tired of his brutalities, 
had committed suicide. t A few days later Major-General 
Russell, who had come from Aden to take over the com- 
mand at Zula, received orders to prepare for the embarka- 
tion of the force. Arrangements were accordingly made 
to enable regiments and batteries to be embarked on board 
the transports told off for them directly they arrived from 
the front-a matter of the utmost importance, both on 
m o u n t  of the fearful heat at Zula, and the absence of a 
eu5cient water-supply. 

On the 2nd June the Commander-in-Chief returned to 
Zula and on the 10th he embarked on board the old Indian 
Marine steamer Feroze for Suez. Sir Robert was good 
enough to ask me to accompany him, as he wished to 

Now Admiral Sir Leopold Heath, K.C.B. 
f He is said to have killed in one month, or burnt alive, more than 

8,000 people. He pillaged and burnt the churches at Gondur, and had 
m y  priests and young girls c u t  olive into the flames. 
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make me the bearer of his final despatches. My work was 
ended, the troops had all left, and as I was pretty well 
knocked up, I felt extremely grateful for the offer, and 
very proud of the great honour the Chief proposed to 
confer upon me. 

We reached Alexandria on the 20th June, and the next 
day I started in the mail-steamer for Brindisi, arriving in 
London on the evening of Sunday, the 28th. I received a 
note at my club from Edwin Johnson (who was at that 
time Assistant Military Secretary to H.R.H. the Duke of 
Cambridge), directing me to take the despatches without 
delay to the Secretary of State for India. I found Sir 
Stafford and Lady Northcote at dinner ; Sir Stafford looked 
through the despatches, and when he had finished read- 
ing them, he asked me to take them without delay to the 
Commander-in-Chief, as he knew the Duke was most 
anxious to see them. There was a dinner-party, however, 
that night at Gloucesler House, and the servant told me 
it was quite impossible to disturb His Royal Highness; 
so, placing my card on the top of the despatches, I told 
the man to deliver them at once, and went back to my 
club. I had scarcely reached it, when the Dnke's Aide-de- 
camp made his appearance and told me that he had been 
ordered to find me and take me back with him. The 
Commander-in-Chief received me very kindly, expressing 
regret that I had been sent away in the first instance ; 
and Their Royal Highnesses the Prince and Princess of 
Wales, who were present, were most gracious, and asked 
many questions about the Abyssinian Expedition. 

The next day I joined my wife, who was staying with 
my people at Clifton, and on the 14th August, when the 
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rewards for the Abyssinian Expedition were published, my 
name appeared for a brevet Lieutenant-Colonelcy. 

I was now anxious to ascertain in what manner I was to 
be employed. My five years as A.Q.M.G. were about to 
expire, and I thought I should like to go back to my 
regiment for a time. I therefore applied for the command 
of a battery of Horse Artillery. I was told, in answer to 
my application, that it was not the custom to appoint an 
officer who had been in staff employment for some time to 
the mounted branch, but that, in consideration of my 
services, the Duke of Cambridge was pleased to make an 
exception in my favour. I was posted to a battery a t  
Meerut, and warned to be ready to start in an early troop- 
ehip. Before the time for our departure arrived, however, 
I received a letter from Lumsden, who had now become 
Quartermaster-General, informing me that the Com- 
mander-in-Chief had recommended, and the Government 
had approved of, the formation of a fresh grade-that of 
First A.Q.N.G.-and that he mas directed by Sir William 
Mansfield to offer the new appointment to me-an offer 
which I gratofully accepted ; for though the command of a 
Horse Artillery battery would have been most congenial, 
t h b  unexpected chance of five years' further staff employ 
was too good to be refused. 

On the 4th January, 1869, having, said good-bye to those 
dear to us, two of whom I was never to see again, my wife 
and I, with a baby girl who was born the previous July, 
embarked a t  Portsmouth on board the s.8. Ilelretia, which 
had been taken up for the conveyance of troops to Bombay, 
the vessel of the Royal Navy in which we were to have 
miled having suddenly broken down. The Hehetia proved 
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most unsuitable as a transport, and uncomfortable to the 
last degree for passengers, besides which it blew a gale the 
whole way to Alexandria. We were all horribly ill, and our 
child caught a fatal cold. We thoroughly appreciated a 
change at Suez to the Indian trooper, the Malabar, whem 
everything possible was done for our comfort by our kind 
captain (Rich, R.N.), and, indeed, by everyone on board ; 
but, alas! our beautiful little girl never recovered the 

cruel experience of the Helretia, and we had the temble 
grief of losing her soon after we passed Aden. She wes 
buried at sea. 

I t  was a very sad journey after that. There were several 
nice, kind people amongst our fellow-passengers; but life 
on board ship at such a time, surrounded by absolute 
strangers, was a terrible trial to us both, and, what with 
the effects of the voyage and the anxiety and sorrow she 
had gone through, my wife was thoroughly ill when we 
arrived at Simla towards the end of February. 



CHAPTER XXXVIII. 

IN January, 1869, Sir John Lawrence, after a career whioh 
was altogether unique, he having risen from the junior 
grades of the Bengal Civil Service to the almost regal 
position of Governor-General, left India for good. He was 
succeeded as Viceroy by Lord Mayo, one of whose first 
official acts was to hold a dnrbar a t  Vmballa for the re- 
ception of the Amir Sher Ali, who, after five years of civil 
war, had succeeded in establishing himself on the throne 
of Afghanistan, to which he had been nominated by his 
father, Dost Mahomed Khan.. 

Sher Ali had passed through a stormy time between the 

* Dost Mal~omed had several sons. Mahomed Akbar and Ghulam 
Haidar, the two heirs-designate in succession, died before their father. 
Sixteen other eons were alive in 1868, of whom the following were the 
eldest : 

1. Mahomed Afzal Khan, wed 62 years ) By a wife not of 
2. Jfahomed Azim Khan, ,, 45 ,, Royal blood. 
8. Sher Ali Khan 19 40 ,, 
4. Mahomed Amir Khan ,, 84 ,, i By a favourite 

6. Mahomed Shcuif Khan ,, 80 ,, Popalzai wife. 

8. Wali Mahomed Khan ,, 88 ,, ) By a third wife. 
7. Faiz Mahomed W a n  ,, 25 ,, i 

Alzal Khan had a eon Abdur Rahman W a n ,  the preaent Amir of 
Afghanistan, and Sher Ali had five sons-Ali Khan, Yaknb ahan, 
Ibrahin~ Khan. Ajub Khan, and Abdula Jan. 
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death of the Dost, in June, 1863, and September, 1868. 
He had been acknowledged as the rightful heir by the 
Government of India, and for the first three years he 
held the Amirship in a precarious sort of way. His two 
elder brothers, Afzal and Azim, and his nephew, Abdur 
Rahman (the present ruler of Afghanistan), were in re- 
bellion against him. The death of his favourite son and 
heir-apparent, Ali Khan, in action near Khelat-i-Ghilrai, 
in 1865, grieved him so sorely that for a time his reason 
was affected. In Nay, 1866, he was defeated near Ghami 
(mainly owing to the treachery of his own troops) by 
Abdur Rahman, who, releasing his father, Afzal, from the 
prison into which he had been cast by Sher Ali, led him in 
triumph to Kabul, and proclaimed him Amir of Afghanistan. 

The new Amir, Afzal, at once wrote to the Government 
of India detailing what had occurred, and expreseing a 
hope that the friendship of the British, which he so great11 
valued, would be extended to him. He was told, in reply, 
that the Government recognized him as Ruler of Kabul, 
but that, as Sher Ali still held Kandahar and Herat, 
existing engagements with the latter could not be broken 
off. The evident preference thus displayed for Sher ALi 
caused the greatest vexation to the brothers Afzal and 
Aeim, who s h o ~ e d  their resentment by directing an Envoy 
who had come from Swat to pay his respects to' the new 
Amir to return to his own country and set on foot a holy 
war against the English; the Waziri malike* in attend- 
ance at the court were dismissed with presents and direc- 
tions to harass the British frontier, while an emissary was 
despatched on a secret mission to the Russians. I 

* The headmen of villages in Afghanistan are styled malib.  I 
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After his defeat near Ghazni, Sher Ali fled to Kandahar, 
and  in the January of the following year (again owing to 
treachery in his army) he met with a second defeat nwr  
Khelat-i-Ghilzai, and lost Kandahar. 

On this fact being communicated to the Government of 
Lndia, Afzal Khan was in his turn recognized as Amir 
of Kabul and Kandahar. But he was at the same time 
informed that the British Government intended to maintain 
8 strict neutrality between the contending parties in 
Afghanistan. John Lawrence, in his letter of the 20th of 
February, said that 'neither men, nor arms, nor money, 
nor assistance of any kind, have ever been supplied by my 
Government to Amir Sher Ali. Your Highness and he, 
both equally unaided by me, hare fought out the battle, 
each upon your o m  resources. I purpose to continue the 
same policy for the future. If, unhappily, the struggle for 
supremacy in Afglianistan has nol yet been brought to a 
close, and hostilities are again renewed, I shall still side 
with neither party.' 

This reply altogetlier failed to satisfy Afzal and Azim. 
They answered it civilly, but ot the same time they sent a 
copy of it to General Romanofski, the Russian Governor of 
Tashkent, who was informed by the new Amir that he had 
no confidence in the ' Lord ealrib's fine professions of 
friendship, and that he was disgusted with the British 
Government for the ingratitude and ill-treatment shown 
towards his brother Azim.* He looked upon the Russians 
as his real and only friends, hoped soon to send a 

+ Azim Khan behaved well towards the Lumden Mission, and it 
WM reported that he encouraged hb father, Dost Nahomed Khan, not 
to disturb the Peshawar frontier during the biutiny. 
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regular Ambassador to the Russian camp, and would at 
all times do his utmost to protect and encourage Rusaian 
trade.' 

In October of this year (1867) Afzal Khan died, and his 
brother Azim, hastening to Kabul, took upon himself the 
Amirship. Abdur Rahman had hoped to have succeeded his 
father, but his uncle having forestalled him, he thought it 
politic to give in his allegiance to him, which he did by 
presenting his dead father's sword, in durbar, to the new 
Amir, who, like his predecessor, was now acknowledged 
by the Government of India as Ruler of Kabul and Kan- 
dahar. 

The tide, however, was beginning to turn in favour of 
Sher Ali. Azim and Abdur Rahman quarrelled, and the 
former, by his extortions and cruelties, made himself 
detested by the people generally. 

In March, 1868, Sher Ali's eldest son, Yakub Khan, 
regained possession of Kandahar for his father. In July 
father and son found themselves strong enough to move 
towards Ghazni, where Azim Khan's army was assembled. 
The latter, gradually deserted by his soldiers, took to 
flight, upon which Sher Ali, after an absence of forty 
months, entered Kabul on the 8th of September, and 
re-possessed himself of all his dominions, with the excep- 
tion of Balkh, where Azim and Abdur Rahman (now 
reconciled to each other) still flew the flag of rebellion. 

One of the newly-installed Amir's first acts was to 
inform the Viceroy of his return to Kabul, and of the 
recovery of his kingdom. He announced his desire to 
send some trusted representatives, or else proceed himself 
in person, to Calcutta, ' for  the purpose of showing hie 
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sincerity and firm attachment to the British Government, 
and making known his real wants.' 

Sir John Lawrence, in his congratulatory reply, showed 
that a change had come over his policy of non-interference 
in the internal affairs of Afghanistan, for he stated that he 
was ' prepared, not only to maintain the bonds of amity 
and goodwill which were established between Dost 
Mahomed and the British Government, but, so far as may 
be practicable, to strengthen those bonds' ; and, as a 
substantial proof of his goodwill, the Viceroy sent Sher 
Ali Y60,000, aid which arrived a t  a most opportune 
moment, and gave the Amir that advantage over his 
opponents which is of incalculable value in Afghan. civil 
war, namely, funds wherewith to pay the army and bribe 
the opposite side. 

The energetic and capable Abdur Rahman Khan had in 
the meantime collected a sufficient number of troops in 
Turkestan to enable him to move towards Kabul with his 
uncle Azim. On nearing Ghazni, he found himself con- 
fronted by Sher Ali ; the opposing forces were a b u t  equal 
in strength, and on both sides there was the same scarcity 
of ready money. Suddenly the report was received that 
money was being sent from India to Sher Ali, and this 
turned the scale in his favour. Abdur Rahman's men 
deserted in considerable numbers, and a battle fought on 
the 3rd January, 1869, resulted in the total defeat of uncle 
and nephew, and in the firmer consolidation of Sher Ali's 
supremacy. 

The change in policy which induced the Government of 
India to assist a struggling Amir with money, after its 
repeated and emphatic declarations that interference was 
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impossible, was undoubtedly brought about by a n  able and 
elaborate memorandum written by the late Sir Henry 
Rawlinson on the 28th July, 1868. In this paper Raa- 
linson pointed out that, notwithstanding promises to the 
contrary, Russia was steadily advancing towards Afghan- 
istan. He referred to the increased facilities of comrumi- 
cation which would be the result of the recent proposal 
to bring Turkestan into direct communication, rici the 
Caspian, with the Caucasus and St. Petersburg. He 
dwelt at  length upon the effect which the advanced position 
of Russia in Central Asia would have upon Afghanistan 
and India. He explained that by the occupation of 
Bolihnra Russia would gain a pretext for interfering in 
Afghan politics, and ' that  if Russia once assumes a psi- 
tion which, in virtue either of an imposing military force 
on the Oxus, or of a dominant political influence in 
Afghanistan, entitles her, in Native estimation, to 

challenge our Asiatic supremacy, the disquieting effect will 
be prodigious.' 

' With this prospect before us,' Sir Henry asked, are 
we justified in maintaining what has been sarcastically, 
though perhaps unfairly, called Sir John Lawrence's 
policy of " mastetly inaction "? Are we justified in allowing 
Hussia to work her way to Kabul unopposed, and there 
to establish herself as a friendly poxer prepared to protect 
the Afghans against the English?' He argued that it was 
contrary to our interests to permit anarchy to reign in 
Afghanistan ; that Lord Auckland's famous doctrine of 
' establishing a strong and friendly Power on our North- 
West Frontier ' was the right policy for India, that Dost 
Nahomed's successful management of his country ms 
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in a great measure due to our aid, and that, if we had 
helped the son as we had helped the father, Sher Ali 
would have summarily suppressed the opposition of his 
brothers and nephews.' Rawlinson then added: ' Another 
opportunity now presents itself. The fortunes of Sher Ali 
are again in the ascendant ; he should be secured in our 
interests without delay.' 

Rawlinson's suggestions were not at the time supposed 
to commend themselves to the Government of India. In 
the despatch in which it was answered,. the Viceroy and 
his Councillors stated that they still objected to any active 
interference in the a 5 i r s  of Afghanistan ; they foresaw no 
limits to the expenditure which such a move would entail, 
and they believed that the objects that they had at heart 
might be attained by an attitude of readiness and firmness 
on the frontier. I t  is worthy of note, however, that, after 
Sir Henry Rawlinson's memorandum had been received by 
the Indian Government, and notwithstanding these protests, 
the sum of P60,000 was sent to Sher Ali, that Sir John 
Lawrence invited him ' to come to some place in British 
territory for a personal meeting in order to discuss the best 
manner in which a limited support might be accorded,' and 
that five days from the time of writing the above-mentioned 
despatch, John Lawrence sent a farewell letter to Sher Ali, 
expressing the earnest hope of the British Government 
that His Highness's authority would be established on n 

solid and permanent basis, and informing him that n 

further sum of f60,000 would be supplied to him during 
the next fev months, and that future Yiceroys would 
consider, from time to time, what nmount of practical 

+ Dated 4th January, 1869. 
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assistance in the shape of money or war materials should 
periodically be made over to him as a testimony of their 
friendly feeling, and to the furtherance of his legitimate 
authority and influence. 

Sher Ali expressed himself as most grateful, and came to 
Umballa full of hope and apparently thoroughly well 
disposed towards the British Government. He vias 

received with great state and ceremony, and Lord Mayo 
was most careful to demonstrate that he was treating with 
an independent, and not a feudatory, ~rinc'e. 

At this conference Sher Mi began by unburdening 
himself of his grievances, complaining to Lord Mayo of 
the manner in which his two elder brothers had each 
in his turn been recognized as Amir, and dwelling on 
the one-sided nature of the treaty made with his father, 
by which the British Government only bound itself to 
abstain from interfering with Afghanistan, while the 
Amir was to be ' the friend of the friends and the enemj 
of the enemies of the Honourable East India Company.' 
El% Highness then proceeded to make known his wants, 
which were that he and his lineal descendants on the 
throne that he had won ' by his own good sword ' should 
be acknowledged as the de jure sovereigns of Afghanistan ; 
that a treaty offensive and defensive should be made with 
him; and that he should be given a fixed subsidy in the 
form of an annual payment. 

I t  was in regard to the first of these three demands that 
Sher Ali was most persistent. He explained repeatedly 
and at some length that to acknowledge the Ruler pnj 
tempore and de facto was to invite competition for a throne, 
and excite the hopes of all sorts of candidates; but that 
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if the British Government would recognize him and his 
dynasty, there was nothing he would not do in order to 
evince his gratitude. 

These requests, the Amir was informed, were inadmis- 
sible. There could be no treaty, no fixed subsidy, no 
dynastic pledges. He was further told that we were pre- 
pared to discourage his rivals, to give him warm counte- 
nance and support, and such material assistance as we 
conaidered absolutely necessary for his immediate wants, 
if he, on his part, would undertake to do all he could to 
maintain peace on our frontier and to comply with our 
wishes in matters connected with trade. 

As an earnest of our goodwill, the Amir was given the 
second £60,000 promised him by Sir John Lawrence, 
besides a considerable supply of arms and ammunition,. and 
was made happy by a promise that European officers 
should not be required to reside in any of his cities. 
Before the conference took place, Lord Mayo had con- 
templated British agents being sent to Kabul in order to 
obtain accurate information regarding events in Central 
Asia, but on discovering how vehemently opposed Sher Ali 
was to such an arrangement, he gave him this promise. 
Saiyad Nur Mahomed, the Minister who accompanied 
the Amir, though equally averse to European agents, 
admitted that ' the day might come when the Russians 
would arrive, and the Amir would be glad, not only of 

Besides the remainder of the aggregate sum of twelve lmkhn, 
6,500 more rifles wore forwarded to the frontier for transmission to the 
Amir, and in addition four 1Rpounder smooth-bore guns, two 8-inch 
howitzers, and a Mountain battery of a x  8-pounders complete, with 
due proportion of ammunition end etorae, together with draught 
bullocks end nine elephants. 

VOL. XI. 86 
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, British officers as agents, but of arms and troops to back 
them.' 

One request which the Amir made towards the close of 
the meeting the Viceroy agreed to, which was that we 

f should call Persia to account for her alleged encroach- 
menta on the debatable ground of Sistan. This, which 

I 
I seemed but an unimportant matter at the time, wee one 

of the chief causes of Sher Ali's subsequent estrangement ; 
for the committee of arbitration which inquired into it 
decided against the Amir, who never forgave whet he 
considered our unfriendly action in discountenancing hie 
claims. 

The Umballa conference was, on the whole, successfnl, 
in that Sher Ali returned to his own country much 
gratified at the splendour of his reception, and a firm 
personal friend of Lord Mayo, whose fine preeence and 
genial manner had quite won the Amir's heart, although 
he had not succeeded in getting from him everything he 
had demanded. 



CHAPTER XXXIX. 

WE spent a very quiet year at Simla. My wife was far 
from strong, and we had another great sorrow in the death 
of a baby boy three weeks after his birth. 

That winter I was left in charge of the Quartermaster- 
General's office, and we moved into ' Ellerslie,' a larger and 
warmer house than that in which we had lived during the 
enmmer. 

Simla in the winter, after a fresh fall of snow, is per- 
ticularly beautiful. Range after range of hills clothed in 
their spotless garments stretch away as far as the eye can 
reach, relieved in the foreground by masses of reddish- 
brown perpendicular cliffs and dark-green ilex and deodar 
trees, each bearing its pure white burden, and decked 
with glistening fringes of icicles. Towards evening the 
scene changes, and the snow takes the most gorgeone 
colouring from the descending rays of the brilliant eastern 
em-brilliant even in mid-winter - turning opal, pink, 
~ccrrlet, and crimson ; gradually, as the light wanes, fading 
into delicate lilacs and grays, which slowly mount upwards, 
till at lest even the highest pinnacle loses the life-giving 
tinte, and the whole snowy range itself turns cold and 
white and dead against rr background of deepest sapphire 
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blue. The spectator shivers, folds himself more closely in 
hie wraps, and retreats indoors, glad to be greeted by a 
blazing log-fire and a hot cup of tea. 

In the spring of the next year (1870) Sir William 
Mansfield's term of command came to an end, and he 
was succeeded by Lord Napier of Magdiila. The selection 
of this distinguished officer for the highest military position 
in India was.greatly appreciated by the Indian army, aa 
no officer of that army had held it since the days of Lord 
Clive. 

In September a daughter was born, and that minter we 
again remained at Simla. I amused myself by going 
through a course of electric telegraphy, which may seem 

rather like a work of supererogation; but during the 
Umbeyla campaign, when the telegraph office had to be 
closed in consequence of all the clerks being laid up with 
fever, and we could neither read nor send messages, I deter- 
mined that I would on the first opportunity learn electric 
signalling, in order that I might be able to decipher and 
send telegrams should I ever again find myself in a similar 
position. 

In Nay my wife and I went for a march across the hills 
to Chakrata, and thence to Mussoorie and back by way of 
Dehra Dun and the plains. The object of this trip was to 
settle the boundary of Chakrata, and my wife took the 
opportunity of my being ordered on this duty to get away 
from Simla, as we had now been there for more than two 

years, and were consequently rather longing for a change. 
Our route lay through most beautiful scenery, and not- 
withstanding that the trip was a little hurried, and that 
some of the marches sere therefore rather long, we 
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enjoyed it immensely. When pawing along the ridge of 
a very high hill one afternoon, we witnessed rather a 
curious eight--& violent thunderstorm was going on in the 
valley below us, while we ourselves remained in the mildest, 
moat serene atmosphere, enjoying bright sunshine and a 
blue sky. Dense black clouds Wed up the valley a 
thousand feet beneath us, the thunder roared, the hghtning 
flashed, and Boon we could hear the rush of waters in the 
streems below from the torrents of rain which the clouds 
were diecharging, but it was not until we had c r o s d  over 
the mountain, and descended to a low level on the other 
side, that we fully realized the effects of the heavy storm. 

On our return to 8imla we had the pleasure of a visit 
from Major-General Donald 8tewart, who had come up 
to receive Lord Mayo's instructions before taking over his 
appointment as Superintendent of the Andaman Islands. 
In September he and I travelled together to Calcutta, to 
which place I was directed to proceed in order to make 
arrangements for a military expedition into the country of 
the Lushaie, having been appointed senior staff officer to 
the force. 

Lushai, s i tbted between south-eastern Bengal and 
B m a ,  was a terra incognita to me, and I had only heard 
of it in connexion with the raids made by its inhabitante 
upon the tea-gardens in its vicinity, which had now spread 
too far away from Cachar for the garrison of that small 
military station to afford them protection. From time 
to time the Lushaie had done the planters much damage, 
and carried off several prisoners, and various attempts 
had been made in the shape of small military expeditions 
to punish the tribesmen and rescue the captives ; but from 
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want of proper organization, and from not chooeing the 
right time of the year, these attempta had hitherto been 
unsuccessful, and our failures had the inevitable r d t  
of making the Lushais bolder. Raids became more fre- 
quent and more destructive; until at last a little European 
girl, named Mary Winchester, was carried off, and kept by 
them as a prisoner; on this the Lieutenant-Governor of 
Bengal declared that a punitive expedition was ' absolutely 
necessary for the future security of the British subjecte 
residing on the Cachar and Chittagong frontiers.' 

The despatch of a force waa therefore decided upon; 
i t  was to consist of two small columns*--one having 
ita base at Cachar, the other at Chittagong-commanded 
respectively by Brigadier-Generals Bourchier, C.B., and 
C. Brownlow, C.B., supreme political power being a h  
vested in these two officera. Long experience had taught 
Lord Napier the wisdom of having only one head in time 
of war, and he impressed upon the Government his opinion 
that the civil officers, while acting as advisers and as the 
ohannels of communication with the tribes, should be sub- 
ordinate to the control of the two Commanders, who, after 
having been put in possession of the views and wishes of 
the Government, should be held responsible for carrying 
them out loyally so far as circumstances and the safety of 
the force would permit. 

As the existence of the tea industry was at stake, 

* The Cachar column consisted of half of the Peshawar Mounbin 
battery, one company of Ben& Seppers and Miners, the 2!2nd Punjab 
Infantry, 4 b d  and 44th Assam L i h t  Infantry. The Chitbgoag 
column consisted of the other half of the Mountain battery. the a7rh 
Punjab Infantry, and the 2nd and 4th Gurkhas. Each regiment WM 

600 strong, and each column wee accompanied by 100 armed police. 
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the Lushais having established a perfect terror on all 
the estates within their reach, it was essential that 
they should be given a severe lesson, and this could 
only be done by their principal villages, which lay at some 
considerable distance from the base of operations, being 
visited in force. The difficult country and the paucity of 
transport necessitated the columns being lightly equipped ; 
no tents were to be allowed, and baggage and followere 
were to be reduced to a minimum. My instructions were 
to fit out and despatch the two columns, and then join 
Brigadier-General Bourchier a t  Cachar. 

I wee kept in Calcutta all October-not a pleasant month, 
the climate then being very muggy and unhealthy. Every- 
one who could get away had gone to the Hills or out to sea; 

and the offices being c l o d  for the Hindu holiday8 of the  
Dwga Puja, it mae extremely difficult to get work done. 
Everything for the Chittagong column had to be sent by sea. 
The ahipping of the elephants was rather interesting : they 
clung desperately to the ground, trying hard to prevent 
themselves being lifted from it ; and when at last, in spite 
of all their struggles, they were hoisted into the air, the 
helplees appearance of the huge animals and their despair- 
ing little cries and whines were quite pathetic. I found it 
trying work being on the river all day; my eyes suffered 
from the glare, and I became eo reduced that before I 
left Calcutta I weighed scarcely over eight stone-rather 
too fine a condition in which to enter on a campaign in 
a mountainous country, so thickly covered with jungle aa 
to make riding out of the question. 

By the 3rd November the equipment and stores for both 
columns had been despatched, and on the 16th I joined 
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General Bourchier at the house of that most hospitable of 
hosts, Mr. Edgar,* Deputy-Commiesioner of Cachar, who 
accompanied the left column as civil officer. 

We left Cachar on the 2Srd, and from the outset we had 
to make our own roads, a labour which never cased until 
*he end of January, by which date 110miles had been com- 
pleted. There was not the vestige of a track to direct ne ; 
but I got hold of some people of the country, with whom I 
made friends, and induced them to act as guides. Many a 
long and weary reconnaissance had to be executed, however, 
before the line of advance could be decided upon. The troop 
worked with a will, and, notwithstanding the vapour-bath- 
like atmosphere of the valleys and the difficult nature of 
the country, which was a succession of hill-rangee covered 
with jungle forests, made almost impenetrable from the 
huge creepers, and intersected by rivers and watercoureee, 
a good road, from six to eight feet wide, was constructed, 
with a sufficiently easy gradient for laden elephants to 
travel over. Cutting one's way day after day through 
these dense, gloomy forests, through which hardly a ray of 
light penetrates, was most stifling and depressing. One 
could hardly breathe, and was quite unable to enjoy the 
beauty of the magnificent trees, the graceful bamboo6 and 
canes, and the wonderful creepers, which abounded, and 
under other circumstances would have been a source of 
pleasure; the difficulties me encountered, and the conse- 
quent delay in our progress, quite ,prevented me from 
being in a frame of mind to appreciate my picturesque 
surroundings. 

It became evident from the first that our onward move- 

* NOW Sir John Edgar, K.C.S.I. 
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mente would be greatly impeded by want of transport. 
Notwithstanding the experience which ought to have been 
gained in many small mountain wars, the Government had 
not been taught that a properly organized transport corps 
wee an absolute necessity, and that it was a mere waste of 
money to collect a number of men and animals without 
providing trained supervision. Fourteen hundred of our 
oooliea were attached to the Commissariat Department with- 
out anyone to look after them, consequently officers and 
non-commiseioned officers, who could ill be spared from 
their regimental duties, had to be told off to organize and 
work them. 

To add to our troubles, cholera broke out amongst some 
Nepalese coolies on their way to join us; out of 840, 
961 died in a few days, and a number deserted panic-stricken, 
while the rest were so weakened and shaken that, notwith- 
etanding the care bestowed upon them by their able and 
energetic Commandant, Major II. Moore, only 387 joined 
the column. We were not much better off in the matter 
of elephants, which had been so carelessly selected that 
only 33 out of the 157 sent with our column were of any 
uae. All this resulted in our being obliged to still further 
reduce our already small kits. Officers were allowed only 
forty pounds of baggage, and soldiers twenty-four pounds, 
limits within which it was rather difficult to keep. A couple 
of blankets were essential, as we should have to operate 
over mountains five and six thousand feet high ; so was a 
waterproof sheet, for even if we should be lucky enough to 
escape rain, the dew is so heavy in those parts that it wets 
m e  just as thoroughly as a shower of rain. These three 
items, with my cloak and cork mattress-which is also a 



58 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA Dm 
~~ -~ 

very necessary adjunct in such a damp climate-amounted 
to thirty-one pounds, leaving only nine pounds for a 
change of clothes, plate, knife, fork, etc.-not too much 
for a four months' campaign. However, ' needs must,' and 
it is surprising how many things one considers abeolnte 
necessities under ordinary circumstances turn out to have 
been luxuries when we are obliged to dispense with them. 

The advance portion of the column did not arrive at 
Tipai Mukh, only eighty-four miles from Cachar, until the 
9th December, which will give an idea of the enforced 
slowness of our progress. Tipai Mukh proved a very 
suitable place for our depot: it was situated at the junction 
of two rivers, the Tipai and the Barak; thickly-wooded 
hills rose precipitously on all sides, but on the right banL 
of the Barak there mas sufficient level space for all our 
requirements. With the help of local coolies, the li#le 
Gurkhas were not long in running up hospitals and atore- 
eheds; bamboo, the one materiel used in Lushailand for 
every conceivable purpose, whether it be a house, a drinking 
vessel, a bridge, a woman's ear-ring, or a musical inatm- 
ment, grew in profusion on the hillside. A trestle bridge 
was thrown across the Tipai in a few hours, and about that 
bridge I have rather an amusing story to relate. On my 
telling the young Engineer officer in charge of the Sapper 
company that a bridge was required to be constructed with 
the least possible delay, he replied that it should be done, 
but that it was necessary to calculate the force of the 
current, the weight to be borne, and the consequent 
strength of the timber required. Off he went, urged by 
me to be as quick as he could. Some hours elapeed, and 
nothing was seen of the Engineer, so I sent for him and 
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asked him when the bridge was to be begun. He 
answered that his pla&s were nearly completed, and 
that he would soon be able to commence work. In the 
meantime, however, and while these scientific calculations 
were being made, the headman o the local coolies had t 
come to me and said, if the order were given, he would 
throw a good bridge over the river in no time. I agreed, 
knowing how clever Natives often are a t  this kind of work, 
and thinking I might just as well have two strings to this 
particular bow. Immediately, numbers of men were to be 
seen felling the bamboos on the hillside a short distance 
above the stream ; these were thrown into the river, and 
as they came floating down they were caught by men 
d n d i n g  up to their necks in water, who cut them to the 
required length, stuck the uprights into the river-bed, and 
attached them to each other by pieces laid laterally and 
longitudinally; the flooring was then formed also of 
bamboo, the whole structure was firmly bound together 
by stripe of cane, and the bridge was pronounced ready. 
Having tested its strength by marching a large number of 
men acrose it, I sent for my Engineer friend. His astonish- 
ment on seeing a bridge finished ready for use was great, 
and became still greater when he found how admirably 
the practical woodmen had done their work; from that 
time, being assured of their ability to assist him, he wisely 
8 d e d  himself whon difficulties arose of their useful, if 
unscientific, method of engineering. 

By the 14th December matters had so far progressed 
ae to warrant an advance. As our route now lay away 
from the river, scarcity of water entailed greater care 
being taken in the selection of encamping grounds, so 
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on arriving at our halting-place each day I had to 
reconnoitre ahead for a suitable aite for our next rest- 
ing-ground, a considerable addition to the day's work. 
Road-making for the passage of the elephants became 
more difficult, and transport was so deficient that the 
troops could only be brought up very gradually. Thna, 
it was the 22nd of the month before we reached the 
Tuibum river, only twenty miles from Tipai Mukh. On 
our way we were met by some scouts from the villsges 
ahead of us, who implored of us to advance no further, 
saying, if we would only halt, their headmen would 
come in and submit to whatever terms we chose to 
make. The villagers were informed in reply that our 
quarrel was not with them, and so long as we remained 
unmoleeted, not the slightest injury should be done to 
them, their villages, or their crops; but that we w e n  

determined to reach the country of Lalbura, the Chief 
who had been the ringleader in the raids upon the 
tea-gardens. 

We pushed on as fast as the dense undergrowth would 
permit until within about a mile of the river, where re 

found the road blocked by a curious erection in the form of 
8 gallows, from which hung two grotesque figures, made 
of bamboo. A little further on it was a felled tree 
which stopped us; this tree whs studded all over with 
knife-like pieces of bamboo, and from the incisions into 
which these were stuck exuded a red juice, exactly 
the colour of blood. This was the Lushai mode of warn- 
ing us what would be our fate if we ventured further. 
We, however, proceeded on our way, bivouacked for the 
night, and early the next morning started off in the 
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direction of some villages which we understood lay in 
the road to our destination. 

For the first thousand feet the ascent was very steep, 
and the path so narrow that we could only march in 
single file. Suddenly we entered upon a piece of ground 
cleared for cultivation, and as we emerged from the forest 
we were received by a volley from a position about sixty 
yards off. A young police orderly, who was acting as our 
guide, was knocked over by my side, and a second volley 
wounded one of the sepoys, on which we charged and 
the enemy retired up the hill. We came across a large 
number of these jooma (clearings), and at each there was a 
like effort to oppose us, always with the smme result. After 
advancing in this way for the greater part of the day, alter- 
nately through dense jungle and open spaces, and occa- 
sionally passing by scattered cottages, we sighted a good- 
sized village, where it was decided we should remain for the 
night. The day's march had been very severe, the village 
being 4,000 feet above the river; and the troops were so 
worn out with their exertions that it was with difficulty 
the piquets could be got to construct proper shelter for 
themselves out of the plentiful supply of trees and under- 
wood ready at hand. Throughout the night the enemy's 
sharpshooters kept up an annoying fire under cover of 
the forest which surrounded the village, and so as soon as 
day dawned a party moved out to clear the ground all 
round. 

It was most aggravating to find from the view we got 
of the country from this elevated position that the previous 
day's harassing march had been an absolutely uselese per- 
formance and an unneceseary waste of time and strength. 



62 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA Dm 
- - 

We could now distinctly aee that this village did not lead to 
Lalbura's country, as we had been led to believe it would, 
and that there was no alternative but to retrace our etep 
as far as the river. The men and animals were too t i i d  
to march that day, and the next being Christmas, we mad.a 
another halt, and commenced our retirement on the 26th. 
This wee an extremely nasty business, and had to be carried 
out with very great caution. The ground, as I said before, 
necessitated our proceeding in single file, and with only a50 
fighting men (all that our deficient transport admitted of 
being brought on to this point) it was ditlicult to guud 
the long line of sick, wounded, and coolies. As soon aa r e  

began to draw in our piquets, the Lushais, who had never 
ceased their fire, perceiving we were about to retire, came 

down in force, and entered one end of the village, yelling 
and screaming like demons, before we had got out at  tbe 
other. The whole way down the hill they preesed ar 

hard, endeavouring to get amongst the baggage, but were 
invariably baffled by the Gurkhas, who, extending rapidly 
whenever the ground was fa~ourable, retired through their 
supports in admirable order, and did not once give the enemy 
the chance of passing them. We had 3 men killed a d  
8 wounded during the march, but the Lushaie confessed 
afterwards to a lose of between 50 and 60. 

As we were given to understand that our short re- 
grade movement had been interpreted into a defeat by 
the Lushais, the General wisely determined to pay the 
village of Kholel another visit. Our doing eo had the beet 
possible effect. A slight resistance was offered at the fwd 
clearance, but by the time the ridge was reached the Chief, 
having become convinced of the ueelessnese of fartber 
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opposition, submitted, and engaged to give hostages and 
keep open communication with our depot at Tipai Mukh, a 
promiee which he most faithfully performed. 

1872 opened auspiciously for me. On New Year's Day I 
wee agreeably surprised by s communication from the 
Quartermaster-General informing me that, a vacancy having 
unexpectedly occurred, Lord Napier had appointed me 
Deputy-Quartermaster-General. This was an important 
step in my department, and I mas proportionately elated. 

A few days later I received the good news of the birth of 
a eon at Umballa on the 8th. 

Paucity of transport and difficulty about supplies kept 
us stationary on the Tuibum for some time, after which we 
moved on as before, the Lushais retiring in front of us until 
the 26th, when they attacked us while we were moving 
along a narrow ravine, with a stream at the bottom and 
steep hills on either side. The first volley wounded the 
General in the arm and hand, and killed his orderly. The 
enemy's intention was evidently to push past the weak 
column along the hillside and get amongst the coolies ; 
but this attempt was again foiled by the Gurkhas, who, 
tlinging off their great-coats, rushed into the stream and 
engaged the Lushais before they could get at the baggage, 
preesing them up the mountain, rising 2,600 feet above 
ns, as fast as the precipitous nature of the ascent would 
allow. On the crest we found the enemy occupying a 
good-sized village, out of which we cleared them and took 
poetweion of it ourselves. On this occasion we had only 
4 killed and 8 wounded, including the General, while 
the enemy lost about 60. In one place we found a 
heap of headleee bodies. The Luahais, if unable to remove 
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their dead, invariably decapitate them to prevent their 
adversaries from carrying off the heads, their own mode of 
dealing with a slain enemy, as they believe that whoever 
is in possession of the head will have the man to whom 
it belonged as a slave in the nest world. 

To complete the success we had gained, the General sent 
me the next day with a small party to burn the village of 
Taikum, belonging to the people who had attacked us. It 
was past noon before we could make a start, owing to the 
non-arrival of the elephants with the guns. When they 
did come in, the poor huge creatures were so fatigued by 
their climb that it was considered advisable to transfer 
their loads to coolies, particularly as the route we had to 
traverse was reported to be even more difficult than any- 
thing we had yet encountered. When we had proceeded a 
short distance, we perceived that our way was blocked a 
mile ahead by a most formidable-looking stockade, on one 
side of which rose perpendicular cliffs, while on the 
other was a rocky ravine. As the nature of the ground 
did not admit of my approaching near enough to discover 
whether the Artillery could be placed so as to cover the 
Lnfantry advance, and being anxious to avoid losing many 
of my small party, I settled to turn the stockade by e 

detour up the hillside. This maneuvre took some time, 
owing to the uncompromising nature of the county;  but it 
was euccessful, for when we struck the track, we found our- 
selves about a mile on the other side of the stockade. The 
Lushais, on realizing what we were about, retired to 
Taikum, which place came into view at 5 p.m. I t  ase 
situated on the summit of a hill 1,200 yards in front, and 
was crowded with men. The guns were brought at once into 
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action, and while Captain Blackwood* was preparing hie 
fuses, I advanced towards the village with the Infantry. 
The first shell burst a little beyond the village, the second 
was lodged in its very centre, for a time completely paralyz- 
ing the Lushais. On recovering from the shock, they took 
to their heels and scampered off in every direction, the last 
man leaving the village just as we entered it. The houses, 
ns usual, were made of bamboo, and after it had been ascer- 
tained that there was no living creature inside any of them, 
the place was set on fire, and we began our return journey. 
There wns a bright moon, but even aided by its light we 
did not reach our bivouac until midnight. This ended 
the campaign so far as opposition was concerned, for not 
another shot was fired either by us or against us during the 
remaining six weeks we continued in the country. 

Soon after this we heard that some of the captives we 
had come to relieve had been given up to the Chittagong 
column, and that M a y  Winchester was safe in General 
Brownlow's hands-very satisfactory intelligence, showing 
as it did that the Lushais were beginning to understand 
the advieability of acceding to our demands. The work of 
our column, however, was not over, for although, from 
the information we received of his whereabouts, we had 
given up hope of joining hands with brown lo^, Bouchie 
determined that Lalbura's county must be reached ; he 
(Lalbura) being the chief offender, it would never have done 
to let him think his stronghold lny beyond our powr. 

In order that we might be well out of Lushailand before 
the rains, which usually begin in that part of the world 

+ Major Blackwood, who waa killed at Maiwand, in cotnmand of 
E Batterj, R.H.A. 

VOL. II. 87 
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about the middle of March, and are extremely heavy, it aas 
decided not to wait until a road could be made for 
elephants, but to trust to coolie-earriage alone, and to push 
on rapidly as soon as supplies sufficient for twelve days 
could be collected. Kits were still further reduced, of icsn 
and soldiers alike being only allowed a couple of blankets 
and one or two cooking utensils. 

We resumed our march on the 12th February ; the route 
in many places was strongly and skilfnlly stockaded, but the 
t idinp of our successes had preceded us, and our advance 
was unopposed. In five days we reached the Chamfai 
valley, at the end of which, on a high hill, Lalbura'e 
village was situated.* Although Lalbura's father, Vonold, 
had been dead some years, the people still called the place 
Vonolel's country. Vonolel had been a famous warrior, and 
they were evidently very proud of his reputation. We were 
shown his tomb, which, like that of all great Lushai bravee, 
was decorated with the heads of human beings (his &va 
in paradise) and those of animals, besides drinking-v-Is 
and various kinds of utensilg for his use in another life. 

Lalbura had taken himself off; but his headmen sub 
mitted to us and accepted our terms. We remained at this 
place till the 21st, in accordance with an agreement we 
had made with Brownlow to send up signals on the night 
of the 20th in case his column should be anywhere in 
the neighbourhood. During the three days we stayed 
amongst them me mised freely with the Lushah, who were 
greatly delighted and astonished with all we had to show 
them. The telescope and the burning-gla~s amused them 

* Latitude 23" 26' 82", longitude (approximately) 93" 23' ; within 8 

sl~ort distance of Fort White, lately built in the Chin Hills. 
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greatly; our revolvers excited their envy ; and for the little 
Mountain guns they displayed the highest veneration. But 
what seemed to astonish them more than anything was 
the whiteness of our skins, particularly when on closer 
inspection they discovered that our arms and bodies were 
even fairer than our faces and hands, which to our eyes 
had become from long exposure so bronzed as to make us 
almost unrecognizable as Europeans. 

We were all glad that the duty entrusted to us had been 
satisfactorily ended, and we were hoping that the Viceroy, 
who had taken a keen personal interest in our proceedings, 
would be satisfied with the result, when we were shocked 
and atartled beyond measure by hearing that Lord 
Xago had been murdered by a convict while visiting the 
Andaman I~lands. The disastrous news arrived as we were 
in the midst of firing signal-rockets, burning blue-lights, and 
lighting bonfires to attract the attention of the Chittagong 
column. I could not help thinking of the heavy loss India 
had sustained, for the manly, open-hearted Governor- 
General had impressed the h'ative Chiefs in quite an ex- 
ceptional manner, and he was liked as well es respected 
by all classes of Europeans and Natives. I felt also much 
for Donald Stewart, to whom, I knew, such a terrible 
tragedy, happening while he was Superintendent at Port 
Blair, would be a heavy bloa. 

On the 6th March we reached Tipai Mulch, wliere we 
bade farewell to our Lushai friends, numbers uf whom 
accompanied us to get posseesion of the empty tins, bags, 
and casks which were got rid of at every stage. The 
hostages and those who had assisted us were liberally 
rewarded, and we parted on the b s t  of terms, with pro- 
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misea on their part of future good behaviour-pro& 
which were kept for nearly twenty years. 

No one was somy that the marching was at an end, and 
that the rest of the journey back was to be performed in 
boats. Constant hard work and exposure in a peculiarly 
malarious and relaxing climate had told upon the whole 
force ; while our having to depend for so long on tinned 
meats, which were not always good, and consisted chietly 
of pork, with an occasional ration of mutton and salt beef, 
had been very trying to the officers. One and all were 'com- 
pletely worn out,' as the principal medical officer reported ; 
two out of our small number died, and the General's con- 
dition gave cause for grave anxiety. For myself, having 
a perfect horror of pork, I think I should have starved 
outright but for the extraordinary culinary talent of Afr. 
Edgar, who disguised the presence of he unclean animal 
in such a wonderful way in soups, stews, etc., that I fre- 
quently partook of it without knowing what I was eating. 
My wife and some anonymous kind friend sent by poet 
small tins of Liebig's extract, which were highly appreciated. 

Cholera pursued us up to and beyond Cachar; the 
wretched coolies suffered most, and it is a disease to 
which Gurkhas are peculiarly susceptible, while a feast on 
a village pig from time to time probably helped to make 
matters worse for them. Many of these grand little 
soldiers and some of the Sikhs also fell victims to the 

scourge. My orderly, a very smart young Gurkha, to my 
peat regret, was seized with it the day after I reached 
Cachar, and died next morning. 

On my way to Simla, I spent a few days with Norman at 
Calcutta. The whole place was in mourning on account of 
the terrible catastrophe wl!ich had happened at Port Blair. 



CHAPTER SL. 

LORD NAPIER OF MURCHIBTON, the Governor of Madras, had 
been eummoned to Calcutta to act as Viceroy until Lord 
Northbrook, Lord Mayo's succeeeor, should arrive. He 
seemed interested in whnt I had to tell him about Lu~hai ,  
and Lord Napier of Nagdala spoke in laudatory terms 
of the manner in which the expedition had been carried 
out. 

I reached Simla on the let of April, the twentieth anni- 
versary of my arrival in India. I found my wife, with the 
two children, settled in Snowdon,. a house I had recently 
pnrchaaed. She had had much trouble in my absence, 
having been a t  death's door herself, and having very nearly 
loet our little son at Umbnlla three weeks after his birth 
from a Native wet-nurse having tried to kill him. The 
English nurse's suspicions had been aroused by one day 
finding a live coal in the cradle, but she did not mention 
this discovery at the time for fear of frightening my wife ; 
but she determined to watch. A few days later, while with 
our little girl in the next room, she heard the baby boy 

We Lived in this h o w  whenever we were in Sirnla, till we left 
it in 1892. It has since been bought by Government for the Corn. 
rrunder-in-Chief s residence. 
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choking, and rushed in to find to her horror blood on his 
lips, and that he was struggling violently, as if to get rid 
of something in his throat ! She pushed down her finger 
and pulled out a sharp piece of cane about two inches long; 
but other pieces had evidently gone down, for the poor 
little fellow was in terrible agony for many days. It 
turned out that the wretched woman hated the unwonted 
confinement of her new life, and was determined to get 

away, but was too much afraid of her husband to 88y 80. 

He wanted her to remain for the sake of the high pay 
this class of servant receives, so it appeared to the woman 
that her only chance of freedom was to get rid of the 
child, and to carry out her purpose she first attempted to 
set fire to the cradle, and finding this did not succeed, she 
pulled some pieces of cane off the chair upon which h e  

was sitting, and shoved them down the child's throat. 
She was, as my wife described her, a pretty, innocent, 
timid-looking creature, to whom no one would ever 
have dreamt of attributing such an atrocity. The boj 
was made extremely delicate for several months by this 
misadventure, as his digestion had been ruined for the 
time being, but eventually he completely recovered from 
its effects. 

In  September the C.B. was conferred upon me for the 
Lushai Expedition. Lord Napier informed me of the fact 
in a particularly kind little note. I was very proud of 
being a member of the Bath, although at the time a brevet 
would have been a more useful reward, as want of rank 
was the reason Lord h'apier had given for not allowing me 
to act as Quartermaster-General, on Lumsden being tem- 
porarily appointed Resident at HyderaLad. 
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We began our usual winter tour in the middle of October. 
At Nian Mir I made the acquaintance of the Adjutant of 
the 37th Foot, the late Sir Herbert Stewart, who was then 
a smart, good-looking subaltern, and I recollect his be- 
moaning bitterly his bad luck in never having had a chance 
of seeing service. How little at that time could it have 
been anticipated that within twelve years he would see 
hard fighting in Africa, and be killed as a Major-General 
in command of a column ! 

\Ye visited several of the stations in the Punjab, and 
spent a few days at Jamu as guest of the Maharaja 
of h s h m i r ,  who treated us royally, and gave us some 
excellent pig-sticking ; and on the 21st December we joined 
Head-Quarters at Lawrencepur for a largo Camp of Exercise, 
to be held on the identical ground which I had selected 
for the camp which Sir Hugh Rose proposed to have eleven 
years before. 

Lord Napier of Nagdala did much to improve the 
eficiency of the army by means of Camps of Exercise. He 
held one at Delhi in the winter of 1871-72, and the Camp 
of which I am writing was most successful and instructive. 
KO Commander-in-Chief ever carried out inspections with 
more thoroughness than did Lord Napier of Nagdda. He 
spared himself no trouble. On the hottest day he would 
toil through barrack after barrack to satisfy himself that 
the mldiers were properly cared for; Europeans and 
Natives were equally attended to, and many measures 
conducive to the men's comfort date from the time he was 
in command in India. 

At the close of this camp Lumsden, who had returned to 
his appointment from Hyderabad, gave up the Quarter- 
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master-Generalship for good. We had been greatly thrown 
together during the twenty-one years I had been in India, 
and my wife and I were very aorry to bid farewell to him 
and Mrs. Lumsden. He was succeeded by Edwin Johnson, 
pending whose arrival I was now allowed to officiate. 

From Lawrencspur I went with the Commander-in-Chief 
to Calcutta. Soon after we arrived there I was asked by 
Sir Douglas Forsyth to accompany him on his Mission to 
Yarkand and Kashgar. I should have mnch liked to hare 
done so, for the idea of a trip to these, at that time unknown, 
region8 possessed grent fascinations for me. I was there- 
fore well pleased when Lord Napier told me he would not 
stand in the way of my going, and proportionately dia- 
appointed when, the next day, his Excellency said that 
on consideration he did not think I could be spared jnet 
then, for the Quartermaster-Genera1 would be new to 
the work at h t ,  and he thought he would need my 
aseistance. 

The end of April saw us back in Simla, and in July 
Edwin Johnson arrived. 

During the summer of 1873 important eventa occurred 
which had mnch to do with our subsequent relations with 
Afghanistan. The inquiries which Sher Ali had begged 
Lord Mayo to make about Persian encroachments in 
Sieban, had resulted in General Goldsmid* and Colonel 
Pollockt being deputed in 1871 to proceed to Sistan to 
decide the question. The settlement arrived at by t h m  
officers, which assigned to Afghanistan the country up 
to the right bank of the Helmand, but nothing beyond, 

General 8i Frederick Goldsmid, K.C.M.G. 
t Major-General Sir Frederick Polloclt, K.C.S.1. 
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eatisfied neither the Shah nor the Amir, and the latter 
gent his confidential minister, Saiyad Nur Mahomed, the 
htghan Commissioner in the Sistan arbitration, to meet 
Lord Northbrook on his arrival in Bombay for the purpose 
of appealing to him against the decision. I t  could not, 
however, be reversed ; but in a subsequent interview which 
the new Viceroy accorded the Envoy, the latter was told 
that 8e soon as Persia and Afghanistan had signified their 
acceptance of the settlement, the Government of India 
would present the Amir with five lakhs of rupees as com- 
pensation for the ceded territory which had for a time 
belonged to Afghanistan. 

The action of her Majesty's Ninisters in communica- 
tion with Russia regarding the northern boundary of 
Afghanistan was another matter about which the Amir was 
greatly exercised; and Lord Korthbrook, thinking that all 
each vexed questions could be more satisfactorily explained 
by personal communication than by letter, proposed to 
the Amir that His Highness should consent to receive 
a t  Kabul a British officer ' of high rank and dignity, in 
whom I have full confidence' (Mr. Macnabb),* ' who will 
aleo explain to Your Highness,' wrote the Viceroy, ' the 
negotiations which have now hen  satisfactorily concluded 
with the Government of His Najesty the Emperor of 
Rnesie, whereby the Russian Government have agreed to 
m c q p h  and reapect the integrity and independence of 
the territories now in your Highness's possession.' 

To this request Sher Ali replied that he considered it 
advisable that one of his agents should first wait on the 
Viceroy to ascertain the real views of the British Govern- 

* 6ir D o d d  Maenabb, K.C.S.I., then Comrnirsioner of Peahewar. 



74 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN Ih'DIA Dm 
- - . . . - - - - - -  

ment on these important matters. This was agreed to, and 
Saiyad Nur Mahomed was again selected to represent the 
Amir. He reached Simla towards the end of June. On 
being informed that Persia had unreservedly accepted the 
decision as to the Sistan question, the Envoy declared that, 
whatever opinion the Amir might hold as to his rights, His 
Highness would. also scrupulously respect that decision 
With regard to the northern frontier, the Envoy begged it 
to be clearly understood that the Afghan Government wished 
to be allowed to make their own laws and follow their o m  

customs within their territories ; that the internal a 5 - i  of 
the country should be free from interference ; and that the 
acknowledgment by Russia of the Amir's claim to land 
south of the Oxus should be confirmed by Bokhara. He 
further requested ' that the British Government would dis- 
tinctly promise that, in the event of any aggression on the 
Amir's territories, they would consider the perpetrator of 
such aggression as  their own enemy.' I t  was explained to 
the Saiyad that the British Government did not share the 
Amir's apprehension of Russia ; that under such circum- 
stances as he contemplated, it would be the duty of the 
Amir to refer to the British Government, who =odd 
decide whether it was an occasion for assistance to be 
rendered by them, and what the nature and extent of 
the assistance should be ; moreover, that their help must 
be conditional upon the Amir himself abstaining from 
aggression, and on his unreserved acceptance of the 
advice of the British Government in regard to his external 
relations, 

Two other questions were discussed : 
(1) The location in certain towns in Afghanistso of 
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British officers as representatives of the British Govern- 
ment. 

(2) The present assistance to be rendered to the Amir 
for the purpose of strengthening his country against foreign 
aggression. 

On the first point the Envoy said he had no instructions, 
but that, in his opinion, to ask Sher Ali to allow British 
officers to be located in Afghanistan would give rise to 
mistrust and apprehension. He recommended that a 
letter should be addressed to the Amir, pointing out the 
desirability of a British officer being sent to inspect the 
western and northern boundaries of Afghanistan, pro- 

ceeding Kandahar and returning rid Kabul, where he 
might confer personally with His Highness. This sug- 
gestion was carried out. 

With regard to the second point under discussion, the 
Envoy stated that 20,000 stand-of-arms were desired, laying 
very particular stress on 5,000 Sniders being included in 
this number, and that hopes were entertained by the Amir 
that he would b largely assisted with money. In answer 
to this, the Saiyad was told that there was not then a suf- 
ficient reserve supply of Sniders for the English troops in 
India, and that it was impossible to spare more than 5,000 

Enfields; that this number should a t  once be placed at 
the Amir's disposal, and that the remainder should be 
forwarded as soon as they were received from England. 
He  was further informed that five lakhs of rupees (ex- 
clusive of the five lalihs promised the year before, as 
indemnification for the loss of territory) would be given 
to Sher Ali. 

A final letter from the Ticeroy was sent to the Amir through 
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Baiyad N u  Mahomed, dated 6th September, 1873, summing 
up the result of the conference. His Highness was told, with 
reference to a fear expressed by the Envoy lest Russia should 
press for the establishment of a Russian Mission and agente 
in Afghanistan, that Prince Gortschakoff had officially in- * 
timated that, while he saw no objection to British officers 
going to IKabul, he engaged that Russian agents should 
abstain from doing so, and that, far from apprehending a 
Russian invasion of Afghanistan, the British Government 
believed that the effect of the recent arrangements hsd 
been to render the occurrence of such a contingency more 
remote than ever. At the same time, being desirous of 
seeing the Amir strong and his rule firmly established, the 
Government were prepared to give him any reasonable 
assistance. 

Sher Ali was greatly annoyed and disappointed a t  tbe 
result of his Envoy's visit to Simla. He was of a very 
impulsive, passionate disposition ; his reply to the Viceroy's 
letter was discourteous and sarcastic ; he declined to receive 
s British officer at Kabul, and although he condescended 
to accept thc arms presented to him, he left the ten lakhs 
of rupees untouched in the Peshawar treasury. Colonel 
Valentine Baker, who was at that time travelling through 
Central Asia, was forbidden by the Amir to pass throwh 
Afghanistan on his way to India ; and a few months later 
he refused to allow Sir Douglas Forsyth's Mission to return 
to India by way of Afghanistan. 



CHAPTER XLI. 

IN the beginning of October my wife and I started for a 
fortnight's trip to the top of the Chor, a fine mountain sixty- 
two miles from Simla, and close on 12,000 feet high. We 
were accompanied by a very dear friend of -ours-now 
no more--Colonel Baigrie, who was soon afterwards made 

Quartermaster-General in Bombay. He was a talented 
artist and delightful companion, and notwithstanding the 
old adage that two are company and three none, we three 
enjoyed our holiday immensely. 

After crossing a stream called the Ghiri, blow Fagu, 
the road passes through beautiful forest and cli£f scenery, 
and for the most part was fairly easy, until the foot of the 
mountain was reached about six miles from the top, when 
i t  became very precipitous and difficult. n'e were the 
whole day doing this march, breakfasting in one place and 
lunching in another higher up. There was a g d  deal of 
snow in the shady spots. A few days before we had noticad 
that the top of the mountain was white, but the sun wae , 
still too strong in the daytime for the snow to lie long in 
exposed' parts. The way being too steep for my wife to 
ride1o$ go in a dandy, we all three walked, or rather 
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climbed, up to the shoulder where our tents were pitched, 
about a mile from the summit. 

The forest through which we passed was very bermti- 
ful, commencing with dark-green ilex, glistening holly. 
and sombre brown oak, interspersed with groups of 
the dainty, graceful, white-stemmed birch, and wreathed 
with festoons of the scarlet Himalayan vine. As we 

mounted higher, trees became fewer and the foliage less 
luxuriant, till at length only oaks were to be seen, their 
branches twisted into all sorts of weird, fantastic shapee 
from the strength of the south-west monsoon. Huge 
rocks became more frequent, covered with lichens and 
mosses of every shade, from dark-green to brilliant crimeon. 

4 

At length trees and shrubs were left behind, except the 
red-berried juniper, which grows at a higher elevation 
here than any other bush, and flourishes in the cletts of 
the rocks, where nothing else will exist. We got up in 
time to see the most glorious sunset; the colours were 
more wonderful than anything I had ever seen before, even 
in India. My wife urged Baigrie to make a rough sketch, 
and note the tints, that he might paint a picture of it 
later. He made the sketch, saying: 'If I attempted to 
represent truly what we see before us, the painting would 
be rejected by the good people at home as absurdly unreal, 
or as the work of a hopeless lunatic.' Thero wae such 
a high wind that our small tents had a narrow escape 
ot being blown away. That night the water was frozen m 
our jugs, and it was quite impossible to keep warm. 

We Kere up betimes the next morning, and climbed to 
the highest peak, where we found breakfast awaiting us 
and a magnificent view of the Himalayan ranges, right 
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down to the plains on one Bide and up to the perpetual 
mows on the others. We descended to the foot of the 
mountain in the afternoon, and then returned, march by 
march, to Simla. 

Towards the end of the month Lord Napier began his 
winter tour, visiting the hill stations first. At Chakrab 
I made the acquaintance of the 92nd Highlanders, that 
distinguished corps which stood me in such good stead a 
few years later in Afghanistan. At the end of November 
we found ourselves a t  Lucknow, in time to take part in 
Lord Northbrook's state entry, and be present a t  a fete 
given to the Viceroy in the Wingfield Park by Sir George 
Cooper, the Chief Commissioner. 

From Lucknow we went for a brief visit to a small 
Camp of Exercise near Rurki, where Lord Napier left the 
Adjutant-General, Thesiger,. in command, while he himeelf 
proceeded to visit some of the stations in the Madras 
Presidency, and I returned for a short time to Simla. 

While riding up the hill from Kalka, I had a novel 
experience. One of those tremendous thunder-storms 
which are not uncommon in the Himalayas came on ; the 
rain was blinding and incessant, and the peals of thunder 
were simultaneous with the lightning. At last there was 
a tremendous crnsli ; a flash, more vivid than the rest, 
gamed right in front of my horse's head, accompanied by 
a whizzing noise and a sulphurous smell, completely blind- 
ing me for a second. TWO Natives travelling a few yards 
ahead of me fell flnt on their faces, and I thought they 
were killed, but it turned out they were only knocked over 
and very much frightened. 

+ Now General Lord Chelnlsford, G.C.R. 
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Early in January, 1874, we received by telegram tbe 
infinitely sad news of my father's death. We ought, I 
suppose, to have been prepared for such an event, m=ing 
that he was within a few months of his ninetieth birthday ; 
but he was so well and active, and took such a keen intereet 
in all that was going on, especially anything connected aitb 
India, that we hardly realized his great age, and alaaya 
hoped we might see him once more. He had reoeived 
the G.C.B. from Her Majesty's hands at  Windsor on the 
8th December, and two days afterwards he wrote me an 
account of the ceremony, and expressed himaelf much 
pleased and gratified at the Queen's gracious manner to him. 
He said nothing about hie health, but we heard later that 

he had taken cold in the train on his way home, and neoer 
recovered from the effects ; he died on the 30th of December. 
His love for India had not been weakened by his twenty years' 
absence from the country, and he never wearied of being 
told of the wonderful changes which had taken place since 
his day-changes which, for the most part, dated from tbe 
Mutiny, for up till 1857 life in India was much the same as 
when my father first landed in the beginning of the centq.  

A continued drought in Behar was at this time canaing 
p a r e  fears of a famine, such as from time to time had 
desolated various parts of India. Nine years before web 
a drought, and the absence of means of communication, 
which prevented grain being thrown into the famine- 
stricken districts in sufficient quantities, resulted in one- 
fourth of the population of Orissa being camed off br 
starvation, or disease consequent on starvation. So on 
this occasion Lord Northbrook was determined, at  all 
costs, to ward off such a calamity. He sent Sir Richanl 
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Temple to Behar in the confident hope that his unbounded 
resource and energy would enable him to cope with 
the difEculties of the situation, a hope that was fully 
realized. Relief works were at once commenced ; a trans- 
port train was quickly improvised, worked chiefly by 
military and police officers; and one million tons of rice 
were distributed amongst the people. Not a life was lost, 
but the cost to the State was enormous-six millions and a 
half sterling. 

In the beginning of February I was ordered by Govern- 
ment to proceed to the famine districts to help Temple. I 
started at once ; but I had not been long in Behar before I 
was required to join the Commander-in-Chief in Calcutta, 
His Excellency having determined to nominate me Quarter- 
master-General, in succession to Johnson, who was about 
to become Adjutant-General. Being only a Lieutenant- 
Colonel in the army, I could not, according to the rules, 
be put at once permanently into the appointment, which 
carried with it the rank of Major-General. The difficulty 
was overcome, however, by my being allowed to officiate 
till the following January, when, in the ordinary course of 
promotion, I should become a Colonel. 

Lord Northbrook spent the summer of 1874 in Calcutta, 
in consequence of the famine necessities having to be met ; 
and ae the Commander-in-Chief determined to follow his 
example, I took a houae in Calcutta, and my wife joined 
me in the middle of March-rather a bad time of year to 
come down to the plains after spending the winter amongst 
the snows of Simla. But she did not fancy Simla in the 
eeeson ae a grass-widow, and had had quite enough of 
being alone. 

VOL. n. 38 
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We continued in Calcutta until August, when the 
Head-Quarters returned to Simla, where we remained till 
November . 

We had a standing camp a t  Umballa during the winter 
of 1874-75, doing our inspections from there, and returning 
to the camp at intervals. There was the usual viait to 
Calcutta in March, towards the end of which montb 
another daughter was born. 

In October, 1875, I spent some time at Delhi, arranging 
for the Camp of Exercise to be held there in January for 
His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales. The camp ru 
formed in the beginning of December, and consisted of 

17,000 men, in four divisions, commanded by Major- 
Generals Sir Charles Reid, Macdonnell, the Hon. Arthnr 
Hardinge, and Donald Stewart. 

The country round Delhi is particularly well suited for 
extended manceuvres, and full advantage was taken of the 
facilities it afforded during the two months the Camp d 
Exercise lasted. The Prince of Wales landed a t  Calcutta 
on the 2Srd December; and Lord Napier with his ebd 
went down to meet His Royal Highness, whom reception 
was loyal and hearty to a degree. As the Serapis, with tbe 
Prince on board, steamed slowly up the Hughli, d o t e s  

were fired from Fort William and three ships of the Royal 
Navy. All the vessels in the river were gay with flap, 
their yards were manned, and good hearty English cbeera 
resounded from stem to stern of each ship as the Indian 
troopship, carrying the heir to England's throne, came m 

eight. As soon as the ,'3erapt's was moored, the Vicemy 
went on board to greet the Prince and conduct Hie Royal 
Highness to the gaily-decorated landing-stage, where the 
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principal officials, Native Princes, and chief inhabitants of 
Calcutta were assembled. Troops lined the road from the 
river to Government House, and the nuidan (the great 
open space in front) was thronged with a dense crowd of 
Natives in their most brilliant gala attire, eager to catch a 
glimpse of the son of the great Queen of England. 

That evening Lord Northbrook gave a State banquet. 
The next day there was a reception of the Princes and 
Chiefs, followed by a levee, and after dark the whole place 
was most beautifully illuminated. The week that followed 
wee taken up with entertainments of various kinds-balls, 
raws, and garden-parties, interspersed with official visits- 
which I am afraid the Prince could not have found 
amusing--and on New Year's Day, 1876, His Royal High- 
ness held a Chapter of the Order of the Star of India, a k r  
which the Commander-in-Chief returned to Delhi to arrange 
to receive the Prince in that historical city on the 11th 
January. 

His Royal Highness's camp, and that of the Com- 
xnmnder-in-Chief, were pitched on the ground occupied by 
the  British army during the siege. The road, five miles 
in length, from the station to the camp was lined with 
troop, and on the Ridge itself were placed six Rifle corps, 
three of which had taken part in the siege.* The 2nd 
Gurkhas were very appropriately drawn up immediately 
under Hindu Rao's house, and when this point wee 
reeehed, the Prince stopped and warmly complimented 
the men on the distinguished service the regiment had 
performed. 

The next day there was a parade of all'the troopa in 

60th Riflea, k d  Gurkhas, and 1st Punjab Infantry. 



84 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA 

review order for the inspection of the Prince, who wm 
pleased to express his complete satisfaction and a p p m d  
of ' the steadiness under arms, soldier-like bearing, and 
precision of movement, which distinguish the corpa of the 
three armies assembled at the camp s t  Delhi.' 

That evening the Prince was present s t  a ball in the 
diwan-i-khas (private audience hall) in the p a h ,  giren 
in His Royal Highness's honour by the officere of the 
army. 

The next few days were taken up with manoxnms, 
which the Prince attended, accompanied by Lumdeno and 
myself. The defence was commanded by Reid, the attack 
by Hardinge, the latter's object being to gain poaeession of 
the Ridge, with a view to future operations against tbe city 

on the arrival of the main army from the Punjab. Bnt 
the attack did not meet with the success which attended 
Barnard in 1857, while the Commander of the defencd 
proved himself as skilful in protecting the Ridge against 
an enemy advancing from the north as he had been, 

twenty years before, in repulsing one coming from the 
opposite direction. 

The Prince of Wales held another investiture of the Sbr 
of India on the 7th of March at Allahabad, which Lord 
Napier and the staff attended. At its close we took om 
.leave of His Royal Highness, who started that night for 
England. 

In less than a fortnight our dear old Chief followed, and 
I saw him off from Bombay on the 10th April. I wae very 
low at parting with him, for though in the earlier day8 d 

Lumsden returned to Head-Quartere es Adjutant-General on Edrin 
Johnson being appointed a member of the Indian Council in M o a .  











18761 F A R E W E L L  TO LORD NAPIER 85 

our acquaintance I used to think he was not very favour- 
ably dispoeed towards me, when I became more intimately 
associated with him nothing could exceed his kindness. He 
waa universally regretted by Europeans and Natives alike. 
The soldiers recognized that he had carefully guarded their 
interests and worked for their welfare, and the Native 
Princes and people felt that he was in sympathy with 
them, and to this day they speak of Lu t  Napier Sahib with 
the deepest respect and affection. 

Lord Napier was succeeded in the command by Sir 
Frederick Haines. 



CHAPTER XLII. 

WITH a new Commander-in-Chief came a new Viceroy, and 
i t  was while we were in Bombay seeing the laat of Lord 
Napier that the Orontes s h e d  into the harbour vitb 
Lord Lytton on board. Little did I imagine when making 
Lord Lytton's acquaintance how much he would have to 
a y  to my future career. 

His Excellency received me very kindly, telling me he 
felt that I was not altogether a stranger, as he had been 
reading during the voyage a paper I had written for Lord 
Napier, a year or two before, on our military position m 

India, and the arrangements that would be nweaary m 

the event of Russia attempting to continue her advance 
south of the Oxus. Lord Napier had sent a copy of this 
memorandum to Lord Beaconsfield, by whom it had been 
given to Lord Lytton. 

During the summer of 1876 our frontier policy ars 
frequently under discussion. Sir Bartle Frere wrote two 

very strong letters after the Conservative Government 
came into power in 1874, drawing attention to the danger 
of our being satisfied with a policy of aloofneee, and 
pointing out the necessity for coming into closer relations 
with the Amir of Afghanistan and the Khan of Iihelat- 
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Soon afterwards the Secretary of State communicated with 
the Government of India as to the advisability of establish- 
ing British agents in Afghanistan, and of persuading the 
Amir to receive a temporary Embassy at Kabul, as bad 
originally been proposed by Lord Northbrook. 

The members of Lord Northbrook's Council were 
unanimously opposed to both these proposals, but they 
did not succeed in convincing Lord Salisburyl.that the 
measures were undesirable; and on the resignation of 
Lord Northbrook, the new Viceroy was furnished with 
special instructions as to the action which Her Majeety'e 
Government considered necessary in consequence of the 
activity of Russia in Central Asia, and the impossibility of 
obtaining accurate information of what was going on in 
and beyond Afghanistan. 

The question of the Embassy was dealt with at once; 
Lord Lytton directed a letter to be sent to the Amir 
announcing his assumption of the Viceroyalty, and hie 
intention to depute Sir Lewis Pelly to proceed to Kabul 
for the purpose of discuseing certain matters with His 
Highness. 

To this communication a most unsatisfactory reply was 
received, and a second letter was addressed to the Amir, 
in which he was informed that, should he still decline to 
receive the Viceroy's Envoy after deliberately weighing all 
the considerations commended to his serious attention, the 
responsibility of the result would rest entirely on the 
Government of Afghanistan, which would thus alienate 
itself from the alliance of that Power which was most 
dieposed and best able to befriend it. 

This letter was the cause of considerable excitement in 
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Kabul, excitement which ran so high that the necessity for 
proclaiming a religious war was mooted ; and, to compli- 
eate matters, the Amir at this time received overtnna 
from General Kaufhnann, the Russian Governor-General 
in Turkestan. 

A delay of six weeks occurred before Sher Ali replied to 
Lord Lytton's letter, and then he altogether ignored the 
Viceroy's proposal to send a Mission to Kabul, merely 
euggesting that the British Government should receive 
an Envoy from him, or that representatives from both 
muntries should meet and hold a conference on the border, 
or, as another alternative, that the British Native Agent at 
Kabul should return and discuss affairs with the Viceroy. 

The last suggestion was accepted by the Government of 
India, and the agent (Nawab Ata Mahomed Khan) arrived 
in Simla early in October. The Nawab gave it as  hi^ 
opinion that the Amir's attitude of estrangement waa due 
to an accumulation of grievances, the chief of which were 
-the unfavourable arbitration in the Sietan dispute; the 
want of success of Saiyad Nur Mahomed's mission to India 
in 1873, when it was the desire of the Bmir's heart to 
enter into an offensive and defensive alliance with the 
Britieh Government ; the interposition of Lord North- 
brook's Government on behalf of Yaknb Khan ;* tbe 
recent proceedings in Khelat,t which the Amir thought 
were bringing us objectionably near Kandahar ; the trane- 

The Amir's eldest son, who had rebelled on his younger brother. 
Abdulla Jan, being nominated heir to the throne. 

t Before Lord Northbrook left India he sent Major Sandeman on 
Mimion to Khelat to re-open the Bolan Pam, and endeavour to settle the 
differen- between the Khan and the Bduchisten tribes, and between 
the tribea themselves, who were all at loggerheads. 
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mission of preeents through Afghanistan, to his vassal, 
the Mir of Wakhan, without the Amir's permission ;* and, 
above all, the conviction that our policy was exclusively 
directed to the furtherance of British interests without any 
thought for those af Afghanistan. 

As regarded the proposed Mission to Kabul, the Envoy 
said that His Highness objected to it for many reasons. 
Owing to local fanaticism, he could not insure its safety, 
and it seemed probable that, though of a temporary nature 
to begin with, it might only be the thin end of the wedge, 
ending in the establishment of a permanent Resident, as 
a t  the courts of the Native Rulers in India. Furthermore, 
the Amir conceived that, if he consented to this Mission, 
the Russiam would insist upon their right to send a similar 
one, and finally, he feared a British Envoy might bring 
his influence to bear in favour of the release of his son, 
Yakub Khan, with whom his relations were as strained as 
ever. 

In answer, the Viceroy enumerated the concessions he 
wae prepared to make, and the conditions upon which alone 
he would consent to them ; and this answer the agent was 
directed to communicate to the Amir : 

The concessions were as follows : 
(1) That the friends and enemies of either State should 

be those of the other. 
(2) That, in the event of unprovoked aggression upon 

Afghanistan from without, assistance should be afforded in 
men, money, and arms; and also that to strengthen the 

Pmmnta given by the British Government to the Mir of Wekhan in 
recognition of hi hospitable reception of the members of the Forsyth 
Y i o n  on their return from Yarkund. 
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Amu against such aggression, the British Government nsr 

willing to fortify Herat and other pointe on the hnt ie r ,  
and, if desired, to lend officere to discipline the army. 

(3) That Abdulla Jan should be recognized as the -8 

succeesor to the exclusion of any other aapirant ; and that 
the question of material aid in support of such recognition 
should be discussed by the Plenipotentiaries. 

(4) That a yearly subsidy should be paid to the Amir on 
the following conditions : 

That he should refrain from external aggression or prom- 
cation of his neighbotus, and from entering into external 
relations without our knowledge. 

That he ehould decline all communication with Russi., 
and refer her agents to us. 

That British agenta should reside at Herat and else- 
where on the frontier. 

That a mixed commission of British and Afghan of6cers 
ehould determine and demarcate the Amir's frontier. 

That arrangements should be made, by allowancee or 
otherwise, for free circulation of trade on the principal 
trade routes. 

That similar arrangements should be made for a line of 
telegraph, the direction of which was to be subsequently 
determined. 

That Afghanistan should be freely opened to Engliehmen, 
official and non-oficial, and arrangements made by the 
Amir, as far as practicable, for their safety, though Hia 
Highness would not be absolutely held responsible far 
isolated sccidents. 

The Viceroy concluded by suggesting that, if the Amir 
agreed to these proposals, a treaty might be arranged 
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between the agents of the respective Governments, and rati- 
fied either at Peehawar, by the Amir meeting Lord Lytton 
there, or at Delhi if the Amir eccepted His Excellency'e 
invitation to be premnt at the Imperial Assemblage. 

The Amir at the time voucheafed no reply whatever to 
them proposele or to the invitation to come to Delhi. 
In the autumn of 1876 preparations were commenced 

for the 'Imperial Assemblage,' which it was announced 
by the Viceroy would be held at Delhi on the first day of 
January, 1877, for the purpose of proclaiming to the 
Queen's subjecta throughout India the assumption by 
Her Majesty of the title of 'Empress of India.' To this 
h m b l a g e  Lord Lytton further announced that he pro- 
posed ' to invite the Governors, Lieutenant-Governors, and 
Hesds of Administration from all parts of the Queen's Indian 
dominions, as well as the Princes, Chiefs, and Nobles in 
whose pereons the antiquity of the past ia associated with 
the prosperity of the present, and who so worthily con- 
tribute to the splendour and stability of this great 
Empire.' 

Delhi was selected as the place where the meeting 
between the Queen's representative and the great nobles 
of India could most appropriately be held, and a com- 
mittee was appointed to make the necessary arrangements. 
Ae a member of the committee I was deputed to proceed 
to Delhi, settle about the sites for the camps, and carry 
out all details in communication with the local authorities. 
The Viceroy impreseed upon me that the Assemblage was 
intended to emphasize the Proclamation Lord Canning 
issued eighteen years before, by which the Queen assumed 
the direct sovereignty of her eastern possessions, and that 
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he wished no trouble or expense to be spared in making 
the ceremony altogether worthy of such a great hbtorical 
event . 

I returned to Simla in October, when my wife and I 
accompanied the Commander-in-Chief on a very delightful 
march over the Jalauri Peas through the Kulu valley, 
then over the Bubbu Pass and through the Kangra valley 
to Chamba and Dalhousie. Our party consisted of the 
Chief, his Doctor (Bradshew), Persian interpreter (Moore), 
General and Mrs. Lumsden, and ourselves. The first 
slight shower of snow had just fallen on the Jalauri 
Pass, and as we crossed over we disturbed a number - of beautiful snow-pheasants and minals busily engaged 
in scratching it away to get at their food. The scenery 
on this march is very h e  and varied; for the moat part 
the timber and foliage are superb, and the valleys are very 
fertile and pretty, lying close under the snow-capped 
mountains. 

Having inspected the ' Hill stations,' we proceeded to 
Peshswar, where the Viceroy had arranged to hold a con- 
ference with the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab and 
the Commissioner of Peshawar about frontier &airs. 

Early in December I was back again at Delhi, where I 
found the arrangements for the several camps progrew 
ing most satisfactorily, and canvas cities rising up in 
every direction. I had previously chosen the site of the 
old cantonment for the camps of the Viceroy, the Com- 
mander-in-Chief, and the principal officials, while for 
the Assemblage itself I had selected ground about three 
miles off. 

The Chiefs and Princes were all settled in their several 
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c a m p  ready to meet the Viceroy, who, on his arrival, 
in a few graceful words welcomed them to Delhi, and 
thanked them for responding to his invitation. He then 
mounted, with Lady Lytton, on a state elephant, and 
a procession was formed, which, I fancy, was about the 
most gorgeous and picturesque which has ever been seen 
even in the East. The magnificence of the Native 
Princea' retinues can hardly be described ; their elephant- 
housings were of cloth of gold, or scarlet-and-blue cloths 
embroidered in gold and silver. The howdahs were veri- 
table thrones of the precious metals, shaded by the most 
brilliant canopies, and the war-elephants belonging to some 
of the Central India and Rajputana Chiefs formed a very 
curious and interesting feature. Their tusks were tipped 
with steel ; they wore shields on their foreheads, and breast- 
plates of flashing steel ; chain-mail armour hung down over 
their trunks and covered their backs and sides; and they 
were mounted by warriors clad in chain-mail, and armed 
to the teeth. Delhi must have witnessed many splendid 
pageants, when the Rajput, the Moghul, and the Mahratta 
dynasties, each in its turn, was at the height of its glory ; but 
never before had Princes and Chiefs of every race and creed 
come from all parts of Hindustan, vying with ench other 
as to the magnificence of their entourage, and met together 
with the same object-that of acknowledging and doing 
homage to one supreme Ruler. 

The next few days were spent by Lord Lytton in re- 
ceiving the sixty-three* Ruling Princes of India according 

' Beaiden the nixtg-three Ruling Chiefe, there were nearly three 
hundred tit* Chiefs and persona of distinction collected at the 
Imperial h m b h g e ,  beeides those included in the uuiw of Ruling 
Chietr.'-J. Tdboys Wheeler, ' Fhtory of the Delhi A ~ ~ ~ ~ b l r r g e . '  
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to the strictest etiquette. Each Prince, with his suite, WM 

met at the entrance to the camp, and conducted up the 
etreet to the durbar tent by mounted officers, the d u b  
to which he was entitled being fired while the promaion 
moved on. He was then presented by the Foreign 
Secretary to the Vicaroy, who placed him on a chair on 
his right, immediately below a full-length portrait of Her 
Majesty. A eatin banner, richly embroidered with the 
Chief's armorial bearings, surmounted by the Imperial 
crown, was next brought in by Highland soldiere and 
planted in front of the throne, when the Viceroy, leading 
the particular Chief towards it, thus addressed him: 'I 
present Your Highness with this banner as a personal 
gift from Her Majesty the Queen, in commemoration of 
her assumption of the title of Empress of India. Her 
Majesty trusts that it may never be unfurled without re- 
minding you not only of the close union between the 
throne of England and your loyal and princely h o w ,  
but also of the earnest desire of the paramount power to 
eee your dynasty strong, prosperous, and permanent.' 

Hie Excellency then p l e d  round the Chief's neck a 
crimson ribbon, to which was attached a very handaome 
gold medal* with the Queen's head engraved on it, adding: 

' I further decorate you, by command of Her Majesty. May 
this medal be long worn by yourself, and long kept ee an 
heirloom in your family in remembrance of the anepicions 
date it bears.' 

The 1st January. 1877, earn the Queen proclaimed 

* Theee gold medale. were aleo preeented to the O o v ~  
Lieutenant-oovernora, end other high officialn, and to the m e m h  
of the Imperial hmblege Committee. 
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Emprese of India. The ceremony was most imposing, 
and in every way successful. Three tented pavilions 
had been constructed on an open plain. The throne- 
pavilion in the centre was a very graceful erection, brilliant 
in hangings and banners of red, blue, and white satin 
magnificently embroidered in gold, with appropriate 
emblems. I t  was hexagonal in shape, and rather more 
than 200 feet in circumference. In  front of this was the 
pavilion for the Ruling Chiefs and high European officials, 
in the form of a semicircle 800 feet long. The canopy 
was of Star of India blue-and-white satin embroidered in 
gold, each pillar being surmounted by an Imperial crown. 
Behind the throne was the stand for the spectators, alao 
in the form of a semicircle divided in the middle, and 
likewise canopied in brilliant colours. Between these two 
blocks was the entrance to the area. 

Eeoh Chief and high official a t  beneath his own banner, 
which was planted immediately behind hie chair, and 
they were all mixed up as much aa possible to avoid 
questions of precedence, the result being the most 
wonderful mass of colour, produced from the inter- 
mingling of British uniforms and plumes with gorgeous 
eastern coetumes, set off by a blaze of diamonds and 
other precious stones. 

All the British troops brought to Delhi for the occasion 
were paraded to the north, and the troops end retainers 
belonging to the Native Chiefs to the south, of the pavilion. 
Guards of Honour were drawn up on either side of the 
throne and a t  each opening by which the Ruling Chiefe 
were to enter the pavilion. 

The guests being all seated, a flourish of trumpets by 
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the heralds exactly at noon announced the arrival of the 
Viceroy. The military bands played a march, and Lord 
Lytton, accompanied by Lady Lytton, their daughters, and 
his staff, proceeded to the pavilion. His Excellency took 
his seat upon the throne, arrayed in his robes as Grand 
Master of the Star of India, the National Anthem waa 

played, the Guards of Honour presented arms, while the 
whole of the vast assemblage rose as one man. The Chief 
Herald was then commanded to read the Proclamation. 
A flourish of trumpets was again sounded, and Her 
Majesty was proclaimed Empress of India. 

When the Chief Herald had ceased reading, the Royal 
Standard was hoisted, and a aalute of 101 aalvoee of 
artillery was fired, with a feu de joie from the long line of 
troops. This was too much for the elephants. Ae the fa 
rie joie approached nearer and nearer to them they became 
more and more alarmed, and at last scampered off, db- 
persing the crowd in every direction. When it ceaeed they 
were quieted and brought back by their mahouts, only to 
start off again when the firing recommenced; but, ee it 
was a perfectly bare plain, without anything for the greet 
creatures to come in contact with, there was no harm done 
beyond a severe shaking to their riders. As the sound 
of the last salvo died away the Viceroy addreeeed the 
assemblage. When he had ceaaed speaking, the eeeembly 
again rose en ?name and joined the troops in giving several 
ringing cheers. 

His Highness the Maharaja Sindhia then spoke ee 
follows: 'Shah i n  Shah Padishah. May God bless you. 
The Princes of India bless you, and pray that your 
sovereignty and power may remain steadfast for ever.' 
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Sir Salar Jung rose on behalf of the boy Nizam, and 
mid : ' I am desired by His Highness the Nizam to request 
your Excellency to convey to Her Majesty, on the part of 
himself and the Chiefs of Indie, the expression of their 
hearty congratulations on the assumption of the title of 
Empress of India, and to assure the Queen that they pray 
for her, and for the enduring prosperity of her Empire, 
both in India and England.' 

The Maharajee of Udaipur and Jaipur, in the name of 
the united Chiefs of Rajputena, begged that a telegram 
might 1m sent to the Queen, conveying their dutiful and 
loyal congratulations; and tho Maharaja of Kashmir ex- 
pressed his gratification at the tenor of the Viceroy's 
speech, and declared that he should henceforth consider 
himself secure under the shadow of Her Majesty's protect- 
ing care.* 

I t  is difficult to overrate the political importance of this 
p e a t  gathering. I t  was looked upon by most of the Ruling 
Chiefs as the result of the Prince of Wales's visit, and 
rejoiced in as an evidence of Her Majesty's increased 
interest in, and appreciation of, the vast Empire of India 
with its many different races and peoples. 

I visited all the camps, and conversed with every one of 
the Princes and Nobles, and each in turn expressed the 
Bame intense gratification a t  the Viceroy's reception of 
him, the same fervent loyalty to the Empress, and the 
same satisfaction that the new title should have been 
announced with such appropriate splendour and publicity. 

In endeavouring to describe thin historical event, I have freely 
r e h h e d  my memory from Talboye Wheeler's ' History of the 
Imperial Aseembhge,' in which is given a detailed account of the 
proceedings. 

FOL. 11. 39 
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General rejoicings in honour of the occasion took p h  
all over India, in Native States as well as British canton- 
mente. School-houses, t o m  halls, hospitals, and dis- 
pensaries were founded, large numbers of prisoners were 

released, substantial additions were made to the pay of all 
ranks in the Native Army, as well as a considerable 
increase in numbers to the Order of British India; and 
the amnesty granted in 1859 was extended to all but 
murderers and leaders in the Mutiny. 

When the Assemblage broke up, I started with Sir 
Frederick Haines for a tour along the Derajat frontier. 
We visited Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, and Multan ; 
proceeded by steamer down the Indus to Sukkw, and 
thence rode to Jacobabad. Then on to Kotri, from which 
place we went to see the battle-field of Niani, where Sir 
Charles Napier defeated the Amirs of Sind in 1843. From 
Kotri we travelled to Simla rici Karachi and Bombay, where 
we were most hospitably entertained by the Commander- 
in-Chief of Bombay (Sir Charles Staveley) and his wife. 

Afghan affairs mere this year again giving the V i m y  
a great deal of anxiety. The Amir had eventually agreed 
to a discussion of Lord Lytton's proposals being held, and 
for this purpose Saiyad Nnr Mahomed and Sir Lewis Pelly 
had met at Peshawar in January, 1877. The meeting, 
unfortunately, ended in a rupture, owing to Sher Ali'e 
agent pronouncing the location of European officers in any 
part of Afghanistan an impossibility; and what at this 
crisis complicated matters to a most regrettable extent 
was the death of Saiyad Nur Mahorned, who had been in 
failing health for some time. 

On learning the death of his most h s t e d  Minister, and 
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the failure of the negotiations, Sher Ali broke into a 
violent fit of passion, giving vent to his fury in threatening8 
and invectives against the British Government. He declared 
it was not possible to come to terms, and that there was 
nothing left for him but to fight ; that he had seven crores 
of rupees, every one of which he would hurl at the heads of 
the English, and he ended by giving orders for a johad 
(a religious war) to be proclaimed. 

For the time being nothing; more could be done with 
Afghanistan, and the Viceroy was able to turn his attention 
to the following important questions :-the transfer of Hind 
from Bombay to the Punjab, a measure which had been 
unanimously agreed to by Lord Northbrook's Government ; 
the removal from the Punjab government of the trans- 
Indus tract of country, and the formation of the latter into 
a separate district under the control of a Chief Commis- 
sioner, who would be responsible to the Government of 
India alone for frontier administration and trans-frontier 
relations. This post Lord Lytton told me, as much to my 
surprise as to my gratification, that he meant to offer to me, 
if his views were accepted by the Secretary of State. I t  
was above all others the appointment I should have liked. 
I dehghted in frontier life and frontier men, who, with all 
their faulte, are men, and grand men, too. I had felt for 
years what an important factor the trans-Indus tribes are 
in the defence of India, and how desirable it was that we 
should be on better terms with them than was possible so 
long 8s our policy consisted in keeping them at arm's length, 
and our only intercourse with them was confined to punitive 
expeditions or the visits of their head men to our hard- 
worked officials, whose whole time was occupied in writing 
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long reports, or in settling troublesome dispute~ to the 
satisfaction of no one. 

I now hoped to be able to put a stop to the futile block- 
ades and inconclusive reprisals which had been carried on 
for nearly thirty years with such unsatisfactory reeulte. 
and I looked forward to turning the wild tribesmen trom 
enemies into friends, a strength instead of a weakness, to 
our Government, and to bringing them by degrees within 
the pale of civilization. My wife quite shared my feelings, 
and we were both eager to begin our frontier life. 

As a preliminary to my engaging in this congenial 
employment, Lord Lytton proposed that I should take 

up the command of the Punjab Frontier Force. I gladly 
acquiesced; for I had been a long time on the s t d ,  and 
had had three years of the Quartermaster - Generalship. 
My friends expressed surprise at my accepting the position 
of Brigadier-General, after having filled an appointment 
carrying with it the rank of Major-General; but this wae 
not my view. I longed for a command, and the Frontier 
Force offered opportunities for active service afforded by no 
other post. 

R e  were in Calcutta when the question was decided, 
and started very soon afterwards to make our arrangement8 
for the breaking up of our home at Simla. I took over 

the command of the Force on the 15th March, 1878. My 
wife accompanied me to Abbottabad -the pretty, quiet 
little place in Hazara, about 4,000 feet above the sea, 
which was to be henceforth our winter head-quarters. 
For the summer months we were to be Imbed in the 

. higher hills, and my wife was anxious to see the h o w  
which I had purchased from my predeceseor, General 
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Keyea, at Natiagsli. So off we set, nothing daunted by 
being told that we were likely to find snow still deep in 
places. 

For the first part of the way we got on well enough, 
my wife in a dandy, I riding, and thirteen miles were 
accomplished without much difficulty. Suddenly the road 
took a bend, and we found ourselves in deep snow. Riding 
soon proved to be impossible, and the dandy-bearers could 
not carry my wife further; so there was nothing for it but 
to walk. We were seven miles from our destination, and at 
each step we sank into the snow, which became deeper and 
deeper the higher we ascended. On we trudged, till my 
wife declared she could go no further, and sat down to rest, 
feeling so drowsy that she entreated me to let her stay 
where she was. Fortunately I had a small flask with 
me filled with brandy. I poured a little into the cup, 
mixed it with snow, and administered it as B stimulant. 
This restored her somewhat, and roused her from the state 
of lethargy into which she had fallen. Again we struggled 
on. Soon it k a m e  dark, except for such light as the stars, 
aided by the snow, afforded. More than once 1 despaired 
of reaching the end of our journey; but, just as I had 
become quite hopeless, we saw lights on the hill above 
us, and heard our servants, who had preceded us, shooting 
to attract our attention. I answered, and presently they 
came to our assistance. Half carrying, half dragging her, 
we got my wife up the steep mountain-side ; and at length, 
about 9 p.m., we arrived at the little houee buried in 
mow, into which we crept through a hole dog in the snow 
wall which encircled it. We were welcomed by a blazing 
wood-fire and a most cheering odour of dinner, to which 
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we did fall justice, after having got rid of our saturated 
garmente. Next morning we started on our return joarney 
at daybreak, for it was necessary to get over the worst part 
of the road before the sun had had time to eoften the enor, 
which the night's frost had eo thoroughly hardened that m 
elipped over it without the leaet difficulty. 

This was our only vieit to our new postweeion, for vev 
m n  afterwards I was informed that Lord Lytton wished 
me to epend the sammer at Simla, as the Lieutenant- 
Governor of the Punjab would be there, and His Excel- 
lency was anxious to diecuss the details of the propoeed 
Chief Commissionership. My wife, therefore, returned to 
Simla at once, and I joined her at the end of May, having 
in the meanwhile inspected every regiment and vimted 
every post held by the Frontier Force between Bind and 
Hazara-a most interesting experience, which I thoroaghly 

snjoyed. 



CHAPTER XLIII. 

BEFOBE continuing my story, it will, I think, be as well 
to recall to the minds of my readers the train of eventa 
which led to England and Russia becoming at the same 
moment solicitous for the Amir's friendship, for it was this 
rivalry which was the immediate cause of the second 
Afghan war. 

Less than two hundred years ago the British Empire in 
the East and Russia were separated from each other by a 
distance of 4,000 miles. Russia's most advanced posh 
were at Orenburg and Petropaulovsk, while England had 
obtained but an uncertain footing on the seaboard of 
southern India. The French were our only European 
rivals in India, and the advance of Russia towards the 
Oxus was as little anticipated as was England's advance 
towards the Indua 

Thirty years later Russia began to absorb the hordes 
of the Kirghiz steppes, which gave her occupation for 
more than a hundred years, during which time England 
was far from idle. Bengal was conquered, or ceded to us, 
the Madras Presidency established, and Bombay had become 
an important settlement, with the result that, in the early 
part of this century, the distance between the Russian 
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and English possessions had been diminished to less than 
8,000 miles. 

Our progrees was now more rapid. While Russia was 

laboriously crossing a barren desert, the North - Wmt 
Provinces, the Carnatic, the territories of the Peshwa, Sind, 
and the Punjab, successively came under our rule, and by 
1860 we had extended our dominions to the foot of the 
mountains beyond the Indus. 

Russia by this time, having overcome the di5cultiea of 
the desert, had established herself at Aralsk, near the 
junction of the Syr Dark with the waters of Lake Am1 ; ao 
that in fifty years the distance between the outposts of the 
two advancing Powers in Aeia had been reduced to about 
1,000 miles. 

Repeated successful wars with Persia, and our desertion 
of that Power owing to the conviction that we could no 
longer defend her against the Russisns, had practically 
p b d  her at their mercy, and they had induced Persia, in 
1837, to undertake the siege of Herat. At the same time, 
the Russian Ambassador at Teheran had despatched 
Captain Vitkievitch to Kabul with letters from himself and 
from the Czar to the Amir, in the hope of getting Dost 
Mahomed Khan to join the Russians and Persians in their 
alliance against the English. 

Vitkievitch's arrival at Kabul towards the end of 1837 
had been anticipated by Captain (afterwards Sir Alexander) 
Burnee, who had been sent three months before by Lord 
Auckland on 8 Mission to the Amir, ostensibly to im- 
prove our commercial relatione with the Afghans, but in 
reality to prevent them from joining the Russo-Pereian 
alliance. 
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Burnes had been most cordially received by Dost 
Mehomed, who hoped, with the help of the Indian Govern- 
ment, to recover the district of Peshawar, which had been 
wrested from him by the Sikhs. Vitkievitch's reception 
wee proportionately discouraging, and for some weeks he 
could not obtain an interview with the Amir. 

The Dost's hopes, however, were not fulfilled. We 
declined to give him any assistance towards regaining 
possession of Peshawar or defending his dominions, should 
his refusal to join with Persia and Russia draw down upon 
him the enmity of those Powers. 

Vitkievitch, who had been patiently biding his time, mas 
now taken into favour by the Amir, who accorded him a 
reception which fully compensated for the neglect with 
which he had previously been treated. 

Burnes remained at Kabul until the spring of 1838, and 
then returned to India to report that Dost Mahomed had 
thrown himself heart and soul into the Russo-Persian 
alliance. 

Under pressure from the English Ninistry the Governor- 
General of India determined to take the extreme measure 
of deposing an Amir who had shown himself so hostilely 
inclined, and of placing on the throne of Kabul a Ruler who, 
it was hoped, would feel that it was to his interest to keep 
on good terms with us. I t  was for this object that the first 
Afghan war* was undertaken, which ended in the murder 
of our nominee, Shah Shuja, and the triumphant return of 
Dost Mahomed. The disastrous failure of our action in this 
matter taught the British Government that our frontier on 

4 It is instructive to note how remarkably similar were the circum- 
stances which brought about the first and second Afghan were, viz., 
the presence of Russian oficers at Kabul. 



106 FORTY-ONE Y E A R S  IN INDIA [m 

the Sutlej was too far removed for ue to think of exercising 
any real influence in Afghanistan, and that the time had 
not arrived to warrant our interfering in Afghan afhira 

After this came our war with the Sikhs, resulting in our 
conquest of the Punjab, and our frontier becoming con- 
terminous with that of Afghanistan on the banks of the 
Indus. 

There was a lull in the movements of Russia in Central 
Asia until after the Crimean War of 1854-56, which, while 
temporarily checking the designs of Russia in Europe, 
seems to have stimulated her progress in the East. After 
the passage of the great desert, Russia found herself in the 
midst of fertile and settled countries, whose provinces 
fell under her control as rapidly as those of India h d  
fallen under ours, until in 1864 Chimkent was occupied, the 
point beyond which Prince Gortchakoff stated that there 
was no intention on the part of Russia to make further 
advances. 

Notwithstanding these assurances, Tashkent was captured 
on the 29th June of the following year. In 1866 
Khojent was successfully assaulted. Tieakh fell on the 
30th October ; and in the spring of 1867 the fort of Yani- 
Ksrgan in the Nurata mountains was seized and occupied. 

Bokhara alone remained unconquered, but the Ruler of 
that State, after vainly endeavouring to gain assistance from 
Afghanistan and to enlist the sympathies of the Indien 
Government, was compelled to sue for peace. 

Important as these acquisitions were, they attracted 
but little attention in England, owing partly to the 
policy of non-interference which had been adopted ~rs 

regards Central Asian affairs, and partly to the British 
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public being absorbed in European politics ; until 1868, 
when the occupation of Samarkand by Russia caused con- 
siderable excitement, not to say consternation, amongst the 
authorities in England. 

Conferences took place in the spring of 1870 between 
Lord Clarendon, the Secretary of State for Foreign Maire, 
and Baron Brunow, the Russian Ambassador, with the 
object of determining a neutral zone, which should be the 
limit of the poseeesions of England and Russia in Central 
Asia. For nearly three years, Russia was persistent in her 
endeavours to have Afghanistan placed outside the pale 
of Britieh influence; but the Indian Government were 
equally persistent in pointing out the danger of agree- 
ing to such an arrangement, and it was not until the 
Slst January, 1873, that the boundary, which neither 
England nor Russia might cross, was finally agreed upon. 

Six months later the conquest of Khiva by Russia was 
efiected. I t  was at first given out that the expedition was 
to punish acts of brigandage, and to rescue fifty Russian 
prisoners, but was on no account to lead to a prolonged 
occupancy of the Khanate. Count Schouvaloff, the Russian 
Statesman who was deputed to communicate the object of 
the expedition to the British Government, declared that a 
positive promise to this effect might be given to the British 
public, as a proof of the friendly and pacific intentions of 
his master the Czar; but, notwithstanding these assurances, 
the Russians never left Khiva, and it has been a Russian 
possession from that time. 

Thus, in a little more than twenty years, Russia had 
made a stride of 600 miles towards India, leaving but 400 
miles between her outposts and those of Great Britain. 
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Russia's southern boundary was now, in fact, almost 
conterminoud with the northern boundary of Afghanistan, 
near enough to cause the Ruler of that country considerable 
anxiety, and make him feel that Russia had become a 
dreaded neighbour, and that the integrity of his kingdom 
could not be maintained save by the aid of one of the two 
great Powers between whose fire he now found himself. 

I have endeavoured to show how it was that Sher bli, 
notwithstanding his soreness and disappointment a t  the 
many rebuffs he had received from us in the earlier part 
of his career, gratefully remembered the timely aid afforded 
him by Sir John Lawrence, and the princely reception 
accorded to him by Lord Mayo, and was still quite pre- 
pared in 1873 to enter into friendly relations with us, pro- 
vided we would recognize his favourite son as hie heir, 
and give a direct promise of aid in the event of Russian 
aggression. Our refusal to accede to these terms, added 
to our adverse decision in regard to the Sistan boundary, 
turned Sher Ali from a friend into an enemy, and he 
decided, as his father had done forty years before, to throw 
in his lot with Russia. 



CHAPTER XLIV. 

IN 1877 Russia declared war with Turkey; for more than a 
year fighting had been going on between the two countries, 
and as it seemed possible to the British Government that 
England might in the end be drawn into the contest, it was 
deemed expedient to obtain help from India, and a force of 
about 5,000 Native soldiers was despatched from Bombay to 
Malta in response to the demand from home. 

Russia answered this move on our part by increased 
activity in Central Asia ; and in June, 1878, it was reported 
by Major Cavagnari, Deputy-Commbsioner of Peshawar, 
that a Russian Envoy of the same rank as the Governor- 
General of Tashkent was about to visit Kabul, and that 
General Iiauffmann had written to the Amir that the 
Envoy must be received as an Ambassador deputed by 
the Czar himself. A few days later further reports were 
received of Russian troops being mobilized, and of the 
intention of Russia to establish cantonments on the ferries 
of Eilif and Kerki on the Oxus. 

The Amir, it was wid, summoned a council of the leading 
Chiefs, to discuss the question whether it would be most 
advantageous for Afghanistan at this juncture to side with 
Russia or with England; it was decided apparently in 
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favour of the former, for from the moment General 
Stolietoffs Mission set foot on Afghan temtory i t  met 
with an enthusiastic reception. Fire miles from the 

capital Stolietoff and his companions were welcomed by 
the Fore* Secretary. They were then mounted on richly- 
caparisoned elephants, and escorted by a large body of 
troops to the Bsla Hissar, where the following morning 
they were received in state by Sher Ali, and the nobles of 
highest degree in his kingdom.* 

On the eve of the day that the Mission entered Kabul, 
Stolietoff received a despatch from General K a u k n  
giving him the heads of the Berlin Tfeaty, with the folloa- 
ing commentary in the harld~riting of the Governor-General 

On the 18th June, the day on which the Berlin Congress held it. 
first sitting, the news of the approach of General Stolietoffs M k i m  
reached Kabul. The Russians hoped that the Mission might i d w n t r  
the decision of the Berlin Congress, and although its despatch ru 
repudiated by the Imperial Government a t  St. Petemburg, it was sob 
sequently ascertained on excellent authority that the project of sending a 
Mission to Kabul was discussed three times at  the Council of Ministem. 
and, according to a statement in the J o m l  da St. Peterrbotcrg, or& 
were sent in April, 1878, to General KauRiuann regarding its deeprrch. 
About the same time, the Russian Minister of War propoeed that th 
Army of the Caucasus should be transferred bodily across the Ceepkn 
to Astrabad, whence the troops would march in two columns on H m t  ; 
while three columns, amounting in the aggregate to 14,000 men, vuc 
to move direct upon the Oxus from Turkestan. The main part of this 
scheme was never carried into effect, probably from its being found roo 
great an undertaking at  a time when Russia had ecarcely obhiwd a 
footing beyond the Caspian, but the minor movement wae -J- 

aarried out. The largest of the three columns, under Ka-'s 
own command, moved from Tashkent, through Samarhand, co J.ia 
the most southern point of the Russian poeeeaaions a t  that time, and 
within ton marches of Kilif, the main ferry over the Oxm. There ir 
remained for some weeks, when it returned to Tashkent, the h f g b  
expedition being abandoned in oonsequence of the W y  of Berb 
having been signed. 
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himself: ' If the news be true, it is indeed melancholy ;' 
adding, however, that the Congress had finished its 
sittings, and that, therefore, the Envoy in his negotiations 
with the Amir had better refrain from arranging any 
dietinct measures, or making any positive promises, and 
'nut  go generally as far as zuonld have been arlrisable if 

w a r  with England had been threatened.' Evidently them 
instructions greatly modified the basis of Stolietoff s 
negotiations with Sher Ali; for, although the Russians 
deny that an offensive and defensive alliance with the 
Afghan Ruler was contemplated, it seems probable, from the 
tone of Kauffmann's despatch, that the Envoy's instruc- 
tions were elastic enough to admit of such an arrangement 
had the circumstances of the case made it desirable-e.g., 
had the Berlin Congress failed to establish peace in Europe. 

In telegraphing to the Secretary of State an account 
of these proceedings at Kabul, the Viceroy requested 
explicit instructions from Her Majesty's Government as 
to whether this conduct on the part of Russia and Afghan- 
istan was to be left to the Government of India to deal with 
as  a matter between it and the Amir, or whether, having 
regard to Russia's formal promises, it would be treated as 
an Lmperial question. ' In the former case,' he concluded, 
' I  shall propose, with your approval, to insist on an 
immediate suitable reception of a British Mission.' 

Lord Lytton's proposition was approved of by Her 
Majesty's Ministers, and a letter* was at once written by 

* ' SIYLA, 
14th A w t ,  1878. 

'The authentic intelligence which I have lately received of the 
coum of recent evente at Kabul and in the countries bordering on 
Afghmbtan has rendered it neceeeery that I should oommnnicste 
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the Viceroy to the Amir, announcing that a Mission would 
shortly be despatched to Kabul with General Sir Neville 
Chamberlain, at that time Commander-in-Chief in Madraa, 
as its responsible head. 

Major Cavagnari was at the same time directed bo inform 
the authorities at Kabul that the object of the Mission waa 

altogether friendly, and that a refuaal to grant it a tree 
passage and safe conduct, such as had been accorded to the 
Russian Envoy, would be considered as an act of open 
hostility. 

Intimation of the Viceroy's intentions reached Kabul on 
the 17th August, the day on which the Amir's favourite 

-- 

fully and without reserve with your Highness upon matters of im- 
portance which concern the interests of India and of Afghanistan. F a  
thii reaeon, I have considered it expedient to depute a specid rod 
confidential British Envoy of high rank, who is known to your 
Highness-his Excellency General Sir Neville Bowles Chamberlain. 
Knight Grand Cross of the Moat Honourable Order of the B&h, 
Knight Grand Commander of the Most Exalted Order of the Star d 
India, Commander-in-Chief of the Madree Army-to visit your High- 
ness immediately at  Kabul, in order that he may converse personally 
with your Highness regarding these urgent daira I t  appears ce& 
that they can best be arranged for the welfare and tranquillity of botb 
States, and for the preservation of friendship between the two Govern- 
ments. by a full and frank statement of the present position. Tbir 
letter is therefore sent in advance to your Highnesa by the hand of 
Sawab Gholam Hussein Khan, C.S.I., a faithful and honoured Sir* 
of my Government, who will explain all necessary details ee to tba 
time and manner of the Envoy's visit. I t  is aeked that your Highmu 
may be pleased to issue commands to your Girdare, and to all otha 
authorities in Afghanistan, upon the route between P h w u  md 
Kabul, that they shall make, without any delay, whatever v- 
menta are neceeeary and proper for effectively socuring to my Envoy, 
the repreeentativc of a friendly Power, due safe oonduct and nuitable 
accommodation according to hi dignity, while peesing with hie retinae 
through the dominions of your Highnese. 

' I beg to express the high consideration I entertain for your High. 
new, and to subscribe myself.' 
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eon, Abdnlla Jan, died. This untoward event was taken 
advantage of to delay answering the Viceroy's letter, but it 
wae not allowed in any way to interfere with the progress 
of the negotiations with Russia. When these were com- 
pleted, Stolietoff inquired from Sher Ali whether he meant 
to receive the English Mission, whereupon the Amir asked 
for the General's advice in the matter. Stolietoff, while 
replying somewhat evasively, gave Sher Ali to understand 
that the simultaneons presence of Embassies from two 
countries in almost hostile relations with each other would 
not be quite convenient, upon which His Highness decided 
not to allow the British Mission to enter Afghanistan. 
This decision, however, was not communicated to the 
Viceroy, and on the 21st September the Mission* marched 
out of Peshawar and encamped a t  Jamrud, three miles 
ehort of the Khyber Pass. 

In consequence of the extremely hostile attitude of the 

Amir, and the very unsatisfactory reply received from 
General Faiz Mahomed Khan, commanding the Afghan 
troops in the Khyber Pass, to a lettert he had written a 

The Mieeion wae composed of General Sir Neville Chamberlain, 
G.C.B., G.C.S.I. ; Major Cavagnari, C.S.I. ; Surgeon-Major Bellew, 
C.8.I.; Major 0. St. John, R.E. ; Captain St. V. Hammick, 48rd Foot; 
(hptein F. Onelow, Madras Cavalry ; Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, 
Central India Horee ; Maharaj Pertap Sing of Jodhpur ; and Sirdar 
Obed Ulla Khan, of Tonk. Lieutenant-Colonel F. Jenkins and Captain 
W. Battye were with the esaort. 

t ' PE~EAWAR, 
16th September, 1878. 

(After compliments.) ' I  write to inform you that, by command of 
Hi. Excellency the Viceroy and Governor-Gcnerd of India, a friendly 
Mission of ~ i t i h  office;, with a suitable escort, is about to proceed 
to Kabul through the Khyber Peas, and intimation of the despatch of 
thin Mission hes been duly communicated to His Highnees the Amir 
by the hand of the Nawab Ghulam Hussein Khan. 

VOL. II. 40 
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few days before, Sir Neville Chamberlain euepected that the 
advance of the Mieaion would be opposed, and, in order ' to 
reduce to a min imum any indignity that might be offered to 
our Government,' he deputed Major Cavagnari to ride on 
with a few ~ o w a r s  to Ali Masjid, a fort ten milee beyond 

' I  hear that an official from Kabul haa recently vkted you at Ah 
Maajid, and he haa doubtless instructed you in accordance with His 
Highneea the Amir's commands. An, however, information hu nor 
been reeeived that you have summoned from Peahawar the K h y k  
headmen with whom we were making arrangements for the d e  
aonduct of the Britieh Mission through the Khyber Pam, I therefore 
write to inquire from you whether, in accordance with the inntructioar 
you have received, you are prepared to guarantee the safety of the 
British Miasion to Daka or not; and I requent that a clear reply to 
this inquiry may be speedily communicated by the hand of the beuxr 
of thin letter, ee I cannot delay my departure from Pahawar. It b 
well known that the Khyber tribes are in receipt of allowances fram 
the Kabul Government, and h o ,  like other independent tribee on thh 
frontier, have relations with the Britbh Government. I t  may be arll 
to let you know that when the present negotiations were opened witb 
the Khyber tribes, it waa solely with the object of rvraoging witb 
them for the eafe conduct of the Britieh Miemon through the K h g k  
Pess, in the same manner aa waa done in regard to the derpetah of cmr 
Agent, the Nawab Ghulam Hueeain Khan; and the t r i h  were givso 
clearly to understend that these negotktiona were in no way intended 
to prejudice their relations with His Highnees the A d ,  M it  wm wail 
known that the object of the Britiah Miaeion waa altogether of a fried7 
aharacter to His Highness the Amir and the people of Afghanktm. 
' I trust that, in accordance with the inetrnctions you have recsivid 

tmm His Highnew the Amii, your reply to this letter will be srtb- 
factory, and that it will contain the required aasuranm that Um 
Mission will be eafely conducted to Daka I shall expect to re&w 
your reply to this letter not later than the 18th instant, m pleeee nndsr- 
stand that the matter is most urgent. 

But at the w e  time, it is my duty to inform yon, in a h-snk d 
friendly manner, that if your anewer is not what I trust it will be, a 
if you delay to eend an early reply, I shall have no alternative but to 
make whatever arrangemente mey seem to me best for cMying oat 
the instructions I have received from my own Government.' 
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the mouth of the Pass, and demand leave for the Mission 
to proceed. 

When within a mile of the fort, Cavagnari was met by a 
body of Afridis, who warned him that the road ahead was 
blocked by Afghans, and that if he ventured further he 
would be fired upon. On this Cavagnari halted, and while 
in the act of writing a letter to Faiz Nahomed, complaining 
of the treatment he had met with, and informing him that 
he  and his companions intended to proceed until fired 
upon, an act the responsibility for which would rest with 
the Amir's representatives, a message was brought him 
from Faiz Nahomed to the effect that he was coming to 
meet him, and would hear anything he had to com- 
municate. 

The interview took place near a water-mill on the right 
bank of the stream which flows under Ali Masjid. I have 
several times since ridden past the spot and pictured to 
myself the meeting between the British political officer and 
the Afghan General. I t  was a meeting of most portentous 
moment, for its result would mean peace or war. 

Faiz Nahomed's bearing was perfectly courteous, but he 
made it clear that he did not intend to permit the Mission 
to pass, explaining that he was only acting as a sentry under 
instructions from Kabul, and that he was bound to resist 
the entrance of the Mission into Afghan territory with all 
the force at his disposal. He spoke with considerable 
warmth, and told Cavagnari that but for their personel 
friendship he would, in obedience to the Amir's orders, 
have shot down him and his escort. 

Faiz Mahomed's followers were not so respectful in their 
bearing as their Chief, and their manner warned Cavagnari 
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that it was unadvisable to prolong the conversstion ; he, 
therefore, took leave of the Afghan General, and returned 
to Jamrud. The Mission was dissolved,* our Agent at 
Kabul was ordered to return to India, and Cavapari waa in- 
structed to remain at Peshawar and arrange for alienating 
the Afridis in the Khyber from the Amir's interests. 

In reporting these circumstances to the Secretary of 
State, the Government of India expressed their regret that 
this h a 1  endeavour on their part to arrive a t  some definite 
understanding with the Amir of Kabul should have been 
thus met wit11 repudiation and affront, and concluded their 
despatch in the following words : ' The repulse of Sir Neville 
Chamberlain by Sher Ali at his frontier while the Rnssian 
emissaries are still at his capital has proved the inutility 
of diplomatic expedients, and has depri~ed the hmir of all 
claim upon our further forbearance.' 

I t  had bean arranged that, if it were unfortunately found 
to be necessary to support political efforts by ,Star?- 

measures, two columns should be mobilized, one at Sukkur 
on the Indue, for an advance in the direction of Kandahar, 
the other at Kohat for operations in the Kuram valley, 
and that I was to have command of the latter. AB coon, 

In  a letter to Lord Lytton reporting the rebuff the Mimion hd 
encountered, Genernl Chamberlain wrote : ' No man was ever more 
anxious than I to preserve peace and secure friendly solution, and it 
was only when I plainly saw the Amir's fixed intention to drive ua inta 
a comer that I told you we must either eink into a position of merely' 
obeying his behests on all points or stand on our rights and rLL 
rupture. Nothing could have been more distinct, nothing mom 
huilliliating to the dignity of the British Crown and nation; and I 
believe that but for the decision and tact of Cavagnari a t  one period of 
the interview, the lives of the British officers and the Native following 
were in considerable danger.' 
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therefore, as the tidings of Sir Neville's repulse was 
received, I started from Simla to be on the spot in caee 

the proposal to employ force should be sanctioned by the 
authorities in England. 

Between the time of my leaving Simla and my arrival a t  
Kohat on the 9th October, it was decided to employ a third 
column to make a demonstration in the direction of the 
Khyber for the purpose of clearing the hmir's troops out of 
the pass.* 

The formation of this column was no doubt a wise move, 
as the Afghans were holding .4li Nasjid, the spot on which 
the insult had been offered to our Envoy, and the presence 
of a force on this line would tend to relieve the pressure 
against my column ; but looked at from my point of view, 
this third column was not quite so desirable, as it involved 
the withdrawal of three of my most efficient regiments, and 
the transfer of a large nurnber of my transport animals to 
the Khyber for its use. There was some consolation, how- 
ever, in the fact that my old friend Major-General Sir 
Samuel Browne, who had h e n  named for the commmd in 
the Khyber, was to be the gainer by my loss. 

Major-General Donald Stewart, who was in England, 
was telegraphed for to command the Iiandahar column, 
the advanced portion of which, it was intended, should push 
on under Major-General Biddulph to strengthen Quetta. 

+ The approximate strength of the three columns was as followe : 

Oficrra. Men. Gum. 
I. The Kandahw Field Force ... ... 265 12,699 78 

11. The Kuraxn Field Force ... ... 116 6,619 18 
111. The Pe~hawar Valley Field Force ... 8% 15.854 48 

- -- 
706 85.002 144 
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The long-expected reply* from the Amir to the V i m y ' e  
letter of the 14th August was received at Simia on tbe 
19th October. Its tone was considered extremely dis- 
conrteous; it contained no apology for the public &ont 

' KABUL. 

' 6 th  Ortobrr. 1878. 
(After compliments.) ' Your Exoellency's despatch regarding the 

eending of a friendly message has been received through Naweb 
O h o h  Huneein Khan ; I undemtand its purport, but the Nawab hd 
not yet an audience, nor had your Excellency's letters been seen by 
me when a communication was received to thc address of my servant. 
Mima Fhbibulla Khan, from the Commissioner of Peshawar, and wu 
read. I am setonished and dismayed by this letter, written threstm- 
ingly to a well-intentioned friend, replete with contentions, and yet 
nominally regarding a friendly Mission. Coming thus by force. what 
re~ul t ,  or profit, or fruit could come of it 7 Following this, three 
other letters from above-mcntioned source, in the very same strain, 
addressed to my officials, have been perused by me. Thus, during a 
period of a few day8 several lctters from that quarter hare all been 
bofore me, and none of them have been free from harsh e m o m  
and hard words, repugnant to courtesy and politeness, and in tow 
contrary to the ways of friendship and intercourse. Looking to the 
fact that I am at  this time aseeulted by affliction and grief a t  the hand 
of fate, and that great trouble has possessed my soul, in the offieids d 
the British Government patience and silence would have been 
specially becoming. Let your Excellency take into consideration tbir 
harsh and bwathlcee haste with which the desired object and place of 
conference have been seized upon, and how the officials of the & v m -  
ment have been led into discussion and aubjection to reproach. There 
is wme difference between thie and the ro& of fiendship and 
(podwill. In ailuding to those writings of the officials of the opposite 
Government which have emanated from them, and are at  this time in 
the possession of my own officials, the latter hare in no respect desired 
to &ow enmity or opposition towards the British Government. nor. 
indeed, do they with any other Power desire enmity or strife ; but when 
any other Power, without cause or reason, shows animosity to& 
this Government, the matter is left in the hands of God and to His 
will. The esteemed Nawab Gholam Hussein Khan, the bearer of this 
despatch,  ha^, in accordance with written instructions received from 
the British Government, Baked for pennission to retire, and it h.. 
been grand.' 

a 
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offered to the British Government, and indicated no desire 
for improved relations. 

The reply was at once communicated to the Becretary of 
atate, who was further informed that the Government of 
India proposed the following measures :- 

The immediate issue of a manifesto which should define 
the cause of offence, declare a friendly disposition towards 
the Afghan people and reluctance to interfere in their in- 
ternal affairs, and should fix the whole responsibility of 
what might happen upon the Amir. 

An advance into the Kuram valley as soon as the force 
a t  Kohat was ready to move. 

The expulsion of the Afghan troops holding the Khyber 
Pase. 

An advance from Quetta into Pishin, or, if neceeaary, to 
Kandahar. 

Lord Cranbrook (who had succeeded the Narquie of 
Baiiebury as Secretary of State for India) replied* that he 
did not consider matters to be at present ripe for taking 
the extreme measures recommended by the Government of 
India, and that, before crossing the frontiers of Afghanistan, 
a letter should be addressed to the Amir demanding, in 
temperate language, an apology, and the acceptance of a 
permanent Mission within Afghan limits ; that sufficient 
time should be given for the receipt of a reply to thie 
letter (the text of which was to be telegraphed to Lord 
Cranbrook for approval before despatch), and that mean- 
while the massing of troops should be continued, and 
adequate forces assembled at the various pointa where the 
frontier would be crossed if war were declared. The 

+ 26th October. 
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Secretary of State went on to say: 'There must be no 
mistake as to our show of power to enforce what r e  
require ; this low penitentire should be allowed before 
hostile acts are committed against the Amir.' 

These instructions were carried out, and on the 30th 
October the ultimatum was despatched to Sher Ali, inform- 
ing him that, unless his acceptance of the conditions were 
received by the Viceroy not later than the 20th November, 
he would be treated by the British Government ee a 
declared enemy. 



CHAPTER XLV. 

IT WBB a proud; albeit a most anxious, moment for me 
when I assumed command of the Kuram Field Force; 
though a local Major-General, I was only a Major in my 
regiment, and save for a short experience on one occasion 
in Lushai, I had never had an opportunity of commanding 
t roop in the field. Earnestly longing for success, I was 
intensely interested in ascertaining the qualities of those 
who were to aid me in achieving it. To this end I lost 
no time in taking stock of the several officers and corps 
who were to be associated with me, some of whom were 
personally known to me, while others I had never met 
before ; and in endeavouring to satisfy myself as to their 
qaelifications and fitness for their eeveral posts, I could not 
help feeling that they must be equally anxious as to my 
capability for command, and that the inspection must be of 
nearly BB great moment to them as to me. 

The result8 of a very close investigation were tolerably 
setisEectory, but there were weak points in my amour  
whioh gave me grave cause for anxiety. 

I came to the conclusion that the force was not 
numerically strong enough for the very difficult task before 
it-in the first instance, the occupation of the Kuram 
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valley and theEexpulsion of all Afghan garrisons south of 
the Shutargardan Pass, and in the second, as opportnnit~ 
might offer, the pushing my reconnaissances into the Khost 
valley, and, if military considerations would admit, the 
dislodging: the Amir's administration from that tract d 
country, so as to prevent the Kabul Government drawing 
supplies from it. Finally, I was directed to explore the 
roads leading to the unknown region beyond Khmt. 

The Shutargardan was not less than 180 miles from 
Kohat, the,garrison of which station would, on my depar- 
ture, be reduced to a minimum, and Rawal Pindi, tbe 

nearest place from which aid cc.11d be procured, aam 

130 miles still further off, separated from Iiohat by an 

execrable road and the swiftly-flowing river Indus, crossed 
by a precarious bridge of boata I t  had to be taken into 

account also that the various Afridi tribes were watching 
their opportunity, and at the first favourable moment, in 
common;with the tribesmen nearer Kuram, they might be 
expected to take advantage of our weakness and attack ofu 
convoys and the small posts which had necessarily to be 
established along our line of communication. 

The attitude of the Mahornedan sepoys, of whom there 
were large numbers in four out of my ~ i x  Native Infantry 
regiments, was also a cause of considerable anxiety ; for I 
was aware that they were not altogether happy a t  the 
prospect of taking part in a war against their co-religionbt, 
the Ruler of Afghanistan, and that the mullas were already 
urging them to desert our cause. 

Furthermore, Idiecovered that my only British Tntnntry 
Regiment, the 2nd Battalion of the 8th Foot, wae d d y  
to a degree, and therefore in an unserviceable condition. 
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I t  waa largely composed of quite young, unacclimatized 
soldiers, peculiarly susceptible to fever- that terrible 
scourge which fills the hospitals of our Punjab stations in 
the autumn of each year. I rode out to meet the battalion 
on ita way into Kohat, and was horrified to sea the long 
line of doolies and ambulance-carts by which it was accom- 
panied. 

The inefficient state of the transport added to my 
anxieties. Notwithstanding the difficulties experienced in 
former campaigns from the same cause, the Government 
had neglected to take any steps for the organieation of a 
proper transport service while we were at peace ; conee- 
qnently, when everything should have been ready for a 
start, confusion reigned supreme in this ell-important 
depertment. Large numbers of camels, mules, and bullocks 
arrived daily, picked up at exorbitant prices from anyone 
who would supply them ; but most of these animals were 
quite unfit to enter upon the hard work of a campaign, and 
with a totally inexperienced and quite insufficient staff of 
oficers to supervise them, it was evident that the majority 
mnet succumb at an early date. 

Hardly had I realized these shortcomings in the con- 
otitution and equipment of my column than I received 
intelligence which led me to believe that the Afghans would 
hold the Peiwar Kotal (the pass leading into Afghanistan 
over the range of mountains bounding the Kuram valley) 
in great strength, and were determined to oppose our 
ndvance at this point. Under these circumstances I felt 
myself justified in representing to the powers a t  Simla 
that I considered the number of troops at my disposal 
inadequate for the task they were expected to perform, 
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which representation resulted in the 23rd Pioneers, whose 
transfer to the Khyber column had been under con- 
sideration, being left with me, and the 72nd Highlanders, 
a battery of Field Artillery, and the 28th Punjab Infantry, 
being sent to Kohat. Of these, however, I was allowed to 
take on with me only one wing of the 72nd, half the 
battery, and the 28th Punjab Infantry; and the last named 
regiment I could hardly consider as part of my force, for 
'when we should arrive a t  Thal, our furthest frontier pod, 
it would hnve to be dropped, with a wing of the 5th Punjab 
Cavalry and No. 2 Mountain Battery, to garrison that 
place. 

This small reinforcement was not given to me without 
considerable demur on the part of the military authorities, 
who had made up their minds that the Kuram column 
would meet with slight, if any, opposition, and that the 
chief stand would be made in the Khyber. Lord Lytton, 
however, supported my appeal, as did Sir Neville Chamber- 
lain, who was then acting as Military Member of Council, 
and who had personal knowledge of the great natural 
strength of the Peiwar Kotal position. 

I next turned my attention to the transport, and en- 
deavoured by all the means I could think of to render it 
more efficient. A certain portioii of it I placed in regi- 

mentrrl charge; I had the men instructed in loading and 
unloading, and I took great care that the animala were not 
overladen. 

Happily, I had a very able staff. Major Galbraith, 
the Assistant-Adjutant-General, though new to the work, 
proved exceptionally good, and Captain Badcock, the chid 
Commissariat officer, and Major Collett and Captain ' Dick ' 
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Kennedy, officers of the Quartermaster-General's depart- 
ment, whom I had myself selected, I could thoroughly 
depend upon. 
AE regards my own personal staff I was equally 

lucky, Captain Pretyman of the R.A. being my A.D.C., and 
Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, of the Central India Horse, 
and Lieutenant-Colonel George Villiers, of the Grenadier 
Guards, my Orderly officers. 

AB political adviser I had with me an old friend and 
schoolfellow, Colonel Garrow Waterfield, Commissioner of 
Peshawar, who brought with him a large following of 
Native gentlemen connected with the frontier, by whom 
he thought our intercourse with the tribesmen would be 
aseisted. With scarcely an exception they proved loyal, 
and throughout the campaign helped me materially. 

Knowing how important it was to secure the interest of 
the Chiefs and Khans of the border on our side, especially 
those who had influence in the Kuram valley, we lost 
no opportunity of becoming acquainted with them while 
we were at Kohat. They were friendly and full of promises, 
but it was clear that the amount of assistance to be given 
by them depended on whether or not our occupation of 
Kuram was to be permanent, and on this important point 
I solicited definite instructions. I reported to the Com- 
mander-in-Chief that, from all I had learnt, the advent of 
a British force would be welcomed by the people, provided 
they understood that it was the forerunner of annexation ; 
that in this case we should be regarded as deliverers, 
and all the resources of the country would be placed at 
our disposal ; but if the people were led to believe that the 
force would be withdrawn when our work was f i n a d ,  
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and that they would be again handed over to the tender 
mercies of the Kabul Government, we m u d  expect no aid 
from them, as they would naturally dread the resentment 
of their Afghan rulers. 

In reply, I was informed that I could assure the people 
of Kuram that our occupation would be permanent; and 
my being enabled to make this promise was undoubtedly 
the explanation of the friendly reception we met with on 
entering the valley, and the cause of my receiving a t  tbe 

aame time a letter from the Chief of the Turia (the inhabi- 
tank of the Kuram valley), inquiring when we might be 
expected, as they were suffering greatly from the tyranny of 
the Afghan Government, and were anxiously waiting the 
arrival of the British. 



CHAPTER XLVI. 

BY the 15th November my column* (consisting of 1,345 
British and 3,990 Native soldiers, with 13 guns) was con- 
centrated at Thal, and on the 20th-the limit of time given 
to the Amir -no reply having been vouchsafed to the 
Viceroy's ultimatum, orders were issued to the three 
columns to advance the next day. t 

+ The details of the column are given in the Appendix. 
t On the 80th November a subordinate officer of the Kabul Govern- 

ment reeched Sir Samuel Browne's camp at Daka, and delivered the 
following letter from the Amir to the address of the Viceroy : 

' ~ L L ,  19th N o u d e r ,  1878. 

' Be it known to your Excellency that I have reaeived, and reed 
from beginning to end, the friendly letter which your Excellency has 
sent, in reply to the letter I despatched by Nawab Ghularn Hussein 
Khan. With regard to the expressions used by your Excellency in the 
beginning of your letter, referring to the friendly character of the 
Mission and the goodmill of the British Government, I leave it to your 
Excellency, whose wisdom and justice are universally admitted, to 
decide whether any reliance can be pieced upon goodwill, if it be 
evidenced by words only. But if, on the other hand, goodwill really 
a of deeds and actions, then it hse not been manifested by the 
vuioua wishes that have been expressed, and the proposals that have 
been msde by British officials during the h t  few yearn to officias of 
this God-granted Government-prop& which, from their nature, it 
w u  i m p i b l e  for them to comply with. 
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The Kuram valley, from which my force recei~ed its 
designation, is about 60 miles long, and from 3 to 10 milee 
wide. On every side rise high and magnificently-wooded 

'One of these proposals referred to my dutiful son. the ill-ltursd 
wretch, Mahomed Yakub Khan, and was contained in a letter ddmsaed 
by the officials of the BritLh Government to the British Agent then 
residing in Kabul. I t  was written in that letter that, " i f  the .rid 
Yakub Khan be released and set a t  liberty, our friendship with tbe 
Afghan Government will be firmly cemented, but that otherwine it 
will not." 
' There are several other grounds of complaint of similar n~ure. 

which contain no evidence of goodwill, but whicl~, on the contrary. 
were effective in increasing the aversion and apprehension a n d y  
entertained by the subjects o f  this God-granted Gov&nrnent. 

'With regard to my refusal to receive the British Miasion. yom 
Excellency has stated that it would appear from my conduct thsL I 
wee actuated by feelings of direct hostility towards the B r i t .  
Government. 
' I assure your Excellency that, on the contrary, the officials of thi 

God-granted Government, in repulsing the Mission, were not influenced 
by any hostile or inimical feelings towards the British Govenununt. 
nor did they intend that any insult or affront should be offered. B a  
they were afraid that the independence of this Government might be 
dec ted  by the amval  of the Mission, and that the friendship which 
hae now existed between the two Governments for several yearn mi& 
be annihilated. 

'A paragraph in your Excellency's letter corroborates the ststemens 
which they have made to this Government. The feelings of apprehen- 
sion which were aroused in tho minds of the people of Afghanistan by 
the mere announcement of the intention of the British Government ta 
send a Mission to Kabul, before the Miesion itself had actually started 
or arrived a t  Peshawar, have subsequently been fully justified by tbe 
statement in your Excellency's letter, thmt I should be held responsible 
for any injury that might befall the tribes who acted as guidee to the 
Mission, and that I should be called upon to pay c o m p e ~ o n  ta 

them for any loss they might have suffered ; and that if, a t  any time. 
these tribee should meet with ill-treatment a t  my hands, the British 
Government would at  once take steps to protect them. 
' Had thcse apprehensions proved groundless, and had the objcat of 

the Miseion been really friendly, and no force or threats of v io lem 
used, the Miseion would, se a matter of couree, have been d o w e d  8 
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mountains, those on the north and east being the most 
lofty and precipitous, while on the north-west projects the 
epur which runs down from Sika Ram, the highest peak of 
the Snfed Koh range, upwards of 14,000 feet high. This 
spur forms the boundary between Kuram and Afghanistan, 
and is crossed by the Peiwar Kotal. A river, which 
varies from 100 to 500 yards in width, flows through the 
valley, and the road, or, rather, track, which existed in 
1878, ran for the most part along its rocky bed. In the 

free paassgo, as such Bfissions are customary and of frequent occur- 
rence between allied States. I am now sincerely stating my own 
feelings when I say that this Government  he^ maintained, and alwaye 
will maintain, the former friendship which existed between the two 
Governments, and cherishes no feelings of hostility and opposition 
towards the British Government. 
' I t  is also incumbent upon the officials of the British Govemment 

that. out of respect and consideration for the greatness and eminence 
of their ownGovernment, they should not consent to inflict any injury 
upon their well-disposed neighbours, and to impose the burden of 
grievous troubles upon the shoulders of their sincere friends. But, 
on the contrnry, they should exert themselves to maintain the 
friendly feelings which have hitherto existed towards this God-panted 
Government, in order that the relations between the two Governments 
may remain on the same footing 8s before ; and if, in accordance with 
the custom of allied States, the British Government should desire to 
send a purely friendly and temporary Mission to this country, with a 
small eecort, not exceeding twenty or thirty men, similar to that which 
attended the Russian Mission, this servant of God will not oppose its 
p r o p s a '  

I t  waa ascertained that this messenger had come to Baaawal on the 
22nd November, when, hearing of the capture of Ali Mesjid by 
British troops, he imtnediitely returned to Kabul. The . h i r ' s  letter, 
tbough dated the 19th November, was believed to have been re-written 
ar Kabul after the news of the fall of Ali Masjid. The text of this 
letter wee telegraphed to the Secretary of State on the 7th ljecember ; 
in reply Lord Cranbrook pointed out that tho letter evaded d the 
requiremente specified in the Viceroy's ultimatum, and could not have 
been acoepted even if it had reeched him before the 20th November. 

VOL. II. 41 
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winter months the depth of the water nowhere exoeeded 
three feet, except after heavy rain, and although the streara 
wee rather swift, it conld usually be forded with very little 
riek. The valley itself had a bleak and deserted appear- 
ance, aave in the immediate vicinity of the few and widely- 
ecattered villages, around which were clustered £ruit hem 
and patches of cultivation. 

For six weeks the thoughts of every one in the tom 
had been turned towards Kuram, consequently there wmm 
considerable excitement when at 8 a.m. on the 2lst 
November the leading troops crossed the river into Afghsn 
territory and encamped eight miles from Thal. The next 
morning we marched fifteen miles further up the valley to 
Hazir Pir, where we halted for one day to improve the r o d  
(in some places impracticable for guns and traneport), 
and to allow of the rear part of the column closing up. 
As we proceeded on our way, the headmen from the 
dSerent villages came out to welcome us, and on amving 
a t  Hazir Pir we found a plentiful repast awaiting na 
spread under the shade of some trees. Knives and f o r h  
were evidently considered unnecessary adjuncte by our 
.entertainers, so I unhesitatingly took my first lesson 
in eating roast kid and pillaued chicken without their 
aid. 

On the 24th we marched to the Darwazai defile, and the 
next day proceeded through it to Kuram, forty-eight milee 
from Thal. We found the fort evacuated by the Afghans, 
who had left behind one 6-pounder gun. 

Notwithstanding the proffers of assistance I had received, 
I conld get no reliable information as to the whereabonb 
of the enemy; from one account I was led to believe 
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that they were in full retreat, from another that they 
.were being strongly reinforced. So, to find out the truth, 
I reconnoitred as far as the cantonment of Habib Kila, 
fifteen miles ahead, and there ascertained that the Afghan 
army, consisting (it was said) of 18,000 men and eleven 
guns, had left the place only a short time before, and was 
then moving into position on the Peiwar Kotal. 

Ddpot hospitals were formed at Kuram, and all our surplus 
storm and baggage were left there with the following 
gamsoq : Two p s  of F/A, Royal Horee Artillery, half of 
G/9, R.A., the squadron 10th Hussars, one squadron 12th 
Bengal Cavalry, and the company of Bengal Sappem 
and Miners, besides all the sick and weakly men of the 
column. 

At 6 a.m. on the 28th the remainder of the force, with 
the exception of the troops who had been dropped at the 
several halting-places to keep open our line of commnni- 
cation, marched towards the Peiwar. 

The stars were still shining when we started, but it waa 
very dark, and we were chilled to the bone by a breeze 
blowing straight off the snows of the Sufed Koh; towards 
sunrise it died away, and was followed by oppressive heat 
and clouds of dust. Our progress was slow, for the banks 
of the numerous nullas which intersect the valley had 
to be ramped before the guns and baggage could pass 
over them. 

On reaching Habib Kila, intelligence was again brought 
that the Amir's troops were in disorderly retreat, and had 
abandoned their guns at the foot of the pass. I at once 
pushed a reconnaissance in force up the south-eastem 
slopes of the mountain under the command of Colonel 
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Gordon,* of the 29th Punjab Infantry, who discovered 
that, so far from the enemy having abandoned their guns, 
they had taken up an extremely strong position on the 

pass, from which they fired on the reconnaissance pa* 
as it advanced, wounding one British, one Native officer+ 
and nine men. 

As the Afghans seemed inclined to press Gordon, two 
guns were brought into action, and, to cover his retirement. 
I sent out the 5th Gurkhas, under Lieutenant-Colonel 
Fitz-Hugh, who skilfully effected this object with the loss 
of only one Gurkha wounded. 

Gordon brought me back the valuable piece of informa- 
tion that no further advance in that direction was possible, 
save in single file-valuable because, had I attempted a 
front attack, the sacrifice of life must have been enormous, 
even if the attnck had proved successful, the possibiliQ of 
which I still greatly doubt. 

Our tents not having arrived, the force prepared to 
bivouac ; but our position proving untenable, from being 

Now General .J. Gordon, C.B., Assistant Military Secretary, H o r n  
Guards. 

t The Native officer was Subadar-Major Aziz Khan, a h e  ald 
eoldier who hnd seen hard work with his regiment during the Mutiny. 
and in many n frontier expedition. H e  twice obtained thc Order of 
Merit for bravery in the field, and for his marked gallantry on om 
occesion he had received a sword of honour and a kh& (a drea d 
honour or other present bestowed as a mark of distinction). .4zix 
Khan was shot through the knee, nnd after a few ciaye the wound 
became so b d  the Doctors told him that, unless he submitted to 
nmputation, or consented to take some s t i m u h t e  in the shape of 
wine, he would die of mortification. Aziz Khan, who was a strict 
and orthodox filshomcdan, rcplied that, as both remedies were 
contrary to the precepts of the religion by which he had guided 
his life, he would accept death rather than dieobey them. He died 
accordingly. 
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within range of the Afghan shells, we moved a mile to the 
rear. Strong piquets were posted on the neighbouring 
heights, and the night passed without further interruption. 

We halted the two following days. Men and cattle were 
exhausted from their fatiguing marches, and supplies had 
to be brought up before we could advance further ; besides, 
I required time to look about me before making up my 
mind how the Peiwar Kotal could most advantageously be 
attacked. 

I t  was, indeed, a formidable position-a great deal more 
formidable than I had expected--on the summit of a 
mountain rising abruptly 2,000 feet above us, and only 
approachable by a narrow, steep, and rugged path, flanked 
on either side by precipitous spurs jutting out like huge 
bastions, from which an overwhelming fire could be 
brought to bear on the assailants. The mountain on 
the enemy's right did not look much more promising 
for moving troops, and I could only hope that a way 
might be found on their left by which their flank could 
be turned. The country, however, in that direction was 
screened from view by spurs covered with dense foreeta 
of deodar. 

I confess to a feeling very nearly akin to despair when 
I gazed at the apparently impregnable position tower- 
ing above us, occupied, as I could discern through my 
telescope, by crowds of soldiers and a large number of 

w e .  
My Chief Engineer, Colonel Perkins, made a recon- 

naissance, which only too surely confirmed Gordon's 
opinion ; and he further ascertained that a deep ravine lay 
between the ground occupied by our piquets on the 
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north and the kotal, so that an attack on the enemf6 
immediate left seemed as hopelese ae on hie right, or 
to his front. 

On the afternoon of the 29th I eent my Quartermaster- 
General, Major Collett, with his assistant, Captain &, 
and a small escort, to the top of a hill, which lay to the 
right rear of our camp, from which they were able to get 

a fairly good view of the surrounding country. Collett 
reported that, so far as he could judge, it seemed likely 
that, as I had hoped, the enemy's left might be turned bj 
a route over what was known as the Spingawi Kdal ,  
where it had been ascertained that some Afghan troops 
were posted. This was encouraging, but before I coald 
finally decide on adopting this line of attack, it was ex- 
pedient to find out whether it was practicable for troops. 
and whether the kohl itself was held in great strength. 
Accordingly, early next morning, Collett was again de- 
epatched to make a closer reconnaissance of the Spingarri 
approaches. 

While all this was going on, I did everything I could 
think of to prevent what was in my mind being suspected 
by the enemy or indeed by my own troops. Each day 
more than once, accompanied by an imposing number of 
officers and a considerable escort, I climbed the lofty epor 
by which a direct attack would have to be covered. 
and everyone in camp was made to believe that an attack 
in thie direction mas being prepared for. I was particularly 
careful to have this idea impressed on the Turis and the 
Afghan camel-drivers, by whom the enemy were pretty sure 

to be informed of what was going on; and also on the 
Mahomedan sepoys, whom I euspected of being half-hearted. 
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I confided my real plan to only three people, my two 
senior EM-officers, Galbraith and Collett, and my A.D.C., 
Pretyman, for I knew, from the nature of the country, that, 
under the most favourable circumstancee, the way must 
be difficult and circuitous, and its passage must &cupy 
mverel hours; and that if the Afghans got wind of the 
oontemplated movement, and should attack my small force 
while on the march and divided, defeat if not annihilation 
would be inevitable, for the surrounding tribes would be 
oertain to join against us if once they believed us to be in 
difficulties. 

I had heard that the smallness of the column was 
being freely commented on and diecussed ; indeed, people 
in Kuram did not care to dieguiae their belief that we 
were hastening to our destruction. Even the women 
taunted us. When they saw the little Gurkhas for the first 
time, they exclaimed : ' Is it possible that these beardless 
bop think they can fight Afghan warriors?' They little 
snepected that the brave spirits which animated those 
m a l l  forms made them more than a match for the most 
stalwart Afghan. There was no hiding from ourselvee, 
bowever, that the force was terribly inadequate for the 
work k, be done. But done it must be. A retirement 
res not to be thought of, and delay would only add to 
our difficulties, as the Afghans were daily being reinforced 
tnun Kabul, and we heard of still further additions of 
bdh Artillery and Infantry being on their way. 

Collett returned soon after noon on the Nth  ; he had 
done admirably, and brought me most useful information, 
the result of which was that I determined to adopt the 
8pingawi route. The nights were long, and I calculated 
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that by starting at 10 p.m., and allowing for unforeseen 
delays, we should reach the foot of the pass while it vim 
still dark. 

Fresh efforts were now made to distract the enemy'e 
attention from the real point of attack. In addition to the 
reconnoitring parties which were ostentatiously moved 
towards the Peiwar, batteries were marked out at poinb 
commanding the kotal, and a great display was made of tbe 
arrival of the two Horse and three Field Artillery guna, 

which I had left at Kuram till the last moment on account 
of scarcity of forage at the front, and of the two squadrone 
of Bengal Cavalry, which for the same reason I had 
sent back to Habib Kila. Even with these additions the 
total strength of the force in camp, including Brit* 
officers, amounted to only 889 Europeans and 2,415 
Natives, with 13 guns. 

These attempts to mislead the enemy were entirely 
successful, for the Afghans shelled the working parties 
in the batteries, and placed additional guns in position 
on the south side of the pass, showing distinctly that 
they were preparing for a front attack, while in our camp 
also it was generally believed that this was the movement 
which would be carried out the next morning. 

When it became sufficiently dark to conceal our pro- 
ceedings, all the commanding and staff officers assembled 
in my tent, and I disclosed to them my scheme for the 
attack, impressing upon them that success depended upan 
our being able to surprise the enemy, and begging of them 
not even to whisper the word ' Spingawi ' to each other. 

I had had sufficient time since I took over the command 
to test the capabilities of the officers and regiments upon 
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whom I had to depend, so that I had now no difficulty in 
&posing the troops in the manner most likely to ensure 
8UCC888. 

For the turning movement I selected : 
4 guns F/A, R.H.A., 
The wing 72nd Highlanders, 
No. 1 Mountain Battery (4 guns), 
2nd and 29th Punjab Infantry, 
6th Gurkhas, 
2Srd Pioneers- 
Total strength 2,263 men with 8 gune ; 

and I determined to command the attack myself, with 
Brimer-General Thelwall as second in command. 

For the feint and for the defence of our camp I left 
mder  the command of Brigadier-General Cobbe : 

2 guns F/A, R.H.A., 
3 guns G/S, R.A., 
2nd Battalion 8th Foot,* 
12th Bengal Cavalry, 
5th Punjab Infantry. 

In all, a little more than 1,000 men with 5 guns. 
At  10 p.m. on Sunday, the 1st December, the little 

column fell in, in absolute silence, and began its hazardous 
march. Tents were left standing and camp-fires burning; 
and 80 noiselessly were orders carried out that our de- 
parture remained unsuspected even by those of our own 
people who were left in camp. 

The track (for there was no road) led for two miles 
due east, and then, turning sharp to the north, entered a 

+ The mtrength of this battalion h d  now dwindled down to 84f3 
Inen. 
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wide gorge and ran along the bed of a mountain stream. 
The moonlight lit up the c l8s  on the esstern side of the 
ravine, but made the darkness only the more dense in the 
shadow of the steep hills on the west, underneath which 
our path lay, over piles of stones and h e a p  of glacier 
ddbris. A bitterly cold wind rushed down the gorge, 
extremely trying to all, lightly clad as we were in antici- 
pation of the climb before us. Onward and upwards we 

slowly toiled, stumbling over great bonldera of rock, 
dropping into old water-channels, splashing through icy 
streams, and halting frequently to allow the troops in the 
rear to close up. 

In spite of the danger incurred, I was obliged every 

now and then to strike a match and look at my watch to 
see how the time was going. I had calculated, that, by 
starting as early as ten o'clock, there would be an hour or 
two to spare for rest. The distance, however, proved rather 
greater than was expected and the road much rougher, 
but these facts mere, to my mind, not sufficient to account 
for the slowness of our progress, and I proceeded to the head 
of the column, anxious to discover the true cause of the delay. 

I had chosen the 29th Punjab Infantry to lead the 
way, on account of the high reputation of Colonel John 
Gordon, who commanded it, and because of the es&t 
character the regiment had always borne; but on over- 
taking it my suspicions were excited by the u n n e c d y  
straggling manner in which the men were marching, and 
to which I called Gordon's attention. No sooner had I 
done eo than a shot was fired from one of the Pathan earn- 

panies, followed in a few seconds by another. The Sikh 
companies of the regiment immediately closed up, and 
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Gordon's Sikh orderly whispered in hie ear that there was 
treachery amongst the Pathans. 

It waa a moment of intense anxiety, for it was impossible 
to tell how far we were from the Spingawi Kotal, or whether 
the shots could be heard by the enemy ; it was equally im- 
possible to discover by whom the shote had been fired 
without delaying the advance, and this I was loath to 
risk. 80, grieved though I was to take any steps likely 
to discredit a regiment with such admirable traditions, I 
decided to change the order of the march by bringing one 
company of the 72nd Highlanders and the 5th Gurkhas to 
the front, and I warned Lieutenant-Colonel Brownlow, in 
aommand of the 72nd, b keep a watch over the Pathans 
with his three remaining companies, for I felt that our 
enterprise had already been sufficiently imperilled by the 
Pathans, and that hesitation would be culpable ; for, unless 
we could reach the kotal while our approach was still con- 
omled by the darkness, the turning movement would in 
all probability end in disaster. 

On the Gurkhas coming up, I told Major Fitz-Hugh, 
who commanded them, that the moment he reached the 
foot of the kotal, he must front form company, fix bayonete 
and charge up the elope without waiting for further orders. 

&on  afterwards, and just as the first streak of dawn 
proclaimed the approach of day, the enemy became aware 
of our presence, and fired into us, when instantly I heard 
Fite-Hugh give the word to charge. Brownlow, at the 
head of hie Highlanders, dashed forward in support, and 
tmo guns of the Mountain battery coming up at the 
moment, I ordered its Commandant, Captain Keleo, to 
come into action ee soon as he could find a position. 
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I was struck by the smile of satisfied pride and pleasure 
with which he received the order. He was delighted, no 
doubt, that the opportunity had arrived to prove what 
the battery-to perfect which he had spared neither time 
nor labour-could do ; but it was the last time that gallant 
soldier smiled, for a few seconds later he was shot dead. 

The Gurkhas, forgetting their fatigue, rapidly climbed 
the steep side of the mountain, and, swarming into the 
first entrenchment, quickly cleared it of the enemy ; then, 
guided by the flashes of the Afghan rifles, they pressed on, 
and, being joined by the leading company of the 72nd, 
took possession of a second and larger entrenchment 
200 yards higher up. Without a perceptible pause, the 
Highlanders and Gurkhas together rushed a third position, 
the most important of all, as it commanded the head of 
the pass. 

The Spingawi Kotal was won; but we were surrounded 
by woods, which were crowded with Afghans, some 400 
of whom made a dashing but ineffectual attempt to cany 

off their guns, left behind in the first scare of our sudden 
attack. These men were dressed so exactly like some of 
our own Native soldiers that they were not recognized until 
they got within 100 yards of the entrenchment, and they 
would doubtless have succeeded in accomplishing their 
purpose-as tlie Highlanders and Gurkhas were busy pur- 
suing the fugitives-had not Galbraith, whom I had sent 
with an order to tlie front, hurriedly collected a certain 
number of straglers and met the Afghans with such a 
murderous fire that they broke and fled, leaving seventy 
dead in a space of about fifty yards square. 

As the rising sun lighted up the scene of the conflict, the 
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advantages of a night attack became more apparent. The 
pass lay across the shoulder of a mountain (9,400 feet 
above the sea), and through a magnificent pine forest. Its 
approaches were commanded by precipitous heights, de- 
fended by breastworks of felled trees, which completely 
screened the defenders, who were quite comfortably placed 
in wide ditches, from which they could fire deadly volleys 
without k i n g  in the least exposed themselves. Had we 
not been able to surprise the enemy before the day dawned, 
I doubt whether any of us could have reached the first 
entrenchment. As it was, the regiment holding it fled 
in such a hurry that a sheepskin coat and from sixty to a 
hundred rounds of ammunition were left behind on the 
epot where each man had lain. 

We had gained our object so far, but we were still a 
considerable distance from the body of the Afghan army 
on the Peiwar Kotal. 

Immediately in rear of the last of the three positions 
on the Spingawi Kotal was a murg,  or open grassy plateau, 
upon which I re-formed the troops who had carried the 
aseault. The 2nd Punjab Infantry, the 23rd Pioneers, 
and the battery of Royal Horse Artillery were still behind ; 
but as the guns were being transported on elephants, I 
h e w  the progress of this part of the force must be slow, 
and thinking it unwise to allow the Afghans time to re- 
cover from their defeat, I determined to push on with the 
troops at hand. 

A field hospital was formed on the rntrrg, and p l e d  
under a guard, ammunition-pouches were re-filled, and off 
we started again, choosing as our route the left of two hog- 
backed, thickly-wooded heights running almost longitudin- 
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ally in the direction of the peiwar Kotal, in the hope that 
from this route communication might be established witb 
our camp below. I was not disappointed, for very eocw 
Captain Wynne, in charge of the signalling, was able to 
inform Brigdier-General Cobbe of our progress, and 
convey to him the order to co-operate with me so tar aa 
his very limited numbers would permit. 

Our advance was at first unopposed, but very slow, owing 
to the density of the forest, which prevented our seeing 
any distance, and made it difficult to keep the troope 
together. 

At the end of two hours we arrived at the edge of a deep 
hollow, on the further side of which, 150 yards off, the 

enemy were strongly posted, and they at once opened fire 
upon us. 

Fancy my dismay at this critical moment on diecover- 
ing that the Highlanders, Gurkhas, and the Mountain 
battery, had not come up! They had evidently taken s 
wrong turn in the almost impenetrable forest, and I f m d  
myself alone with the 29th Punjab Infantry. Knowing that 

the missing troops could not be far off, I hoped that they 
would hear the firing, which was each moment becoming 
heavier ; but some time passed, and there were no eigna 

of their approach. I sent staff officer after staff officer to 
search for them, until one only remained, the Rev. J. W. 
Adams, who had begged to be allowed to accompany me 
as Aide-de-camp for this occasion, and him I a h  despatched 
in quest of the missing troops. After some time, which 
seemed to me an age, he returned to report that no trace 
could he find of them; so again I started him off in 
another direction. Feeling the situation was beooming 
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serious, and expecting that the Afghans, encouraged by 
our inaction, would certainly attack ue, I thought it 
advisable to make a forward movement; but the attitude 
of the 29th wae not encouraging. I addreesed them, and 
expressed a hope that they would now by their behaviour 
wipe out the slur of disloyalty which the firing of the signal 
ahots had cast upon the regiment, upon which Captain 
Charmer,* who wae juet then in command, stepped forward, 
and said he would anewer for the Sikhs ; but amongst the 
Pathans there was an ominous silence, and Channer agreed 
with me that they did not intend to fight. I therefore 
ordered Channer and his subaltern, Picot, to advance 
cautiously down the slope with the Sikhs of the regiment, 
following myself near enough to keep the party in sight. 
I had not gone far, however, before I found that the 
enemy were much too etrongly placed to be attacked suc- 
cessfully by so few men ; accordingly I recalled Channer, 
and we returned to the position at the top of the hill. 

My orderliest during this little episode displayed euch 
touching devotion that it is with feelings of the moat pro- 
found admiration and gratitude I call to mind their self- 

* Now Major-General Channer, V.C., C.B. 
t I had six orderlies attached to me-two Sikhe, two Gurkhas, and 

two Pathane. The Sikhs and Gurkhee never left me for a dey during 
b e  two years I wee in Afghanistan. The Pathans behaved equally 
well, but they fell eick, and had to be changed more than once. When- 
ever I emerged from my tent, two or more of the orderliee appeered 
and kept close by me. They had always good information 8e to what 
wan going on, and I could generally tell whether there wee likely to be 
trouble or not by the number in attendance ; they put themeelves 
on duty, and decided how m y  were required. One of the Qurkhaa 
k since dead, but the other and the two Sikh6 served with me after- 
wards in Burma, and all three now hold the high position of Sub& 
in their respective regimenb. 
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escrificing courage. On this (as on many other occasions) 
they kept close round me, determined that no shot ahodd 
reach me if they could prevent it ; and on my being hit 
in the hand by a spent bullet, and turning to look round 
in the direction it came from, I beheld one of the Sikh 
standing with his arms stretched out trying to screen me 
from the enemy, which he could easily do, for he am r 
grand specimen of a man, a head and shoulders taller than 
myself. 

To my great relief, on my return to the edge of the 
hollow, Adams met me with the good tidings that he hid 
found not only the lost troops, but the Native Infantry 
of the rear portion of the column, and had ascertained that 

the elephants with the guns were close at hand. 
Their arrival was most opportune, for the enemy h d  

been reinforced, and, having discovered our numerical 
weakness, were becoming bolder; they oharged down the 
hill, and were now trying to force their way up to our 
position, but our Mountain guns were quickly brought 
into action, and under their cover another attempt wsa 
made to drive the Afghans from their position. The 25rd 
Pioneers, under the command of Colonel Currie, the two 
front companies led by Captain Anderson, moved d o n  
the slope, and were soon lost to view in the thick wood at 
the bottom of the dell ; when they reappeared it was, 
to my great disappointment, on the wrong side of the 
hollow : they had failed in the attack, and Anderson and 
some men had been killed. The enemy's position, it was 
found, could only be reached by a narrow causeway, which 
was swept by direct and cross fires, and obstructed by 
trunks of trees and a aeries of barricades. 
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It was evident to me that under these circumstances the 
enemy could not be cleared out of their entrenchment 
by direct attack without entailing heavy loss, which I could 
ill afford and was most anxious to avoid. I therefore re- 
connoitred both flanks to find, if possible, a way round the 
hill. On our left front was a sheer precipice ; on the right, 
however, I discovered, to my infinite satisfaction, that we 
could not only avoid the hill which had defeated us, but 
could get almost in rear of the Peiwar Kotal itself, and 
threaten the enemy's retreat from that position. 

At this juncture I was further cheered by the arrival of 
Lieutenant-Colonel Perkins and Major McQueen, who, with 
the 5th Punjab Infantry, had worked their way up the 
steep mountain-side, in the hope of getting near to the 
Peiwar Kotal and co-operating with me. They were, how- 
ever, checked by the deep ravine I have before described, 
and guided by the sound of firing, pushed higher up the hill. 
They brought me word that the Artillery left in camp had 
opened fire on the kohl soon after daybreak, and had suc- 
ceeded in silencing two of the enemy's guns; that our 
Infantry had crept up within 1,400 yards of the kohl, but 
were met by such a destructive fire that they could not 
advance further : that Brigadier-General Cobbe had been 
severely wounded, and that Colonel Barry Drew had 
assumed the command. Perkins also gave me the useful 
information that he had observed on his way up a spur from 
which the kohl position could be fired upon at a distance 
of 1,100 yards. To this spot I ordered Lieutenant Shemes, 
who had succeeded poor Kelso in command of the Mountain 
battery, to take his guns, and I asked Perkins to return and 
tell Drew to press on to the kotal, in the hope that Shemw'e 
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fire and the turning movement I was about to make would 
cause the enemy to retreat. 

I sent the 29th Punjab Infantry back to the Spingawi 
to protect the wounded. I left the 2nd Punjab Infantry in 
the position we had up till now been occupying, and I took 

McQueen's regiment with me. 
A few rounds from the Mountain battery, and the fact 

that their rear was threatened and their retreat about 
to be cut off, soon produced signs of wavering amon@ 
the Afghans. Their Artillery fire slackened, their Infantry 
broke, and about 2 p.m. Drew and Hugh Gough found it 

possible to make a move towards the Peiwar Kotal. Go+ 
was the first to reach the crest, closely followed by Lieu- 
tenant Brabazon, his orderly officer, and a fine plucky  dog^ 
named Birbul. They were soon joined by some hundreds 
of Turi levies collected by Waterfield and by the 8th Foot. 
Another body of levies under Major Palmer,' who hed 
done good service by making a faint on the right of the 
Afghan position, arrived about the aame time. Plunder 
was of course the sole object of the Turis, but their 
co-operation at the moment was useful, and helped to s d  
our small numbers. The enemy having evacuated their 
stronghold and retreated by the Alikhel road, abandoning 
in their headlong flight guns, waggons, and baggage, were 
pursued by Hugh Gough, whose Cavalry hed by this time 
come up. 

The Peiwar Kotal was not visible from the route we had 
taken, but just before daylight had quite gone Icould make 
out with the aid of my telescope a large body of Afghans 
moving towards the Shutargardan, which made me feel 

* Now Major-General Sir Arthur Palmer, K.C.B. 
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quite mtisfied that the enemy's position was in our 
possession. 

Night overtook us before we could reach the kotal, and 
ae everyone was thoroughly tired out, having been hard at 
work since 10 p.m. the night before, with but little food, I 
thought it better to bivouac where we were, on the southern 
dope of the Sika Ram mountain. I t  was hardly a pleaaant 
experience lying on the ground without even cloaks at an 
elevation of 9,000 feet, and with the thermometer marking 
twenty degrees of frost ; but spite of cold and hunger, 
thoroughly content with the day's work, and with my mind 
a t  rest, I slept as soundly as I had ever done in the most 
lamrious quarters, and I think others did the aame. At 
m y  rate, no one that I could hear of suffered from that 
night's exposure. 

We continued our march a t  daybreak, and reached the 
kotal in an hour. 

The examination of the enemy's position was very 
intereeting. It was of enormous natural strength, the 
dispositions made for its defence were most complete and 
judicious, and the impossibility of taking it by other then 
a turning movement was proved beyond a doubt; it 
extended from the Spingawi to some commanding heights 
nearly a mile south of the Peiwar Kotal; thus having 
a front of about four miles facing due east. From right 
to left the position ran along a lofty and rngged range 
of mountains, clothed with dense pine-forests. Towards 
the eastern side the range was precipitous, but dewended 
on the west by a succession of upland meadows to the 
valley of the Harieb; it was crossed by only two roads, 
viz., the Peiwar and Spingawi Kotals, at a few other pointa 
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there were paths, but too narrow and precipitous for the 
passage of troops. 

The Peiwar Kotal is a narrow depression in the ridge, 
commanded on each side by high pine-clad mountains. 
The approach to it from the Kuram valley was up a steep, 
narrow, zigzag path, commanded throughout ita entire 
length from the adjacent heights, and di5cult to ascend on 
account of the extreme roughness of the road, which wes 
covered with large fragments of rocks and boulders. Every 
point of the ascent mas exposed to fire from both guns and 
rifles, securely placed behind breastworks constrncted of 
pine-logs and stones. At the top of the pass was a narrow 
plateau, which was again commanded from the thickly- 
wooded heights on each side, rising to an elevation of 500 
feet. 

The Afghan Commander had been quite confident of 
success, and was only waiting for reinforcements to attack 
our camp; but these reinforcements did not arrive until 
the afternoon of the let December, just too late for him 
to carry out his intention. He had under his commnnd 
eight Regular regiments of the Afghan army, and eighteen 
guns ; while these numbers mere augmented by hordea of 
neighbouring tribesmen, who were only too glad to respond 
to the cry of a jahad against the infidel, firmly believing 
that as true believers their cause mould be victorious. 

Our loss at the Peiwar was not great-2 officers and 
18 men killed, and 3 o5cers and 75 men wounded. The 
Afghans suffered much more severely, besides leaving in 
our possession all their guns, with quantities of ammu- 
nition and other warlike stores. 



CHAPTER XLVII. 

P e a c ~ m o  that further pursuit of the enemy would be 
useless, I decided to halt a few days to admit of our over- 
taxed transport bringing up supplies and tents, and to 
arrange for the occupation of the Peiwar position during 
the winter .months. But I considered that my work 
would be incomplete if we stopped short of the Shutar- 
gardan Pass. Moreover, it was very desirable that we 
should investigate this route, and, if possible, get into 
friendly communication with some of the sections of the 
Ghilzai tribe. The Jajis, through whose territory the first 
part of the road ran, now showed themselves to be a0 
well disposed as the Turis; they readily brought in 
supplies, and volunteered to labour for us, and from the 
information obtained by the political officers, the inhabitants 
of the Hariab valley seemed equally anxious to be friendly. 
The dislodgment of the Afghan army by a much smaller 
force, from a position they had themselves chosen, had 
evidently had a salutary effect. 

As soon as I had leisure, I inquired from Colonel Gordon 
whether he had been able to discover the men who had 
fired the signal shots on the night of the 2nd, and whether 
he did not think that the Pathan Native officers ought to be 
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able to point out the offenders, Gordon replied that he 
suspected the Jemadar of the Pathan company knew who 
the culprits were, and that one soldier had c o n f e d  to 
firing the second shot; moreover, he told me that eighteen 
Pathans had left the regiment during the fight. On 
receiving this unpleasant information, I aseembled a 
Court of Inquiry, with orders to have the proceedings ready 
for my consideration by the time I returned from the 
Shutargardan. 

Having despatched the sick and wounded to Knram 
and made all necessary arrangements, I marched on the 
6th December to Alikhel, twelve miles on the road to 
the Shutargardan. Before starting, I issued an order 
thanking the troops for the efforts they had made to ensure 
success, and I had the honour of communicating to them at 
the same time a congratulatory message from the Queen.* 

We reached the foot of the Shutargardan on the 8th, 
and reconnoitred to the top of the pass the next morning. 
This point was 11,000 feet above the sea, commanded a 

fine view of the Logar valley, and I discovered from it 
that there was nothing between us and the immediate 
vicinity of Kabul to prevent a force moving rapidly on that 
place. 

'FROM TEE VICEROY, LAHORE, TO GENERAL. Rosmre.  

' 6th December, 1678. 

'1 have much pleasure in communicating to you and the force under 
your command the following telegram just received from Her Majesty. 
and desire a t  the same time to add my warm coryrstnlationn on the 
suocescl achieved. Message begins : " I have received the news of tbe 
decisive victory of General Roberts, and the splendid behaviour of m y  
brave eoldiers, with pride and satisfaction, though I must ever d e p h  
the unavoidable loss of life. Pray inquire after the wounded in m y  
name. May we continue to receive good news." ' 
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We returned to Alikhel on the 10th. Captain Renwick 
wee placed in political charge, and Colonel Waterfield, as a 
temporary arrangement, remained there also with a battery 
of Artillery and two regiments of Punjab Infantry, for the 
purpose of establishing friendly relations with the neigh- 
bo&g tribesmen. 

From Alikhel there were said to be two roads leading 60 
Kuram, besides the difficult path over the Peiwar Kohl ;  
and as it was of great importance to gain a knowledge of 
an alternative line of communication, in view of further 
trouble, I determined to explore one of them, choosing that 
which appeared to be the shortest, and which I heard had 
been used some time before by an Afghan Mountain battery. 
This route was described as practicable for camels, and ran 
through lands belonging to tribes whose headmen were 
with me, a fact which should, I thought, ensure our being 
free from attack. 

I left Alikhel on the 12th December, taking with me 
No. 1 Mountain Battery, a wing 72nd Highlanders, the 6th 
Gurkhas, and the 23rd Pioneers. The route lay for four 
miles along the banks of the Hariab stream, a tributary of 
the Kuram river, through a valley which gradually narrowed 
into a thickly-wooded ravine, three miles long; at the end 
of this ravine the road, turning sharply to the left, ascended 
till it reached an open grassy plateau, on which stood the 
hamlet of Sapari. The inhabitants turned out to welcome us, 
bringing supplies, and appearing so friendly that I settled 
to halt there for the night. I had been warned, however, 
by the ~rurlika of some of the villages we had passed through 
in the morning, that we should probably be attacked on the 
march the next day, and that a defile which lay a t  the other 
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side of a mountain over which we had to cross would be 
particularly dangerous to us. I determined, therefore, to 
send on troops that evening to occupy the pass over this 
mountain, and to start the baggage off long before day- 
break, so that it should be out of the way of the main 
body, which would also have to march at an early hour in 
order to reach the kotal before the tribesmep had time to 
collect. 

This could have been accomplished without daculty,  but 
for the machinations of our false friend* in the village, who 
directed on to the precipitous path we had to ascend s 
stream of water which soon turned into a sheet of ice, and 
when I arrived on the spot I found the road blocked by 
fallen animals vainly struggling to regain their footing. 
This caused so much delay that it was nearly noon before 
the laet camel had got over the pass. 

The descent on the other side was scarcely less difficult, 
though free from ice. We dropped 3,000 feet in the first 
two miles, down a way which can only be described as s 
ruined staircase, with the steps missing at intervals, ending 
in the defile against the dangers of which we had been 
warned. This defile was certainly a nasty place to be 
caught in, being five miles long, and so narrow that the 
camels' loads struck against the rocks on either side ; and 
it was impossible to move Banking parties along the c l 8 ~  
above, as they were intersected by wide chasms running 
back for long distances. 

I t  was important to secure the exit from this gorge with- 
out delay, and for this purpose I pushed on four companies 
of the 23rd Pioneers, and in support, when the ravine 
began to widen out a little, I hurried on the Highlandere 
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and the Mountain battery, leaving the Gurkhas to protect 
the beggage and bring up the rear. 

We only got powmion of the exit just in time. The 
Pioneers, by occupying commending positions on either 
eide of the opening, effectually checkmated several large 
bodiea of armed men who were approaching from dzerent 
directions, and whose leaders now declared they had only 
come to help us ! Later on we discovered still more formid- 
able gatherings, which doubtless would have all combined 
to attack us, had they been in time to catch us in the 
ravine. 

The tail of the column was followed and much harassed 
by the enemy ; but they were kept at bay by the steadiness 
of the gallant Gurkhas, and so successful were they in safe- 
guarding the baggage, that, although many of the drivers 
ran away at the first shot, leaving the soldiers to lead the 
animals as well as defend them, not a single article fell into 
the hands of the tribesmen. The regiment lost three 
men killed, and Captain Powell and eleven men wounded. 
Captain Goad, of the Transport Department, was also 
W l y  hurt.* 

On Goad being knocked over, Sergeant Greer, of the 
72nd Highlanders, assisted by three privates, picked him 
up, and having placed him under cover of a rock, they 
turned their attention to the enemy. They were only four 
against large numbers, but by their cool and steady use of 
the Martini-Henry rifle, which had shortly before been 
issued to the British soldiers in India, they were enabled to 
hold their ground until help arrived, when they s~icceeded 
in carrying the wounded officer away. 

Both officers died of their wounds soon afterwarde. 
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I had observed in the advance on the Peiwar Kotel the 
skill and gallantry displayed by Sergeant Greer, and noted 
him as a man fitted for promotion. His distingnished con- 
duct in rescuing and defending Goad codrmed me in my 
opinion, and I accordingly recommended him for a com- 
mission, which, to my great gratification, Her Majesty wss  
graciously pleased to bestow upon him. 

That night we halted at the village of Keria ; thence the 
route was easy enough, so, leaving the troops to rest and 
recover from the last hard march, I rode on to Kuram, 
where there was much to be done. 

The ejectment of the Afghan ruler of Khost and the 
exploration of that valley formed, it will be remembered, 
part of the programme given to me to carry through, and 
it was very desirable that this sewice should be completed 
before the winter rains set in. Peace and order now reigned 
in Upper Kuram and in the neighbourhood of the Peiwar ; 
but there was a good deal of excitement in the lower part of 
the valley and in Khost, our line of communication w s s  
constantly harassed by raiders, convoys were continually 
threatened, outposts fired into, and telegraph-wires cot. 
The smallness of my force made it difficult for me to deal 
with these troubles, so I applied to the Commander-in-Chief 
for the wing of the 72nd Highlanders left at Kohat, and 
the 5th Punjab Cavalry at Thal to be ordered to join me 
at Kuram. At the same time I moved up No. 2 Mom- 
tain Battery and the 28th Punjab Infantry, sending the 
29th Punjab Infantry to take the place of the 28th at 
Thal. 

I wae greatly hampered by want of transport. Arrange 
ments had to be made for sending the sick and wounded, 
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as well as the captured guns, to Kohat (the sight of the 
latter, I fancied, would have a good effect on the tribes 
in our rear) ; but hard work, scarcity of forage, and 
absence of supervision, had told, as was to be expected, 
on animals in bad condition at  the outset. Mules and 
camels died daily, reducing our all too small numbers to 
such an extent that it was with considerable difficulty the 
convoy was at  last despatched. 

From the first I foresaw that want of transport would be 
our greatest difficulty, and so it proved ; very few supplies 
could be obtained in the vicinity of Kuram ; the troops at 
Kohat had been drawing on the adjacent districts ever since 
October, so that the purchasing agents had every day to go 
further away to procure necessaries, and consequently an 
increased number of animals were required for their con- 
veyance. My Commissary-General reported to me that only 
a few days' provisions for the troops remained in hand, and 
that it was impossible to lay in any reserve unless more 
transport could be provided. About this reserve I was very 
anxious, for the roads might soon become temporarily im- 
passable from the rising of the rivers after the heavy rain 
to be expected about Christmas. Contractors were des- 
patched to all parts of the country to procure camels, and 
I suggested to Government that pack-bullocks should be 
bought at  Mirzapur, and railed up country, which sugges- 
tion being acted upon, the danger of the troops having to go 
hungry was warded off. 

The treacheroue eoldiers of the 29th Punjab Infantry had 
now to be dealt with-a necessary, but most unpleasant, 
duty. A perusal of the proceedings of the Court of Inquiry 
satisfied me that the two men who discharged their rifles 
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during the night-march, the Jemadar of their company who 
failed to report their criminal action, and the eighteen rho 
deserted their colours during the engagement, should all be 
tried by Court-Martial. 

The prisoners were found guilty. The sepoy who Gred 
the first shot was sentenced to death, and the one who dib 
charged the eecond to two years' imprisonment with bard 
labour ; the court, recognizing a possibility that the latter, 
being a young soldier, might have loaded and fired withoat 
intending treachery, gave him the benefit of the d o n k  
The Jemadar was awarded seven years' transportation, end 
the eighteen deserters terms varying from ten years to one 
year. 

I t  was with deep regret that I confirmed these wverd 
eentences, but it was necessary that a deterrent exampie 
should be made. Treachery was altogether too grave r 
crime to be lightly dealt with, and desertions amonget the 
Pathans were becoming of much too frequent occmence, 
particularly as the deserters invariably carried away with 
them their rifles and ammunition. 

The effect of these sentences was most salutary; there 
was not a single desertion subsequent to the Court-Martial 
for more than a year, although during that time the 
Mahomedan portion of my force were severely tried by 
appeals from their co-religionists. 

On Christmas Eve authentic intelligence was brought to 
me that, on hearing of the defeat of the Afghan army, Sher 
Ali, with the members of the Russian Mission then d 
Kabul, had fled to Turkestan, and that his son, Taknb 
Khan, had been released from prison, and had assumed the 
reins of Government. 
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About this time, also, Sir Samuel Browne, who was a t  
Jalalabad, received a letter* from the Amir, in which he 
announced his intention of proceeding to St. Petersburg to 
lay hie case before the Czar and obtain the aid of Russia. 

Sher Ali's disappearance and Yakub Khan's assumption 
of authority suggested new possibilities to the Viceroy, who 
at once instructed Major Cavagnari, the political officer 
with the Khyber column, to communicate, if possible, with 
Yakub Kkan, and explain to him that our quarrel was with 
Sher Ali alone, that he might rest assured of the friendly 
disposition of the British Government towards him per- 

' Be it known to the officers of the British Government that this 
~ p p l i a n t  before God never supposed, nor wished, that the matters [in 
dbpute] between you and myself should come to this iasue piterally, 
"should come out from the curtain "I, or that the veil of friendehip 
and amity, which hse for many years been upheld between two neigh- 
bourn and adjoining States, should, without any cause, be thus drawn 
uide.  
' And since you have begun the quarrel and hostilities, and have 

dvmoed on Afghan temtory, this suppliant before God, with the 
d o n a  consent and a&ce of all the nobles, grandees, and of the 
army in Afghanistan, having abandoned his troops, hie realm, and all 
the pomedom of his crown, haa departed with expedition, accompanied 
by a few attendants, to St. Petersburg, the capital of the Czar of 
B d ,  where, before a congress, the whole history of the tramactions 
betaean myself and yournelves will be submitted to all the Powem [of 
Europe]. If you have anything in dispute with me regarding State 
d i n k  in Afghanistan, you should institute and establish your oaae a t  
8t. Peteraburg, and state and explain what you desire, m that the 
questions in dispute between us msy be made known and clear to all 
the Powem. And surely the side of right will not be overlooked If 
your intentions u e  otherwise, and you entertain hoatile and vindictive 
feelingo towarda the people of Afghaniatan, God alone is their Protector 
rod red Preserver. Upon the courne of action here above stated thin 
suppliant before God has reeolved and decided' 
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sonally, and that, unless he took the initiative, hostilities 
would not be resumed. 

Before proceeding to Kuram, I invited all the Tnrie 
and Jajis who had afforded us assistance to meet me in 
durbar that they might be suitably rewarded. A goodly 
number responded to the invitation, and were told, in 
accordance with the instructions I had received from the 
Government of India, that they would henceforth be under 
British protection ; that no Amir of Afghanistan should 
ever again be permitted to tyrannize over them; that 
while they would be expected to live peaceably, neither 
their religion nor their customs would be interfered with ; 
that roads would be made and markets established, and 
that whatever supplies they could provide for the nee of 
the troops would be liberally paid for. 

After this I started for Khost, accompanied by Colonel 
Waterfield, the political officer. 

The column I took with me consisted of the squadron of 
the 10th Hussars, 200 of the 72nd Highlanders, a wing of 
the 6th Punjab Cavalry, the 21st and 28th Punjab Infantry, 
and Nos. 1 and 2 Mountain Batteries. The corps were eo 
weak that their total strength only amounted to 2,000 
men. 

We reached Matun, the name given to some three villages 
grouped round a small fort in the centre of the valley, on 
the 6th January, 1879. The Afghan Governor, with whom 
I had been in communication, met me and arranged to 
surrender the fort, on condition that his personal safety 
should be guaranteed, and that he should be allowed to go 
either to Kabul or India, as he might desire. 

About half a mile from the fort I halted the column, and 
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taking a small escort of the 10th Hussars, I rode on with 
the Governor, who invited me with my staff into his house. 
While tea was being handed round, the Governor (Akram 
Khan by name) warned me that we should be attacked, and 
that he could do nothing to prevent it, having only Rome 
200 local militia and no regular troops. He further said 
that the inhabitants of the valley were not directly opposed 
to the British Government, and, if left to themselves, would 
give no trouble ; but he doubted their being able to resist 
the pressure put upon them by a large number of tribesmen 
who had collected from the adjacent districts, attracted by 
the smallness of the force, which they believed ' had been 
delivered into their hands.' 

This intelligence showed me I must be prepared for a 
scrimmage, so I ordered the camp to be pitched in the 
form of a square as compactly as possible, with the trans- 
port animals and impedimenta in the centre, and strong 
piquets a t  the four angles. Cavalry patrols were sent out 
ea ier ae the broken and hilly nature of the ground would 
permit, and every endeavour was made to ascertain the 
strength and whereabouts of the enemy, but to no pur- 
pose: the enemy were invisible, and the patrols reported 
that they had come acroee numbers of peaceable-loolung 
husbandmen, but no one elm. 

The night passed off quietly, but when advancing day 
made them visible, multitudes of tribesmen were descried 
collecting on the slopes of the neighbouring hills. Some 
friendly Natives were sent to ascertain their intentions, 
followed by a Cavalry reconnoitring party, when suddenly 
a number of camel-drivers and mule-men, who had gone to 
the nearest villages to procure fodder for their animals, 
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came rushing back to camp in the wildest terror and excite- 
ment, declaring that the enemy seemed to rise as if by 
magic out of the ground, and that several thousands were 
already in the village. No doubt some of these were ' the 
peaceable-looking husbandmen' the patrols had encountered 
the previous day. I now became somewhat anxious, not only 
for the safety of the reconnoitring party, which appeared 
to be in danger of being cut off, but for that of the whole 
force ; such a mere handful as we were compared to the 
numbers arrayed against us. 

Vigorous action mas evidently necessary. Accordingly, 
I ordered all the available Cavalry (only 70 men of the 
10th Hussars, and 155 of the 5th Punjab Cavalry), under 
Colonel Hugh Gough, to follow the reconnoitring party in 
case of their being so hard pressed ae to hare to retire, 
and Captain Swinley's Mountain battery, with six com- 
panies of the 28th Punjab Infantry, under Colonel Hudson,* 
to move out in support. Colonel Drew I left in charge of 
the camp, with 200 Highlanders, the 21st Punjab Infantry, 
and a Mountain battery. I myself joined Gough, who, by 
dismounted fire and several bold charges, notwithstanding 
the difficult nature of the ground, succeeded in driving 
the enemy to the highest ridges, over which Swinley's 
well-directed fire eventually forced them to retreat. 

Heavy firing was now heard in the direction of our camp, 
and I hurried back, taking with me a troop of the 6th Punjab 
Cavalry. I found that during my absence Drew had been 
attacked on two sides; he had been able to prevent 
the enemy from coming to close quarters, but they were 

The late Lieutenant-General Sii John Hndeon, K.C.B., who died 
9s Commander-in-Chief of the Bombay Army. 
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still hovering about at no great distance, and I thought it 
advisable to clear them away by moving out against them 
with all the troops at my disposal. As we approached, 
they disappeared with their usual rapidity ; the 5th Punjab 
Cavalry, however, got in amongat some of  them,^ and we 
returned to camp with 100 prisoners, 500 head of cattle, 
mme sheep, and a large quantity of grain. 

The tribesmen, however. had not been sufficiently punished . 

to prevent a repetition of the attack, probably with largely 
increased numbere ; HO I ordered the destruction of the 
hamlets nearest ne, in which they had been sheltered 
and some of our camp followers had been murdered. 

The next night a most unfortunate occurrence took place, 
resulting in the death of six of our prisoners; but it was just 
one of those things which could hardly have been foreseen 
or guarded againet, and for which, however lamentable, no 
one was to blame. The headmen of the particular Waziri 
tribe to which the captives belonged had been summoned 
during the day, and told that the men would be r e l e a d  
on payment of a sum of fifty rupees each. The money 
was paid down at once for a certain number, who were 
immediately set free; but there was not quite enough 
for ail, and the headmen went off to procure what was 
required for the ransom of the remainder. Soon after 
dark, however, some of the enemy* were discovered creep- 
ing up the banks of a nulla at the back of the camp, where 
the unranmmed men were detained under a guard; the 
nearest sentry instantly fired, and the piquets all round 
took up the firing, thinking that another attack on the 

* No doubt trienda of the prisonera, who had come to help them to 
-pe. 

VOL. n. 43 
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camp had commenced. At the sound of the first shot the 
prisoners all jumped to their feet, and, calling to each 
other to escape, attempted to seize the rifles belonging 
to the guard, upon which the Native officer in command 
(a Pathan like themselves) told them that if they per- 
sisted in trying to escape, they would be shot. His words 
had no effect, and to prevent his men being overpowered, 
he gave the order to fire. Six of the prisoners were killed 
and thirteen wounded. I t  was a most regrettable afhir, 
but a Court of Inquiry decided that the Native officer had 
no option, and completely exonerated the guard from acting 
with undue severity. The wounded were, of course, 
taken to our hospital, and well cared for by our 
Doctors.* 

The remainder of our sojourn in Khost was not marked 
by any incident of particular interest. We marched to the 
end of the valley, and made a careful survey of it and of 
the surrounding hills. 

The instructions I received with regard to Khost were, to 
occupy the valley and dislodge the Afghan administration 
therefrom. To my great chagrin, the smallness of my force 
made it impossible for me to give effect to these instructions 
as I could have wished. To have remained in Khost under 
the circumstances would have been to court diaster ; the 
numbers of the enemy were daily increasing, and it would 

This occurrence wee made great capital of by the anti-war party 
s t  home. h member of the House of Commons, in commenting upon 
it, said that 'some ninety prisoners, who had been taken, had been 
tied together with ropes'; that 'on  their making some attempt to 
escape they were set upon, and many of them slaughtered in their 
bonds'; and that 'the dead, the living, the dying, and the wounded 
were left tied tagetlier, and lying in one contused mess of bodies.' 
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have been impossible to hold our own. It was, however, 
of great importance, if practicable, to retain some control 
over the valley, a peculiarly productive district, which, if 
left alone by us, I feared would become a centre of 
dangerous intrigue against any settled government in 
Kuram. Accordingly I determined to try how placing 
Khost in charge of one of our own Natlve officials would 
answer, and I selected for the position Shahzada Sultan 
Jan, a Saddozai gentleman of good birth, and a Sunni 
Mahomedan in religion, who, I thought, would be a 
persona grata to the Khostwals, and, if supported by some 
Native levies, and associated in his administrative duties 
with the chief ntaliks of Khost, would be more likely to 
hold his own than anyone else I could place there This 
waa, however, a mere experiment, and I did not disguise 
from myself that its success was very doubtful; but it 
wae the only way in which I could attempt to carry out 
the orders of Government, my hands being so completely 

tied by paucity of troops. I had no fear for the Shahzada's 
personal safety, and I felt that, if in the end I should be 
obliged to abandon Khost altogether for the present, it 
could later, if necessary, be easily re-occupied with a some- 
what larger force. 

Having decided on the course to be adopted, I held a 
durbar, which was numerously attended, and addressed the 
people of Khost in much the same way I had spoken to the 
Turis in Kuram, expressing a hope that they would support 
the Shahzada's authority until a more permanent form of 
government could be established. 

On the 27th January we left Khost and made one 
march; the next day I halted, so as to be near the 
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8hahzada in cam of need. The intelligence brought to 
me that evening satisfied me that my experiment would 
not answer, and that without troops (which I could not 
apare) to support the newly-established authority at 

starting off, we could not hope to maintain any hold over 
the country; for though the Khostwala themselves ware 
perfectly content with the arrangements I had made, they 
could not resist the tribesmen, who directly our backs were 

turned began to show their teeth. Accordingly, I decided 
to bring the Shahzada away while I codd do eo without 
trouble. I marched back to Matun the next morning 
with 1,000 men (Cavalry and Infantry) and four Mountain 

guns. We found Sultan Jan in anything but a happy 
frame of mind, and quite ready to come away. So having 
formally made the place over to the mdiks, we etarted 
on our return journey. As we departed, a collection of 
our tribal enemies (about 5,000) who had been watching 
the proceedings took the opportunity to attack us ;  but 
two weak squadrons of Cavalry, skilfully handled by Hugh 
Gough, kept them in check, and we reached camp without 
further molestation. 

The next day, the last of January, we returned to Hazir 
Pir in Kuram. There I received a visit from Sirdar W d i  
Mahomed Khan, brother of Sher Ali, who was accompanied 
by several leading men of the Logar valley, some of whom 
were of great assistance to me a few months leter. We& 
Mahomed was a man of about fifty years of age; he had 
a pleasing countenance, of the same Jewish type as the 
majority of the Afghan nation, but he had a weak face and 
was evidently wanting in character. He told me that he 
had fled from Kabul to escape the vengeance of his nephew, 
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Yakub Khan, who attributed his long imprisonment by his 
father to the Sirdar's influence. Sir Samuel Browne and 
Major Cavagnari, on the Khyber line, were conducting all 
political negotiations with the Afghans, so I passed Wali 
Mahomed Khan on to them. 

Daring the month of February my time was chiefly em- 
ployed in inspecting the roads and the defensive posts 
which my talented and indefatigable Chief Engineer was 
constructing, examining the arrangements for housing the 
troops, and looking after the transport animals and Com- 
miaaariat depots. No more military demonstrations were 
necessary, for the people were quietly settling down under 
British rule. Convoys were no longer molested nor tele- 
graph wires cut ; but I had one rather unpleasant incident 
with regard to a war Correspondent, which, until the 
true facts of the case were understood, brought me into 
disrepute with one of the leading London newspapers, the 
representative of which I felt myself compelled to dismiss 
from the Kuram Field Force. 

Judging from his telegrams, which he brought to me to 
sign, the nerves of the Correspondent in question must have 
been somewhat shaken by the few and very distant shots 
fired at us on the 28th November. These telegrams being 
in many instances absolutely incorrect and of the most 
alarming nature, were of course not allowed to be despatched 
until they had been revised in accordance with truth ; 
but one, evidently altered and added to after I had 
countersigned it, was brought to me by the telegraph 
maater. I wnt for the Correspondent, who confessed to 
having made the alterations, not apparently realizing that 
he had done anything at all reprehensible, but he promised 
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that he would never do such a thing again. This promise 
was.not kept; telegrams appeared in his paper which I 
had not seen before despatch, and which were most mie- 
leading to the British public. Moreover, his letters, over 
which I could have no control, and which I heard of for the 
first time when the copies of his paper arrived in Kuram, 
were most subversive of the truth. I t  was on the receipt 
of these letters that I felt it to be my duty to send the too 
imaginative author to the rear. 

No one could be more anxious than I was to have 
all details of the campaign made public. I considered it 
due to the people of Great Britain that the press Corre- 
spondents should have every opportunity for giving the 
fullest and most faithful accounts of what might happen 
while the army was in the field, and I took special pains 
from the first to treat the Correspondents with confidenm, 
and give them such information as it was in my power to 
afford. All I required from them in return was that the 
operations should be truthfully reported, and that any 
Correspondent who did not confine himself to the recording 
of facts, and felt himself competent to criticize the conduct 
of the campaign, should be careful to acquaint himself 
with the many and varied reasons which a Commander 
must always have to consider before deciding on any line 
of aotion. 

What to my mind was so reprehensible in this Corre- 
spondent's conduct was the publication, in time of war, 
m d  consequent excitement and anxiety at home, of in- 
oorreot and sensational statements, founded on information 
derived from irresponsible and uninformed aourcee, and 
the alteration of telegrams after they had been counter- 
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signed by the recognized authority, the result of which 
could only be to keep the public in a state of apprehension 
regarding the force in the field, and, what is even more to 
be deprecated, to weaken the confidence of the troops in 
their Commander. I t  was satisfactory to me that my 
action in the matter met with the fullest approval of 
the Viceroy. 

About this time my column was strengthened by the 
arrival of the Contingent provided by the Punjab Chiefs, 
under the command of Brigadier General John Watson, 
my comrade of the Mutiny days. The Contingent consisted 
of 868 Cavalry, and 2,685 Infantry with 13 guns, which 
were placed in position along the line of communication, 
and proved of great use in relieving the Regular army of 
escort duty. The senior Native officer with the Punjabia 
was Bakshi Ganda Sing, Commander - in - Chief of the 
Patiale army, a particularly handsome, gentlemanly Sikh, 
with whom I have ever since been on terms of friendly 
intercourse. 

Towards the end of February I paid a visit to Kohat, 
where my wife met me; we spent a week together, and I 
had the pleasure of welcoming to the frontier that grand 
regiment, the 92nd Highlanders, which had been sent up to 
be in readiness to join my column in the event of an 
advance on Kabul becoming necessary. 



CHAPTER XLVIII. 

I was informed by the Viceroy's Private Secretary in the 
beginning of March that, unless satisfactory arrangements 
could soon be come to with Yakub Khan, an onward move 
would have to be made. Accordingly I now set about pre- 
paring for such s contingency. 

Sher Ali had died in Afghan Turkestan on the 21st 
February, and, in communicating the event to the Viceroy, 
Yakub Khan wrote that he was anxious matters might 
be so arranged that ' the friendship of this God-granted 
Stnte with the illustrious British Government may remain 
constant and firm.' 

The new Amir was told in reply that Lord Lyttou was 
prepared to enter into negotirrtions for the conclusion of 
peace, and for the restoration of a frieudly alliance between 
the two Governments, provided that his Highness re- 
nounced all claim to authority over the Khyber and Michni 
Passes, and the independent tribes inhabiting the territol-y 
directly connected with the main routes leading to India ; 
that the district of Knram from Thal to the crest of 
the Shutargardan Pass, and the districts of Pishin and 
Sibi, should remain under the control of the British 
Government ; that the foreign relations of Afghanistan 
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should be conducted in accordance with the advice and 
rishea of the British Government ; and that British officers 
should be accredited to the Kabul Government, and per- 
mitted to reaide at such places as might hereafter be 
decided upon. 

Yakub Khan's reply was not altogether satisfactory. He 
agreed to British officers being deputed to Afghanistan on 
the understanding that they should reside in Kabul, and 
abstain from interference in State affairs ; but he declined 
to renounce his authority over the Khyber and Michni 
Passes and the tribes in their vicinity, and refused to 
consent to Iiuram, Pishin, and Sibi being placed under 
British protection. 

The Viceroy now determined to try what a personal 
conference between the Amir and Cavagnari could effect 
towards a settlement of these vexed questions, so in answer- 
ing the Amir Cavagnari was directed to convey a hint that 
an invitation to him to visit Kabul might be productive of 
good results, and to point out that the places we desired 
to occupy were looked upon as essential to the permanent 
security of the Indian frontier. The hmir replied, ex- 
pressing his readiness to receive Cavagnari in his capital, 
and laying stress on his determination to regulate his 
future conduct in strict conformity with his professions of 
loyalty, but begged that he might not be called upon to 
cede any portion of his territory. 

Hardly had this letter, dated the 29th March, been 
received, than a proclamation addressed by Yakub to the 
Khagianis, a tribe which had been giving much trouble, 
wss intercepted and brought to Cavagnari; in it the 
Amir praised and complimented the Khagianis for their 
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religious zeal and fidelity to himself. He exhorted them 
to have no fear of the infidels, against whom he WIN 

about to launch an irresistible force of troops and G k ,  
and wound up as follows: 'By the favour of God, and in 
accordance with the verse " Verily God has destroyed 
the powerful ones," the whole of them will go to the 
h e  of hell for evermore. Therefore kill them to the 
extent of your ability.' A curious commentary thh on the 
Amir's protestation of loyalty. 

Notwithstanding this piece of treachery, it was d d e d  
not to break off negotiations, and Yakub Khan wee m- 

formed by Cavagnari that a Mission would proceed to 
Kabul so soon as the 'necessary arrangements could be 
made for its reception. At the same time Lord L y t h  
himself wrote to the Amir, telling him that, ae he rre 

willing to receive an Envoy, Cavagnari ~ o u l d  be deputed to 
visit Kabul, and communicate unreservedly with him npoa 
the questions at issue between the two States. 

I, personally, was not a t  all satisfied that the time had 
come for negotiation, for I felt that the Afghans had nor 
had the sense of defeat sufficiently driven into them to 
convince them of our strength and ability to pnnish 
breach of treaty, and, therefore, that a peace made nor, 
before they had been thoroughly beaten, would not be a 
lasting one, and would only end in worse trouble in the 
near future. The Afghans are an essentially arrogant and 
conceited people; they had not forgotten our disaetronr 
retreat from Kabul, nor the annihilation of our army in the 
Khurd Kabul and Jagdalak Passes in 1841, and believed 
themselves to be quite capable of resisting our advance on 
Kabul. No great battle had as yet been fought ; though Ah 
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Mssjid and the Peiwar Kotal had been taken, a small force 
of the enemy had been beaten by Charles Gough's brigade, 
near Jalalabad, and a successful Cavalry skirmish had 
occurred near Kandahar, the Afghans had nowhere s d e r e d  
~erious loss, and it was not to be wondered at if the 
fighting men in distant villages, and in and around Kabul, 
Ghazni, Herat, Balkh, and other places, still considered 
themselves undefeated and capable of defying us. They 
and their leaders had to depend for information as to recent 
events upon the garbled acconnts of those who had fought 
against us, and it was unlikely they would be shaken in 
their belief in their superiority by such one-sided versions of 
what had occnrred. On many occasions I had been amused, 
in listening to Afghan conversation, to find that, while they 
appeared thoroughly conversant with and frequently alluded 
to their triumphs over us, they seemed to know nothing, or 
had no recollection, of Sale's successful defence of Jalalabad, 
or of Poilock's victorious march through the Khyber Pass 
and the destruction by him of the chief bazaar in Kabul. 

My ideas about the negotiations being premature were 
freely expressed to Colonel Colley,* Lord Lytton's Private 
8ecretq, who paid me a visit in Kuram at this time, and 
had been a constant correspondent of mine from the 
commencement of the war. Colley, however, explained to 
me that, right or wrong, the Viceroy had no option in the 
matter; that there was the strongest feeling in England 
against the continuance of the war; and that, unless the 
new Amir proved actively hostile, peace must be signed. 
He expressed himself sanguine that the terms of the 
treaty which Cavagnari hoped to conclude with Yakub 

+ The late Major-General Sir George Colley, K.C.B. 
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Khan would give us an improved frontier, and a permanent 
paramount influence at Kabul, the two points about which 
he said the Viceroy was moat anxious, and to which he 
assigned the first place in his political programme. Lord 
Lytton foresaw that, whatever might be the future policy 
of the two European Powers concerned, the contact of the 
frontiers of Great Britain and Russia in Asia was only a 
matter of time, and his aim was to make sure that the 
conterminous line, whenever it might be reached, should 
be of our choosing, and not one depending on the exigen- 
cies of the moment, or on the demand8 of Russia. 

The Native agent (Bukhtiar Khan), who was the bearer of 
the Viceroy's and Cavagnari's letters to the Amir, reached 
Kabul at the moment when the Afghan official8 who had 
accompanied Sher Ali in his flight returned to that placa 
from Turkeetan. Counsel was held with these men as to 
the manner of receiving the British Niesion ; but there was 
an influential military party averse to peace, and the Amir 
was strongly advieed to abandon the English alliance and 
trust to Rueeia. Upon hearing this, our agent became 
alarmed for the safety of the Mission, and being appre  
hensive that Yakub Khan would not have the power to 
protect its members from insult, he suggested to the Amir 
that he should visit our camp instead of the British Mission 
coming to Kabul, a suggestion which was ultimately adopted, 
theviceroy considering that itwae infinitely the best arrange- 

ment that could be made. 
On the 8th Nay the Amir arrived in Sir Samuel 

Browne's camp at Gandamak, thirty miles on the Kabul 
eide of Jalalabad, and on the 26th, owing to the tact 
and diplomatic skill of Louis Cavagnari the Treaty of 
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h n d a m a k  was signed, and so ended the first phase of 
the second Afghan war. 

Cnder the terms of the treaty, Yakub Khan agreed to 
the ceseion of territory considered necessary by us, and 
bound himself to conduct his foreign policy in accordance 
with the advice of the British Government ; while, on 
our side, we promised to support him against external 
aggression. I t  was further arranged that a British repre- 
sentative, with a suitable escort, should reside at Kabul ;* 
that the Amir should in like manner (if he desired it) 
depute an agent to the Viceregal Court; that British 
agents with sufficient escorts should be at liberty to visit 
the Afghan frontiers whenever, in the interests of both 
countries, it was considered necessary by the British 
Government ; that there should be no hindrance to British 
subjects trading peaceably within the Amir's dominions ; 
that traders should be protected, the transit of merchandise 
facilitated, and roads kept in good order; that a l h e  of 
telegraph should be constructed from India to Kabul, a t  the 
expense of the British, but under the protection of the 
Afghan Government ; and that an annual subsidy of six 
lakhs of rupees should be paid to the Amir and hie 
succBssors. 

The Khyber column was now withdrawn, with the 
exception of two brigades, and orders were sent to the 
h n d e h a r  column to prepare to withdraw on the 1st 
September, the earliest date at which the troops could 
sefely march through the Bolan Pass. I was told to stay 
where I was, as Kuram, by the treaty conditions, was to 

h b u l  wan expressly selected by Y h b  Khan M the plwe where 
he wished the E m b e y  to reside. 
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remain under our control and be administered by the Britieh 
Government. 

On the 24th May I held a parade in honour of the Queen's 
birthday, at which 6,450 officers and men were present.. 
They were thoroughly fit and workmanlike, and being 
anxious that the tribesmen should see what grand soldiers 
I had at hand should an advance be necessary, I invited 
all the neighbouring clans to witness the display. Tbe 
Afghans were seated in picturesque groups round the flag- 
staff, when suddenly, as the &-st round of the feu-de9oit w a ~ ~  

fired, they started to their feet, thinking that treachery wee 
intended, and that they were caught in a trap: they took 
to their heels, and we had considerable dacul ty  in bring- 
ing them back, and in making them understand that the 
firing which had so upeet their equenimlty was only a eign 
of rejoicing on that auspicious anniversary. By degrees 
they became assured that there was no thought of taking 
an unfair advantage of them, and at the conclusion of 
the ceremony they were made happy by a preeent of sheep. 
In the afternoon an impromptu rifle meeting wee got up. 
The matchlock men could not hold their o m  against our 
good shots armed with Martini-Henry rifles, a fact which 
evidently greatly impressed the tribesmen, some of whom 
then and there came forward and promised that if I should 

At thie parade I had the great pleasure of decorating Captain 
Cook with thevictoria Croas, and Sub& Regobir Nagerkoti, J e m d v  
Pnreoo Khatri, Native Doctor Sankar Dm, and five riflemen of the 
6th Gurkhee, with the Order of Merit, for their gallant conduct an 
the attack on the Spingawi Kotal, and during the pessage of the 
Mengior defile. I t  wee a happy circumstance that Major Galbraith, 
who owed his life to Captain Cook's intrepidity, and Major Fitz-Hugh, 
whose life wee eeved by Jemadar (then Havildar) Pnrsoo Khetri, ahodd 
both have been preeent on the parade. 
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be required to advance on Kabul they would not oppose 
me. 

I took advantage of our improved relations with the 
Afghans, consequent on the ratification of the treaty, to 
enlerge our geograpbical knowledge of the passes which 
leed from Kuram towards Kabul, and the independent 
territories in the neighbourhood. The presence of the 
troops, no doubt, had something to eay to the cheerful 
acquiescanca of the tribesmen in these exploretione, which 
they appeared to look upon as the result of a wish to 
make ourselves acquainted with the country assigned to 
ne by the treaty, and having, to use their own expres- 
mon, lifted for us the purdah (curtain) of their country, 
they became most friendly, and took a curious pleasure 
in pointing out to us the points of defence a t  which 
they would have opposed us, had we been advancing 
a8 enemies. 

Towards the end of June I heard from Lord Lytton 
that he wished me to be one of the military members 

' 

of a Commission of Inquiry into army expenditure and 
organization which was about to be convened at Simla, 
if I thought I could be spared from my post at Kuram. 
The people of the valley had by this time settled down 
so contentedly, and the tribesmen showed themselves so 
peacefully disposed, that I thought I could safely leave 
my post for a time, before returning to take up my 
abode in the neighbourhood for some years, as I hoped 
to do, when my appointment as Frontier Commissioner 
should have received the sanction of the authorities in 
England. 

Meanwhile, however, some temporary arrangement was 
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necessary for the administration of Kuram, and I wrote to 
the Foreign Secretary (Alfred Lyall), pointing out my viewe 
upon the subject. 

Seeing how much could be done with these wild people by 
personal influenee, and how ready they were to submit to 
my decisions when disputes arose amongst them--decbiona 
at times literally given from the saddle-I was very adverse 
to their being handed over to some official who, from his 
training, would not be able to understand dealing out 
the rough-and-ready justice which alone was suited to these 
lawless beings, and who could not imagine any question 
being properly settled without its having undergone the 
tedious process of passing through the law courts. Such a 
rule would, I knew, disgust a people accustomed to decide 
their quarrels at the point of the sword-a people to whom 
law and order had been hitherto unknown, and must be d i s  
tasteful, until they had had time to realize their beneficial 
effects. Profitable employment and judicious manmgement 
would in time, no doubt, turn them into peaceful subjects. 
Friendly intercourse had already done much towards thb 
end, and tribes who for generations had been at feud 
with each other now met, when visiting our camp, on 
common ground, without (much I think to their own 
astonishment) wanting to cut each other's throats. What 
was further required, I conceived, was the opening up of 
the country by means of roads, which would facilitate 
intercommunication and give remunerative employment to 
thousands who had hitherto lived by plunder and blood- 
shed. 
Ln answering my letter, the Foreign Secretary informed 

me that the future of Kuram would be settled when I 
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reached Simla, whither I was to proceed so soon as I had 
seen the British Mission across the frontier. 

On the 15th July Major Cavagnari, who had been 
selected as 'the Envoy and Plenipotentiary to His Highnese 
the Amir of Kabul,' arrived in Kuram, accompanied by Mr. 
William Jenkins, C.I.E., of the Civil Service, and Lieutenant 
Hamilton, V.C., Surgeon-Major Kelly, 25 Cavalry and 50 
Lnfantry of the Guides Corps. I,  with some fifty oficere 
who were anxious to do honour to the Envoy and see the 
country beyond Kuram, marched with Cavagnari to within 
five miles of the crest of the Shutargardan Pass, where 
we encamped, and my staff and I dined that evening with 
the Mission. After dinner I was asked to propose the 
health of Cavagnari and those with him, but somehow I 
did not feel equal to the task; I was so thoroughly 
depressed, and my mind was filled with such gloomy 
forebodings as to the fate of these fine fellows, that I 
could not utter a word. Like many others, I thought 
that peace had been signed too quickly, before, in fact, we 
had instilled that awe of us into the Afghan nation whiah 
would have been the only reliable guarantee for the safety 
of the Miseion. Had we shown our strength by marching 
to Kabul in the first instance, whether opposed or not, and 
there dictated the terms of the treaty, there would have 
been some assurance for its being adhered to ; as it was, I 
could not help feeling there was none, and that the c h a n w  
were against the Mission ever coming back. 

Camgnari, however, showed no sign of sharing my fore- 
bodings ; he and his companions were in the best of spirit8 ; 
he spoke most hopefully of the future, and talked of a tour 
he hoped to make with me in the cold weather along the 

VOL. XI. 44 
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northern and western frontiers of Afghanistan. Other 
matters of intense interest to us both were discussed, and 
before separating for the night it was arranged that Mm. 
Cavagnari should either join him in Kabul the following 
spring, or come and stay with my wife and me in Iiuram, 
where I had already laid the foundations of a house 
near the beautifully situated village of Shalufzan. 

Early next morning the Sirdar, who had been deputed 
by the Amir to receive the Mission, came into camp, and 
soon we all started for the top of the pass. We had gone 
about a mile, when we were joined by an escort of Afghan 
Cavalry, dressed something like British Dragoons, with the 
exception of their head-gear, which consisted of the die- 
aarded helmets of the old Bengal Horse Artillery. They 
were mounted on small, useful-looking horses, and were 
armed with smooth-bore carbines and t th-are (Native 
swords). 

As we ascended, curiously enough, we came a c m  a 
solitary magpie, which I should not have noticed had not 
Cavagnari pointed it out and begged me not to mention 
the fact of his having seen it to his wife, as she would 
be sure to consider it an unlucky omen. 

On reaching the Afghan camp, we were received in a 
large, tastefully decorated tent, where tea was served, and 
we were afterwards conducted to the top of the mountain, 
where carpets were spread and more tea pawed round, 
while we gazed on the fine view of the Logar valley which 
stretched out beneath us. 

On descending to the camp, we were invited to partake of 
dinner, served in Oriental fashion on a carpet spread on the 
ground. Everything was done most lavishly and grace- 
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hl ly ,  and nothing mas omitted that was calculated to do 
ue honour. Nevertheless, I could not feel happy as to the 
prospects of the Mission, and my heart sank as I wished 
Cavagnari good-bye. When we had proceeded a few 
yards in our Merent  directions, we both turned round, 
retraced our steps, shook hands once more, and parted for 
ever. 

I did not delay at Kuram ; there was nothing to keep me 
there, and the prospect of getting back to my belongings 
and to civilization, now that all active work was at an end, 
mu too alluring to be withstood. My wife met me at the 
foot of the Hills, and we drove up to ~ i m l a  together. I 
wee greeted by Lord Lytton and many kind friends most 
warmly, and had the gratification of hearing that I had 
been made a K.C.B., and that I had been accorded the 
thanks of both Houses of Parliament. 

I wee soon deep in the work of the Army Commission, 
which met for the first time under the presidency of the 
Hon. Sir Ashley Eden,* K.C.S.I., on the 1st August. The 
heavy lose to the revenues of India, consequent on the 
unfavourable rate of exchange, rendered extensive reduc- 
tions in public expenditure imperative, and the object of 
this Commission was to find out how the cost of the army 
could be reduced without impairing its efficiency. 

Very little was done at the first meeting, and at its close 
Eden confessed to me that he did not at all see his way, 
and that he was eomewhat aghast at the di5culties of the 
teak before the Commission. To me it seemed clear that 
the maintenance of a separate army for each presidency, 
Bengal, Bombay, and Madras, was at the root of the evils 
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it was our duty to consider and try to reform ; and I 
promised the President that, before the Commission agah 
assembled, I would prepare a scheme which might form a 
basis for them to work upon. 

I considered it an anachronism, since railways and 
telegraphs had annihilated distance, to keep up three 
Commanders - in - Chief, and separate departments, each 
having an independent head, in the three different preei- 
dencies. I put my ideas on paper, and Eden announced 
himself in favour of my scheme, which substituted for the 
three presidential armies four army corps, all subordinate 
to the Commander - in- Chief in India. Portions of my 
recommendation began to be carried into effect directly 
they had received the sanction of the authoritiee in 
England-such as the amalgamation of the CommiRnnrint, 
Pay, Ordnance, and Stud depmrtments - but it was not 
until April, 1895, sixteen years after the proposal had been 
recommended by the Government of India, and although, 
during that period, four successive Viceroys, each backed up 
by a unanimous Council, had declared themselves strongly 
in favour of the change, that the finishing touch was 
given to the new organization, by the abolition of the 
offices of Commanders-in-Chief of Madras and Bombmy, and 
the creation of four Army Corps, namely, the Punjab, the 
Bengal, the Madras, and the Bombay, each commanded 
by a Lieutenant-General. 



CHAPTER XLIX. 

MY wife and I thought and talked much over our new 
life on the frontier, to which we both looked forward with 
great interest and pleasure, but, before entering upon 
it, we settled to go home for a time to place our boy a t  
school and see our friends, and we were arranging our 
plane accordingly, when suddenly our 'castles in the air' 
were dashed to the ground by a ruthless blow from the hand 
of Fate, and the whole of India, the whole of the civilized 
world, was struck with grief, horror, and indignation at 
the awful news of th6 massacre at Kabul of Cavagnari and 
his gallant companions. 

Throughout the month of August telegrams and letters 
conetantly came from Csvagnari (now a Lieutenant-Colonel 
and a K.C.B.) to the Viceroy, the Foreign Secretary, and 
myself, in which he always expressed himself in such a 
manner ae to lead to the belief that he was perfectly 
content with his position, and felt himself quite aecure ; 
and in his very last letter, dated the 90th August, re- 
ceived after his death, he wrote: ' I personally believe 
that Yakub Khan will turn out to be a very good ally, 
and that we shall be able to keep him to his en-, 
gagements.' His last telegram to the Viceroy, dated 
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the 2nd September, concluded with the words, ' All well.' 
Cavagnari mentioned in one of his letters that the 
Afghan soldiers were inclined to be mutinous, and in 
another that a dispute had arisen in the bazaar between 
them and the men of the British escort, but at the mime 
time he expressed his confidence in the Amir's ability and 
determination to maintain order; I could not, however, 
help being anxious about Cavagnari, or divest myself of 
the feeling that he might be over-estimating Taknb 
Khan's power, even if His Highness had the will, to 
protect the Mission. 

Between one and two o'clock on the morning of the 5th 
September, I was awakened by my wife telling me that 
a telegraph man had been wandering round the h o w  and 
calling for some time, but that no one had answered him.. 
I got up, went downstairs, and, taking the telegram from 
the man, brought it up to my dressing-room, and opened 
i t ;  it proved to be from Captain Conolly, Political Officer at 
Alikhel, dated the 4th September. The contents told me 
that my worst fears-fears I had hardly arknowledged to 
myself-had been only too fully realized. The telegram 
ran : 

'One Jelaledin Ghilzai, who says he iR in Sir Louis Cavsgnui'm 
secret service, hee arrived in hot hasto from Kabul, and solemnly 
statates that yesterday morning the Residency wae attacked by three 
regimenb who had mutinied for their pay, they having guns, rod 
being joined by a portion of six other regiments. The E m b y  d 
eaoort were defending themselves when he left about noon j-e~temiap. 
I hope to receive further newe.' 

I was paralyzed for the moment, but was roused by my 
wife calling out, 'What is it? Is  it bad news from Kabul?' 

There are no such things na bells or knocken, in In*. 
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She had divined my fears about Cavagnari, and had been 
.e ansious about him as I had been myself. I replied, 
'Tee, very bed, if true. I hope it is not.' But I felt it , 

watt. I woke my A.D.C., and sent him off at once to 
the  Viceroy with the telegram. The evil tidings spread 
rapidly. I wee no sooner dressed than Mr. Alfred Lyall 
arrived. We talked matters over, I despatched a tele- 
gram* to Captain Conolly, and we then went off to Lord 
Lytton . 

Early as it was, I found the Council assembled. The 
grmvity of the situation was thoroughly appreciated, and 
it ass unanimously decided that, should the disastrous 
report prove to be true, troops must proceed to Kabul with 
the least possible delay to avenge or, if happily incorrect 
or exaggerated, to support the Mission. 

Sir Samuel Browne's force had been broken up, Sir 
Donald Stewart was in far-off Kandahar, and his troops 
had, all but a small number, left on their return march to 
Lndie ; the Kuram force was, therefore, the only one in a 
poeition to reach Iiabnl quickly, and I was ordered to 
proceed at once to Kuram and resume my command. 

As a preliminary measure, Brigadier-General Massy, 
who had been placed in temporary command during my 
ebeence, was directed to move troops to the Shutargardan, 
where they were to entrench themselves and await orders, 

' Lose no time and spare no money to obtain reliable information 
of what is p ing  on in Kabul, and keep me conetently informed by 
urgent telegrams. I am i n  hopes that Jelaladin's report will turn out 
to be greatly exaggerated, if not untrue. As, however, his intelligenoe 
I. rnre to e p d  and muse a certein amount of excitement, warn 
Osneral &Iwiy and Mr. Christie (the Political Offlcer in Kuram) to be 
on the alert.' 



184 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA [lB79 

while Stewart was directed to stop all regiments on their 
way back to India, and himself hold fast at bndahar .  

During the day further telegrams were received conf~rm- 
ing the truth of the first report, and telling of the Mieaion 
having been overwhelmed and every member of it cruelly 
massacred ; and later Captain Conolly telegraphed that 
messengers had arrived from the Amir bringing two letters 
addressed to me giving his version of what had occurred. 

During the few hours I remained at Simlm I was busily 
engaged in discussing with Sir Frederick Haines the 
formation of the Kabul Field Force,* as my new command 
was designated, and the many important matters which 

+ The Kabul Field Force was composed ee follow8 : 

Lieutenant-Colonel B. L. Gordon, commanding. 
Captain J. W. Inge, Adjutant. 
F/A, Royal Horse Artillery, Major J. C. Smyth-Widham. 
G/8, Royal Artillery, Major Sydney Parry. 
No. 1 (Kohat) Mountain Battery (four guns), Captain Morgan. 
No. 2 (DerajBt) Mountain Battery (four guns), Captain Swinley. 
Two Gatling guns, Captain Broadfoot. 

ENGINEEBB. 

Lieutenant-Colonel E.  Perkins, C.B., commanding. 
Lieutenant F. Spratt, Adjutant. 
Captain Woodthorpe, R.E., in charge of mrveying. 
Captain Stratton, 22nd Regiment, in charge of signalling. 
Lieutenant F. Burn-Murdoch, R.E., Royal Engineer Park. 

CAVALRY. 
Brigadier-General W. D. Maasy, commanding. 
Lieutenant J. P. Brabazon, 10th Hussare, Brigede-Major. 
9th Lancers, Lieutenant-Colonel R. S. Cleland. 
6th Punjab Cavalry, Major B. Williams. 
12th l3engal Cavalry, Major Green. 
14th Uengal Lancers, Lieutenant-Colonel Roes. 
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had to be conaidered. More troops had to be hurried up, 
for it would be necessary to hold Kuram in strength while 
I moved on to Kabul, and, aa communication by the 
Shntergsrdan could not be depended upon after December, 
on account of snow, the Khyber route would have to be 
opened out. 

At  the commencement of the last year's campaign my 
uuie ty  had been so largely increased by having been 
given officers totally inexperienced in war to fill the higher 
poets in the Kuram column, that I did not hesitate to press 
upon the Commander-in-Chief, now that I had a far more 
difficult operation to carry through, the importance of my 
mnior o5cers being tried men on whom I could implicitly 
rely ; and I succeeded in getting for the command of my 
two Infantry brigades Herbert MacphersonY and T. D. 
Baker,t the Viceroy's Military Secretary, both of whom had 

Brigadier-aeneral H.  Macpherson, C.B., V.C., commanding. 
Captain G. de C. Morton, 6th Foot, Brigade-Major. 
67th Foot, Lieutenant-Colonel C. B. Knowles. 
92nd Highlanders, Lieutenant-Colonel G. H. Parker. 
!Bth h j a b  Infantry, Lieutenant-Colonel J. Hudson. 

~ N D  INPANTBY BBIOADE. 
Brigadier-General T. D. Baker, C.B., 18th Foot, commanding. 
Captain W. C. Farwell, 26th Punjab Infantry, Brigade-Major. 
72nd Highlanders, Lieutenant.Colone1 Brownlow. 
6th Gurkhas, Lieutenant-Colonel Fitz-Hugh. 
5th Punjab Infantry, Lieutenant-Colonel J. Macqneen. 
8rd Sikhs, Lieutenant-Colonel GC. N. Money. 
28rd Pioneers, Lieutenant-Colonel Currie. 

The late Lieutenant-General Sir Herbert Macpherson, V.C., K.C.B., 
who died sa Commander-in-Chief of Madras. 

t The late Sir Thomas Baker, K.C.B., who died IU Qututermester- 
General at the Horse Guarda 
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seen a good deal of service, while the former had already 
commanded a brigade in the field. 

To the command of the Artillery and Cavalry, Lieutenant- 
Colonel B. Gordon and Brigadier-General Massy were a p  
pointed, neither of whom had much experience of war. 
Gordon had served in Central India during the Mutiny, 
and Massy by his pluck as a subaltern of Infantry in the 
Crimea had gained for himself the sobriquet of 'Redan' 
Massy. But he had not served with Cavalry in the field, 
and from my slight acquainttinee with him I could not my 
whether he possessed the very exceptional qualities required 
in a Cavalry Commander. 

My staff had proved themselves so capable and reliable 
that I had no wish to make any change ; it was, however, 
materially strengthened by the addition of Colonel 
Macgregor,' as 'Chief of the Staff,' with Captain Cornbe,+ 
10th Hussars, and Lieutenant Mallners Smith: as Deputy- 
Assistant Quartermaster-Generals. 

Mr. H. M. Durands was attached to me as Political 
Secretary, and Major Hastings as Political Officer, in place 
of Colonel Waterfield, who was hors de combat from a broken 
leg. Hugh Gough, with the rank of Brigadier-General, 
and Major Mark Heathcote as his assistant, were placed in 
oharge of the lines of communication. 

Before leaving Simla I paid a farewell visit to Lord 
Lytton. I found him in a state of deep distress and 

The late Sir Charles MacGregor, K.C.B. 
t Now Major-General Combe, C.B. 
$ Tllis prornieing young officer greatly distinguished himself at 

Kabul. nnd died a few yeare afterwards of cholera. 
$ Now Sir Mortimer Durand, K.C.S.I., B.C.I.E., British Minister 

at Teheran. 
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depression. To a man of his affectionate disposition, the 
faie of Cavagnari, for whom he had a great personal regard, 
aae a real grief. But on public grounds he felt still more 
strongly the collapse of the Mission and the consequent 
heevy blow to the policy he had so much at heart, viz., 
the rectification of our defective frontier, and the render- 
ing Indis secure against foreign aggression - a policy 
which, though scouted at the time by a party which later 
became all-powerful, has since been justified by the action 
of successive Governments, Liberal and Conservative alike, 
until a t  the present moment our frontier is gradually 
becoming what Lord Lytton, with his clear foresightedness 
and lntalligent appreciation of our responsibilities and 
India's requirements, would then have made it. 

In  answer to my request for instructions as to the line I 
should take about our future relations with the Afghans, 
Lord Ljtton said : ' You can tell them we shall never again 
altogether withdraw from Afghanistan, and that those who 
help IOU will be befriended and protected by the British 
Government.' 

While I was with Lord Lytton, a telegram* was brought 

From To 
C m m  CONOLLY, FOREIGN SECRETARY, 

ALIKBEL. SIYLA. 
'Clear the Line.-Sirkai Khm, bearer of the hmir's first letter, 

aonfirrrm previous reports of dieester, and describes how Badshah 
Khan visited the spot, and saw the dead bodies of the Envoy, staff, 
and ercort. Of the latter, some nine sowers are said to have been out 
getring grsee that day, and wcre not killed with the rest ; defence wes 
very stubborn, and loas of the Kmbulis heavy, put down at  one hundred, 
or more. Finding they could not storm the place, the mutineere net 
6re to the doorway below. and, when tbst gave way, swarmed in 



188 FORTY-ONE Y E A R S  IN INDIA [lm 

in from Captain Conolly, reporting the details of the attack 
upon the Embassy, as given to him by the messenger who 
had been entrusted by the Amir to deliver the two let- 
addressed to me. In this telegram Conolly eolicited in- 
structions as to what he was to communicate to the Amir 
in reply to His Highness's request for aid, and inquired 
whether he was at liberty to make terms with one 
Badshah Khan, an influential Ghilzai Chief, who had come 
to Alikhel to offer his services. 

The following telegram was sent in reply by the Foreign 
Secretary : 

' Your telegram 6th. Reply to the Amir at once from the Viceroy that 
a strong British force under General Roberts will march speedily on 
Kabul to his relief, from the Shutargardan, and that he should rue dl 
his resources to co-operate with, and facilitate, the advance of tho 
troops through his country. Your proposal to subsidize Bad&& 
Khan and accept his services is approved. Roberts will eend der3ed 
instructions.' 

Late in the afternoon of the seme day (September 6th) I 
left Simla, accompanied by my wife as far as Umballa, where 

- 
and up to the upper story, overwhelmed the defendere, and -Led the 
place. 
' The second letter wee brought by another meseenger, s e m t  of hs 

Embasey Mehmmzdar, whose etory in all but a few unimportant detJlr 
is the same ee that firat received 

'If an advanoe on Kabul is decided on to revenge messaue of 
Embesay, and also to quiet surrounding tribes, whom any (7) action 
would tempt to break out, it appears to me all-important to secure rrfs 
passage of the Shutargardan, and with this object to subsidize Bad&& 
Khan handsomely. 
' I have detained the Kabul messengem pendi~g receipt of inatmatiom 

ee to the line of policy to follow, and what to communicste to the Amir 
or Badshah Khan. The former invokes our aid ; the latter esprwmm 
himself, through his messenger, anxious to serve us. Onoe in Logw 
valley, where they have had a bumper harvest, we could live on tbe 
country .' 
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I found my staff waiting for me. She saw us off in the 
train, bidding us a cheery good-bye and good luck, but I am 
afraid the return journey must have been a sad one for her. 

Thought for the immediate future filled my mind as we 
sped on our way to the front, and not a few difficulties 
connected with the proposed advance on Kabul presented 
themeelves to me. My chief causes for anxiety were the 
insufficiency of transport, and the great extent of the lines 
of communication which would have to be guarded. It 
would be necessary to hold the country in strength from 
Thal bo the Shutargardan, a distance of 115 miles, until 
each time as the Khyber route could be opened, and I 
felt that the force at my disposal (7,500 men and 22 guns) 
was none too large for the work before it, considering that 
I should have to provide a garrison for the Shutargardan, 
if not for other posts between that place and Kabul. 

My Commiesariat arrangemente, too, caused me many 
misgivings, increased by the fact that Major Badcock, my 
chief Commiesariat Officer, and Major Collett, my Assistant 
Quartermaster-General, who had afforded such valuable aid 
in Knram, thinking the war was a t  an end, had taken leave 
to England. My doubts vanished, however, and my spirits 
roee at  the sight of my brave troops, and the enthusiastic 
welcome they gave me as I rode through Kuram on the 
12th September on my way bo Alikhel. A splendid spirit 
pervaded the whole force; the men's hearts were on fire 
with eager desire to press on to Kabul, and be led against 
the miscreanta who had foully massacred our countrymen, 
and I felt assured that whatever it was possible for daunt- 
lsee courage, unselfish devotion, and firm determination 
to achieve, would be achieved by my gallant eoldiers. 



=go FORTY-ONE YEARS IN Ih'DIA Dm 

On reaching Alikhel, Captain Conolly handed to me the 
Amir's letters,* to which I replied a t  once, and the next 
day, under instructions from the Government of India, 
I wrote to His Highness that, in conformity with his own 

TRANSLATION OF A LETTER FROM THE AMIR OF KABUL TO GLXPRAL 
ROBERTS, DATED KABUL, 8 A.M., THE ~ B D  SEPTEMBER, 1879. 

(After compliments.) The troops who had assembled for pay crt the 
Bala Hissar suddenly broke out and stoned their oficere, and then all 
rushed to the Residency and stoned it, receiving in return a hail of 
bulleb. Confusion and disturbance reached such a height that it WWJ 

impossible to quiet it. People from Sherpur and country around rbe 
Bala Hissar, and city people of all classes, poured into the Bala H i  

and began destroying workshops, Artillery park, and magazine; and 
all the t r o o p  and people attacked the Residency. Meanwhile. I sent 
Daud Shah' to help the Envoy. On reaching the Residency, he WWJ 

unhorsed by stones and spears, and is now dying. I then mnt Sirdar 
Yahia Khan and my own eon, the heir-apparent, with the Koran to the 
troops; but no use. I then sent well-known Syada and Mnllah.  of 
each class, but of no avail ; up till now, evening, the disturbance con- 
tinues. I t  will be seen how it ends. I am grieved with thb confusing 
state of things. I t  is almost beyond conception. (Here follow the 
date and the Amir's seal.) 

SECOND LETTER FROM THE AMLR, DATED KABUL, THE 4TH 
SEPTEKBER, 1879. 

Yesterday, from 8 a.m. till evening, thousands aeeembld to destroy 
the Embassy. There has been much loss of life on both ddes. At 
evening they set fire to the Residency. All yesterday and up till now, 
I with five attendanb have been besieged. I heve no certain newm of 
the Envoy, whether he and his people have been killed in their 
quarters, or been seized and brought out. Afghanistan is mined; tbe 
troop, city, and surrounding country heve thrown off their yoke of 
allegiance. Daud Shah is not expected to recover ; all hie attendant6 
were killed. The workshops and magazine are totally gutted-ln fact. 
my kingdom is ruined. After God, I look to the Government for u d  
and advice. My true friendehip and honesty of purpose will be proved 
as clear as daylight. By this misfortune I have lost my friend, the 
Envoy, and also my kingdom. I am tembly grieved and perplexed. 
(Here follow the date and the Amir's seal.) 
-- -- - - 

The Commander-in-Chief of the Afghm army. 
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rpecisl request that an English officer should be deputed as 
Envoy to his court, and on condition that he wnuld himself 
be responsible for the protection and honourable treatment 
of such an Envoy, Major Cavagnari and three British officers 
had been allowed to go to Kabul, all of whom within six 
weeke had been ruthlessly murdered by his troops and 
rubjects ; that his inability to carry out the treaty engage- 
ments, and his powerlessness to establish his authority, 
even in his own capital, having thus become apparent, 
an English army would now advance on Kabul with the 
double object of consolidating his Government, should he 
himself loyally do his best to fulfil the terms of the treaty, 
and of exacting retribution from the murderers of the British 
Mission. But that, although His Highness laid great strese 
in his letter of the 4th September on the sincerity of his 
friendship, my Government had been informed that emis- 
Beriea had been despatched from Kabul to rouse the 
oountry people and tribes against us, and as this action 
appeared inconsistent with friendly intentions, I considered 
it necessary for His Highness to send a confidential re- 
presentative to confer with me and explain his object. 

I had little doubt as to the truth of the report that the 
Amir was using every effort to incite the Ghilzais and 
other tribes to oppose us, and I was confirmed in my 
oonviction by a Native gentleman, Nawab Ghulam Hussein 
Khan,* at one time our agent at Kabul, who told me that, 
although he did not believe that Yakub Khan had actually 
planned the massecre of the Embassy, he had certainly 
taken no steps to prevent it, and that he, Ghulam Hussein 

'I'h Nawab wae on his way fmm Kandahar to Kabul, but on 
hearing d the maamare he came to Alikhel. 
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Khan, was convinced that the Amir was now playing RE 

false. I t  was, therefore, a relief to find awaiting me a t  
Alikhel several of the leading men from the neighbouring 
districts, to whom I had telegraphed, before leaving Simla, 
asking them to meet me. 

These men were profuse in their proffers of assistance, 
and, although I did not place a great deal of faith in 
their promises, I came to the conclusion that, notwith- 
standing Yakub Khan's treacherous efforts to stir up the 
tribes, if I could only push on rapidly with a fairly 
strong force, I need not anticipate any opposition that I 
could not overcome. Everything depended on speed, but 
rapidity of movement depended on the condition of the 
transport service, and my inspection of the animals, aa I 
passed through Kuram, was not calculated to raise hop- 
of being able to make a very quick advance ; for, owing Lo 

continuous hard work and the want of a staff of trained 
transport attendants, the numbers of animale had steadily 
diminished, and those that remained were for the most part 
sickly and out of condition. 

On the 16th of September I issued a Proclamation,' 

Be it known to all the Chiefs and the people of the country of &rbd 
and its dependencia that, in accordance with the Treaty concluded in 
May, 1879, corresponding to Jamdi-ul-Akhir 1296 Hijri, between the 
two great Governments, and to the terms of which Hie Highn- ths 
Amir exprewed his assent, and agreed to the location of an Envoy of 
Her Imperiel Majesty the Emprese, a British Envoy wae, at the lrpeckl 

requeet of His Highnew the Arnir, located at the Kabul Cdurt, and the 
Amir guaranteed that he should be treated honourably and protected. 

Withii six weeks after the said Envoy wee received d and entersd 
Kabul the whole Embassy wee besieged end maesaared in the very 
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copies of which I caused to be sent to the people of Kabul, 
Ghazni, and all the neighbouring tribes ; this, I hoped, 
would facilitate our advance, and reassure those who had 
bken no part in the attack on the Residenay. I also 
wrote a letter* to the maliku of the Logar valley, whose 
territory we must enter directly we had crossed the 

dtsdel of Hie Highness the Amir, who could not save or protect them 
from the hands of the soldiere and the people. From this, the lack of 
power of the .4mir and the weakneee of hie authority in his capital 
ibelf are quite apparent and manifest. For this reanon the British 
tmopa are advancing for the purpose of taking a public vengeance 
on behalf of the deceased an well M of obtaining satisfaction (tit., wn-  
nolidation) of the terms entered into m the Treaty concluded. The 
British troops arc entering Afghanistan for the purpose of strengthen- 
ing the royal authority of His H i i h n e ~  the Amir on condition that 
His Highnew loyally neee thoee powers for the maintenance of friend- 
ship and of amicable relations with the British Government. Thin is 
the only course by which the Amiis kingdom can remain intact, and 
(by which) dm the friendly eentimente and sincerity expreseed in hi. 
lettar of the 4th September, 1879, after the occurrence of the (said) 
event csn be proved. 

For the purpoee of removing any doubt about the conwrd of the two 
hvernmenta, the Amir han been addreeaed to depute a confidential 
agent to my camp. The British force will not punbh or injure anyone 
exccpt the persons who have taken part or joined in the meseeore of 
the Ernbssey unless they offer opposition. All the rest, the s d  and 
great, who are unconcerned (therein) may rest assured of thin. Carriage 
and mpplics of every description ehould be brought into the British 
camp. Full price and hire ahall be paid for everything that may be 
taken. \Thereas mercy and humanity are the characteristics of t h t  
p t  Government, this proclamstion b insued beforehand for the in- 
formation of the people at large. 

~ ~ N S U T X O N  OT A LETTBE TBOY MAJOB-C~NIBIL SIB FBUIIPIOP 
Romnrs TO CIBTIJW &kr O r  T E I  LOOAR VALLIT. 

Pmm the Proclamation already b a e d  by me, you will have learnt 
the reasons for the march of the British troop to Kabul. Her Majesty's 
Government, by the movement of troop, intends to exact retribution 
for the maanacre of her Embssey and to aid His Highne-ea the Bmir in 
redoring order. 

VOL. II. 46 
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Shutargardan, and whose co-operation I wee most anxiom 
to obtain. On the 18th I again wrote* to the Amir. 
encloeing copies of these two documents, and informing 
him that I wae still awaiting a reply to my first letter 
and the arrival of His Highneas'e confidential representa- 
tive ; that I hoped he would eoon iesue the necessary orders 
for the furtherance of our plans, and that he might reat 
assured of the support of the British Government. 

On the 19th September matters had so far progressed 
that I was able to tell the Viceroy that Brigadier-General 
Baker was entrenched with his brigade on the Shutar- 
gardan, and engaged in improving the road to Kushi, the 
first halting-place in the Logar valley; that supplies were 

being collected by means of 10-1 transport ; that I waa 
bringing up reserve ammunition and treasure from the 
rear on Artillery waggons ; and that every posaible effort 
was being made to render the force mobile. 

On the 20th I received the Amir's reply. He expreaeed 
regret that he was unable to come to Alikhel himself, but 
intimated that he was sending two confidential agents. hie 
Muetaufi (Finance Minister), Habibulla Khan, and hia 

Let all those not concerned in the massacre rest d, provided no 
oppoeition is shown. 

Hie Highneas the Amir, in communications received by me, e x p r e r a  
his hiendship, and wishes to continue amicable relations. A. the 
British troops under my command will shortly enter the L o p  P.IlsJ. 
I write to reaesuw you, and expect that yon will inform all the maidcum 
of the valley not concerned in the late hateful maseaew the purport d 
the Proclamation, and give every assistance in providing carriage .M1 
suppliee required for the troops, for which adequate hue  snd papant 
will be made. I hope that after the above aaaurance all the hedman 
will come to meet me in my camp, where I ahall be glad to them. 

* This letter is given in full in the Appendix. 
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Wezir (Prime Minister), Shah Mahomed Khan, who m r d -  
ingly emved the next day. 

At each interview I had with these gentlemen during 
the three days they remained in my camp, they impressed 
upon me that the Amir was inclined to be most friendly, 
and that hie only wieh was to be guided by the advice 
of the British Government. But, notwithstanding these 
plausible assurances, I soon discovered that Yakub Khan's 
real object in sending these wo high officials was to 
&op the advance of the force, and induce me to leave the 
punishment of the troops who had committed the massacre 
in the hands of the Afghan authorities. or elm to delay us 
long enough to give time for the whole country to rise 
against us. 

As the conversations which mere carried on at the 
meetings with the Afghan agents are interesting, and have 
an important bearing on the subsequent proceedings, I 
give in the Appendix the notes taken at the time by my 
Political Secretary. 

I was anxious to keep one of the Amir's representative8 
with me, but neither of them wee willing to remain, so I 
felt bound to let them both depart, taking with them the 
tollowing letter to the Amir : 

TO HIS H~@KNEsS TEE ~ X I B  OF ~ U L .  

Camp, Alikhel, 25th September, 1879. 

(After compliments.) I have received Your Highness's two letters of 
the 19th and 90th September (1st and 2nd Shawd), delivered to me 
by the hands of Your Highnees's two confidential repreeentatives, 
Yustaufi Habib* Khan and Wazir Shah Mahorned. 

I am much obliged to Your Highness for eendiq  me two moh well. 
lmown men, and of such oharacter as the Mustaufi and the Wazir. 
They have informed me of Your Highness's wishes, and I quite under- 
stand dl they have told me. It is unfortunate that the seeeon ie K, 
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late, and thet winter will soon be here; but there k yet time ta a 
British army to reach Kabul before the great cold seta in. 

The Vioeroy of India is much concerned that there should have been 
m y  delay in promptly aoceding to your EIighness's request for ndvice 
and atmistance, as conveyed in Your Highness's letters of the 8rd d 
4th instant. I t  was His Excellency's earnest wish that troop0 rhould 
march on Kabul at  once, so as to ensure Your Highness's p e W  
d e t y  and aid Your Highness in restoring peace and order at  ywr 
capital. 

Unfortunately, the want of traneport, and the necessity for collecting 
e certain amount of supplies, have caused a few weeks' delay ; it 4 
however, a source of gratification and happiness to the Vioeroy to IsM 
that Your Highness's safety is not a t  present endangered, and Hir 
Excellency trusts Your Highness will be able to keep eveq-thing quist 
in your kingdom, until such time as Britieh troop may resoh gsbrrL 

I am glad to be able to inform Your Highnesa that news reached me 
yesterday of the departure of a considerable force from h d e h u  
under the command of a brave and distingnished officer, and thrt a 
huge body of troop, under command of General Bright, were d- 
vancing rapidly from Peehawar to Jalalabad and onwerde oi6 G.nd.- 
mak to Kabul. My own force will, I hope, be in a atate b march 
before long. As Your Highnew is aware, the Shutargardan haa been 
occupied for some days. Meanwhile regiments of Cavalry and h h & y  
and batteriee of Artillerg! have reached Kuram b replace thow I un 
taking on with me, and to reinforce my own column should a ride 
for more troops arise-a contingency I do not in the leaat expect. 

The Viceroy of India, in Hie Excellency's anxiety for Your High- 
ness's welfare and safety, h u e d  orders that eaah of the three .rmia. 
now advancing from Kandahar, Kuram and the Khyber, should be 
strong enough to ovemome any oppoeition Your Highneae'e amnia 
oould poseibly offer. That each is strong enough there can be no 

I understand that there is no one a t  Kelat-i-Ghilzai or Ghazni to 
stop the progress of the troops m mute from Kandahar. There ia no 
renaon, therefore, why they ahodd not reachKabul in a very shorttime. 

The Khyber tribes, having understood and appreoiated the h t y  of 
peace made by Your Highness with the British Government in M.J 
laat, have unanimously agreed to assist the troope from P e a h a v u  in 
every way, and are now eager to keep the road through the Khybsr 
safe, and to place all their transport animnlR at  the d b p o d  of the 
British Commander, who will thna be enabled to concentrate his forw 
rapidly a t  Kabul. Through the kindness of Your Highnese I haw, ax- 
perienced much lese difaculty than I aould have expeated, and I umy 
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oa rerwmsbly hope to be with Your Highness a t  l& as mon M 

dther  the Kandahar or Khyber column. 
I look forward with great pleasure to the meeting with Your High- 

m, and trmt that you wil l  oontinue your kind essietanoe to obtain 
for me mapplies and transport. 

I have carefolly coneidend Your Highneee's p r o p o d  that you your- 
uelf &odd be permitted to administer just puniehment to the mutinoun 
&wpa and othera who ahared in the treacherous and cruel a t e  on 
the Britkh Envoy and hi s m d  ewort, and thus save Her Majeety'r 
troops the trouble, hardship, and privation which must neoeeecuily be 
amountered by an advmce on Knbul a t  this neeeon of the year. I 
rbrnk Yoor Highneea most cordially, on the part of the Viceroy and 
Qovenment of India, for this further p m f  of Your Highneee's friendly 
feslings. Under ordinary circumstances such an offer would be grate- 
tpny and wi l l i i ly  accepted, but after what has recently occurred, I 
feel sure that the greet British nation would not rest sstiefied unlew a 
BriLirh u m y  marched to Kabul and there twisted Your Hiihneee to 
iodict uroh punishments as M temMe and deetnrdly an act deserves. 

I have forwarded Your Highnew's letters in original to the Vioeroy ; 
aopy of this, my reply, will be wbmitted by to-day's poet for Hip 

EscellOnagJa ooluideration. Meanwhile I have permitted Mustaufi 
Ffsbibull. Uen m d  Wazir Shah Mahomed to take their leave and 
rejoin Your Highness. 

I delayed my own departure from Alikhel until a 
snfficiency of supplies had been collected at Kushi, and 
everything was ready for as rapid an advance on Kabul as  
my limited transport would admit of; for, so long as I 
remained behind, the people of Afghanistan could not be 
sure of my intentions, and no doubt hoped that the Amir's 
remonstrances would have the desired effect, and prevent 
our doing more than occupying the Shutargardan, or 
making a demonstration toward Kushi. My crossing the 
paee would, I knew, be the signal for all those determined 
on opposition to assemble; it was politic, therefore, to 
m a i n  behind until the last moment. 

When all arrangements were complete, so firr ae wee 
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possible with the means at my disposel, I issued the 
following Field Force Order : 

' The Government of India having deoided that a force W proceed 
with all poesible despatch to Kabd, in reeponse to Hie. H i g h  the 
Amir's appeal for aid, and with the object of avenging the M y  
murder of the British representative and his eecort, Sir Fdmiak 
Roberts feela sure that the troops under hie command will respond to 
the call with a determination to prove themselves worthy of the high 
reputation they have maintained during the recent campaign. 

The Major-General need address no worde of exhortation to ml&m 
whose courage and fortitude have been ao well proved The Afghan 
tribes are numerous, but without organization ; the regular srmy i. nn- 
dieciplined, and whatever may be the disparity in numbern, ouch fore 
can never be formideble to British troop. The dictatee of h d t y  
require that a dietinction should be made between the pemxdle in- 
habitants of Afghanistan and the treecherous murderers for whom a 
just retribution is in store, and 8i Frederick Roberta deaka to imp- 
upon dl ranks the necessity for treating the unoffending popnktioa 
with justice, forbearance, and clemency. 

The future comfort and well-being of the force depend largely ao 
the friendliness of our relations with the &tricte fmm which mpplia 
must be drawn ; prompt payment is enjoined for all articles purchmd 
by departmente and individuals, and all &putee must be at onae 
referred to a political offioer for deoiaion. 

'The Major-General confidently looh forward to the o u d  
accomplinhment of the object of the expedition, and the eatrblishmen( 
of order and a settled Government in Afghanieha' 



CHAPTER L. 

ON the 27th September I made over the Kuram commend 
to Brigadier-General T. Gordon, and set out for Kushi, 
where Baker was now encamped. 

Just before I started I had the pleasure of welcoming 
my old friend and brother o5cer, Major - General J. 
Hille, V.C., C.B., who had been with Sir Donald Stewart 
as Assistant Adjutant-General from the beginning of the 
campaign, and who had, the moment he heard there wea 
to be an advance on Kabul, come with all speed to p h  
hie services at my disposal. Although I had no employ- 
ment for Hills at the time, there would be plenty for all to 
do at Kabul, and I was delighted to have so good a soldier 
with me. 

My escort consisted of the Head-Quarters of the Cavalry 
brigade, one squadron 9th Lancers, 5th Punjab Cavelry, 
and detachments of the 5th and 28th Punjab Infantry. 
We had only gone about halfway through the pass when 
I pushed on with the Cavalry, in the hope of reaching 
the camp on the top before dark, and was very won met 
by twenty-five men of the 92nd Highlanders, who brought 
me e note from Colonel Perkina, R.E., in command on 
the Shutergerdan, warning me that we were sure to 
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be attacked. We had not proceeded far, when at the 
narrowest part of the defile we found the passage blocked 
by some 2,000 Afghans, and as we approached a volley wee 
fired from a party concealed by some rocks on our left. 
I was told afterwards that it was intended for me, but 
I remained unscathed, and the principal medical officer, Dr. 
Townsend, who was riding on my right, and to whom I wae 
talking at the moment, was severely wounded. The High- 
landers, supported by some dismounted Cavalry, cleared 
away the enemy to the north, but as they clung to the 
precipitous hills on the south, we had to wait bill the 
main body of the escort came up, when they were speedily 
dispersed. 

Meanwhile, a sharp little engagement had taken place 
further up the gorge, and as we advanced we could see the 
enemy retiring before a detachment of the 92nd High- 
landers, under Colour-Sergeant Hector blacdonald, and of 
the 3rd Sikhs, under Jemadar Sher Mahomed, a Sative of 
Kabul. The manner in which the Colour-Sergeant and the 
Native officer handled their men gave me a high opinion of 
them both.* 

On the top of the Shutargardan Pass that evening I 
received the Amir's replyt to my last letter, in which he 

* Macdonald, having subsequently further distinguished himeelf. 
was given a commission, and is now commanding a regiment in the 
Egyptian Army. Sher Mahomed was rewarded with the Order of 
Merit. 

t FROM THE A L ~ B  OF KABUL, DATED   US EX, WTR SEPTEHBEE, 
1879. 

(After compliments.) Tour friendly letter has reached me jast at thb 
6 moment. 8 p.m., the 10th Shawal (27th September), and o p e d  
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expreseed his gratitude for the sympathy and support 
afforded him by the British Government, and informed me 
that he had given orders to the Governor of Jalalabad that 
the Khyber column should not meet with any opposition. 
I wes elm given a letter from Sirdar Wali Mahomed Khan, 
and eeveral other Sirdare, professing loyalty to the British 
Government, and expressing p l w u r e  at my approach. 
And at the same time the rather embarrassing information 
d e d  me that the Amir, desiring personal communication 
with me, had already amved in General Baker's camp 
a t  Knehi, attended by his son Musa Khan, a lad about 
seven years old, his father-in-law, and the Commander-in- 
Chief of the Afghan army (Daud Shah), with a suite of 
4.5 members and an escort of 200 men. 

the doon of joy and happineee on the face of my heart marked with 
.bsaYon. I feel perfectly certain and confident thst the movements 
of Ber Imperial Majesty's victorious troops are merely for the pur- 
pow of consolidating the foundation of my kingdom and strengthening 
the baain of my government. 

I n  truth, the sympathy of friends with friends is fitting m d  proper, 
d the indulgence and kindnew of a great Government to e eincere 
.nd faithful friend are agreeable and pleacling. I am exceedingly grati- 
fied with, and thankful to, the representatives of the illnatrious British 
Government for their expre~ion of sympathy and their support of my 
cause. Your friendly and wiee eug~lestion that none of tho ignorant 
tribea of Afghaoietan should oppose the British troops, eo that the 
omben of the B r i a  Oorernment should be the better able to mpport 
md proteot me, in very acceptable and reasonable. Before I received 
your letter, I had sent orders repeatedly to the Governors of Jalelebad 
and L.lpum not to let anyone oppose or resist the British troop, and 
.tringent orden have agdn been issued to the Governor of JaLlpbad 
to aw hir n h w t  endenvonrs and efforta in this reepeot. The order in 
poodion to the n d b w  of the Governor of Jalalabad will be shown you 
to-morrow, and sent by m expreee courier. 
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Although I had met with but slight opposition hitherto, 
it was evident from the secret information I received that 
the Ghilzais were inclined to be hostile, and intended to 
oppose us, and as it was important to keep open com- 
munication with Alikhel through their country, I arranged 
for the Shutargardan to be held by a Mountain battery, 
the 3rd Sikhs, and , t h e  21st Punjab Infantry, under 
the command of Lieutenant-Colonel G. N. Money, an 
officer on whose judgment and coolness I knew I could 
rely. 

The next morning I rode to Kushi, where my first inter- 
view with the Amir of Afghanistan took place. 

I cannot say that I was favourably impressed by hie 
appearance. He was an insignificant-looking man, about 
thirty-two years of age, with a receding forehead, a conical- 
shaped head, and no chin to speak of, and he gave me the 
idea of being entirely wanting in that force of character 
without which no one could hope to govern or hold in 
check the warlike and turbulent people of Afghanistan. 
He was possessed, moreover, of a very shifty eye, he could 
not look one straight in the face, and from the first I felt 
that his appearance tallied exactly with the doubledealing 
that had been imputed to him. His presence in my camp 
was a source of the gravest anxiety to me. He wma 
constantly receiving and sending messages, end wae no 
doubt giving his friends at Kabul all the information he 
could collect as to our resources and intentions. He 
had, however, come ostensibly aa our ally, seeking refuge 
from his mutinous soldiers, and whatever suspicions I 
might secretly entertain, I could only treat him as an 



HI # Y A K U B  KHAN 203 
- - - 

honoured guest, so long as there was nothing proved 
ageinet him. 

My first visit to Yakub Khan was of a formal character. 
Nevertheless, he seized the opportunity to urge strongly 
upon me the advieability of delaying my advance, that he 
might have time, he said, to restore order amongst his 
troope, and to punish those who had participated in the 
attack on the Embassy. I replied that my orders were 
peremptory, and that it was my duty, as it wee my de- 
termination, to press on to Kabul with all possible speed. 
Finding that his arguments had no effect, he changed his 
tactics, and declared that he was much alarmed for the 
safety of hie family, whom he had left in the Bale Hisear ; 
that he had only one regiment on which he could de- 
pend; that he feared when the others should hear of 
our approach they would break out and attack the 
citadel; and that the innocent people in Ksbul, not con- 
sidering it possible that a British force could get there 
so quickly, had made no arrangements to convey their 
Eamiliee away. 

Feeling that anxiety for the safety of the families was 
not the true cause for the Amir's efforts to delay us, and 
that hie sole object was to gain time for the development of 
plans for opposing our advance-which subsequent events 
proved had been made with great care- I told him it 
was impossible to accede to his wishes, but that time would 
be given for all women and children to clear out of the city 
if it should prove necessary to attack it. This necessity, 
however, I was most anxious to avoid, and earnestly hoped 
that our fighting would be over before we entered Kabul, 
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for I had not forgotten Delhi, and I dreaded the iden of 
the troops having to force their way through narrow etreete 
and crowded bazaars. 

Yekub Khan was evidently much chagrined et my 
deoision. He had left Kabul hurriedly, his movemente 
probably being hastened by hearing that his uncle, W d i  
Mahomed Khan, and several other Sirdars with whom he 
was at enmity, were on their way to join me. He had not 
even brought a tent with him, and, bad he succeeded in 
inducing me to delay our advance, he would without doubt 
have returned to Kabul at once. As it was, he was sccom- 
modated with a tent in the centre of the camp, and the 
best arrangements possible, under the circumstances, msde 
for his entertainment. 

When his own tents arrived, he asked leave to have them 
pitched outside camp limits. To this I consented, e t  the 
same time ordering that a guard of the same strength ee 
my own should be detailed as his escort, ostensibly to do 
him honour, but in reality that I might be kept informed 
as to his movements. Unwelcome guest as he wee, I 
thought the least of two evils was to keep him now that 
we had got him, as his presence in Kabul would be sure 
to increase the opposition I felt certain we should en- 
counter. 

In response to the fears expressed by the Amir as to 
the *fity of the non-combatants, I issued the following 
Proclamation to the people of Kabul: 

' Be it known to all t h t  the British Army is advancing on Kabul to 
take posseasion of the city. If it be allowed to do 60 peaoefany, well 
end good ; if not, the city will be seized by forca Therefore, dl well- 
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dispowd permno, who have tnken no part in the U a r d l y  murder bf 

the British Envoy, or in the plunder of the Reeidency, are warned that, 
if they are unable to prevent resistanoe being offered to the entranoe of 
the British army, and the authority of His Highnegs the Amir, they 
&odd make immediate arrangements for their own ~ f e t y ,  eithca by 
aoming to the Britieh camp, or by such other measures aa may seem 
5t  to them. And as the British Government doe8 not make war on 
wornen and children, warning is given that all women and children 
&odd be removed from the city beyond the reach of ham. The 
British Government desires to treat all cleeses with justice, and to 
raopect their religion, f e e l i i ,  and oustoms, while exacting fidl retri- 
bution from offenders. Every effort will, therefore, be made to prevent 
the innocent suffering with the guilty, but it is necessary that the utmost 
precaution should be taken against useless opposition. 

' After receipt of this Proclamation, therefore, all persons found armed 
in or about Kabul wil l  be treated as enemies of the British Government; 
and. further, it must be diltinctly understood that, if the entry of the 
British force is r e a i d ,  I cannot hold myself responsible for any m i -  
dental injury which may be done to the persona or property of even 
wellatposed people, who may have negleoted this warning.' 

At the same time, the matter having been brought to 
my notice by Lord Lytton, and bearing in my mind that 
my father had told me one of the chief causes of the 
outbreak in Kabul in 1841 was the Afghans' jealousy of 
their women, and resentment a t  the European soldiers' 
intimmy with them, I thought it well to impress npon a11 
the neceeeity for caution in this respect by publishing the 
following Order : 

'Sii Frederick Roberta desires General offlcers, and offlcers com- 
muulinp aorps, to impreas npon all of3aers under their command the 
neceuity for constant vigilanw in preventing irreguleritiea likely to 
amum the personal jealousies of the people of Kabul, who are, of all 
rams, most susceptible as regards their women. 

The deep-seated animosity of the Afghans towards the English hss 
been mainly ascribed to indiscretions committed during the first occu- 
prtion of Kabul, and the Major-General trneta that the same excellent 
U p l i n e  so long exhibited by the troop under hin command wi l l  
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remove the prejudioes of paat years, and cause the British name to be 
m highly reepeoted in Afghanistan es it is throughout the oivilieed 
world.'* 

On the 80th September (my forty-seventh birthday), all 
arrangements which it was possible for me to make having 
been completed, the Cavalry brigade marched eight miles to 
Zargunshahr, the first halting-place on the way to Kabul. 
I accompanied it, for I was informed that Wali Mahomed 
Khan and the Sirdars had arrived so far, and I could not 
let them come on to my camp so long as the Amir was still 
in it. I wished, also, to interview the Logar maliks and 
ascertain whether I could procure supplies from their 
valley. There was bread-stuff with the force sufficient for 
fourteen days, but for the transport of so much grain e 

large number of animals was required, which could ill be 
spared, for carriage was so ehort that I could only move a 
little more than half the troops at one time, and instead 
of being able to march direct on Kabul with 6,000 men, a 
halt would have to be made every other day to admit of 
the animals going back to bring up the rear brigade, which 
practically meant my only having a t  my disposal rather 
more than half that number at any one time. How 
fervently I wished that those in authority, who never can 
eee the necessity for maintaining transport in time of 
peace, could be made to realize the result of their short- 
sightedness-the danger of having to divide a none too 

It wss s matter of intense gratification to me that the whole time 
we remained in Afghaniatan, nearly two years, not a single compldat 
wes made by an Afghan of any eoldier in my force having interfered 
with the women of the country. 
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large force in an enemy's country, the consequent riek 
of M u r e ,  the enormous increaae of anxiety to the Com- 
mander, the delay in achieving the object of the cam- 
paign, and the additional labour to all concerned in an 
undertaking, arduous enough under the most favourable 
circumstances, in a difficult country, and under a burning 
eeetern sun, even if poseessed of good and sufficient trans- 

PO*. 
Stores had been collected at Kushi partly by means of 

10-1 carriage, and pertly by our own animals doing the 
journey twice over from Alikhel, a distance of thirty-six 
milee. 80 hard pressed wea I for transport that I had to 
make the Cavalry eoldiers march on foot and lead their 
horsea laden with grain-an unusual piece of duty, 
which wea, however, performed with the cheerful alacrity 
which the troops of the Kabul Field Force always die- 

p w e d .  
But ell thie is a digression. To return to my story. 

The malib of Loger, greatly to my relief, agreed to bring 
s certain amount of supplies; while Wali Mahomed 
Khan and the other Sirdars were full of proteetations 
of loyelty and devotion. Most of them remained with me 
all the time I wea in Kabul, and .some of them afforded 
me considerable assistance. The Sirdars warned me 
to plece no trust in the Amir, and enlarged on the 
treachery of hie conduct, but as I knew they looked 
upon Yakub Khan ea their own deadly enemy, I w p t e d  
their counsel with some reservation. I was not, how- 
ever, able to feel quite a t  ease about the prowedings of 
my Royal guest, BO I returned to Kushi that same evening. 
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On the let October the whole of the Kabul Field Form 
was assembled in the Logar valley.* 

I waited at Kushi with the last of the Infantry until 
the morning of the 2nd. Just aa I waa leaving camp, I 
became aware that firing was going on in the direction of 
the Shutargardan, and later in the day I received a report 
from Colonel Money as to what had happened there. 

The enemy, emboldened by the diminished numbere of 
the garrieon, and undervaluing what might be accomplished 
by a small number of good soldiers, had aseembled in force, 
and occupied the crest of the mountain, the only p l w  
from which heliographic communication with me could be 
kept up. Money very properly decided that this wuld 
not be permitted, and considered it best to take the 

* The force was made up as follows : 

Divisional, Brigade, and Departmental 8tdT 
F/A, R.H.A. - 
G/8, R.A. - - 
No. 2 Mountain Battery - - 
Two Oatling guns - - 
8th Lancers (one squadroq) - - 
6th Punjab Cavalry - - 
12th Bengal Cavalry - - 
14th Bengal Lanoere - - 
67th Foot - - 
72nd Highlanders - - 
82nd Highlanders - - 
6th Pnn'ab Infantry - - 
6th Gnrkhss - - 
Brd Pioneers - 
28th Punjab Infant - 
7th Company B e d  8appen'and ~ k a  - 

- -  

Brttl.b 
Odicsn. 

60 
7 
7 
8 
1 
4 
7 
6 
7 

18 
%a 
17 
8 
7 
6 
8 
8 

lea 

OtharR.nlcr 

Brltbh. 
--- 

118 
187 

84 
118 

686 
740 
717 

a 
.-- 

a,am 

Native. 

238 

826 
818 
401 

610 
674 
671 
688 
9t3 

8,ee.r 
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initiative before the enemy should become still stronger, 
eo ordered en advance. Under cover of the Mountain 
battery's fire, Major Griffiths, of the 3rd Sikhs, with 200 
of hie own men and 60 of the 2lst Punjab Infantry, 
supported by 150 rifles of the latter corps, stormed the 
Afghans' position. The aaaault, delivered in a most 
spirited manner, waa perfectly successful. Major Gra ths ,  
however, was wounded, also a signalling sergeant of the 
67th Foot and five men of the 3rd Sikhs, while the 
enemy left thirty dead on the ground, and were pursued 
down the dope of the hill without making any attempt to 
rally. 
On the 3rd we marched fifteen miles to Zahidabad, 

where we first came in sight of the fortified hill above 
Kabal. The rear guard was fired into on the way, and we 
had considerable dii3iculty in croseing the Logar river, an 
the water from a large irrigation cut had been directed 
bsck into the stream just above the ford. Our only casualty 
on thb day p a  Captain ' Dick ' Kennedy, who was wounded 
in the hand. 

I t  wae plain from these occurrences, and from the 
attack on the Shutargardan, that the people generally 
were not diepoeed to be friendly. From the Amir I could 
extract no information on this head, although he must 
have been fully aware of the feelings and intentions of hie 
eubjecta He was in constant communication with Kabul, 
mnd waa frequently being met by mounted messengers, who, 
trom the haste with which they travelled, as evidenced 
by the exhausted state of their horses and the eagerness 
with which the Amir read the letters they brought, 
appeared to be the bearers of important tidings. 

VOL. IL 46 
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It may be imagined how irritating and embarrassing was 
Yakub Khan's presence, since his position in my camp 
enabled him to give the leaders at Kabul accurate in- 
formation as to our numbers and movements. That he felt 
pretty sure of our discomfiture was apparent from his 
change of manner, which, from being at first a mixture of 
extreme cordiality and cringing servility, became as we 
neared Kabul dietant and even haughty. 

On the 5th October, one month from the receipt at Simla 
of the evil tidings of the fate of the British Embassy, we 
reached the pretty little village of Charasia, nestling in 
orchards and gardens, with a rugged range of hills bower- 
ing above it about a mile away. This range descended 
ebruptly on the right to permit the exit of the Logar 
river, and rose again on its other side in precipitoue 

' cliffs, forming a fine gorge* about halfway between our 
camp and Kabul city, now only from ten to twelve milee 
distant. 

An uncle of the Amir (Sirdar Nek Mahosled Khan), 
and a General in the Afghan army, came out to meet 
Yakub Khan at this place; he remained some time 
in earnest conversation with his nephew, and, as he wae 
about to remount his horse, called out in so loud a tone 
that it was evidently meant for us all to hear, that he was 
' now going to disperse the troops.'t Very different, how- 

* Known ss the rang-i-nawishta (inscribed stone). 
t Shortly after I waa wttled at Kabul, the following letter, written 

by Kek hIaholned on the evening of the day he had been with the 
Amir, to some person whom he wiahed to acquaint with the sbte of 
&airs, waa brought to me : 

MY KIND FBIEND,-T~~ truth in that to-day, at sunrise, I went w 
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ever, was the story brought to me by an escaped Native 
servant of Cavagnari's, who came into our camp later in 
the day. This man declared that preparations for fighting 
were steadily being camed on ; that the soldiers and towns- 
people were streaming into the arsenal and supplying 
themselves with cartridges ; that large bodies of troops were 
moving out in our direction ; and that, when we advanced 
next day, we should certainly be opposed by a formidable 
force. The Amir, on having this intelligence communicabd 
to him, pretended to disbelieve it utterly, and assured me  
that all was at peace in the city, that Nek Mahomed would 
keep the troops quiet, and that I should have no trouble ; 
but I waa not taken in by his specious assurances. 

Now more than ever I felt the want of sufficient 
transport ! Had it been possible to have the whole of my 
force with me, I should have advanced at once, and have 
occupied that evening the range of hills I have described ; 
but Macpherson's brigade was still a march behind, and all 
I could do was, immediately on arrival, to send back every 
available transport animal to bring it up. I pushed forward 
Cavalry patrols along the three roads leading to Kabul, and 
rode out myself to reconnoitre the position in front. I t  
ree sufficiently strong to make me wish I had a larger 
force. Towards evening groups of men appeared on the 

rbs a m p ,  the Amir having summoned me. When I arrived, Mull. 
8h.h Mahomed [the Wscir] h t  eaid to me, "Go beck and tell the 
people to rdse a holy war." I did not feel certain about whet he said 
[or M not setiefied with thin], [but] the Amir afterwards bold me to 
go back that very hour and rouse the people to a ghaaa. I got back to 
Kabul &out 7 o'clook, and am colleoting the people. 9elaem.' 

The letter wee not a d d r e d ,  but it wee eealed with Nek Mahomed's 
d, d there WM no reason to doubt itn authenticity. 
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skyline all round, giving unmistakeble warning that the 
tribes were gathering in large numbers. 

From the information brought me by the Cevelry, and 
from my own examination of the ground, I decided to 
advance along the left bank of the river ; and to f d i a t e  
this movement I determined to seize the heights on either 
side of the gorge at daybreak, whether bhphereon's 
brigade had arrived or not. That night strong piqneta 
were thrown out round the camp, and Cavalry petrole 
were ordered to proceed at dawn to feel for the enemy. 
L'homme propose, mois Dieu dispos4. 



CHAPTER LI. 

TEB Cavalry having reported that the road through the 
sang-i-nawuhta gorge was impassable, I started off a party* 
before it wae fully light on the 6th, to work at it and make 
it precticeble for guns. I was preparing to follow with an 
escort of Cavalry to examine the pass and the ground 
beyond, when the growing daylight diecovered large numbers. 
of Afghen troops in regular formation crowning the hills 
thet I ought to have been in a poeition to occupy the pre- 
ceding evening. No hurry, no confusion was apparent in 
their movements ; positions were taken up and guns placed 
with such coolness and deliberation that it was evident 
regularly trained troops were employed. Very soon I 
received reports of our Cavalry patrols having been fired 
upon, and of their having been obliged to retire. 

Immediate action was imperatively necessary ; the 
Afghans had to be dislodged from their strong poeition at 
m y  cost, or we should have been surrounded by over- 
whelming numbers. Their occupation of the heighte wae, 

h t y  dm, 9th Lancers, one squadron 6th Punjab Cavalry, 
ha F, NO. 2 Mountain battery, 284 rifles, 92nd Highlanders, 
4 460 riflm, Brd Pioneers. 
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I felt, a warning that must not be dieregarded, and a 
menace that could not be brooked. 

Behind this range of hills lay the densely-crowded city 
of Kabul, with the scarcely less crowded suburbs of 
Chardeh, Deh-i-Afghan, and numberless villages thickly 
studded over the Kabul valley, all of which were con- 
tributing their quota of wamors to assist the Regular 
troops in disputing the advance of the British. I t  did 
not require much experience of ~qiatics to understand 
that, if the enemy were allowed to remain undisturbed for 
a single night in the position they had taken up, their 
numbers would increase to an extraordinary extent. 

I now received a report from the rear that the road woe 
blocked, and that the progress of Macphereon's brigade 
would certainly be opposed; while, on the creskn of the 
hills to the right and left of my camp, bodiee of men began 
to assemble, who, I surmised (which surmise I a f t emarb  
learnt was correct), were only waiting for the sun to go 
.down to make o general attack upon the camp under oover 
of dusk. 

The situation was one of great anxiety. The whole force 
with me was not more than 4,000 men and eighteen guns. 

The treacherous Amir and his equally treacherous Ministere 
had, of course, kept the Afghan Commander fully informed 
as to the manner in which my troops were perforce divided; 
the position of every man and every gun with me wsa 

known ; and I feared that, as soon as we were engaged 
with the enemy, the opportunity would be taken to attack 

my weakly-defended camp and to engage Macphereon'e 
small brigade, encumbered as it wee with its large convoy 
of stores and ammunition. 
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The numbers of the enemy were momentarily increas- 
ing, eo delay would assuredly make matters worse; the 
only chance of auccees, therefore, was to take the initia- 
tive, and attack the Afghan main position at once. 
Accordingly, I sent an officer with orders to the troops 
who were moving towards the gorge not to commence 
work, but to take up a defensive position until my 
plane were further developed. I sent another messenger 
to Macpherson, informing him of my intention to take 
immediate action, and telling him to keep a good look- 
out, and push on to Charasia with all possible speed, 
and at the a m e  time I reinforced him by a squadron of 
Cavalry. 

The Afghan position formed the arc of a circle, extend- 
ing from the aang-i-natciahta gorge to the heights above 
Chardeh. Both sides of the gorge were occupied by the 
enemy, as was a semi-detached hill to the muth of it, and 
sixteen guns were observed in position. The line they had 
taken up occupied nearly three miles of country; and 
their main position was the ridge, which, close to the 
gorge, rose 1,000 feet above the plain, running up at its 
weetern extremity to a peak 2,200 feet high. Thence the 
line stretched along the edge of some lower heights to a 
rugged hill, the summit of which was about 1,800 feet 
above Charasia. In front of this formidable position were 
a aucceesion of sandy hills, forming a series of easily 
defensible posts, and at the foot of these hills ran a bare 
stony belt, sloping down to the cultivated land surrounding 
Charaeia and the hamlet of Khairabad. 

My movements and reconnaiesances up till now having 
led the enemy to believe that I intended to deliver my 
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attack on their left at the sang-i-natciahtu, they were wen 
to be concentrating their forces in that direction. But this 
p i t i o n  could only have been carried with such dmmghq 
loss to us that I determined to make the real attack by an 
outflanking movement to their right. 

The men having made a hasty breakfaet, I despatched 
General Baker in this direction, and placing at hie dia- 
poeel the troops noted below,. I entrusted to him the 
difficult task of dislodging the enemy, while I continued 
to distract their attention towards the gorge by making a 
feint to their left. 

Baker's little column assembled in a wooded encloenre 
close to Charasis, where he left his field hospital and 
reserve ammunition, for the eefe guarding of which I 
sent him the 6th Punjab Infantry, while he wes further 
reinforced by 450 men of the 28rd Pioneers and three Field 
Artillery guns. I was thus left with only six Horse Artillery 
guns, 450 Cavalry, and between 600 and 700 Infantry for 
the protection of the camp, where I was still handicapped 
by the presence of the Amir and his untrustworthy 
following. 

While Baker advanced to the left, the party near the 
sang-i-natrziehta gorge, commanded by Major White, of 
the 92nd Highlanders, was ordered to threaten the pase 
and to prevent the enemy occupying any portion of the 
Charasia village, to advance within Artillery range of the 
enemy's main position above the gorge, and when the ont- 

* Two guns, No. 2 Mountain battery, two Oatling gum, detseh- 
ment 12th Bengal Cavalry, 72nd Highlanders, 6th Gurkhse (800 
rifles), 6th Punjab Infantry (200 rifles), No. 7 Company Sapperr 
and Ninern. 
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flanlting movement had been thoroughly developed and 
the enemy were in full retreat, but not before, to push the 
Cavalry through the gorge and pursue. 

At about 11.80 a.m. Baker's leading troops emerged 
into the open, and were immediately engaged with a crowd 
of armed Afghans, supported by a considerable body of 
aegnlar troops. The General now sent one company of 
t h e  7%d, under Captain Hunt, to turn the Afghans off a 
w&on of peaks situated at right angles to the ridge 
they were occupying on their extreme right. Running 
d o n g  this ridge, and stretching acrom the Indiki road to 
the sandhills, the Afghan right wing held a line con- 
eiderably in advance of their left on the hill above the 
urng-i-minhta gorge, and. one which could not easily 
be turned, for the peaks the 72nd were sent to occupy 
were almost inaccessible, and the fire from them swept 
the slopes up which our troops must advance. Them 
peaks, therefore, formed the key of the position, and their 
defenders had to be dislodged from them at all hazards 
before anything else could be attempted. The company of 
the 72nd with much difficulty fought their way up, and 
gained a footing on the first peak, where they were obliged 
to peuse, until reinforced by two companies of the 6th 
Gurkhas under Captain Cook, V.C. ; when they advanced 
all together, clearing the enemy from each successive 
point, while the remainder of the 72nd breasted the hill, 
and, under cover of the Mountain guns, attacked the 
poeition in front. But the enemy were obstinate, and the 
extremely difficult nature of the ground somewhat checked 
the gallant Highlanders. Seeing their dilemma Baker 
despatched two companies of the 5th Gurkhas, under Lieu- 
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tenant-Colonel Fitahugh, and 200 men of the 6th Punjab 
Infantry, under Captain Hall, to their aeeietance ; while 
the 28rd Pioneers were brought up on the right, in support, 
and a detachment of the 6th Punjab Infantry echeloned in 
rear, on the left of the line. 

The engagement now became hot, and the firing faat 
and furious. My readers will, I am eure, be able to 
realize with what intense excitement and anxiety I watched 
the proceedings. I t  was evident to me that little progreee 
could be made so long as the enemy retained powmion of 
the ridge, which the Afghan Commander apparently had 
juet begun to appreciate was the real point of attack, for hh 
troops could now be eeen hurrying to thie point, and it 
became more urgently necessary than ever to carry the 
position before it could be reinforced. At 2 p.m. it wae 
eeized ; the Highlandere and Gurkhas could no longer be 
resisted ; the Afghans wavered, and then began to retreet, 
exposed to a cross-fire that effectually prevented their 
rallying. 

The brunt of this affair was borne by the 72nd, admir- 
ably led by their company officers, under the skilful 

. direction of Lieutenant-Colonel Clarke and his Adjutant, 
Lieutenant Murray. I closely watched their movemenle, 
and particularly observed one man pushing up the pre: 
cipitous hillside considerably in advance of everyone elm, 
and apparently utterly regardless of the shower of bulleta 
falling round him. I inquired about him later on, end 
found that he was a young Irish private of the 7 b d ,  
named MacMahon, to whose coolness and daring waa in a 

great measure due the capture of this very strong poet. 
Her Majesty, I nm glad to be able to relate, subaequantly 
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rewarded this intrepid soldier by bestowing on him the 
Yictoria Croee. 

The general advance was now sounded, and gallantly 
was it responded to. The main position wss stormed by 
the Highlanders, Gurkhas and Punjab Infantry, each trying 
hard to be the first to close with its defenders. The enemy 

fought deeperately, charging down on the Gurkhas, by 
whom, under the leadership of Lieutenant-Colonel Fits- 
Hugh and hie Adjutant, Lieutenant Martin, they were 
repulsed and driven over the crest with heavy loss. 

The Afghans now took up a position some 600 yards in 
the rear of that from which they had just been dislodged, 
where they made an obstinate s t h d  for half an hour, but 
they were again forced back on the attacking party being 
Btrengthened by the arrival of two companies of the 92nd 
Highlanders, sent to their assistance by Major White, who 
had already successfully engaged the Afghan left above the 
mag-i-nawiahta gorge. As the enemy's advanced posts on 
the hill to the south, and directly in front of the gorge, 
prevented our guns from coming within range of their 
poeition on the heights above, these p s t s  had to be die- 
posed of aa a preliminary to effective co-operation with 
Baker; accordingly, about noon the hill was captured by 
two companies of the 92nd, under Captain Cotton, and 
half a battery of Field Artillery was advanced to a point 
whence Major Parry was able to sngage the Afghan guns 
poeted above the gorge. 

I t  wee at this juncture, when Baker's troops, having 
carried the main position, were proceeding to attack that 
to which the enemy had retreated, that White despatched 
two companies of the 92nd. under Captain Oxley, by 
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whose timely aid the determined foe were a t  length driven 
from this point of vantage also. The troops followed up 
their success and advanced at the double, while our gnne 
shelled the shaken masses. 

The Afghan right and centre now gave way completely; 
the enemy broke, and fled down the slope on the further 
side in a north-westerly direction, eventually taking refuge 
in the Chardeh villages. 

By 3.45 we were in possession of the whole of the main 
ridge. The first objective having been thus gained, the 
troops, pivoting on their right, brought round their left 
and advanced against the now exposed flanks of the 
enemy's left wing, and simultaneously with this move- 
ment White advanced from his position by the hill in 
front of the gorge, and a little after four o'clock had 
gained possession of the pass and twelve Afghan guns. 

Completely outflanked and enfiladed by Baker's fire, the 
left wing of the Afghan force made but little reeietanca; 
they rapidly abandoned the height, and retired across the 
river towards the north-east, pursued by the small body of 
Cavalry attached to White's force, under Major Hammond, 
and a party of the 92nd, under Major Hay. 

Baker now paused to allow of the Infantry's ammu- 
nition being replenished, and then advanced along the 
ridge towards the pass, which he reached in time to help 
the Cavalry who were engaged with the enemy's rear guard 
at the river ; the latter were driven off and forced to retreat ; 
but by this time the growing darknees made further pursuit 
impossible. We were therefore compelled to rest satisfied 
with holding the ground in advance by piquets and occupy- 
ing both ends of the sarlg-i-~lawishta defile, where the 
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troop bivouacked for the night. I was able to supply 
them with food from Charasia, and they were made as 
comfortable as they could be under the circumstances. 

While the fighting was taking place on the heights in 
front of Charasia, the hills on both flanks of my camp were 
crowded with the enemy, anxiously watching the result ; 
they did not approach within the Cavalry patrols, but one 
perty caused eo much annoyance to a piquet by firing into 
it that it became necessary to dislodge it, a service which 
was performed in a very daring manner by a few of the 
-d, under Lieutenant Grant and Colour-Sergeant Hector 
Meodonald, the same non-commissioned officer who had a 
few days before BO distinguished himself in the Hasar- 
d a d  t defile. 

Our casualtiee were wonderfully few, only 18 killed 
and 70 wounded,* while the enemy left 300 dead behind 
them, and a s  they succeeded in carrying numbers of , 

their killed and wounded off the field, their loss must 
have been heavy. I subsequently ascertained that we 
hod opposed to us, beaides thirteen Regular regimente, 
between eight and ten thouaand Afghans. Ghileaie from 
Teain and Hieerek had hurried up in large numbers to join 
the enemy, but, luckily for us, amved too late. Of these, 

+ During the fight the Infantry expended 41,090 rounde, of whbh 
m !20,000 wore fired by the 72ud Highlanders. The hdf-battery, 
O/8 R.A., fired 6 oommon &ell (percudon fwcs) and 71 b p n e l  
(time h); total, 77 rounde. No. 1 Mountain Battery fired 10 
amxnon hell and 94 b p n e l  ; btd ,  104 ronnde. The two a- 
hd 160 round.. 

A$ ths tenth round one of the Oatlingo jammed, and hd b be taken 
to pimom. ThL WM the first d o n  on whioh Oatling gnes were 
ord in .ation. They were not of the pnwent improved d o ,  and, 
bdng totmd mrutidaatory, were mde but little rue 01. 



222 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA 

some returned to their homes when they found the Afghan 
army had been beaten, but the greater number waited about 
Kabul to assist in any further stand that might be made by 
the Regular troops. 

The heliograph, worked by Captain Stratton, of the 22nd 
Foot, had been of the greatest use during the day, and kept 
me fully informed of all details. The last message aa the 
sun was sinking behind the hills, confirming my own 
observations, was a most satisfactory one, to the effect that 
the whole of the enemy's position was in our posseeaion, 
and that our victory was complete. 

Throughout the day my friend (!) the Amir, surrounded 
by his Sirdare, remained seated on a knoll in the centre of 
the camp watching the progrees of the fight with intieme 
eagernees, and questioning everyone who appeared se to 
his interpretation of what he had obeerved. So soon 
as I felt absolutely assured of our victory, I sent an Aide- 
de-camp to His Highness to convey the joyful intelliganae 
of our eucceee. I t  wee, without doubt, a trying moment 
for him, and a temble disrrppointment after the plans which 
I eubeequently ascertained he and hie adherente at Kabnl 
had carefully laid for our annihilation. But he received 
the news with Asiatic calmnees, and without the d e e t  
sign of mortification, merely requesting my Aide-de-camp 
to assure me that, ae my enemies were hie enemies, he 
rejoiced at my victory. 

Macpherson'e brigade, with its impedimenta, arrived 
before it was quite dark, so altogether I had reason to feel 
satisfied with the day's results. But the fact still remained 
that not more than twelve miles beyond stood the city 
of Kabul, with its armed thousands ready to oppoee ne 



18791 KABUL I N  SIGHT 223 

should an assault prove necessary. I had besides received 
information of a further gathering of Ghilaais bent upon 
another attack on the Shutargardan, and that reinforce- 
ments of Regular troops and guns were hastening to Kabul 
from Ghazni. Prompt action was the one and only means 
of meeting these threatened difficulties. My troops had had 
more than enough for one day, and required rest, but needs 
mast when the devil (in the shape of Afghan hordes) drives. 
I resolved to push on, and issued orders for tents to be 
&ruck at once and an advance to be made s t  break of day. 

At the k t  streak of dawn on the 7th I started, leaving 
Macpheraon to come on with the heavy baggage as quickly 
ee he could. I marched by the aang-i-namiahta defile, where 
Major White met me and explained to me his part in the 
victory of the previous day. From my inspection of the 
groand, I had no di5culty in coming to the conclusion that 
mnch of the success which attended the operations on this 
side w s s  due to White's military instincts and, at one 
supreme moment, his extreme personal gallantry. I t  
dorded me, therefore, very great pleasure to recommend 
this officer for the Victoria Cross, an honour of which more 
than one incident in his subsequent career proved him to 
be well worthy. 

Our rapid advance, following on the defeat of the 
previous day, had the effect I hoped it would have. On 
arriving at Beni Hisser, a considerable village, surrounded 
by orchards and gardens, only two miles south of the far- 
famed citadel of the Bala Hisser, I sent out Cavalry 
patrole to reconnoitre, who brought me the pleasing news 
that the Bala Hisser had been evacuated, and the only 
pert of the city visible seemed to be deserted. 
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During the day I received viaits from some of the chief 
merchants of Kabul, who each told a different tale regard- 
ing the movements of the defeated Afghan army and the 
intentions of the Afghan Commander. From their conflict- 
ing accounts, however, I gathered that, fresh troops having 
arrived from Kohistan, the remnante of the Charaeia army 
had joined them, and that the combined forcee were then 
occupying the range of hills immediately above Kabul, to 
the west, and had determined to make another etand. 

Having received intelligence that the enemy, if again 
defeated, intended to retire towards Turkeetan, I directed 
Brigadier-General Massy, on the morning of the 8th 
October, to move out with the Cavalry brigade and place 
himself across their line of retreat.* The brigade started 
at 11 a.m., and, in order to avoid the city and adjsoent 
heighte, made a considerable detour by Siah Sang and 
Sherpur, the new Afghan cantonment. On reaching the 
latter place, Massy heliographed to me that he had found it 
deserted, the magazine blown up, and seventy-five g u s t  
abandoned inside the enclosure, and that the enemy were 
now occupying a ridge: which seemed to him to be a 
prolongation of the Shahr-i-Darwaza range above Kabul ; 
then, continuing his march, he crossed a depression in thia 
ridge called the Nanachi Kotal, and wheeling to hie left, 
and ekirting the Asmai heighte on the western side, he 

The troop available for thin purpow were: One quadron 9th 
Lanoem, 6th Punjab Cavalry, 12th Bengal Cavalry, and 14th Ben& 
Lanoem; total, 790 of all ranks. 

f The guns included four English 18-poundere, one Enghh 8-inch 
howiker m d  two Afghan imitations of thin weapon, m d  forty-two 
bronse Mountain guns. 

$ The Ammi heightr. 
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eoon came in sight of the Afghan camp, pitched on the 
dope of the hills about a mile from Deh-i-Mazang. 

Brigadier-Genaral Massy was informed, in reply to his 
heliogram, that Baker would be despatched at once to drive 
the enemy from their position and force them to fall back 
upon the Cavalry, upon which Massy immediately made 
the arrangements which appeared to him most advisable 
for blocking, with the limited number of sabres at hie 
disposal, the several roads by which the enemy might 
attempt to escapo. 

I could only spare to Baker a very small force (1,044 
rifles, two Mountain gnns and one Gatling), for Mac- 
pherson's and White's troops had not yet come up. 
He started off without a moment's delay, and, driving 
the enemy's scouts before him, worked his way along 
the Shahr-i-Derweze heights to the west; but his pro- 
grese wee very slow, owing to the extreme di5culty of 
the ground, and the day was far spent before he found 
himself near enough to the enemy to use his Artillery. 
To his delight, Baker perceived that he commanded 
the Afghan camp and the rear of their main position; 
but hie satisfaction was coneiderably allayed when he 
diecovered that between him and them lay a deep 
gorge* with precipitone sides, through which ran the 
Kabul river, and that before he could attack he would 
have to descend 1,600 feet, and then climb up the 
oppoaite side, which was nearly as high and quite as 

W P .  
Anxione 8e Baker was that there should be no delay 

in delivering the eesrrult, by the time hie dispositions 

The Deh-i-Meesng gorge. 
VOL. n. 47 
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were .made it had become too dark to attempt it, a d  
most reluctantly he had to postpone the movement till 
deybreak the next day. He had ascertained that the Kabul 
river was not fordable for Infantry except a t  a point whiah 
was commanded by the enemy's camp, and was too far 
from support to warrant piquete being pushed acroee at 
night. Nothing whatever could be seen, but a very slqM 
noise as of stealthy movement in the Afghan camp wm 
heard, and the fear seized Baker that the enemy might 
escape him. Soon after 11 p.m., therefore, when the 
rising moon began in a measure to dispel the darkneee, 
Baker sent a strong patrol under a British officer to feel 
for the enemy. The patrol came into conteot with the 
Afghan scouts on the river-bank, from some of whom, 
taken priscaers in the struggle, they learned that the 
enemy had crept away under cover of the night, and the 
greater number had dispersed to their own homee; but 
about 800, mounted on Artillery horses, were reported to 
have accompanied their Commander, Mahomed Jan, and to 
have escapod in the direction of Bamian. 

Meanwhile, Brigadier-General Massy, from hie point of 
observation beneath the Bsmai heights, had perceived 
that it was impossible for Baker to carry the enemy's mein 
position by daylight; he tried to communicate with Belrer 
and ascertain his plans, but the party despatched on this 
service were unable to get through the villages and woo& 
which were all held by the enemy, and returned nneno 
ceesful. Massy then collected hie scattered squadrons and 
bivouacked for the night, being anxious that hie men and 
h o r w  should have food and reat, and it not having stm& 



1 - 7 1  THE ENEMY GIVE US THE SLIP 
-- 

227 

' Itn that the emmy might attempt to eecepe during the 
! ~ ~ u r s  of darkness. 

The information that in very truth they had escaped was 
t~ronght to Baker a t  4.50 a.m. He at once communicated 
~t bo Maesy, telling him at the same time that any movement 
the Cavslry might*make in pnrsuit would be supported by 
the troops under his immediate command, and also by a 
Itrigade under Brigadier-General Macpheraon, which I had 
despatched to reinforce Baker; Macpheraon and White, 
with their respective troops, having arrived at Beni Hissar 
shortly after Baker had started. 

I joined Baker at this time, and great was my dieappoint- 
ment at being told that the Afghans had given us the slip. 
I went carefully over the ground, however, and satisfied 
myself that Baker had done all that was possible under the 
circumetences, and that the enemy having eluded us could 
not in any way be attributed to want of care or skill on hie 

part- 
Massy scoured the country until nightfall on the 9th, 

but with very little success, only one small party of 
fugitivee being overtaken about four-and-twenty miles on 
the road to Ghazni. Numbers, doubtless, found shelter in 
the city of Kabul, others in the numerous villages with 
which the richly-cultivated Chardeh valley was thickly 
studded, and whose inhabitants were hostile to a man ; 
others escaped to the hills; and the remainder, having 
had ten hours' start, could not be overtaken. 

The enemy's camp was left standing, and twelve .guns, 
some elephants, camels, mules, and ponies, fell into our 
poeeeesion. 
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During that day our camp was moved nearer the city to 
Siah Sang, a commanding plateau between the K ~ b d  and 
Logar rivers, close to their confluence, and leas than a 
mile east of the Bala Hisaar. - The 6th Gnrkhaa end two 
Mountain guns were left to hold the heighte on which 
Brigadier-General Baker had been operating, and the reat 
of the force was concentrated on Siah Sang. 



CHAPTER LII. 

AT lset I was at h b u l ,  the place I had heard so much of 
h m  my boyhood, and had so often wished to see! The 
city lay beneath me, with its mud-coloured buildings and 
its 50,000 inhabitants, covering a considerable extant of 
groand. To the south-east corner of the city appeared the 
Bale Hiseer, picturesquely perched on a saddle just beneath 
the Shahr-i-Darwaza heights, along the top of which ran a 
fortified wall, enclosing the upper portion of the citadel 
and extending to the Deh-i-Mazang gorge. 

Kabul was reported to be perfectly quiet, and numbere of 
t i e r e  came into our camp to dispoee of their warm ; but 
I forbade anyone to enter the city until I had been able to 
decide upon the best means of maintaining order amongst 
a population for the most part extremely fanatical, 
treacherous, and vindictive. 

80 far our succees had been complete : all opposition 
had been overcome, Kabul was at our mercy, the Amir was 
in my camp ready to agree to whatever I might propose, 
and it had been all done with extraordinarily little loss to 
ourselves. Nevertheless, I felt my difficulties were very far 
from being at an end-indeed, the part of my duty still 
remaining to be accomplished was surrounded with far 
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greater difficulty, and was a source of much more aruiety 
to me than the military part of the task I had undertaken ; 
for, with regard to the latter, I possessed confidence in 
myself and my ability to perform it, whereas, with respect 
to the political and diplomatic side of the question, actual 

pereonal experience I had none, and I could only hope 
that common-sense and a sense of justice would carry me 
through. 

The instructions I had received from the Government of 
India were very general in their character, for the Viceroy 
felt that my proceedings must necessarily depend on the 
state of affairs obtaining at Kabul, the acts and attitude of 
the Amir and his people, and the various conditions im- 
possible to foresee when the Foreign Office letter was 
written to me on the 29th September. But, though 
general, they were very comprehensive. 

The troops were to be placed in strong and secure 
positions, such as would give me complete control over 
the Amir's capital ; any Afghan soldiers remaining at 
Kabul, and the whole of the city population, were to be 
disarmed; supplies were to be collected in su5cient 
quantities to render my force independent in case of 
interruption along the line of communication ; Yaknb 
Khan's personal safety was to be secured, and adequate 
supervision maintained over his movements and action8 ; 
B close investigation was to be instituted into all the 
causes and circumstances connected with the ' totally 
unprovoked and most barbarous attack by the Amir's 
eoldiery and the people of his capital upon the representa- 
tive of an allied State, who was residing under the Amir's 
protection in the Amir's fortress, in very close proximity to 
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.the Amir himself, and whose personal esfety and honour- 
able treatment had been solemnly guaranteed by the Ruler 
of Afghanistan.' 

The retribution to be exacted was to be adapted to the 
twofold character of the offence, and was to be imposed 
upon the Afghan nation in proportion as the offence was 
proved to be national, and as the responsibility should be 
brought home to any particular community. Further, the 
imposition of a h e ,  it was suggested, upon the city of 
Kabul 'would be in accordance with justice and precedent,' 
and the demolition of fortifications and removal of buildings 
within range of my defences, or which might interfere with 
my control over the city, might be ' n e c e s s q  as a military 
precaution.' 

In forming my plans for the removal of obstruative 
buildings, I was to coneider ' whether they can be com- 
bined with any measures compatible with justice and 
humanity for leaving a memorial of the retribution exacted 
from the city in some manner and by some mark that will 
not be w i l y  obliterated.' 

I was told that ' in regard to the punishment of indi- 
viduals, it- should be swift, stern, and impresaive, without 
being indiscriminate or immoderate ; ite infliction must not 
be delegated to subordinate officers of minor responsibility 
sing independently of your instructions or supervieion ; 
and you cannot too vigilantly maintain the discipline of the 
troop0 under your orders, or superintend their treatment 
of the unarmed population, so long as your orders are 
obeyed and your authority is unresisted. You will deal 
summarily in the majority of cases with pereons whom 
rhare in the murder of anyone belonging to the Britieh 
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Embassy shall have been proved by your investigatiom, 
but while the execution of justice should be as public and 
Btriking as possible, it should be completed with all poe- 
sible expedition, since the indefinite prolongation of your 
proceedings might spread abroad unfounded alarm.' 

The deepatch concluded with the worde: ' It will pro- 
bably be essential, not only for the protection of your own 
camp from annoyance, but also for the. security of the 
well-affected population and for the general maintenance 
of order, that you should assume and exercise supreme 
authority in Kabul, since events have unfortunately proved 
that the Amir has lost that authority, or that he hee con- 
spicuouely failed to make use of it.' 

On the 10th I vieited Sherpur, and the next day I 
went to the Bala Hissar, and wandered over the scene of 
the Embaesy's brave defence and cruel end. The walls 
of the Reeidency, closely pitted with bullet holes, gave 
proof of the determined nature of the attack and the 
length of the resistance. The floors were covered with 
blood-stains, and amidst the embers of a fire were found 8 

heap of human bones. It may be imagined how Britieh 
soldiers' hearts burned within them at  euch a sight, and 
how difficult it was to suppress feelings of hatred and 
animosity towards the perpetrators of such a dasbrdly 
crime. I had a careful but unsuccessful w r c h  made for 
the bodies of our ill-fated friende. 

The Bela Hissar, at one time of great strength, wee now 
in a somewhat dilapidated condition. I t  contained eighty- 
five guns, mortars and howitzere, some of them of English 
manufacture, upwards of 960 tons of gunpowder, stowed 
away in earthen vessels, many millions of Enfield and Snider 
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cartridges, and a large number of arms, besides quantities 
of saddlery, clothing for troops, musical instruments, shot, 
ahell, cap, and accoutrements, and a vast amount of lead, 
copper and tin. I t  would not have given us much trouble 
to storm the Bala Himar, had we been obliged to do so, 
for Artillery could have opened on it within easy range, 
urd there was cover for Infantry close up to the walls. 

The reeding of the Proclamation announcing the inten- 
tions of the British Government with regard to the 
punishment of the city was to take place in the Bala 
Hksar  next day. The Amir had agreed to accompany me. 
The leading people were invited to attend, and I had given 
orders that all the troops were to take part in the pro- 
ceseion, so aa to render as impressive as possible the cere- 
mony, at which were to be made known to the inhabitante 
of Kabul the terms imposed upon them by the Britiah 
Government. The object of my visit was to decide how 
the t roop might best be disposed so as to make the most 
imposing display on the occasion. 

I decided to detain in custody two Sirdare, Yahia Khan* 
and h k  brother Zakariah Khan, the Mustad,  and the 
Wazir, aa these four were Yaknb Khan's principal advieere, 
and I waa setitdied that their influence was being need 
against us, and that eo long as they were at large a mine 
might be sprung upon me at any moment. 

The Commander-in-Chief, Daud Shah, was also in the 
Amir's confidence ; but I determined to leave him at  librty, 
for, from what I could learn, he had made an effort (not a 
very etrong one, perhaps) to help our unfortunate country- 
men, and he had on several occasions since he had been in 

Yahia Khan wee Yskub Khan'n father-in-Iaw. 



234 FORTY-ONE Y E A R S  IN INDIA 1 

-my camp given me ueeful information ; moreover, I hoped 
to obtain further help from him, in which hope I wee not 
altogether disappointed. 
. Aa to what I ought to do with the Amir I wee consider- 
ably puzzled. Lord Lytton had urged upon me the necer- 
eity for weighing well the adviaability of premahmdy 
breaking with him, as it was very possible he might 
become a useful instrument in our hands, an eventuality 
which I thoroughly understood ; but I was not at all sum 

that Yakub Khan would not break with me when he learnt 
my decision with regard to his Ministers, and I had 
received more than one warning that, if he failed to keep 
me from entering Kabul, he contemplated flight and a 
supreme effort to raise the country against me. 

Yakub Khan certainly did not deserve much conaid- 
tion from us; for, though no abeolute proof wae forth- 
coming of his having instigated the attack upon the 
Embassy, he most certainly made not the slightest effort to 
stop it or to save the lives of those entrusted to hie care, 
and throughout that terrible day showed himself to be, if 
not B deliberate traitor, a despicable coward. Again, his 
endeavours to delay the march of my force for the d e  pm- 
pose of gaining sufficient time to organize the destruction 
of the army to whose protection he had appealed deprived 
him, to my mind, of the smallest claim to be treated .e 

an honourable ally. 
My doubts as to what policy I ought to pursue wi th  

regard to Yakub Khan were all solved by his own action on 
the morning of the 12th October. He came to my tent 
before I was dressed, and asked for an inberview, whiah 
was, of course, accorded. The only chair I posseeeed I 
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offered to my Royal visitor, who seated himself, and then 
and there announced that he had come to resign the Amir- 
ship, and that he was only carrying out a determination 
made before he came to Kushi; he had then allowed 
himself to be over-persuaded, but now his resolution was 
fixed. His life, he mid, had been most miserable, and 
he would rather be a grass-cutter in the English camp 
then Ruler of Afghanistan ; he concluded by entreating 
me to alJow his tent to be pitched close to mine until he 
aould go to India, to London, or wherever the Viceroy 
might desire to send him. I placed a tent a t  his disposal, 
ordered breakfast to be prepared for him, and begged him 
not to decide a t  once, but think the matter over for some 
hours, adding that I would see him again at ten o'clock, 
the hour appointed for him to accompany me to the Bale 
Hiesar in order that he might be present at the reading of 
the Proclamation. At this time, it must be remembered, 
the Amir did not know what the terms of the Proclamation 
were, and was entirely ignorant of my intentions regarding 
his Ministers. 
As arranged, I had another interview with Yakub Khan 

at ten o'clock, when I found him unshaken in his resolve 
to abdicate, and unwilling, under the circumstances, to be 
present at the ceremony which was about to take place. 
He mid, however, that he aould send his eldest son, and 
that a11 his Ministers should attend me. I begged him 
egein to reconsider the decision he had come to, and to 
think well over the results to himself ; but finding that he 
had finally* made up his mind, I told his Highness I would 

+ At an interview which Mnjor Hastingti, the Politicel Officer, nnd 
Mr. Durand, my Political Secretary, had with Hie Highnm at my 
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telegraph his determination to the Viceroy and ask for 
instructions; that he would not, of course, be forced to 
continue to reign at  Kabul against his will, but that I 
would ask him to retain his title until I could receive a 
reply from Simla. 

At noon I proceeded to the Bale Hissar, accompanied by 
my staff, the Heir-Apparent, the Ministers, and a large 
gathering of the chief Sirdars of Kabul. Both sides of the 
road were lined with troops, of whom I felt not a little 
proud that day. Notwithstanding that the duty required of 
them had been severe and continuous, now that they were 
required to take part in a ceremonial parade, they turned 
out as clean and smart as one could wish to see them. 

As the head of the procession entered the main gateway, 
the British flag was run up, the bands played the National 
Anthem, and a salute of thirty-one guns was fired. 

On arriving at  the public Hall of Audience, I dis- 
mounted, and ascending the steps leading to it, I 

request on the 23rd October, he said, refemng to the subject of the 
Amirship : ' I call God and the Koran to witnew, and everything a 
Muwulman holds wcred, that my only desire is to be set free, rrnd 
end my days in liberty. I have conceived an utter averaion for 
these people. I always treated them well, and you see how they have 
rewarded me. So long ae I waa fighting in one place or another, they 
liked me well enough. Directly I became Amir, and consulted their 
own good by making peace with you, they turned on me. Now I 
detest them all, and long to be out of Afghanistan for ever. I t  is not 
that I em unable to hold the country ; I have held it before and could 
hold it again, but I have no further wish to rule such a people, and I 
beg of you to let me go. If the British Government wish me to stay, 
I will stay, as their servant or ae the Amir, if you like to oall me no. 
until my son is of an age to succeed me, or even without that oon- 
dition ; but it will be wholly against my own inclination, and I earneatly 
beg to be net free.' 
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addreseed the assembled multitude, and read to them 
the following Proclamation, containing the orders of the 
Britieh Government : 

' In my Proclamtation dated the 8rd October, I informed the people 
of Kabul that a British army waa advancing to take poseeesion of 
Lhe city, and I warned them againet offering any reeietance to the 
entry of the troops and the authority of His Highnese the Amir. That 
-ing hee been dhregarded. The force under my command hee 
now reached Kabul and occupied the Bale Himar, but ita advance bee 
been pertinaaiody oppoeed, and the inhabitante of the city have taken 
a aonapicnom part in the opposition offered. They have therefore 
become rebele a g a i ~ t  His Highness the Amir, and hsve added to the 
@It  .Iresdy incurred by them in abetting the murder of the British 
Envoy and hie aompanions-a trencherous and cowardly crime which 
h~ brought indelible disgrace upon the Afghan people. It would be 
bat a jmt and fitting reward for such misdeeds if the city of Kabul 
were now totally destroyed and its very name blotted out; but the 
great British Government ever desires to temper justice with memy, 
m d  I now announce to the inhabitante of Kabul that the full retri- 
bution for their offence will not be exacted, and that the oity will be 

.pred 
' Neverthelam, it is neceeeary that they should not escape all penalty, 

md, further, that the punishment inflicted should be mch aa will be 
felt rod remembered. Therefore. mch portions of the city buildings 
u now interfere with the proper military occupation of the Bele H h ,  
m d  the d e t y  and comfort of the British troops to be quartered in it, 
rill be d once levelled with the ground; and, further, a heavy h e ,  
tho amount of which will be notified hereafter, will be imposed npon the 
&habitanb of Kabul, to be paid ncoording to their eeveral capacities. 
I further give noti- to all, that, in order to provide for the ratoration 
md maintenance of order, the city of Kabul and the surrounding 
e m t r y ,  to a distance of ten miles, are placed under martial ler. 
With the oonaent of EIis Hiihness the Amir, a military Governor of 
grbal win be appointed, to administer justice and punish with a strong 
h ~ d  all evil-doem. The inhabitante of Kabul and of the neighbonring 
vill.ge. cue hereby warned to mbmit to hie authority. 
' This punishment, inacted npon the whole city, will not, of cwnuae, 

rb.01ve from further penalties those whose individual guilt nuy  be 
hardtar proved. A fuU and muching inquiry into the oirc-OB. 
of the kte outbredc will be held, and all pereons convicted of having 
taken put in it will be dedt with according to their deeerb. 
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With the view of providing effectually for the prevention of crime 
and disorder, and the safety of all well-disposed persons in Kabul, i t  in 
hereby notified that for the future the carrying of dangerous weapons, 
whether swords, knives, or firearms; within the streek of the city or 
within a distance of live miles from the city gates, is forbidden. After 
a week from the date of this Proclemation, any person found armed 

' 
within those limits will be liable to the penalty of death. Persoxu 
having in their possession any articles whatsoever which formerly 
belonged to members of the British Embaeey are required to bring 
them forthwith to the British camp. Anyone neglecting this warning 
will, if found hereafter in possession of any such articles, be subject 
to the severest penalties. 

' Further, all persons who may have in their possession any firearms 
or ammunition formerly issued to or seized by the Afghan troop, are 
required to produce them. For every country-made d e ,  whether 
breech or muzzle loading, the sum of Rs. 8 will be given on delivery, 
and for every rifle of European manufecture Hs. 5. A n ~ o n e  found 
hereafter in possession of such weapons will be severely punished. 
Finally, I notify that I will give a reward of Rs. 60 for the surrender 
of any person, whether soldier or civilian, concerned in the attack on 
the British Embassy, or for such information an may l ed  directly to 
his capture. A similar sum will be given in the ceee of any person who 

4 may have fought aga in~t  the British troops since the 8rd September 
(Shawal) last, and therefore become a rebel against Hie Highnew the 
Amir. If any such person so eurrendered or captured be e capbin 
or subaltern officer of the Afghan army, the reward will be inoreseed 
to Rs. 75, and if e field officer to Rs. 120.' 

The Afghans were evidently much relieved at the leniency 
of the Proclamation, to which they listened with the 
greatest attention. When I had finished reading it, I dia- 
missed the assembly, with the exception of the Ministers 
whom I had decided to make prisoners. To them I 
explained that I felt it to be my duty to place them under 
restraint, pending investigation into the part they had 
taken in the massacre of the Embassy. 

The following day I made a formal entry into the 
city, traversing all its main streets, that the people might 
understand that it and they were at our mercy. The 
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Cavalry brigade headed the procession; I followed with 
my sbfT and escort, and five battalions of Infentry 
brought up the rear ; there were no Artillery, for in some8 
pLees the streets were so narrow and tortuous that two) 
men could hardly ride abreast. 

It wm warmly to be expected the citizens would give ue 
s warm weloome ; but they were perfectly respectful, and I 
hoped the martial and workmanlike appearance of the 
troop would have a aalubsry effect. 

I now appointed Major-General James Hills, V.C., to 
be Governor of Kabul for the time being, associating 
with him the able and respected Mahomedan gentleman, 
Nawab Ghulam Hussein Khan, as the most likely means of 
securing for the present order and good government in 
the city. I further instituted two Courts--one political, 
oonsieting of Colonel Macgregor, Surgeon-Major Bellew,* 
and Mahomed Hyat Khan, a Mahomedan member of the 
Pnnjab Commission, and an excellent Persian and Pnehtu 
eaholar, to inquire into the complicated circumstances 
which led to the attack on the Residency, and to ascertain, 
if poeaible, how far the Amir and hie Ministers were im- 
plicated. The other, a military Court, with Brigadier- 
Oeneral Massy as president, for the trial of those Chiefs 
and soldiers accused of having taken part in the aotual 
mawurcre. t 

* Dr. Bellew wee with the brothers Lumaden st  Kandahar in 1867. 
+ My emtion in endoming the pmaeedings of &hie oourt, and my 

trcdment of Afghsne genermlly, were so adversely and eeverely 
Qiticized by party newspapers and periodicals, and by members of the 
Oppodtion in the House of Commons, that I wee called upon for an 
eqhmtion of my conduct, which wee submitted and read in both 
Hmsm of Parliament by the Secretary of State for Indie, Viaoonnt 
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Up to this time (the middle of October) communication 
with India had been kept up by way of the Bhutargardan, 
and I had heard nothing of the approach of the Khyber 
column. It was so very necessary to open up the Khyber 
route, in view of early snow on the Bhutargardan, that I 
arranged to send a small force towards Jalalabad, and to 
move the Shutargardan garriaon to Kabul, thus breaking 
off communication with Kuram. 

Colonel Money had beaten off another attack made by the 
tribesmen on his position, but as they still threatened him 
in considerable numbers, I despatched Brigadier-General 
Hugh Gough with some troops to enable him to with- 
draw. This reinforcement arrived at a most opportune 
moment, when the augmented tribal combination, imagining 
that the garrieon was completely at its mercy, had sent a 
message to Money offering to spare their lives if they laid 
down their arms! So sure were the Afghans of their 
triumph that they had brought 200 of their women to 
witness it. On Gough's arrival, Money dispersed the 
gathering, and his force left the Shntargardan, together 
with the Head-Quarters and two quadrons of the 9th 
Lancers, which had been ordered to join me from Bialkot, 
and afterwards proved a most valuable addition to the Kabul 
Field Force. 

I was sitting in my tent on the morning of the 16th 
October, when I was startled by a most terrific exploaion 

Cnmbrwk, and the Under-Searetnry of State for Indie, the Hon. E. 
Stanhope. In the Parliemenhry reoorda of Febrmry, 1880, csrr be 
Been my reply to the (~cowtions, M well as an abstrsct sblement of 
the exeontiom camed out at h b u l  in accordance with the findings of 
the military Court. 
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in the upper part of the Bale Hissar, which was occupied 
by the 5th Gurkhas, while the 67th Foot were pitched in 
the garden below. The gunpowder, stored in a detached 
building, had somehow-we never codd discover how- 
become ignited, and I trembled at the thought of what 
would be the consequences if the main magazine caught 
h e ,  which, with its 260 tons of gunpowder, was dangerously 
near to the scene of the explosion. I at once mnt ordera 
to the Gurkhas and the 67th to clear out, and not to wait 
even to bring away their tents, kite, or anything but 
their ammunition, and I did not breathe freely till they 
were all safe on Siah Sang. The results of this diaaster 
as it was, were bad enough, for Captain Shafto, R.A. 
(a very promising officer), a private of the fi7th, the 
8ubadar-Major of the 6th Gurkhas, and nineteen Nativea, 
moet of them ~oldiers, lost their lives. 

A second and more violent explosion took place two hours 
and a half after the first, but there was no loss of life 
amongst the troops, though several Afghans were killed at 
a diatance of 400 yards from the fort. 

There was given on this occasion a very practical ex- 
emplification of the good feeling existing between the 
European soldiers and the Gurkhas. The 72nd and the 
5th Gurkhas had been much associated from the com- 
mencement of the campaign, and a spirit of canraroderie 
had sprung up between them, resulting in the Highlandere 
now coming forward and insisting on making over their 
greatcoats to the little Gurkhas for the n i g h t i a  very 
etrong proof of their friendship, for at Kabul in Ootober 
the nights are bittarly cold. 

Two telegrams received about this time caused the 
VOL. u. 48 
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greatest gratification throughout the force. One was from 
the Commander-in-Chief, conveying Her Majesty's expres- 
eion of ' warm satisfaction ' at  the conduct of the troops ; 
the other was from the Viceroy, expressing his ' cordial 
congratulations ' and His Excellency's 'high appreciation 
of the ability with which the action was directed, and the 
courage with which it was so successfully carried out.' I 
was informed at the same time by Lord Lytton that, on 
the recommendation of the Commander-in-Chief, I wae 
given the local rank of Lieutenant-General, to enable me 
to be placed in command of all the troops in eastern 
Afghanistan, a force of 20,000 men and 46 guns, in two 
divisions. The first division remained under my own imme- 
diate command, and Major-General R. 0. Bright, C.B.,* 
was appointed to the command of the other. I was, of 
course, very much pleased at this proof of the confidence 
reposed in me. ' 

+ Now General Sii Robert Bright, G.C.B. 



CHAPTER LIII. 

I EAD given much thought to the question of houeing the 
troop@ during the winter, which was now fast approaching. 
Some of the senior officers were in favour of quartering 
them in the Bala Hissar, as being the place with most 
prestige attached to it ; but the faot that there was not 
accommodation in it for the whole force, and that, there- 
fore, the troops would have to be separated, ee well as 
the dangerous proximity of the huge store of gunpowder, 
which could only be got rid of by degrees, decided me to 
occupy in preference the partly-fortified cantonment of 
Sherpur, about a mile north-east of the city, end close to 
the ruins of the old British entrenchment. I t  wee en- 
closed on three aides by a high end massive loop-holed 
wall, and on the fourth by the Bimaru heights, while it 
p o d  the advantage of having within its walls suffioient 
ehelter in long ranges of brick buildings for the British 
troops, and good hospital accommodation, and there wee 
ample space for the erection of huts for the Native 
soldiers. 

The drawback wee that the great extent of its peri- 
meter, more than four and a half miles, made it a 
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very difficult place to defend; but, remembering the 
grievous results of General Elphinetone's force being 
scattered in 1841, I thought the advantage of being able 
to keep my troops together outweighed the disadvantage 
of having to defend so long a line. 

Materials for the Native soldiers' huts were brought 
from the Bala Hissar, the demolition of which, as an act 
of retributive justice, I had recommended to the Govern- 
ment of India, as it appeared to me that the destruction 
of the fortified palace in which the massacre had taken 
place, and which was the symbol of their power and their 
boasted military strength, would be a more fitting punish- 
ment for treachery and insult than any other we could 
inflict, and a more lasting memorial of our ability to 
avenge our countrymen than any we could raise. The 
tidings that their ancient citadel had been levelled to the 
ground would, I felt sure, spread throughout the length 
and breadth of Afghanistan, bearing with them a political 
significance that could hardly be over-estimated. 

I now set to work to collect supplies for the winter. All 
khalsa, or State graiu, we took as our right, the justice of 
this being recognized both by the Amir and the people, but 
what was the property of private individuals was pur- 
chased at a price the avaricious Afghan could not resist. 
There had been a good harvest, and supplies were 
abundant ; but the people from the outlying districts were 
chary of assisting us, for they knew from experience that 
all who befriended the British would be sure to suffer when 
we took our departure. 

I had repeated complaints brought to me of the harahneee 
and injustice with which those who had shown themeelvea 
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well disposed towards us were treated by the Amir on his 
return from signing the Treaty at Gandamak, and most of 
the Afghans were so afraid of the Amir's vengeance when 
they should again be left to his tender mercies, that they 
held aloof, except those who, like Wali Mahomed Khan 
end his following, were in open opposition to Yakub Khan, 
and some few who were still smarting from recent injury 
and oppression. 

I was frequently asked by the Afghans, when requiring 
aome service to be rendered, 'Are yon going to remain?' 
Could I have replied in the affirmative, or could I have mid 
that we should continue to exercise sufficient control over 
the Government of the country to prevent their being 
punished for helping us, they would have served us 
willingly. Not that I could flatter myself they altogether 
liked us, but they would have felt it wise in their own 
interests to meet our requirements ; and, besides, the greet 
maes of the people were henrtily sick and tired of a lo& 
eontinuance of oppression and misrule, and were ready to 
submit (for a time at least) to any strong and just Govern- 
ment. 

Lord Lytton, in the hope of saving from the resent- 
ment of the Amir those who had been of use to us 
in the early part of the war, had expressly stipulated in 
Article 11. of the Gandamak Treaty that ' a  full and 
complete amnesty should be published, absolving all 
Afghans from any responsibility on account of inter- 
course with the British Forces during the campaign, and 
that the Amir should guarantee to protect all persona, 
of whatever degree, from punishment or molestation on 
that eccount.' 
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But this stipulation was not adhered to. Yakub Khan 
more than once spoke to me about it, and declared 
that it was impossible to control the turbulent spirits 
in Afghanistan without being supreme, and that t h k  
amnesty, had it been published, would have tied h k  
hands with regard to those who had proved themselves 
his enemies. 

His neglect to carry out this Article of the treaty added 
considerably to my difficult'y, as will be seen from the 
following letter from Asmatula Khan, a Ghilzai Chief, to 
whom I wrote, asking him to meet me at Kabul. 

' I received your kind letter on the 8th of Shawal[28th September], 
and understood its contents, and also those of the enclosed Proclama- 
tion to the people of Kabul. I informed all whom I thought fit of the 
moontents of the Proolemation. 

'Some time ago I went to Oandamak to Major Cavagxuui. H e  in- 
structed me to obey the orders of the Amir, and made me over to His 
Highem.  When Major Cavagnari returned to India, the Amirk 
officiab confiscated my property, and gave the Chiefship to my couain* 
[or enemy], Bakram Khan. 

'The oppression I suffered on your account is beyond description. 
They ruined and disgraced every friend and adherent of mine. On the 
return of Major Cavagnari to K ~ b u l ,  I sent my Naib ~deputy] to him, 
who informed him of rily state. Major Cavagnari sent a message to 
me to the effect that I should recover my property by force if I could, 
oLherwiee I should go to the hills, and not come to Kabul until I hetud 
from him. I n  the meantime I received news of the murder of the 
Envoy, and I am still in the hills.' 

The thought of what might be in store for those who 
were now aiding me troubled me a good deal. No doubt 

+ I n  Pushtu the word tarbur signifies a cousin to any degree, and 
in not unfrequently used as 'enemy,' the inference being that in 
Afuhnnistan a couain is neoesecuily an enemy. 
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their help was not dieinterested, but they were 'friends 
in need,' and I conld not be quite' ind8erent to their 
future. 

I had several interesting conversations with.Yakub Khan, 
and in diecuesing with him Sher Ali's reasone for braking 
with US, he dwelt on the fact that his father, although he 
did not get all he wished out of Lord Mayo, wee fairly 
aeti&ed and content with what had been done for him, 
bat when Saiyad Nur Mshomed returned from Simla in 
1878, he became thoroughly disgueted, and at once made 
overtures to the Russians, with whom constant interconme 
had since been kept up. 

Yakub Khan'e statemente were verified by the fact that 
we found Kabul much more Russian than Englieh. The 
Afghan Sirdars and officers were arrayed in Russian 
pattern uniforme, Russian money was found in the 
h e n r y ,  Russian wares mere sold in the bazaars, and 
although the roads leading to Central Asia were certainly 
no better than those leeding to India, Russia had taken 
more advantage of them than we had to carry on com- 
mercial dmlinge with Afghaniatan.* 

+ As I reported at  the tirne, the magnitude of Sher Ali's military 
preparations was, in my opinion, a fact of pecnliar significance. H e  had 
raised and equipped with arms of precision sixteen regiments of Cavalry 
and aixty-eight of Infantry, while hi Artillery amounted to nearly 800 
gum. Sumbera of dilled artisans were constantly employed in the 
manufacture of rifled cannon and breech-loading small arms. Swords, 
helmets, unifoms, and other articles of military equipment, were stored 
in proportionate quantities. Upon the construction of the Sherpnr 
csnbnlnent Shcr Ali had expended an astonishing amount of labour 
m d  money. The eize and cost of this work may be judged from the 
f.at that the I& line of rampart, with barrack accommodation, 
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When I inquired of Yakub Khan what had become of the 
correspondence which must have been carried on between 
his father and the Russians, he 'declared that he had 
destroyed it all when on his way to Gandamak; never- 
theless, a certain number of letters * from Generals Kauff- 
menn and Btoliatoff came into my possemion, and a draft 
of the treaty the latter officer brought from Tashkent was 
made for me from memory by the man who had copied 
it for Bher Mi, aided by the Afghan oflkial who was 
told off to be in attendance on Stoliatoff, and who had 
frequently reed the treaty. 
In one of my last conversations with Yakub Khan, he 

advised me 'not to loee sight of Herat and Turkestan.' 
On my asking him whether he had any reason to suppose 
that his representatives in those places meant to give 
trouble, he replied : ' I cannot say what they may do ; but, 
remember, I have warned you.' He, no doubt, knew more 
than he told me, and I think it.quite possible that he had 

extended to ir length of nearly two miles under the weetern and 
southern dopee of the Bimaru hills, while the original design was to 
c e r q  the wall entirely round the hills, a distance of four and a hdf 
milea, and the foundations were laid for a considerable portion of thin 
length. All these military preparations must have been going on for 
some yeam, and were quite unnecessary, except as a provision for 
contemplated hostilities with ourselves. Sher Ali had refumd during 
thie time to accept the subsidy we had agreed to pay him, and it is 
dif3cult to understand how their entire coat could have been met from 
the Afghan tresaury, the annual groae revenue of the country s t  that 
time amounting only to about 80 lakhs of rupees. 

Thew letters, as well as my report to the Secretary to the Govern- 
ment of India in the Foreign Department, with an account of my 
conversetion with Y a h b  Wan ,  are given in the Appendix. 
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some inkling of hie brother's* (Ayub Khan's) intentions, 
in regard to Kandaher, aqd he probably foreaaw that Abdur 
Rahman Khan would appear on the scene from the direction 

I duly received an answer to my telegram regarding 
the abdication of Yakub Khan, in which I was informed 
that His Highnese'e reeignation was accepted by Her 
Majeety's Government, and I was directed to announce 
the fact to the people of Afghanisten in the following 
terms : 

' I, General Roberta, on behalf of the British Government, hereby 
prockim that the Amir, having by his own free will abdicated, baa left 
Af&mhkn without a Government. In coneequence of the shameful 

upon its Envoy and suite, the British Government han been 
compelled to occupy by form of arms Knbul, the capital, and to take 
military poumdon of other parts of Afghanistan. 
'The British Government now commands that all Afghan authorities, 

Chiefs, and Sirdars do continue their functions in maintaining order, 
referring to me whenever neoereary. 
' O e  Brit* Government desire that the people shall be treated with 

jutice and benevolent%, and that their religious feelings and curtoms 
be respected. 

'The wrvices of such Sirdam and Chiefs M assist in preserving 
ader will be duly recolplized, but all disturbers of the peace and 
penom concerned in attacks upon the British authority wil l  meet with 
condign p u n h e n t .  

'The British Government, after consultation with the principal 
Sinks ,  tribal Chiefs, and others representing the inkreste and wiahea' 
of the various provinces and cities, will declare i b  will es to the future 
permanent arran(@menb to be made for the good government of the 
people.' 

This mmnifesto was ieeued on the 28th October, and 
the m e  day I informed Yakub Khan that his abdication 

Sirdar Ayub Khan WM Governor of Herat in 1879. 
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had been accepted, and acquainted him with the ordem 
passed by the British Government in connexion with thie 
fact.* 

Yakub Khan showed no interest either in the Pro- 
clamation, a Persian translation of which was read to him, 
or the Government's decision as to himself, and made no 
comment beyond a formal 'bisyar khub' ('very good ') 
and an inclination of the head. 

I then told Yakub Khan that, as I was now charged 
with the government of, the country, it was necessary that 
I should take possession of the treasury and all money8 
therein. He signified his assent, but demurred to certain 
~ u m s  being considered as public property, contending that 
they formed part of his father's wealth, and that the 
British Government might as well take from him his choga, t 
this also having come from the pockets of the people. ' My 
father was Padishah,' he said ; ' there was no distinction 
between public tsnd private money. However,' he went 
on, ' I have given up the crown, and I am not going to 
dispute about rupees. You may take all I have, down to 
my clothes ; but the money was my father's, and is mine 
by right.' 

I replied that it was necessary that all money in his 
possession should be given up, but that his private effects 
should not b touched ; that he would be given a receipt 
for the money, and that, if the Government of India 

* There were present at the interview, besidee myself, Colonel 
Macgregor, Major Hastings, Surgeon-Major Bellew, Nawab Sir O h h  
Hneaein Khan, and Mr. 11. N. Durand. 

t A kind of mantle worn by Afghans. 
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decided it to be his pemnal property, it should be returned 
to him. 

This Yakub Khan at first declined to accept, with eome 
nhow of temper. Eventually he came round, and said, 
' Yes, give me a receipt, so that no one may my hereafter 
that I carried off State money to which I had no right. I t  
can be easily made sure that I have no money when 
I go:* 

Spite of all his shortcomings, I could not help feeling 
sorry for the self-deposed Ruler, and before leaving him I 
explained that he would be treated with the same considera- 
tion that had alweys been accorded to him, that Nawab Sir 
Ghulam Hussein Khan t should have a tent next to his, and 
that it should be the Nawab's care to look after his comfort 
in every way, and that I should be glad to see him 
whenever he wished for an intemew. That =me day, 
under instructions, I issued the following further mani- 

' In my Proclamation of yesterday I announced that His Highnew the 
Amir had of his own free will abdicated, and that for the present the 
government of Afghanistan would bc carried on under my supervision. 
I now proclaim that, in order to provide for the cost of administration, 
I have taken possession of the State treasury, and that, until the 

- -- - - - -. - 
+ As Takub Khan refused under one pretext or another to deliver up 

m y  money, Major Moriarty, the officer in chargo of the Kabul Field 
Force treasure-chest, and Lieutenant Nevillo Chamberlain, accom- 
p i e d  by an escort, searched a house in the city in which a portion of 
Y h b  Khan's money WM said to be conceded. Upwarde of eight and 
a hdf hkh8 of rupees, and a certain amount of jeweuery and gold 
coins, tillaa and Russian five-rouble pieces, in all amounting to nine 
and a half U s ,  were found. This sum waa subsequently refunded 
b &he Afghan Government. 

t The Nawab had been made a K.C.S.I. 
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British Government ahall declare it8 will M to the permanent a m q p  
men& to be mnde for the future good government of the aountrg, tbe 
aollection of revenue and the expenditure of public money wii l  km 
regulated by me. All persona concerned are hereby informed rh.r 
they must obey without dispute or delay mch o rdm M m q  be irocd 
by me in regard to the pnyment of bxee and other conneoted ma#w ; 
and I give pkin warning that anyone resisting or obrtrncting tbe 
execution of euch orders will be treated with the utm& oevaritj m an 
enemy to the Britieh Government.' 



CHAPTER LIV. 

ON the 1st November my Head-Quarters and the 1st 
division moved into Sherpur, which the Engineers had 
prepared for winter quarters, and where etores of provieions 
and forage were assuming satisfactory proportions. The 
eeme day Brigadier-General Macpherson left Kabul with a 
brigade of about 1,800 men and four guns to join hands with 
she troops which I had lately heard were advancing from 
the Khyber, and had reached Gandamak. I joined Mac- 
pherson the following morning at Butkhak, about eleven 
miles from Kabul, where our firet poet towards the Khyber 
had already been eetabllhed. It was very important that 
our communication with India should be by e route good 
enough for wheeled carriagee ; I was therefore anxious to 
see for myself if it were not poeaible to avoid the Khurd- 
Kabul Pass, which was said to be very difficult. I had, 
beeides, e strong wish to vieit this peas, as being the scene 
of Sir Robert Sale'e fight with the tribesmen in 1841, and 
of the beginning of the measacre of General Elphinstone's 
unfortunate troops in 1849.* The Afghan Commander- 
in-Chief, Dmud Shah, and several Ghilmi Chiefs, accom- 
panied me; from them I learned that an easier road did 

A moat thdling ~000-t of Elphimtone'e retrwt through thin pcrer 
b @on in Kaye'e ' History of the Wu in AfghanMan,' vol. ii., p. 119. 
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exist, running more to the east, and crossing over the 
Lataband mountain. Personal inspection of the two lines 
proved that Daud Shah's estimate of their respective diffi- 
culties was correct ; the Lataband route was comparatively 
easy, there mas no defile as on the Khurd-Kabul side, 
and the kotal, 8,000 feet above the sea, was reached by a 
gradual ascent from Butkhak. However, I found the 
Khurd-Kabul much lees difficult than I had imagined 
it to be; it might have been made passable for carts, but 
there was no object in using it, as the Lataband route 
possessed the additional advantage of being some miles 
shorter ; accordingly I decided upon adopting the latter 
as the line of communication with India. 

Macphereon reported that the country beyond Khurd- 
Kabul was fairly settled, and that, on the 7th, he had been 
able to open communication with Brigadier-General 
Charles Gough, commanding Bright's leading brigade. I 
was thus again brought into communication with Jndia, 
and in a position to clear my hospitals of those amongst 
the sick and mounded who were not progressing favourably, 
and could not soon be fit for duty. 

By this time the Inquiry Commission had completed 
its difficult task of trying to sift the truth concerning 
the fate of Cavagnari and his companions from the maw 
of falsehood with which it was enveloped. The pro- 
gress had been slow, particularly when examination touched 
on the part Yakub Khan 'had played in the tragedy; 
witnesses were afraid to give evidence openly until they 
were convinced that he would not be re-established in a 
position to avenge himself. The whole matter had been 
gone into most fully, and a careful perusal of the proceed- 
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inga satisfied me that the Amir could not have been 
ignorant that an attack on the Residency was contem- 
plated. He may not have foreseen or desired the massacre 
of the Embassy, but there was no room for doubt as to his 
having connived at a demonstration against it, which, had 
it not ended so fatally, might have served him in good 
eteed as a proof of his inability to guarantee the safety 
of foreigners, and thus obtain the withdrawal of the 
Mission. 

It wes impossible, under these circumstances, that Yakub 
Khan could ever be reinstated as Ruler of Kabul, and his 
remaining in his present equivocal position was irksome to 
himself and most embarrassing to me. I therefore recom- 
mended that he should be deported to India, to be dealt 
with as the Government might decide after reviewing the 
information elicited by the political Court of Inquiry, which 
to me appeared to tell so weightily against the ex-Amir, that, 
in my opinion, I was no longer justified in treating as rebls  
to his authority Afghans who, it was now evident, had only 
cemed out his secret, if not his expressed, wishes when 
opposing our mdvance on Kabul. I decided, therefore, to 
proclaim a free and complete amnesty* to all persons not 

4 The amnesty Roohumtion ran an follows : 
' KABUL, 

' la th November, 1879. 
* To all whom it may concern. On the 12th October a Proclamation 

WM hued  in which I offered a reward for the surrender of any pemn 
who had fought against the British troops since the 8rd September, 
and had thereby becomo a rebel against the Amir Yakub Khan. I 
have now received information which tends to show that some, at leert, 
of Lhcwe who shared in the opposition encountered by the British troop 
during their advance on Kabul, were led to do so by the belief that the 
Amir was a prisoner in my camp, and had called upon the soldiery and 
people of Kabul to rim on hie behalf. Such pemm, although enelniee 
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concerned, directly or indirectly, in the attack on the 
Residency, or who mere not found hereafter in possession 
of property belonging to our countrymen or their escort, 
on the condition that they surrendered their arms and 
returned to their homes. 

At Daud Shah's suggestion, I sent three influential 
Sirdars to the Logar, Kohistan, and Maidan valleye, 
to superintend the collection of the amount of forage 
which was to be levied from those districts ; and in 
order to lessen the consumption at Kabul, I sent away all 
elephants,' spare bullocks, and sick transport animals. 

to the British Government, were not rebels against their own Sovereign. 
and the great British Govcm.ment does not seek for vengeance against 
enemies who no longer resist. I t  may be that few only of those who 
took up arms were thus led away by the statements of evil-minded 
men, but rather than punish the innocent with the guilty, I am willing 
to believe that all were alike deceived. On behalf of the British 
Government, therefore, I proclaim a free and complete amnesty to 
all persons who have fought against the British troops since the 
8rd September, provided that they now give up any arms in their 
poesession and return to their homes. The offer of a reward for the 
surrender of such persons is now withdrawn, and they will not for the 
future be lrolosted in any way on account of their opposition to the 
British advance ; but it must be clearly understood that the benefits of 
this amnesty do not extend to anyone, whether soldier or civilian, 
who waa concerned directly or indirectly in the attack upon the 
Residency, or who may hereafter be found in poseession of any 
property ,belonging to members of the E m b y .  To such persomi no 
memy will be shown. Further, I hold out no promise of pardon to 
those who, well knowing the Amir'e position in the British camp, 
instigated the troops and people of Kabul to take up arms against the 
British troops. They have been guilty of wilful rebellion against the 
Amir's authority, and they will be conaidered and treated ae rebel. 
wherever found.' 

+ Thew wae a slight fall of snow on the 11th November, followed 
by seven, h t ,  and the elephants were beginning to d e r  from the 
oold. Three ef them subcumbed on the Lateband Botal, much to the 
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In furtherance of the same object, as soon as Macpherson 
returned, I sent Baker with a brigade into the Maidan 
district. about twenty miles from Kabul, on the Gheeni 
road, where the troops could more easily be fed, as it wee 
the district from which a large proportion of our supplies 
wee expected, and I also despatched to India all time- 
expired men and invalids who were no longer fit for 
service.* 

Towards the end of November, Mr. Luke, the 0ficer in 
charge of the telegraph department, who had done admir- 

amoyanoe of the olfectory nerves of all passers-by. It wee impossible 
to bury the huge carceses, as the ground wee all rock, and there wae 
not wood enough to bum them. So intense was the cold that the ink 
froze in my pen, and I wee obliged to keep my inkstand under my 
pillow at night. 

This party marched towarb India on the 14th November, followed 
by s second convoy of sickly men on the 27th idem. On this latter 
date the rtrength of the let and 2nd Divisions, Kabul Field Foroe, and 
&he Reeerve at Peshawar w e  ee follows : 

Br1U.h Pome. 1 Native Pome. ' 

OmcL~ R.nk & ' Br1M.h I 
OtBcsra. TmOp. 
-- 

- 1 Tow. 
/ - -  

1st Division, s t  and around 1 I 
Kabul - - - - 100 : 2.708 71 5,060 , 8,011 

Ind  Divbion, on the Khyber , I 
line - - - - - , 90 2,886 118 8,690 11,188 

I 
I----- 
( 190 5,168 189 18,650 19,197 

I b m v e  at Peshawar - - 66 1 1,962 49 4,654 6.710 -I---- 
; 246 17,120 286 18,804 , 26,907 

Total :- 488 British officers. 
7,120 British troop. 

18,804 Native troop. 

G m d  total :- 25.907 with 60 guns, 24 with 1st Division, and 86 
with 2nd Division and the Reserve 

VOL. n. 49 
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able work throughout the campaign, reported that com- 
munication was established with India. As, however, 
cutting the telegraph-wires was a favourite amusement of 
the tribesmen, a heliograph was arranged at suitable 
stations between Landi Kotal and Kabul, which was 
worked with fair success to the end of the war. Had we 
then possessed the more perfect heliographic apparatus 
which is now available, it would have made us, in that land 
of bright sun, almost independent of the telegraph, so far 
as connexion with Landi Kotal was concerned. 

Hearing that Baker was experiencing difficulty in col- 
lecting his supplies, I joined him at Maidan to satisfy 
myself how matters stood. The headmen in the neigh- . 
bourhood refused to deliver the kholea grain they had been 
ordered to furnish, and, assisted by a body of Ghilzais from 
Ghazni and Wardak, they attacked' our Cavalry charged 
with collecting it, and murdered our agent, Sirdar Mahomed 
Hussein Khan. For these offences I destroyed the chief 
malik'e fort and confiscated his store of grain, after which 
there xas no more trouble, and supplies came in freely. I 
returned to Kabul, and Baker, with his brigade, followed 
me on the let December. 

That same day Yakub Khan was despatched by double 
marches to India, careful precautions having been taken 
to prevent his being rescued on the way. When saying 
good-bye to him, he thanked me warmly for the kind- 
ness and consideration he had received, and assured me 
that he left his wives and children in my hands in the 
fullest confidence that they would be well treated and cared 
for. 

A week later I sent off the two Sirdars, Yahia Khan and 



Zakmrimh Khan, as well as the Wazir, whom guilt had been 
clearly proved, and whose powerful influence, I had every 
rewon to believe, wae being used to stir up the country 
against us. The Mnstmdi I allowed to remain; he had 
been less prominent than the others in opposing us, and, 
beeidee, I had an idem that he might prove useful to me in 
the adminietrmtion of the country. 



CHAPTER LV. 

THE general political situation, as it developed itself in 
the early part of December, and the causes which appeared 
to me to have contributed to produce it, may be briefly 
summarized as follows. After the outbreak in the previous 
September and the massacre of our Envoy, the advance of 
the British force was too rapid to give the Afghans, as a 
nation, time to oppose us. At Charasia, the troops, aided 
by large numbers of the disaffected townspeople, were 
conspicuously beaten in the open field ; their organization 
as an armed body was at an end, and their leaders all 
sought personal safety in flight. 

I t  appears probable that at this period the general 
expectation amongst the Afghans was that the British 
Government would exact a heavy retribution from the 
nation and city, and that, after vengeance had been satis- 
fied, the army would be withdrawn. 

Thirty-seven years before, a British massacre had been 
followed by a temporary occupation of the city of Kabul, 
and just as the troops of Pollock and Nott, on that occasion, 
had sacked and destroyed the great bazaar and then retired, 
so in 1870 the people believed that some signal punish- 
ment would again be succeeded by the withdrawal of our 
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troop. Thus a period of doubt and expectation ensued 
after the battle of Charasia ; the Afghans were waiting 
on events, and the time had not arrived for a general 
movement. 

This pause, however, was marked by certain occurrences 
which doubtless touched the national pride to the quick, and 
which were also susceptible of being used by the enemies of 
the British Government to excite into vivid fanaticism the 
religious sentiment, which has ever formed a prominent 
trait in the Afghan character. 

The prolonged occupation by foreign troops of the for- 
tified cantonment which had been prepired by the late 
Amir Sher Ali for his own army ; the capture of the large 
park of Artillery, and of the vast munitions of war, which 
had raised the military strength of the Afghans to a 
etendard unequalled among Asiatic nations ; the destruc- 
tion of their historic fortress, the residence of their Kings ; 
and, lastly, the deportation to India of their Amir and his 
principal Ministers, were all circumstances which united to 
increase to a high pitch the antipathy naturally felt towards 
a foreign invader. 

The temper of the people being in this inflammable 
condition, it was clear that only disunion and jealousy 
amongst their Chiefs prevented their combining against us, 
and that if any impetus could be given to their religious 
eentiment strong enough to unite the discordant elements 
in a common cause, a powerful movement would be initiated, 
having for its object our annihilation or expulsion from 
their country. Such an impetus was supplied by the 
fervent preaching of the aged mulla hlushli-i-Alam,' who 

+ Frmgrance of the universe. 
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denounced the English in every mosque throughout the 
country. The people were further incited to rise by the 
appesls of the ladies of Yakub Ehm's family to popular 
sympathy, and bribed to do so by the distribution of the 
concealed treasure at their command. 

The mullas, in short, became masters of the situa- 
tion, and, having once succeeded in subordinating private 
quarrels to hatred of the common foe, the movement rapidly 
assumed the aspect of a religious war. The Afghan suc- 
cesses of 1841-42 were cited as examples of what might 
happen again, and the people were assured that, if they 
would only act ~multaneously, the small British army in 
Sherpur would be overwhelmed, and the plunder of our 
camp would be part of their reward. 

From time to time reporte reached me of what wee going 
on, and, from the information supplied to me, I gathered 
that the Afghans intended to gain poseession of the city, 
and, after occupying the numerous forts and villages in 
the neighburhood of Sherpur, to surround the canton- 
ment. 

I t  was under the stimulating influences of religious 
enthusiasm, patriotic and military ardour, the prestige of 
former success, and the hope of remune~niion and plunder, 
that the Afghans took the field agalnst us early in 
December. 

I t  was arranged that the forces from the south* should 
eeize the range of hills extending from Charash to the 
Shehr-i-Darwaza heights, including the fortifications of 
the upper Rala H i w r  and the high conical peak called the 

* Viz., Logar, Zurmet, the Mangel and Jedren districts, and tho 
intervening Ghilzai country. 
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Takht-i-Shah; that those from the north* should occupy 
the Asmai heights and hills to the north of Kabul ; and 
those from the westt shonld make direct for the city. 
Ae it was evident to me that these several bodiee, when 

once concentrated at Kabul, would be joined by the 
thonsande in the city, and the inhabitants of the adjoining 
villages, I determined to try and deal with the advancing 
forces in detail, and disperse them, if possible, before the 
concentration could be effected. I had, however, but a 
very imperfect idea of the extent of the combination, 

or of the enormous numbers arrayed against us. My 
intelligence was most defective; neither the nature of the  
country nor the attitude of the people admitted of extended 
reconnaiseanc?s, and I was almost entirely dependent for 
information on Afghan sources. Some of the Afghan 
soldiera in our ranks aided me to the best of their ability, 
but by the Sirdars, notably Wali Mahomed Khan, I was, 
either wilfully or from ignorance, grossly misinformed as to 
the formidable character of the rising. But that there was 
serious trouble ahead was plain enough when the con- 
flicting reporte had been carefully sifted, and I therefore 
thought it only prudent to telegraph to General Bright at 
Jalalabad to push on the Guides Corps, although I was 
very much averse to augmenting the Sherpur garrison, and 
thereby increasing the drain on our eupplies. 

In the meantime immediate action was necessary to mrry 
out my idea of preventing the different eections of the 
enemy concentrating at Kabul. I accordingly prepared 
two columns: one under Macphereon, whose orders were 
to attack the tribesmen coming from the north before they 

K o b b n .  f Maidan and Ohnzni. 
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could join those advancing from the west ; the other under 
Baker, who was instructed to place himself across the line 
by which the enemy would have to retreat when beaten, as 
I hoped they would be, by Macpherson. 

Macpherson* started on the 8th towards Kila Aushar, 
about three miles from Sherpur, en route to Arghandeh. 
And on the following morning Baker, with a small force,t 
proceeded to Chihal Dukhteran, giving out that his desti- 
nation mas the Logar valley, and that he would march 
by Charasia, as I had directed him to make a feint in 
that direction, and then to turn to the west, and place 
himself between Arghandeh and Maidan, on the Ghazni 
road. 

To give Baker time to carry out this movement, I halted 
Macpherson at Kila Aushar on the 9th, whence he sent out 
two reconnoitring parties--one in the direction of Kohi~tan, 
the other, in charge of Lieutenant-Colonel Lockhart,: 
A.Q.M.G., towards Arghandeh. 

The intelligence brought in induced me to change my 
orders to Macpherson. The first party reported that e 
very considerable force of Kohistanis had collected a t  
Karez-i-Mir, about ten miles north of Kila Aushar, while 
Lockhart had discovered large numbers of the enemy 
moving from Arghandeh and Paghman towards Kohistan. 
Accordingly, I directed Macpherson to attack the Kohis- 

Macpherson had with him the following troops : 4 guns R.H.A. ; 
4 gum Mountein battery ; 1 squadron 9th Lancers ; 2 squadrons 14th 
Bengal Lancers ; 401 rifles 67th Foot ; 509 rifles 8rd Sikhe ; 898 riflw 
6th Ghurkas. 

t Baker's column consisted of: 4 guns Mountain battery; 8 troop 
6th Punjab Cavalry; '25 Sappers and Minere; 450 rifles 92nd High. 
landere ; 450 riflea 6th Punjab Infantry. 

$ Now Lieutenant-General Sir William Lockhart, K.C.B., K.C.S.I. 
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tanis, in the hope of being able to disperse them before 
the people from Ghazni could join them; and, as the 
pad of the country through which he had to move was 
unsuited to Horse Artillery and Cavalry, I ordered him to 
leave the mounted portion of his column, except one 
squadron of Cavalry, at Kila Aushar. 

Macpherson made a rapid advance on the morning of the 
10th December, skirting the fringe of low hills which 
intervenes between Kohistan and the Chardeh valley. 
He reached the Surkh Kohl-which divides western 
Bohistan from the Arghandeh valley-without opposition. 
From this point, however, the Kohistanis were sighted, 
occupying a position about two miles to his right front, 
their centre on a steep, conical, isolated hill, at the base of 
which ley the village of Karez-i-Mir. 

Yacphereon mas now able to obtain a good view of the 
Paghman and Chardeh valleys on his left and left rear, and 
the numaroue standards planted on the daerent knolls 
near the villages of Paghman gave ample evidence of the 
presence of the enemy discovered by Lockbart the previous 
day, and showed him that, unless he could quickly succeed 
in wttering the Kohistanis, he would find himself attacked 
by an enemy in his rear, in fnct, between two fires. 

hophereon made his disposition for an attack with skill 
and rapidity. Leaving Lieutenant-Colonel Money with one 
company of the 67th, five companies of the 3rd Sikhs, and 
two guns, to hold the ridge, he sent the remainder of the 
Gikhs to harass the enemy's left flank and support the 
Cavalry, who were ordered to hover about and threaten 
the line of retreat, while Macpherson himself went forward 
with the reat of the force. 
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The Kohistanis retreated rapidly before our skirmishers, 
and the attacking party, protected by a well-directed fire 
from Morgan's guns, advanced with such promptitude that 
the enemy made no attempt to rally until they reached the 
conical hill, where they made a stubborn resistance. The 
hill was carried by assault, its defenders were driven off, 
leaving seven standard8 on the field, and Morgan, bringing 
up hie Artillery, inflicted severe lose on the flying Kohistanh. 
On this occasion Major Cook, V.C., of the 5th Gurkhas, 
was again noticed for his conspicuous gallantry, and Major 
Griffithe, of the Srd Sikhs, greatly distinguished himself. 
Our casualties were one officer (Lieutenant-Colonel Fits- 
Hugh) and six men wounded. 

It was evident that the tribesmen from the directions of 
Arghandeh and Paghman intended to ascend the Surkh 
Kotal, but suddenly they appeared to change their minds, 
on discovering, probably, that our troops held all the 
commanding positions and that their allies were in full 
flight. 

Soon after noon on the 10th I received the report of 
Macpherson's success and the enemy's retirement towards 
Arghandeh. I at once sent off Lieutenant-Colonel B. 
Gordon, R.H.A., with orders to intercept them with the 
Horse Artillery and Cavalry at Aushar ; but when I rode 
over myself later in the day to that place, I was much 
disappointed to find that Gordon had not been able to give 
effect to my instructions, as the enemy, on perceiving his 
troops, dispereed and took shelter in the surrounding 
villages and on the slopes of the hills. 

Macpherson encamped for the night between the Surhh 
Kotal and Karez-i- Mir, and Baker, who had ebdi ly  
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p m u e d  his march along a very difficult road, halted a 
short distance west of Maidan and eight miles only from 
Arghandeh. 

To Macpherson I sent orders to march very early 
the next morning-the 11th-through Paghman towards 
Arghandeh and in Baker's direction; at the aame time I 
informed him that Massy, whom I had placed in command 
of the troops at Aushar, would, according to directions from 
me, leave that place at nine o'clock to co-operate with him, 
uid the Arghandeh and Ghazni road. That evening Massy 
came to my room, and I carefully explained to him his part 
in the next d ~ y ' s  proceedings; I told him that he was to 
advance cautiously and quietly by the road leading directly 
from the city of Kabul towards Arghandeh, feeling for the 
enemy ; that he was to communicate with Macpherson and 
act in conformity with that officer's movements; and I 
impressed upon him that he was on no account to commit 
himself to an action until Macpherson had engaged the 
enemy. 

Up to this time the combination of tribesmen, which 
later proved so formidable, had not been effected; Mac- 
pheraon for the time being had dispersed the Kohistania 
end checked the force advancing from Ghazni under the 
leaderehip of Mahomed J a n ;  the Logaris and Ghilzais 
were merely watching events, and waiting to see how it 
fared with the Kohistani and Ghazni factions, before com- 
mitting themeelves to hostilities ; they had but recently 
witneesed our successful advance through their country; 
they knew that their homes and property would be at our 
mercy should we be victorious, and they were uncertain as 
to Baker's movements. 
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On the morning of the l l t h  December,' therefore, only 
one section was actually in opposition to us, that led by 
Mahomed Jan, who during the night of the 10th had 
taken up a position near the group of villages known as 
Eila Kazi. 

Further, I felt that Mahomed Jan must be disheartened st 
our recent success, and at his failure to induce the Logaris 
to join him, and doubtless felt that a movement towards 
Kabul would expose his left flank to Macpherson, while 
his rear would be threatened by Baker. 

The strength of Baker's and Macpherson's columns had 
been carefully considered, as well as the routes they were 
to take. I was thoroughly well acquainted with the ground 
comprised in the theatre of the proposed operations, having 
frequently ridden over it during the preceding two months ; 
I was thus able to calculate to a nicety the difficulties eech 
column would have to encounter and the distances they 
would have to cover, and arrange with the utmost pre- 
cision the hour at which each Commander should move off 

+ On the l l th  December, the troops at and around Kabul amounted 
to 6,852 men and 20 guns, which were thue dispoeed : 

Baker's column 
Macpherson's column - 
Maesy's column 
At 8herpur - 

There were besides at Butkhak and 
Lataband - 

And the Guides Corps, which 
Sherpur on the evening of 
December - 

Men. 
1,825 
1,492 

851 
8,184 - 
6,852 
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to insure a timely junction. So that when I left Sherpnr 
e t  ten o'clock on the 11th December to take command of 
Macpheraon's and Massy's columns as soon as they should 
unite, I had no misgivings, and was sanguine that my 
caretally arranged programme would result in the die- 
comfiture of Mahomed Jan ; but the events which followed 
on that day sflorded a striking exemplification of the un- 
certainty of war, and of how even a very slight divergence 
from a General's orders may upset plans made with the 
greatest care and thought, and lead to diaastrous results. 

Mesey could not have clearly understood the part he was 
meant to take in co-operation with Macphereon, for instead 
of following the route I had directed him to take, he 
marched straight across county to the Ghazni road, which 
brought him face to face with the enemy before he could be 
joined by Macpherson. In his explanatory report Massy 
stated that he had been misled by a memorandum* which 
he received from the Assistant - Adjutant - General after his 
interview with me (although this memorandum contained 
nothing contradictory of the orders I had given him) ; that 
he understood from it that his business was to reach the 
Ghazni road at its nearest point in the direction of 
Arghandeh, and that he thought it better, with a thirty 
milee' march in prospect, to take the most direct line in 
order to save his horees, to economize time in a short 
December day, and to keep as near as he could to the 

The memorandum waa M followe : 
' Brigadier-General Mamy will s b r t  at eight am. to-morrow with a 

q&n of Cavalry, join the Cavalry and Horse Artillery now out 
under Colonel Gordon, taking oommand thereof, and operating tower& 
-deb in conjunotion with Brigmdier-General Mecpherson. The 
troop Lo return in the evening.' 
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column with which he was to co-operate ; further, he stated 
that he was under the impreesion there was little likeli- 
hood of his meeting with any of the enemy nearer than 
Arghandeh. 

On starting from Aushar Maesy detached a troop of the 
9th Lancers to communicate with Macpherson. Thie 
reduced his column to 247 British and 44 Native Cavalry, 
with 4 Horse Artillery guns. 

As the party moved along the Chardeh valley, a loud 
beating of drums was heard, and Captain Bloomfield 
Gough, 9th Lancers, commanding the advance guard, per- 
ceived when he had moved to about a mile north of Kils 
Kazi, that the enemy were occupying hills on both eidee 
of the Ghazni road, about two miles to his left front, and 
sent back word to that effect. Massy, not believing that 
the Afghans had collected in any considerable numbers, 
continued to advance ; but he wae eoon undeceived by the 
crowds of men and waving standards which shortly came into 
view moving towards Kila Kazi. He then ordered Major 
Smith-Wyndham to open h e ,  but the range, 2,900 yards, 
being considered by Colonel Gordon, the senior Artillery 
officer, too far for his six-pounders, after a few rounds the 
guns were moved across the Ghazni road, and again 
brought into action at 2,600 yards; as this distance wee 
still found to be too great, they were moved to 2,000 yards. 
The enemy now preesed forward on Messy's left flank, 
which was also his line of retreat, and the gun8 had to be 
retired about a mile, covered on the right and left by the 
9th Lancers and the 14th Bengal Lancers resptively, 
and followed eo closely by the Afghane that when h e  waa 
next opened they were only 1,700 yards dietant. Four 
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advance could be retarded until Macpherson should come 
up, we might h o p  to retain possession of the city. It 
was, therefore, to the Afghan leader's interest to press on, 
while it was to ours to delay him as long as we possibly 
oodd. 

Pole Carew presently returned with a message from 
Messy that the enemy were close upon him, and that he 
could not keep them in check. I desired Pole Carew to 
go h k ,  order Messy to retire the guns, and cover the 
movement by a charge of Cavalry. 

The charge was led by Lieutenant-Colonel Cleland and 
Captain Neville, the former of whom fell dangerously 
wounded ; but the ground, terraced for irrigation purposes 
and intersected by nullas, eo impeded our Cavalry that 
the charge, heroic .as it was, made little or no impres- 
sion upon the overwhelming numbers of the enemy, now 
flushed with the triumph of having forced our p s  to 
retire. The effort, however, was worthy of the best 
traditions of our British and Indian Cavalry, and that it 
failed in its object was no fault of our gallant soldiers. 
To essist them in their extremity, I ordered two of Smyth- 
Windham's four guns to halt and come into action while the 
other two continued to retire, but these had not gone far 
before they got into such difficult ground that one had to 
be spiked and abandoned in a water-cut, where Smyth- 
Windham found it when he came up after having fired a 
few rounds at the fast-advancing foe. I now ordered Smyth- 
Windham to make for the village of Bhagwana with his three 
remaining guns, a13 the only chance left of aaving them. This 
he did, and having reached the village, he again opned fire 
from behind a low wall which enclosed the houses; but the 

VOL. IL 60 
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ammunition being nearly expended, and the enemy close a t  
hand, there was nothing for it but to limber up again and 
continue the retirement through the village. At the further 
a side, however, and forming part of its defences, wae a 
formidable obstacle in the shape of a ditch fully twelve feet 
deep, narrowing towards the bottom; across thie Smyth- 
Windham tried to take his guns, and the leading horses 
had just begun to scramble up the further bank, when one 
of the wheelers stumbled and fell, with the result that the 
shafts broke and the gun stuck fast, blocking the only 
point at which there was any possibility of getting the 
others across. 

With a faint hope of saving the guns, I directed 
Captain Stewart-Mackenzie, who had assumed command 
of the 9th Lancers on Cleland being disabled, to make a 
second charge, which he executed with the utmost 
gallantry,* but to no purpose; and in the meanwhile 
Smyth-Windham had given the order to unhook and spike 
the guns. 

By this time the enemy were within a few hundred 
yards of Bhagvana, and the inhabitants had begun to fire 
at us from the roofs of their houses. I was endeavour- 
ing to help some men out of the ditch, when the head- 
man of the village rushed at me with his knife, seeing 
which, a Nahomedant of the 1st Bengal Cavalry, who 
was following me on foot, having just had his horse shot 
under him, sprang at my assailant, and, seizing him 

" Stewart-hlackenzie's horse was shot, and fell on him, and he WM 

extricated with the greatest difficulty. 
t Mazr Ali was given the order of merit for his brave action, d 

ie now a Native officer in the regiment. 
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m u d  the waist, threw him to the bottom of the ditch, 
thereby saving my life.* 

Suddenly the Afghans stayed their advance for a few 
minutes, thinking, as I afterwards learnt, that our Infantry 
were in the village-a pause which allowed many of our 
Cavalry who had lost their horses to escape.+ 

+ Our Chaplain (Adams), who had accompanied me throughout the 
day, behaved in this particular place with conspicuous gallentry. 
Seeing a wounded man of the 9th Lancers staggering towards him, 
Admu dismounted, and tried to lift the man on to his own charger. 
Unfortunately, the mare, a very valuable animal, broke loose, and WM 

never seen again. Admms, however, managed to support the Lancer 
until he was able to make him over to some of his own comrades. 

Aduns rejoined me in time to assist two more of the 9th who were 
struggling under their horses at the bottom of the ditch. Without 
a moment's hesitation, Adams jumped into the ditch. He was a n  
unusually powerful man, and by sheer strength dragged the Lancers 
clear of their horses. The Afghans meanwhile had reached Bhagwanq 
m d  were so close to the ditch that I thought my friend the padre 
could not possibly escape. I called out to h i n ~  to look after himeelf, 
but he paid no attention to my warnings until he had pulled the almoet 
exhausted Lancers to the top of the alippery bank. Adams received 
the Victoria Croas for his conduct on thia occasion. 

t These men were much impeded by their long boots and their 
swords dangling between their legs; the sight, indeed, of Cavalry 
soldiers trying to defend themeelves on foot without a firearm confirmed 
the opinion I had formed during the Mutiny, ee to the doairability for 
the carbine being slung on the man's back when going into action. 
Lientenant-Colonel Beehman (Colonel Cleland's successor) curiously 
emongh had brought with him from England a sling which admitted of 
this b e i i  done, and also of the carbine being carried in the bucket on 
dl ordinary occasions. This pattern wee adopted, and during the 
remainder of the campaign the men of the 9th Lancers placed their 
-bin- on their becks whenever the enemy were reported to be in 
sight. At the m e  time I authorized the adoption of an arrangement 
-& brought to my notice by Colonel Bushman, by which the sword 
ru fastened to tho a d d l e  instead of round tho man's body. T h t  
mode of wearing the sword was for some time strenuously opposed 
in thin country, but its utility could not fail to be recognized, and in 
lwl a n  order wan issued sanctioning its adoption by all mounted t r o o p  
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Directly we had got clear of the village the Cavalry 
reformed, and retired slowly by alternate squadzone, in a 
manner which excited my highest admiration, and reflected 
the greatest credit on the soldierly qualities of Stewart- 
Mackenzie and Neville. From Bhagwana, Deh-i-Maasng 
was three miles distant, and it was of vital importance to 
keep the enemy back in order to give the Highlanders from 
Sherpur time to reach the gorge. 

For a time the Afghans continued to press on as before, 
but after a while their advance gradually became slower 
and their numbers somewhat decreased. This change in 
Mahomed Jan's tactics, it afterwards turned out, was 
cansed by Macpherson's advance guard coming into colli- 
sion with the rear portion of his army; it  as of the 
greatest advantage to us, as it enabled the 72nd to arrive 
in time to bar the enemy's paesage through the gorge. 
My relief was great when I beheld them, headed by their 
eager Commander, Brownlow, doubling through the gap 
and occupying the village of Deh-i-Mazang and the heights 
on either side. The Cavalry greeted them with hearty 
cheers, and the volleys delivered by the Highlanders from 
the roofs of the houses in the village soon checked the 
Afghans, some of whom turned back, while others made 

for Indiki and the slopes of the Takht-i-Shah. For a time, 
at any rate, their hopes of getting possession of Kabul had 
been frustrated. 

I t  will be remembered that the orders I sent to Nacpher- 
son on the 10th were that he was to march very early the 
nest morning, as Massy with the Horse Artillery and 
Cavalry would leave Aushar at 9 a.m., and that he must 
join him on the Arghandeh road. Macpherson did not 
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make so early a start as I had intended ; from one cause or 
another, he mid, he was not able to leave Karez-i-Mir before 
eight o'clock. On reaching the Surkh Kotal he observed 
deme bodies of the enemy harrying from the Paghman 
and Arghandeh directions towards Kila Kazi, and he 
pnahed on, hoping to be able to deal with them individually 
before they had time to concentrate. For the &st three 
miles from the foot of the pass the view was obstructed by 
a range of hills, and nothing could be seen of the Horse 
Artillery and Cavalry ; but soon after 10 a.m. the booming 
of guns warned Macphemon that fighting was going on, 
but he could not tell whether it was Baker's or Massy's 
troops which were engaged. He was, however, not left 
long in doubt, for Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, atbached 
to Macpherson as political officer, and who had gone on 
with his advance guard, sent back word that he could 
distinguish British Cavalry charging the Afghans, and aa 
Baker had only Native Cavalry with him, Macpherson 
knew at once that the action was being fought by Maaey. 
Suddenly the firing ceased, and be was informed that the 
enemy were advancing on Kabul, and that their vanguard 
had already reached the belt of orchards and encloeuree, 
on the further fringe of which the smoke from our guns 
and the charge of our Cavalry had been seen. 

Macpherson, feeling that something serious had occurred, 
called on his men to make a further effort. At 12.50 p.m., 
leee than an hour after we had begun to retire, he reached 
the ground where the fight had taken place. The dead 
bodies of our officers and men, stripped and horribly 
mutilated, proved how fierce had been the struggle, and 
tbe dropping shote which came from the fortzed villagem 
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in the neighbonrhood and from the ravines, warned the 
Brigadier-General that some of the enemy were still in the 
neighbourhood. But these men, so bold in the confidence 
of overwhelming numbers when attacking Massy's Cavalry, 
were not prepared to withstand Macpherson's Infantry; 
after a brief resistance they broke and fled in confusion, 
eome to Indiki, but the greeter number to the shelter of the 
hills south of Kila Kazi, to which place Macpherson followed 
them, intending to halt there for the night. This I did not 
allow him to do, for, seeing the heavy odds we had opposed 
to us, and that the enemy were already in possession of the 
Takht-i-Shah, thus being in a position to threaten the Bala 
Hisser, I sent orders to him to fall back upon Deh-i- 
Mazang, where he arrived about 7 p.m. 

Meanwhile, Macpherson's baggage, with a guard of the 
6th Gurkhas, commanded by Major Cook, V.C., was 

attacked by some Afghans, who had remained concealed 
in the Paghman villages, and it would probably have 
f~ l l en  into their hands, as the Gurkhas were enormously 
outnumbered, but for the timely arrival of four companiee 
of the 3rd Sikhs, under Major Griffiths, who had been left 
by Macpherson to see everything safely down the paas. 
Cook himself was knocked over and stunned by a blow, while 
his brother in the 3rd Sikhs received a severe bullet-wonnd 
close to his heart. 

During the retirement from Bhagwana, Macgregor, my 
Chief of the Staff, Durand, Badcock, and one or two other 
staff oficere, got separated from me and were presently 
overtaken by an oficer (Captain Gerald Martin), sent 
by Macpherson to tell Massy he was coming to his 
assistance as fast as his Infantry could travel ; Martin 
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informed Nacgregor that as he rode by Bhagwana he 
had come across our abandoned guns, and that there waa 
no enemy anywhere near them. On hearing this, Macgregor 
retraced his steps, andi assisted by the staff officers with 
him and a few Horse Artillerymen and Lancers, and some 
Gurkhas of Nacpherson's baggage guard picked up on the 
way, he managed to rescue the guns and bring them into 
Sherpur that night. They had been stripped of all their 
movable parts, and the ammunition-boxes had been emptied; 
otherwiee they were intact, and were fit for use the next day. 

I found assembled at Deh-i-Nazang Wali Mahomed and 
other Sirdam, who had been watching with considerable 
anxiety the issue of the fight, for they knew if the Afghans 
succeeded in their endeavours to enter Kabul, dl property 
belonging to people supposed to be friendly to us would be 
plundered and their houses destroyed. I severely upbraided 
these men for having misled me as to the strength and 
movemente of Mahomed Jan's army, and with having 
failed to fulfil their engagement to keep me in communi- 
cation with Baker. They declared they had h e n  misin- 
formed themselves, and were powerless in the matter. 
It was diflicult to believe that this was the case, and I was 
unwillingly forced to the conclusion that not a single 
Afghan could be trusted, however profuse he might be in 
his assurances of fidelity, and that me must depend entirely 
on our o m  resources for intelligence. 

I waited at  Deh-i-Mazang until Macpherson arrived, and 
thus did not get beck to Sherpur till after dark. I wae 
gratified on my arrival there to find that Hugh Gough had 
made every arrangement that could be desired for the 
defence of the cantonment, and that by his own cool and 
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confident bearing he had kept the troops calm and steady, 
notwithstanding the untoward appearance of some fugitivee 
from the field of battle, whose only too evident atate of 
elarm might otherwise have caused a panic. 

For the safety of Sherpnr I never for one moment had 
the smallest apprehension during that eventful day. I t  wee, 
I believe, thought by some that if Mahomed Jan, instead 
of trying for the city, had made for the cantonment, it 
would have fallen into his hands ; but they were altogether 
wrong, for there were a sufficient number of men within the 
walla to have prevented such a catastrophe had Mahomed 
Jan been in a position to make an attack ; but this, with 
Macpherson's brigade immediately in his rear, he could 
never have dreamt of attempting. 

The city of Kabul remained perfectly quiet while all the 
excitement I have described was going on outside. Hills, 
with a few Sikhs, patrolled the principal streets, and even 
when the Afghan standard appeared on the Takbt-i-Bhah 
there was no sign of disturbance. Nevertheless, I thought 
it would be wise to withdraw from the city ; I could not tell 
how long the people would remain well disposed, or whether 
they would assist us to keep the enemy out. I therefore 
directed Hills to come away and make over his charge to 
an influential h'izilbash named Futteh Khan. I also 
telegraphed to General Bright at Jalalabad to reinforce 
Gandamak by a sufficient number of troops to hold that 
poet in caae it should be necessary to order Brigadier- 
General Charles Gough, who was then occupying it, to 
move his brigade nearer to Kabul; for I felt sure that, 
unless I could succeed in driving Mahomed Jan out of the 
mighbourhood of Kabul, excitement would certainly apread 
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along my line of communication. I concluded my message 
to Bright thus : ' If the wire should be cut, consider it a 
bad sign, and push on to Gandamak, aending Gough's 
brigade towards Kabul.' 

I could not help feeling somewhat depressed a t  the turn 
things had taken. I had no news from Baker, and we had 
undoubtedly suffered a reverse, which I knew only too well 
would give confidence to the Afghans, who, from the footing 
they had now gained on the heights above Kabul, threat- 
ened the Bala Hissar, which place, stored as it was with 
powder and other maberial of war, I had found it necessary 
to continue to occupy. Nevertheless, reviewing the incidents 
of the l l t h  December, as I have frequently done since, with 
all the concomitant circumstances deeply impressed on my 
memory, I have failed to diecover that any disposition of 
my force different from that I made could have had better 
reuulte, or that what did occur could have been averted by 
greeter forethought or more careful calculation on my 

pert. Two deviations from my programme (which probably 
a t  the time appeared unimportant to the Commandera in 
question) were the principal factors in bringing about the 
unfortunate occurrences of that day. Had Macpherson 
marched a t  7 a.m. instead of 8, and had Massy followed 
the route I had arranged for him to take, Nahomed Jan 
mast hare fallen into the trap I had prepared for him. 

Our casualties on the l l t h  were- killed, 4 Britieh 
o5cers. 16 British and B Native rank and file; wounded, 
4 British officers, 1 Native officer, 20 British and 10 Native 
rank and file. 



CHAPTER LVI. 

h the morning of the 12th I was cheered by hearing 
that the Guides had arrived during the night under the 
command of Colonel F. Jenkins-a moat welcome rein- 
forcement, for I knew how thoroughly to be depended 
upon was every man in that distinguished corps. 

The &st thing now to be done was to endeavour to 
drive the Afghans from the crest of the Takht-i-Shah ; and 
I directed Macpherson, as soon as his men had breaktested, 
to attack the position from Deh-i-Mazang. Just then my 
mind was considerably relieved by a heliogram from Baker 
informing me that he was on his way back to Kabul. The 
message was despatched from near Kila Kazi, within four 
miles of which place Baker had encamped on the afternoon 
of the previous day. 

Macphereon deputed the task of trying to dislodge the 
enemy to Lieutenant-Colonel Money, of the 3rd Sikhs, with 
a detachment consisting of 2 Mountain guns and 660 
British and Native Infantry. 

I t  was a most formidable position to attack. The slopee 
leading up to it were covered with huge massee of jagged 
rock, intersected by perpendicular cliffs, and its natural 
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great strength was increaeed by breastworks, and stockades 
thrown up at Merent  points. 

After a gallant and persistent attempt had been made, 
I ordered the assault to be deferred ; for I perceived that 
the enemy were being reinforced from their rear, and to 
eneure succees without great loss, it would be necessary to 
n t i k  them in rear as well as in the front. The arrival 
of Baker's brigade made it possible to do this. I there- 
fore ordered Macpherson to hold the ground of which he 
had gained posseesion until Baker could co-operate with 
him next morning from the Beni Hissar side. 

During the night Mahomed Jan, who had been joined by 
88veral thousands from Logar and Wardak, occupied the 
villages situated between Beni Hissar and the Bala Hissar 
and along the sang-i-nawishta road. Baker, who started 
at 8 a.m. on the 13th,* had, tharefore, in the first place, to 
gain the high ground above these villages, and, while 
holding the point over-looking Beni Hisser, to wheel to hie 
right and move towards the Takht-i-Shah. 

When he had proceeded some little distance, his advance 
guard reported that large bodies of the enemy were moving 
up the slope of the ridge from the villages near Beni Hissar. 
To check this movement, and prevent the already very 
difficult Afghan position being still further strengthened, 
Major White, who was in command of the leading portion 
of the attacking party, turned and made for the nearest 
point on the ridge. I t  was now a race between the High- 

* Hia toroe comisted of 4 guns, Field Artillery; 4 Mountain gum; 
1 q t m h n  9th Lancers; 6th Punjeb Cavalry; 6 companies 92nd 
Highbdern ; 7 companies Guides ; and 800 8rd G i s  ; and snb- 
quent ly  it wee strengthened by 160 of the 6th Punjab Infantry. 
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landers and the Afghans as to who should gain the crest of 
the ridge f h t .  The Artillery came into action at a range 
of 1,900 yards, and under cover of their fire the %d, 
supported by the Guides, rushed up the steep s l o p .  
They were met by a furious onslaught, and a desperate 
conflict took place. The leading officer, Lieutenant 
Forbes, a lad of great promise, was killed, and Colour- 
Sergeant Drummond fell by his side. For a moment even 
the brave Highlanders were staggered by the numbers and 
fury of their antagonists, but only for a moment. Lieu- 
tenant Dick Cunyngham* sprang forward to cheer them 
on, and confidence was restored. With a wild shout the 
Highlanders threw themselves on the Afghans, and qniokly 
sucoeeded in driving them down the further side of the 
ridge. 

By this successful movement the enemy's line was cat 
in two, and while the Cavalry and a party of the 3rd S i k h  
prevented their rallying in the direction of Beni Hitmar, 
the 92nd and Guides, protected by the Mountain guns, 
which had been got on to the ridge, and the Field 
Artillery from below, advanced towards the Takht-i-Shah. 
The Afghans disputed every inch of the way, but by 
11.30 a.m. White's men had reached the foot of the 
craggy eminence which formed the enemy's main position. 
They were here joined by some of the 72nd Highlandere, 
8rd Sikhs, and 5th Gurkhas, nnder the command of 
Lieutenant - Colonel Money, who had fought their way 
from the upper Bala Hissar. 

A brilliant charge by the combined troops now took 

Dick Cunynghem received the Viotoria Cross for eonrpicooar 
gallantry and coolness on this occasion. 
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piace, the two Highland corps vying with each other for 
the honour of reaching the summit first. I t  fell to the 
?and, Colour-Sergeant Yule* of that regiment being the 
foremost man on the top. The enemy made a most deter- 
mined stand, and it was only after a severe struggle and 
heavy loss that they were driven off the heights. 

From my position at Sherpur I had the satisfaction of 
witnessing this success. This satisfaction, however, was 
short-lived, for almost immediately I received a report from 
the city that the inhabitants had joined the tribesmen, and 
that the cantonment was being threatened ; indeed, I could 
eee large bodies of armed men emerging from the city and 
moving towards Siah Sang, whence the road between the 
Bala Hissar and Sherpur would be commanded. 

Having only too evidently lost control over the city, the 
value of Deh-i-Mazang was gone, 80 I ordered Macpherson to 
abandon it and move to the Shahr-i-Darwaza heights, taking 
with him six companies of the 67th Foot for the protection 
of the Bala Hissar, to which it was desirable to hold on as 
long as possible. The remainder of his troops I ordered to 
be sent to Sherpur. To Baker I signalled to leave a party 
on the Takht-i-Shah under Lieutenant-Colonel Money, and 
to move himself towards the cantonment with the rest of 
his troope, driving the enemy off the Siah Sang on the way. 

But from his point of vantage on the heights Baker could 
see, what I could not, that the Afghans had occupied two 
strongly fortified villages between Siah Sang and the Bala 
Hiesar, from which it was necessary to dislodge them 
in the first inetance, and for this service he detached the 

Thin gallant non-oommiseioned officer wes killed the following 
b y .  
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5th Punjab Infantry and a battery of Artillery. It wae 
carried out in a masterly manner by Major Pratt, who 
soon gained possession of one village. The other, however, 
was resolutely held, and the Artillery failing to effect a 
breach, the gates were set on fire ; but even then a satis- 
factory opening was not made, and the place was eventually 
captured by means of scaling-ladders hastily made of poles 
tied together with the Native soldiers' turbans. 

Baker was now able to turn his attention to Siah Sang, 
so I despatched the Cavalry under Massy, to act with him 
when a signal success was achieved. The enemy fought 
stubbornly, but were at last driven off. The 5th Punjab 
Cavalry, led by Lieutenant-Colonel Williams and Major 
Hammond, greatly distinguished themselves, and a grand 
charge was made by the Guides and 9th Lancers, in which 
Captain Butson, of the latter regiment, was killed, also the 
troop Sergeant-Major and 3 men ; and Captain Chisholme,* 
Lieutenant Trower, and 8 men were wounded. 

This ended the operations on the 13th. Our losses 
during the day were : killed, 2 British officers and 12 men ; 
wounded, 2 British officers and 43 men, British and Native. 

I was in great hopes that our successes and the heavy 
losses the enemy had sustained would result in the break- 
ing up of the combination against us;  but in case them 
hopes should not be realized, I decided to do away with 
some of the smaller posts on the line of communication, 
and order up more troops. Accordingly, I telegraphed to 
General Bright to send on Charles Gough's brigade, and I 

* Notwithstanding that his wound wes most severe, Captain 
Chisholme remained in the saddle, and brought the regiment out of 
action. 
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directed the detachment at Butkhak to return to Kabul, 
and that at Seh Babe to fall back on Lataband. Having 
great confidence in its Commander, Colonel Hudson, I 
determined to hold on to Lataband for a time, though by so 
doing the numbers I might otherwise have had at Sherpur 
were considerably diminished. Lataband was the most im- 
portant link in the chain of communication between Kabul 
and Jalalabad; it was in direct heliographic connexion 
with Kabul; it had euficient ammunition and supplies 
to last over the date on which Gough should arrive at 
Sherpur, and its being held would be a check on the 
Ghilzais, and prevent his encountering any serious oppo- 
aition. At the =me time, I could not disguise from my- 
eelf that there was a certain amount of risk attached to 
leaving so small a garrison in this somewhat isolated 
position. 

The night of the 13th passed quietly, but when day 
dawned on the 14th crowds of armed men, with numerous 
M d a r d s ,  could be seen occupying a hill on the Kohistan 
road ; and as day advanced they proceeded in vast numbers 
to the Asmai heights, where they were joined by swarms 
from the city and the Chardeh valley. I t  then became 
apparent that the combination was much more formidable 
than I had imagined, and that the numbers of the enemy 
now in opposition to us were tar greater than I had dreamt 
waa poseible. Foiled in their attempt to close in upon US 

from the south and west, the tribesmen had concentrated to 
the north, and it was evident they were preparing to deliver 
an attack in great strength from that quarter. I quickly 
decided to drive the enemy off the Asmai heights, to cut 
their communication with Kohietan, and to operate towards 
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the north, much as I had operated the previous day to the 
south of Sherpur. 

At 9 a.m. I despatched Brigadier-General Baker to the 
eastern slope of the Asmai range with the following troops : 
4 guns, Field Artillery; 4 guns, Mountain Artillery ; 14th 
Bengal Lancers ; 72nd Highlanders (192 rifles) ; 92nd 
Highlanders (100 rifles) ; Guides Infantry (460 rifles) ; and 
5th Punjab Infantry (470 riflee). 

Covered by the fire of his Artillery, Baker seized the 
conical hill which formed the northern boundary of the 
Alisbad Kotal, thus placing himself on the enemy's line of 
communication, and preventing them from being reinforced. 
He then proceeded to attack the Asmai heights, leaving 
2 Mountain guns, 64 men of the 72nd, and 60 Guides, under 
the command of Lieutenant-Colonel W. H. Clarke, to hold 
the hill. 

To aid Baker in his difticult task, I brought four guns 
into action near the north-west corner of the cantonment, 
and I signalled to Macpherson to give him every possible 
assistance. Macpherson at once sent the 67th across the 
Kabul river to threaten the enemy's left rear; while the 
marksmen of the regiment and the Mountain guns opened 
fire from the northern elope of the Bale Hissar heights. 

The enemy fought with the greatest obstinacy, but 
eventually our troops reached the top of the hill, where, on 
the highest point, a number of ghrrzis had taken their stand, 
determined to sell their lives dearly. 

All this I eagerly watched from my place of observation. 
There was a fierce struggle, and then, to my intense 
relief, I saw our men on the topmost pinnacle, and I knew 
the position was gained. 
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I t  was now a little past noon, and I was becoming 
anxious about the party left on the conical hill, as Mac- 
pherson had heliogrbphed that very large bodies of 
Afghans were moving northwards from Indiki, with the 
intention, apparently, of effecting a junction with the 
tribesmen who were occupying the hills in the Kohisten 
direction. I therefore signalled to Baker to leave the 67th 
in charge of the hsmai heights, and himself return to the 
lower ridge, giving him my reasons. 

Baker at once despatched a detachment of the 6th 
Pnajab Infantry, under Captain Hall, to reinforce Clarke, 
who I could see might soon be hard pressed, and I sent 
!WO rifles of the 3rd Sikhs (the only troops available at the 
moment) to his assistance. 

I watched what was taking place on the conical hill 
through my talescope, and was startled to perceive that the 
enemy were, unnoticed by him, creeping close up to Clarke's 
poeition. I could just see a long Afghan knife appear above 
the ridge, steadily mounting higher and higher, the bearer 
of which was being concealed by the contour of the hill, and 
I knew that it was only one of the many weapons which were 
being carried by our enemies to the attack. The reinforce- 
ments were still some distance off, and my heart sank within 
me, for I felt convinced that after our recent victories the 
Afghans would never venture to cross the open and attack 
British soldiers unless an overwhelming superiority of 
numbers made success appear to them a certainty. Next I 
heard the boom of guns and the rattle of musketry, and a 
minute or two later (which, in my anxiety, seemed an 
eternity to me), I only too plainly saw our men retreat- 
ing down the hill, cloeely followed by the enemy. The 
VOL. 11. 6 1 
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retirement was being conducted steadily and slowly, but 
from that moment I realized, what is hard for a British 
soldier, how much harder for a British commander, to 
realize, that we were over-matched, and that we could not 
hold our ground. 

Clarke,. as well as every man with him, fought splendidly; 
the Afghans by force of numbers alone made themselves 
masters of the position and captured two guns.t 

While all that I have described was going on, the enemy 
began to collect again on Siah Sang, and to make their 
way round the eastern flank of the cantonment towards 
Kohietan. 

I had sent orders in the morning to Lieutenant-Colonel 
Williams, who was quartered with his regiment (the 5th 
Punjab Cavalry) in the King's Garden, between Sherpur 
and the city, to be on the look-out, and not to allow any of 
the enemy to pass in that direction. About 1 p.m. some 
400 Afghans were observed moving along the left bank of 
the river : these were met by Captain Vousden of the same 

+ Clarke never recovered the loss of this post. He and I had been 
cadets together at  Sandhunt, and I often visited him while he WM in 
hospital a t  Sherpur. H e  was apparently suEering from no disease. 
but gradunlly faded away, and died not long after he reached Ind ia  

t General Baker, in his despatch, stated that ' KO blame for the 1- 
of these gun8 is in any way to be attached to the officers and men of 
No. 2 Mountain Battery. . . . Every credit is due to Captain 
Swinleg, the late Lieutennnt Montanaro, and Lieutenant Liddell, and 
the several Native officers, non-commiesioned officers and men com- 
poeing the gun detechments, for the gallant manner in which they 
stood to their guns to the last, and it was only on the sudden rush of 
this overwhelming force of the enemy that they had to retire with tho 
loss of two guns.' 

Of the men composing the gun detachments, one wee killed and 
six wounded, and Surgeon-Major Joshua Duke wee specially men- 
tioned for his attention to the wounded under heavy fire. 
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regiment, who with one troop was employed in recon- 
noitring ; he most gallantly charged in amongst them with 
only twelve of his men, the remaindei being effectually 
stopped by a heavy fire opened upon them from behind a 
low well. Vousden succeeded in dispersing these heavy 
odds, and in inflicting severe loss upon them-a very 
brilliant service, for which he received the Victoria Cross. 

My object throughout these operations had been, as I 
hope I have made clear, to break up the combination 
by dealing with the enemy in detail, and preventing them 
getting possession of the city and the Bala Hissar. 

Up till noon on the 14th I had no idea of the extra- 
ordinary numbere they were able to bring together, and I 
had no reaeon to believe that it mould be possible for 
them to cope with disciplined troops ; but the manner in 
which the conical hill had been retaken gave me a more 
correct idea of their strength and determination, and shook 
my confidence in the ability of my comparatively small 
force to resist the ever - increasing hordes, on ground 
which gave every advantage to numerical superiority. I t  
rrae a bitter thought that it might be my duty to retire 
for a time within the defences of Sherpur, a measure which 
would involve the abandonment of the city and the Bala 
Hissar, and which I knew, moreover, would give heart to 
the tribesmen. 

I had to decide at or~ce on the course I ought to pursue, 
for, if I continued to act on the defensive, food and ammu- 
nition must be sent before dark to Macpherson's brigade 
occupying the hills above the city, and arrangements must 
be made for Baker's retention of the Asmai heights. I 
heliographed to Macpherson to inquire the direction in 
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which the enemy were moving, and whether their numbers 
were still increasing. He replied that large masses were 
e W i l y  advancing from north, south, and west, and that 
their numbers were momentarily becoming greater, to 
which the young officer in charge of the signalling station 
added, 'The crowds of Afghans in the Chardeh valley 
remind me of Epsom on the Derby day.' 

This decided me; I determined to withdraw from all 
ieo1at.d positions, and concentrate my force at Sherpur, 
thereby securing the safety of the cantonment and avoidmg 
what had now become a useless sacrifice of life. I only too 
thoroughly recognized the evils of the measure, but I con- 
sidered that no other course would be justifiable, and that 
I must act for the present entirely on the defensive, and 
wait until the growing confidence of the enemy should 
.afford me a favourable opportunity for attacking them, or 
mt i l  reinforcements could arrive. 

The inevitable order reached the two Generals at 2 p.m., 
and the retirement was begun at once. The Afghans 
speedily discovered the retrograde movement, and no sooner 
had each post in its turn been evacuated than it wae 
occupied by the enemy, who pressed our troops the whole 
way back to the cantonment. There was hand-to-hand 
fighting, and many splendid acts of courage were performed, 
Major Hammond, of the Guides, earning the Victoria Cross ; 
but throughout there was no hurry or confusion, all wee 
conducted with admirable coolneas and skill, and shortly 
after dark the troops and baggage were mfe inside Sherpur. 
That night the Afghans occupied the city and the Bale 
Hissar. 
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I t  is comparatively easy for a small body of well-trained 
eoldiers, such as those of which the army in India is com- 
poeed, to act on the offensive against Asiatics, however 
powerful they may be in point of numbers. There is some- 
thing in the determined advance of a compact, diaoiplined 
body of troops which they can seldom resist. But a retire- 
ment is a Werent matter. They become full of confidence 
and valour the moment they see any signs of their opponents 
being unable to resist them, and if there is the smallest 
eymptom of unsteadiness, wavering, or confusion, a disaster 
is cartain to occur. It may be imagined, therefore, with 
what intense anxiety I watched for hours the withdrawal. 
The ground was all in favour of the Afghans, who, un- 
impeded by impedimenta of any kind, swarmed down upon 
the mere handful of men retreating before them, shouting 
cries of victory and brandishing their long knives ; but our 
breve men, inspired by the undaunted bearing of their 
ofioers, were absolutely steady. They took up position 
after position with perfect coolness ; every movement was 
carried out with as much precision as if they were 
mencsuming on an ordinary field-day ; and the killed and 
wounded were brought away without the slightest hurry 
or confusion. In  fact, the whole of the hazardous 
operation was most successfully and admirably carried 
out; and as each regiment and detachment filed through 
the Head-Quarters gateway I was able to offer my warm 
congratulations and heartfelt thanks to my gallant 
codes. 
Our lossea during the day were : 19 killed, including 

Captain Spens and Lieutenant Gaisford, 72nd Highlanders, 
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and 88 wounded, amongst whom were Captain Gordon, 
92nd Highlanders, Lieutenant Egerton, 72nd Highlanders, 
and Captain Battye, of the Guides.* 

The m e  offioar who eo gallantly met his death during the recent 
Chitd campaign, while oommanding the regiment of which he wu, ro 
justly proud, end in which two brave brothere had been killed before 
him-Quinton at Delhi, and Wigram during the 6mt p b  of the 
Afghan war. 



CHAPTER LVII. 

THB moment the gates were closed I telegraphed the 
result of the day's operations to the Viceroy and Com- 
mander-in-Chief, for I knew that the enemy's first thought 
would be to stop communication with India by cutting the 
telegraph-wires. I reported that I had ordered Brigadier- 
General Charles Gongh's brigade to push on from Gan- 
damak as fast as possible; and I recommended that 
General Bright should have more troops sent up to him, to 
allow of his keeping open the route to Kabul, and of his 
reinforcing me should I find it impossible to clear the 
country with the force at my disposal. It was a satisfac- 
tion to be able to assure the authorities in these, to me, 
otherwise painful telegrams, that there was no cause for 
anxiety as to the safety of the troops; that sufficient 
soppliee for men were stored in Sherpur for nearly four 
months, and for animals for six weeks ; that there was 
abundance of firewood, medicines, and hospital comforts, 
and sufficient ammunition both for guns and rifles to admit 
of an active resistance being carried on for between three 
and four months. 

It waa fortunate there was no lack of provisions, for our 
numbere were considerably increased by the presence of 
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Wali Mahomed Khan and many other Sirdars, who begged 
for shelter in Sherpur, on the plea that their lives would not 
be safe were they to return to the city. They were far from 
being welcome guests, for I could not trust them ; ostensibly, 
however, they were our friends, and I could not refuse 
their petition. I therefore admitted them, on condition 
that each Sirdar should only be accompanied by a specified 
number of followers. 

The stormy occurrences of the 14th were succeeded by a 
period of comparative calm, during which the entrench- 
ments were strengthened, and the heavy guns found in the 
Kabul arsenal were prepared for eervica 

The great drawback to Sherpur, as I have already men- 
tioned, was its extent and the impossibility of reducing the 
line of defences owing to the length of the Bimaru ridge. 
The cantonment was in the form of a parallelogram, with 
the Bimaru heights running along, and protecting, the 
northern side. Between this range and the hills, which 
form the southern boundary of Hohistan, lay a lake, or 
rather jhil, n barrier between which and the commanding 
Bimaru ridge no enemy would dare to advance. 

The massive wall on the south and west faces was twenty 
feet high, covered at a distance of thirty feet by a lower 
wall fifteen feet high ; the southern wall was pierced at 
intervals of about 700 yards by gateways, three in number, 
protected by lofty circular bastions, and between these and 
at the four corners were a series of low bastions whioh 
gave an admirable flanking fire. The wall on the western 
flank was of similar construction, but hed been consider- 
ably damaged at the northern end, evidently by an ax- 
plosion of gunpowder. 
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The weak part of our defence was on the eastern face, 
where the wall, which had never been completed, was only 
seven feet high, and did not extend for more than 700 
yards from the south-east corner; the line then ran to the 
north-west, and, skirting the village of Bimaru, ended at the 
foot of the ridge. 

From this description it will be seen that, though the 
perimeter* of Sherpur was rather too large for a force of 
7,000 effective men to defend, its powers of resistance, both 
natural and artificial, were considerable. I t  was absolutely 
necessary to hold the Bimaru ridge for its entire length ; 
to have given up any part of it would have been to repeat 
the mistake which proved so disastrous to Elphinetone's 
army in 1841. In fact, the Bimaru heights were at once 
the strength and the weakness of the position. So long 
ae we could hold the heights we were mfe from attack 
from the north; but if we had been forced, either from 
the weakness of our own garrison, or from any other cause, 
to relinquish the command of this natural barrier, the 
whole of the cantonment must have lain open to the 
enemy, and must forthwith have become untenable. 

The question of how Sherpur could best be defended had 
been carefully considered by a committee,t asrwmbled by 
my orders soon after our arrival in Kabul ; and a scheme 
had been drawn up detailing the measures which should 
be adopted in case of attack. 

On the recommendation of this committee six towers had 
been constructed on the Bimaru heights, and sheller 

4 Four and e half miles. 
t The committee consisted of Brigadier-General T. D. Baker, 

IieotenantColonel B. Perkins, commanding Royal Engineers, m d  
Lieubmnt-Colonel B. Gordon, commanding Royal Artillery. 
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trenches and gunpits made a t  the points where Infantry 
and Artillery fire could be used with the greatest advantage. 
These trenches were now deepened and prolonged, so aa to 
form one continuous line of defence, protected by an abattie ; 
and the defences in the depression between the heights were 
so arranged that fire could be brought to bear on an enemy 
advancing from the north. To strengthen the north-east 
corner, a battery was thrown up on the slope of the ridge, 
which was connected with the tower above and the village 
below. The village itself was loop-holed, the outlying 
buildings to the front made defensible, and the open space 
to the north-east secured by abattis and wire entangle- 
ments. The Native Field Hospital was strengthened in 
like manner, and sand-bag parapets were piled upon the 
roof, which was somewhat exposed. 

The unfinished wall on the eastern face was raised by 
logs of wood, and abattis and wire entanglements were 
placed in front. In the open space lying between the 
Bimaru ridge and the north-west circular bastion, a defence 
on the luuger system was constructed out of gun-carriages 
and limbers captured from the enemy ; while the village of 
Ghulam Hasan Khan, which formed an excellent flanking 
defence along the northern and western faces, was held 
as an independent post. 

I divided the whole of the defences into five sections, 
under the superintendence of five dzerent commanders : 
Brigadier-General Macpherson, Colonel Jenkins, Brigadier- 
General Hugh Gough, Major-General Hills, and Colonel 
Brownlow. Brigadier-General Massy was given the centre 
of the cantonment, where were collected the forage and fire- 
wood ; and Brigadier-General Baker commanded the reserve, 
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which was formed up a t  the depression in the Bimaru heights 
mentioned above, that he might be able to move rapidly to 
either end of the ridge, the weakest points in our defences. 

The several sections were connected with each other and 
with my Head-Quarters by a telegraph-wire, and visual 
u i g d h g  wee established a t  all important points. 

In my arrangements for the defence of Sheryur I relied 
to a great extent on the advice of my accomplished Chief 
Engineer, Colonel Bneas Perkins, and it was mainly owing 
to him, and to the exertions of his competent staff, that the 
work was camed on as rapidly and satisfactorily as it was. 

During thaw days of preparation the enemy remained 
comparatively inactive, being chiefly employed in looting 
the city and emptying the Amir's arsenal.   he gun- 
powder had been destroyed as far as possible ; but a great 
deal still remained, and many tons of it were carried off by 
the army of Mahomed Jan, who had now become the 
practical leader of the Afghan combination, and had lately 
proclaimed Yakub Khan's eldest son, Musa Khan, Amir. 

On the afternoon of the 16th I received the welcome 
news that Colonel Hudson had successfully resisted an 
attack on his position by the Ghilzais-welcome because 
I could now feel assured that Lataband could be depended 
upon to hold its own. 

For the next five days nothing of much importance was 
done on either side. The enemy took up positions daily 
in the neighbouring forts and gardens, causing a few 
casualties, and eome of our troops moved out to dislodge 
them from those places from which they could specially 
annoy ue. I destroyed some of the forts, and removed 
other cover in the immediate vicinity of the walls; but I 
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did not undertake any large sorties, for to have attempted to 
drive the enemy out of the outlying posts, which I could not 
then have held, would have been a useless waste of strength. 

My chief trouble at this time was the presence of the 
Afghan Sirdars within the cantonment. I had good reason 
to believe that some of them, though full of protestations 
of friendship, had been in communication with Mahomed 
Jan, the high-priest Mushk - i - Alam, and other Afghan 
leaders, so that I felt sure that neither they nor their 
followers were to be depended upon. I was also some- 
what anxious about the Pathan soldiers in our ranks, a 
feeling which I was unwilling to acknowledge even to 
myself, for they had hitherto behaved with marked loyalty, 
and done splendid service ; but they were now being ex- 
posed to a most severe trial, in that they were, as I knew, 
being constantly appealed to by their co-religionists to join 
in the jahacl against us, and bitterly reproached for serving 
their infidel masters. Whether they would be strong 
enough to resist such appeals, it was impossible to tell ; but 
it would have been most unwise, as well ae most painful to 
me, to show the slightest suspicion of these fine soldiem. 
I t  happened that the Corps of Guides and 6th Punjab 
Infantry, which had of all regiments the largest number of 
Mahomedans amongst them, were located at the two ex- 
tremities of the Bimaru range, the points most likely to be 
attacked; to have made any change in the disposition 
would have been to show that they were suspected, ao I 
determined (after taking their commanding officers, Colonele 
Jenkins and McQueen, into my confidence) to leave them 
where they were, and merely to strengthen each post by e 
couple of companies of Highlanders. 
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I wee also considerably exercised about the safety of the 
large stacks of firewood, grain, and forage, for if anything 
had happened to them we could not have continued to hold 
Sherpur. There were not enough British soldiers to furnish 
guards for these stacks, so I was obliged to have them 
watched for a time by officers ; an opportune fall of 
snow, however, on the night of the Nth,  rendered in- 
cendiarism impossible. 

One other extremely unpleasant precaution I felt it my 
duty to take was the placing of Deud Shah, Yakub Khan's 
Commander-in-Chief, under arrest. I liked the man, and 
he had mixed freely with us all for more than two 
months He was not, however, absolutely above suspicion : 
some of his near relatives were the most prominent amongst 
our enemies; and I had been struck by a change in his 
manner towards me of late. In trusting him to the extent 
I had done, I acted against the opinion of almost everyone 
about me, and now that I had a doubt myself, I felt I was 
not justified in leaving him at liberty, for if he were disposed 
to make use of his opportunities to our disadvantage, his 
unrestrained freedom of movement and observation would 
be certainly a source of great danger. 

For three or four days cloudy weather prevented helio- 
graph communication with Lataband, and messengers sent 
by Hudson had failed to reach Sherpur, so that we were 
without any news from the outer world ; but on the after- 
noon of the 18th I received a letter from Brigadier-General 
Charles Gough, conveying the disappointing intelligence 
tbat he had only got as far as Jagdalak, twenty-one miles 
from Gandamak, and that he did not consider himself 
strong enough to advance on Kabul. 
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Gough no doubt felt himself in an awkward position. 
The line to his rear was weakly held, the telegraph-wire on 
both sides of him was cut, his rear guard had been attacked 
near Jagdalak, there was a considerable collection of men 
on the hills to his front, and, as he reported, ' the whole 
country was up.' Moreover, Major-General Bright, under 
whom Gough was immediately serving, shared his opinion 
that it would be wiser for him to wait until reinforcements 
came up from the rear. 

Gough, however, had with him 4 Nountain guns and 125 
Artillerymen, 73 Sappers and Miners, 222 Native Cavalry, 
487 British Infantry, and 474 Gurkhas ; in all, 1,381 men, 
besides 36 officers-not a very large force, but composed of 
excellent material, and large enough, I considered, aug- 
mented, as it would be, by the Lataband detachment, to 
move safely on Kabul. I had no hesitation, therefore, in 
sending Gough peremptory orders to advance without 
delay, thus relieving him of all responsibility in the event 
of anything unexpected occurring. 

Hudson, at Lataband, as has already been recorded, was 
only victualled until the 23rd, before which date I had 
calculated that Gough would surely have relieved the 
garrison and brought the troops away. But now all was 
uncertain, and it was incumbent upon me to send them food. 
The difficulty as to how to get supplies to Lataband wee 
solved by some Hazaras, who had been working in our 
camp for several weeks, volunteering to convey what was 
necessary, and it was arranged that the provisions should 
be sent with two parties, one on the 19th, the other on the 
20th. The first got through safely, but the second almost 
entirely fell into the hands of the enemy. 
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On the 21st a heliogram from Hudson informed me that 
Oongh's brigade was expected the next day; but as it 
had been found necessary to drop his Cavalry at the 
eeveral posh he passed on the way for their better pro- 
tection, I deemed it expedient to send him the 12th Bengal 
Cavalry, for he had to pass through some fairly open 
country near Butkhak, where they might possibly be of 
nse to him. Accordingly, they started at 3 a.m. on the 
B n d ,  with instructions to halt at Butkhak should that 
pod be unoccupied, otherwise to push on to Lataband. 

Finding the former place in possession of the Afghans, 
Major Green, who was-in command of the regiment, made 
for the hr ther  post, where he arrived with the loss of only 
three men killed and three wounded. 

It was not easy to get reliable information as to the 
movements or intentions of the enemy while we were sur- 
rounded in Sherpur ; but from spies who managed to pass 
to and from the city under cover of night, I gathered that 
plans were being made to attack us. 

. I t  was not, however, until the 21st thnt there were any 
very great signs of activity. On that and the following 
day the several posts to the east of the cantonment were 
occupied preparatory to an attack from that quarter; and 
I wee told that numbers of scaling-ladders were being con- 
et~ucted. This looked like business. Next, information 
wee brought in that, in all the mosques, mullas were 
making frantic appeals to the people to unite in one h a 1  
d o r t  to exterminate the infidel ; and that the aged Mushk- 
i-Alam was doing all in his power to fan the flame of 
fanaticism, promising to light with his o m  hand at dawn 
on the 28rd (the last day of the Moharrain, when religious 
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exaltation amongst Mahomedans is at its height) the 
beacon-fire which was to be the signal for assault. 

The night of the 22nd was undisturbed, save by the songs 
and cries of the Afghans outside the walls, but just before 
day the flames of the signal-fire, shooting upwards from 
the topmost crag of the Asmai range, were plainly to be 
men, followed on the instant by a burst of firing. 

Our troops were already under arms and at their poets, 
waiting for the assault, which commenced with heavy firing 
against the eastern and southern faces. The most deter- 
mined attack was directed against the two sections com- 
manded by Brigadier-General Hugh Gough and Colonel 
Jenkins, who by their able dispositions proved themselves 
worthy of the confidence I had reposed in them. 

It  was too dark at first to see anything in front of the 
walls, and orders were given to reserve fire until the 
advancing masses of the assailants could be clearly made 
out. Gough's Mountain guns, under Lieutenant Sherries, 
then fired star-shells, which disclosed the attacking force up 
to a thousand yards off. The 28th Punjab Infantry were 
the first to open fire ; then the Guides, the 67th, and 92nd, 
each in their turn, greeted by their volleys the ghazis who 
approached close to the walls. Guns from every battery 
opened on the foe moving forward to the attack, and from 
7 to 10 a.m. the fight was carried on. R e p t e d  attempte 
were made to scale the south-eastern wall, and many timee 
the enemy got up as far as the abattis, but were repulsed, 
heaps of dead marking the spots where these attempts had 
been most persisten t." 

* A ourioue exemplification of the paesive courage end indiffmoe 
to danger of mme Natives was the behaviour of an old Mahornedan 
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Soon after 10 a.m. there was a slight lull in the fighting, 
leading us to believe that the Afghans mere recoiling before 
the breechloaders. An hour later, however, the assault 
grew hot as ever, and finding we could not drive the enemy 
back by any fire which could be brought against them from 
the defences, I resolved to attack them in flank. Accord- 
ingly, I directed Major Craster, with four Field Artillery 
guns, and Lieutenant - Colonel Williams, with the 5th 
Pnnjab Cavalry, to move out over the hollow in the 
Bimaru range and open fire on a body of the enemy 
collected in and around the village of Kurja Kila. Thk 
fire had the desired effect ; the Afghans wavered and broke. 

From that moment the attacking force appeared to lose 
heart, the assault was no longer prosecuted with the same 
vigonr, and by 1 p.m. it had ceased altogether, and the 
enemy were in full flight. 

This wee the Cavalry's opportunity. I ordered Massy 
to follow in pursuit with every available man, and before 
nightfall all the open ground in the neighbourhood of 
Sherpur was cleared of the enemy. Simultaneously with 
the movement of the Cavalry, a party was despatched to 
destroy some villages near the southern mall which had 
caused us much trouble, and whence it was necessary the 
enemy should be driven, to facilitate the entrance of 
Brigadier-General Charles Gough the next day, for that 

servant of mine. At this juncture, just at the time when the fight 
n hottest, and I waa receiving reports every few seconds from the 
officers commanding tho several posts, Eli Bux (a brother of the man 
who had been with me throughout the Mutiny) whiipsrad in my ear 
that my bath was ready. He was quite unmoved by the din and shote, 
sod was carrying on his ordinary dutics aa if nothing at all unnsul 
W M  ooourring. 

VOL. II. 52 
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officer had arrived with his brigade within about sir 
miles of Sherpur, where I could see his tents, and gathered 
from the fact of his pitching them that he meant to halt 
there for the night. The villages mere found to be occupied 
by ghazis, who refused to surrender, preferring to remain 
and perish in the buildings, which were then blown up. 
Two gallant Engineer officers (Captain Dundas, V.C., and 
Lieutenant C. Nugent) were most unfortunately killed in 
carrying out this duty. 

The relief I felt when I had gathered my force inside the 
walls of Sherpur on the evening of the 14th December wee 
small compared to that which I experienced on the morn- 
ing of the 24th, when I realized that not only had the 
assault been abandoned, but that the great tribal combina- 
tion had dissolved, and that not a man of the many 
thousands who had been opposed to us the previoue day 
remained in any of the villages, or on the surrounding 
hills. I t  was di5cult to form an accurate estimate of the 
numbers opposed to us. As~the Contingent from the more 
distant districts advanced, they received acceseions from 
every place they passed, and as they neared Kabul they 
were joined by the inhabitante of the numerous villages, 
and by the disaffected in the city. I t  mas calculmted by 
those best able to judge that the combined forces exceeded 
100,000, and I myself do not think that an excessive com- 
putation. 

Our casualties between the 15th and the 23rd were re- 
markably few : 2 officers, 9 men, and 7 followers killed, 
and 6 officers, 41 men, and 22fdllowers wounded; while 
the enemy lost not less than 3,000. 

I think I had great reason to be proud of my force. All 
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night and every night, the ground covered with snow and 
the thermometer marking sixteen degrees of frost, officers 
and men were at their posts, and each day every available 
man hsd to be hard at work strengthening the defences. 
Native and European soldiers alike bore the hardships and 
exposure with the utmost cheerfulness, and in perfect 
confidence that, when the assault should take place, victory 
would be ours. 

Early on the 24th the fort of Mahomed Sharif was 
occupied, and a force moved out to escort Charles Gough's 
b@e into Sherpur, a precaution which, however, was 
hardly necessery, as there was no enemy to be seen. 

I next set to work to re-open communication with India. 
Batkhak was re-occupied, and the relaying of the telegraph 
wee taken in hand. General Hills resumed his position as 
military Governor of Kabul ; the dispensary and hospital 
were re-established in the city under the energetic and 
intelligent guidance of Surgeon-Captain Owen ;* and in the 
hope of reassuring the people, I issued the following 
Proclamation : 

'A t  the instigation of some seditious men, the ignorant people, 
generally not considering the result, raised a rebellion. Now many of 
the insurgents have received their reward, and ecr subjects are a trust 
from God, the British Government, which is just and merciful, ae well 
M drong, has forgiven their guilt. I t  is now proclaimed that all who 
aome in without delay will be pardoned, excepting only Mahomed Jan  

This hospital wee admirably managed, and wecr attended by a 
large number of patients, Mf of whom were women. The disease 
moot prevelent in Kabul wee ophthelmia, caused by dust, dirt, and ex- 
panre. while cataract and other affeotions of the eye were very common. 
Dr. Owen, amongst his other many qualifications, excelled as an 
oeuli~t, and hin marrrellous curee attrmcted d e r e r s  from d parts of 
AfghdStan. 
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of Wardak, Mu Becha of Kohistan, Samandar Khan of Logar, G h h  
Hyder of Chardeh, and the murderers of Sirdar Mahomed Hassan 
Hhan. Come and make your submission without fear, of whatsoever 
tribe you may be. You can then remain in your house8 in comfort 
and safety, and no harm will befall you. The British Government 
hes no enmity towards the people. Anyone who rebels again will, of 
course, be punished. This condition is necessary. But all who come 
in without delay need have no fear or suspicion. The British Govern- 
ment speaks only that which is in its heart.' 

The effect of this Proclamation was most satisfactory : the 
city and the surrounding country quieted rapidly, shops 
were re-opened, and before the close of the year the bazaars 
were as densely thronged as ever. Most of the principal 
men of Logar and Kohistan came to pay their respects to 
me; they were treated with due consideration, and the 
political officers did all they could to h d  out what they 
really wanted, so that some baeis of an arrangement 
for the peaceful administration of the country might be 
arrived at. 

While taking these measures, which I thought would 
create confidence in our clemency and justice, I endeavoured 
in other ways to prevent a repetition of further eerione 
troubles. Snow was still deep on the ground, but I did 
not let it prevent my sending General Baker to destroy a 
fort about twenty miles off, where dwelt an influential 
malili, who was one of the chief ringleaders in the revolt. 
All walled enclosures within 1,000 yards of the cantonment 
were razed to the ground, roads fit for guns were made 
all round the outside walls and towards the several gat- of 
the city and Siah Sang, while two bridges, strong enough for 
Artillery to pass over, were thrown across the Kabul River. 

The increased numbers to be accommodated on the 
arrival of Gough's brigade necessitated the re-occupation 
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of the Bala Hissar, the defences of which were recon- 
structed so as to give a continuoue line of fire, and admit 
of free circulation round the walls ; roads were made 
through the lower Bala Hissar, and redoubts and towers 
were built on the Shahr-i-Darwaza range. 

A strong fort--Fort Roberts-was constructed on the 
math-west point of Siah Sang, which commanded the 
Baln H i w r  and the city ; a smaller one wae built at the 
croeaing of theriver; and as these two forts were not within 
sight of each other, a tower to connect them was conetructed 
a t  the north-weat extremity of Siah Sang. 

Sherpnr was thus made safe ; but for the absolute pro- 
tection of the city against an enemy operating from the 
Chardeh direction, a third fort mae erected on the Asmai 
heights, which completed a formidable line of defences 
moet ekilfully carried out by Colonel Perkins and hie staff. 



CHAPTER LVIII. 

TEE outlook in Afghanistan on the 1st January, 1880, waa 
fairly satisfactory ; the tidings of the defeat and dispersion 
of the tribesmen had spread far and wide, and h d  
apparently had the effect of tranquillizing the country 
even in remote Kandahar, where the people had been 
.greatly excited by the news of our retiring within Sherpur, 
and by the exaggerated reports of their countrymen's 
t success. No complications now existed anywhere, and pre- 
parations were commenced for Sir Donald Stewart's force 
in southern Afghanistan to move towards Ghazni, in antici- 
pation of tha carrying out of a complete and connected 
acheme* for the pacification of the country, and an early 

* I n  reply to a reference made to me on the subject, I represented 
that, before operations could be undertaken on so extensive a scale M 

wes proposed, it would be necessary to reinforce the Kabul gsrrison and 
the several posts on the Kyber line by : 

One battery of Horse or Field Artillery. 
One Heavy battery. 
One hfountain battery. 
A detachment of Garrison Artillery. 
A brigade of Cavalry. 
Three companies of Sappere and Minore. 
Two regiments of British Infantry. 
Six regiments of Native Infantry. 
Drafts sufieient to raise each Infantry regiment a t  

Kabul to WX) men. 



lslol T W O  IMPORTANT QUESTIONS 3* 1 

withdrawal from northern Afghanistan. No withdrawal, 
however, would be possible until durable foundations had 
been laid for the future safety of the Indian frontier, 
and reliable guarantees given for the continued good be- 
haviour of India's Afghan neighboure. 

The two questions, therefore, which chiefly exercised the 
minds of people in authority, both in England and in 
India, with regard to Afghan af i i rs  were, What was to 
be done with Afghanistan now we had got i t ?  and, Who 
could be set up as Ruler with any chanae of being able to 
hold his own ? 

The second question depended a good deal on the decision 
which might be arrived at with regard to the first, for the 
selection of a Ruler could hardly be considered until it had 
been determined whether the several provinces of Afghan- 

were to be again formed into one kingdom, or whether 
the political scheme for the future government of the 
country should be based on the separation of the several 
states. 

I myself had come to the conclusion, after much de- 
liberation and anxious thought, that the latter course was 
the least dangerous for us to adopt. Disintegration had 
been the normal condition of Afghanistan, except for a 
ehort period which ended as far back as 1818. Dost 
Mahomed was the first since that time to attempt ita un%- 
cation, and it took him (the strongest Amir of the century) 

This was agreed to ; the roinfomementa were sent up by degrees, and 
a m n d  division wecr formed at Kabul, to the command of whiah 
Major-Genoral J.  Row,' C.B., wan appointed. 

Now General Sir John Roee, G.C.B. 
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eight years after his restoration to establish his supremacy 
over Afghan-Turkestan, fourteen years before Kandahar 
acknowledged his authority, and twenty-one years ere he 
got possession of Herat, a consummation which was 
achieved only just before his death. His successor, Sher 
Ali, was five years making himself master of Afghanistan, 
and he could never have attained that position but for the 
material assistance he received from us. I felt it would be 
in the future as it had been in the past, and that there 
would always be the danger of a Ruler, made supreme by 
the aid of our money and our arms, turning against us for 
some supposed grievance, or at the instigation of a foreign 
Power, as had happened with Sher Ali. A strong, united 
Bfghanistan was very desirable, no doubt, could we be 
certain that its interests and ours would a l ~ a y s  remain 
identical; but, in addition to the chance of its strength 
and unity being used against us, there was the certainty 
that, even if the man we might choose as Amir were to 
remain perfectly loyal, at his death Afghan history would 
repeat itself; the succession to the throne would be dis- 
puted, and the unificatior~ would have to begin all over 
again. For these reasons I had no hesitation in giving it 
ae my opinion that Afghanistan should be disintegrated, 
and that we should not again attempt to place the whole 
country under any one Sovereign. 

My views must have commended themselves to the 
Government of India, for in their despatch to the Secretary 
of State, dated 7th January, 1880, they indicated them as 
the line of policy they proposed to adopt in pursuance 
of the object they had a t  heart, vie., the safety of the 
Indian Empire and the tranquillity of its northern frontier ; 



ImOI A RULER REQUIRED 313 
-- 

and in the communication to myself, conveying their idea 
of the general principles upon which the permanent settle- 
ment of Afghanistan should be based, the Foreign Secretary 
wrote that all arrangements for the establishment of a 
durable Government at Kabul depended on the selection 
of a suitable Ruler for that province ; and that, as it was 
eesential to clear away any apprehension that the British 
Government contemplated territorial annexation, which 
might be caused by a prolonged interregnum, it would 
be very advantageous if one of the principal Sirdare, quali- 
fied by hie family connexions, his locsl influence, and hie 
personal following, could be selected as the Ruler of the 
Kabul State. 

There was another very strong reason why the Govern- 
ment of India should wish to find some one to whom 
the administration of the country could safely be made 
over. The first warning notes of a General Election were 
heard in India early in January. Afghan affairs were being 
made a party question, and the policy of the Beaconafield 
Government with regard to them was being severely and 
adversely criticized. Lord Lytton was, therefore, most 
anxious that a definite conclusion should be arrived at as 
to the administration of Afghanistan, and a period put to 
our occupation of the northern province before the meeting 
of Parliament should take place. 

The difficulty was to find the right man. Abdur Rahmen, 
who I had reason to believe would be acceptable to the 
army, wee far away, I conld not find out where, and I 
could thihk of no one else at all suitable. Under the cir- 
cumstances, I deemed it advisable to open negotiations with 
the several leaders of the late combination against us, who 
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were congregated a t  Ghazni, and had with them the 
young Heir - apparent, Musa Khan. In the middle of 
January I had received two communications from these 
people, one ostensibly written by Musa Khan himeelf, the 
other signed by seventy of the most influential chiefs ; the 
tenor of both was the same ; they demanded Yaliub Khan's 
restoration, and asserted his innocence as to the massacre 
of the Embassy. I replied that Yakub Khan's return waa 
impossible, and that they must consider his abdication 
final, as he himself had. declared that he wished it to be,* 
and a few days later I deputed the Mustaufi t to visit Ghazni, 

AB the deportation of Yakub Khan wan believed to be one of the 
chief causes of the recent disturbances, and aa a powerful party in the 
country still looked forward to having him back as their Ruler, I wm 
directed to ~uake  it clear to his adherents that the ex-Amir would 
never be allowed to return to Afghanistan, and that his abdication 
must be, as he himself a t  the time wished it to be, considered 
irrevocable. In  support of this decision, I was informed that the 
unanimous verdict of guilty of murder, rccorded against Yekub ghen 

by Colonel Mecgregor's Commission, waa substantially endorsed by the 
Chief Justice of Calcutta and the Advocate-General ; and that, although 
other authorities who had considered the evidence did not go quite M, 

far ee these two high legal functionaries, the general conclusion come 
to was that, if the Amir did not connive at  the maasacre of the Mission, 
he made no attempt whabver to interpose on its behalf, and that 
his whole conduct on that occasion betrayed a culpehle indifference to 
the fato of Sir Louis Cavagnari and his companions, and a total dis- 
regard of tho solemn obligation which he had contracted with the 
British Government. 
t I had releaaed the M u s t a d  from confinement when the general 

amnesty wee published on the 26th December, and he had subsequently 
been usefully employed assisting the political oflicere in revenue 
matters. I did not suppose that he had any great love for the British, 
but he was anxious to see us out of the country, and waa wise enough 
to know that no armed opposition could effect his purpose, and that it 
could only be accoxnplished by the establishment of a stable govern- 
ment, under a Ruler that we could accept. 
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in the hope that he might be able to induce the leaders to 
make some more feasible suggestion for the government of 
the country. 

The Mustaufi had scarcely started, before what seemed 
to be a reliable report reached me that Abdur Rahman 
was at Kanduz, on his way to Badakhshan, and I im- 
mediately communicated this news to Lord Lytton. 

A fortnight later Abdur Rahman's mother, who resided 
a t  Kandahar, informed Sir Donald Stewart that Ayub Khan 
had received a letter from her son, in answer to an offer 
from Ayub to join him at Balkh and march with him 
against the British. In this letter Abdur Rahman had 
replied that he would have nothing to do with any of 
Sher Ali's family, who had deceived him and dealt with 
him in the same treacherous manner that characterized 
Sher Ali's dealings with the British; further, that he had 
no intention of opposing the British, knowing full well he 
mu not strong enough to do so; that he could not leave 
Ruseian territory without the permission of the Russians, 
w h m  pensioner lie was; and that, even if he got that 
permission, he could not come either into Turkestan or 
Kabul without an invitation from us, but that, if he re- 
ceived such an invitation, he would obey it as an order. 
He concluded by advising Xyub Khan to make his sub- 
mimion to the British, as opposition was useless. Sir 
Donald Stewart telegraphed the substance of this com- 
munication to the Foreign Secretary, adding that Abdur 
Behman's family were well disposed towards us, and that 
there would be no difficulty in communicating with the 
Sirdar through them. 

In the meantime, I had been careful to acquaint the 
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Government of India with my failure to come to any con- 
clusion with the Ghazni faction as to the future government 
of the country, and the hopelessness of finding anyone of 
sufficient strength of character to set up as Ruler of Kabul ; 
and I had suggested, failing a really strong man, the alter- 
native of letting the Afghans choose for themselves some 
Ruler, other than Yakub Khan, and thus leave us free to 
evacuate the country. 

About this time Mr. Lyall, the Foreign Secretary, came 
to Kabul on a visit to me, and Captain West Ridgeway* 
took the place of my Political Secretary, Mr. Durand, who 
left me to join the Foreign Office at Simla, Mr. (now Sir) 
Lepel Griffin, Secretary to the Punjab Government, being 
appointed Chief of the political staff at Kabul. 

Lyall told me that the Indian Government fully appre- 
ciated the difficulty I was in about finding a Ruler for the 
province, and that, unless Abdur Rahman could be brought 
within negotiable distance, the alternative I had suggested 
would have to be acted upon. 

Lord Lytton, however, was very sanguine about Abdur 
Rahman, and he warned Mr. Griffin, before he started 
for Kabul, that the Sirdar's letter to Ayub Khan indicated 
possibilities that might have the most important bearing on 
the solution of the difficult problem to be dealt with in 
northern Afghanistan. I t  was Lord Lytton's wish to place 
Abdur Rahman on the throne of Kabul, or, at least, to afford 
him the best opportunity of winning his own way to that 
position. The difficulty was to get at him, in the 6ret 
instance, and, in the second, to convince him of our wish 
end power to help him ; while a not unnatural hesitation on 

Now Colonel Sir West Ridgeway, K.C.B. 
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the Sirdar's part to enter Afghanistan without Russia's 
permission had to be considered. 

Lord Lytton impressed upon Mr. G r a n  the necessity for 
overcoming these difficulties in time to enable us to with- 
diaw from northern Afghanistan in the early autumn at 
latest ; and he desired Sir Oliver St. John (Sir Donald 
Stewart's political officer, who was at that time in Calcutta), 
immediately on his return to Kandahar, to communicate 
with Abdur Rahman, through his mother, the Viceroy's 
willingness to make him Ruler of Kabul and Turkestan, 
if he would accept the tarms offered to him without delay. 

The Viceroy communicated his views to the Secretary of 
State in the following telegram : 

' Neceseary to find without delay some Native authority to which we 
an restore northern Afghanistan without risk of immediate anarchy 
on our evecuation of Kabul not later than next autumn, and if poeaible 
eulier. No proapect of finding in the country any man strong enough 
for thin purpose. I therefore advocate early public recognition of 
Abdur Rahman an legitimate heir of Doet Mahorned, and open depub- 
don of Sirdara with British concurrence to offer him throne of 
Afghanistan 8s sole means of saving the country from anarchy. Do 
YOU 8pprOVe ?' 

Lord Cranbrook's reply was as follows : 
am rum in^ that A b d u  Rahman ie eaceptable to the country, and 

&at he would be content with northern Afghaniatan, it is desirable to 
support him a t  Kabul ; the more spontaneom any advances to him on 
(he put of the Sirdam, and the lem appearance of British influence, 
the better. But where is he ? And how do you propose to learn his 
&ea and intentions? If invited by Chiefs, every inducement to 
bring him to Kabul should be then held out. Public recognition 
should not precede, but follow, his adoption by Sirdam, and his 
.cospbnce of the poeition.' 

By the end of March authentic intelligence was received 
that Abdur Rahman had made himeelf master of Afghan- 
TorkeeCen, and wee corresponding with the representative 
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Sirdars at Kabul. It seemed, therefore, that the time had 
arrived when distinct overtures might be made to Abdur 
Rahman ; accordingly, on the 1st April Mr. Griffin addressed 
to him the following letter : 

' It haa become known that you have entered Afghanidan, and con- 
sequently this letter is sent you by e confidential messenger, in order 
that you may submit to the British o5cers at Kabul any represenb- 
tiom that you may desire to make to the British Government with 
regard to your object in entering Afghanisten.' 

Abdur Rahman, in hie friendly but guarded reply,. ex- 
pressed in general terms his hope of being recognized as 
Amir. He greatly desired, he wrote, the friendship of the 
British, and their assistance in restoring peace and order 
to Afghanistan ; but at the same time, he hinted t h ~ t  his 
obligations to the Russian Government for the hospitality 
they had extended to him placed him in some doubt as to 
the terms upon which our friendship might be accorded 
to him, and while he expressed a desire for the permanent 
establishment of Afghanistan, with our assistance and 
sympathy, he let it be understood that he wished to 
consider himself under the protection of Russia as well 
as of Great Britain. 

In a verbal message, however, he added that he wee 
ready to cross the Hindu Kueh to discuss matters with our 
officers, and he begged that he might be furnished with 
information as to the ' nature of our friendship ' and ' ite 
conditions.' 

In answer, Mr. Griffin was directed to inform Abdur 
Rahman that the relations of Afghanistan to the Britieh 
and Russian Empires was a subject the Government of 

* Abdur Rahmsn'e letter ie given in the Appendix. 
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India must decline to discuss with him, and to explain that 
their declared determination had been the exclusion of 
foreign influence and interference from Afghanistan, a 
cardinal condition ' which had at all times and under a11 
circumstances been deemed essential for the permanent 
security of Her Majesty's Indian Empire,' a condition, 
moreover, which had always been accepted by the Govern- 
ment of the Czar, which had repeatedly renewed those 
assurances, solemnly given to Her Majesty's Ministers, 
that ' Russia considered Afghanistan as entirely beyond the 
sphere of her influence.'+ 

Early in April the Mustaufi (whom, it will be remembered, 
I had sent to Ghazni to communicate with the Chiefs, and 
ascertain their ideas and desires as to the future govern- 
ment of Kabul) returned without having achieved much 
success. He had persuaded some of the leading men to 
accompany him as far as Maidan, whence a few repre- 
sentatives came on to Kabul as bearers of a document 
eigned by Mahomed Jan, twelve other Sirdars, and 189 
influential tribesmen, setting forth their views and wishes ; 
but as these were all based upon the restoration of Yakub 
Khan, their proposals could not be entertained. 

On the 13th April I held a durbar, at which I received 
this deputation; all the Sirdars, Chiefs, and maliks of 
Kabul and many Hazaras being present. Mr. Griffin, on 
the part of the Government, told them that Yakub Khan 
could not be allowed to return to Afghanistan, but that the 
names of any Sirdars, approved of by a large proportion of 
the people for the Amirehip, would be laid before the 

Thin letter from the Foreign Secretary to Mr. Griffin ir given in 
full in the Appendix. 
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Viceroy ; that there was no intention of annexing Afghan- 
istan, and that there would be no occupation of any p h e  
except such as were necessary for the safety of our Indian 
frontier. They were further informed that the Britieh 
army would be withdrawn as soon as the country had 
settled down peacefully and an Amir, amicably dispoeed 
towards us, had been selected ; but that Kandahar would 
not again be united to Kabul. 

The effect produced was good. The deputation wee 
greatly disappointed that Yakub Khan was not to be per- 
mitted to return, but all present felt that they had received 
a definite reply. 



CHAPTER LIY. 

Sm DONALD S T E W ~ T ' S  division, which, I have mentioned, 
it had been decided should be sent to Kabul to take part in 
the pacification of northern Afghanistan, left Kandahar* on 
the 80th Narch, and was expected to arrive at Ghazni 
about the 21st April. On the 16th I received a letter 
from Sir Donald, dated six days before, asking me to 
send supplies to meet him. I, therefore, that same day 
clespatched a small column, under the command of Major- 
General Iloss, C.B., with the articles of food required ; and 
as I thought it likely that my object in sending this force 
might be misunderstood, the deputation which attended the 
durbar was told to explain matters to the Chiefs at Maidan, 
and assure them that the advance would be peaceful unless 
hostilities should be provoked by their own action. Not- 
withstanding this precaution, I thought it quite poueible the 
column would be opposed, for the news concerning Abdur 
Rahman's advent was causing considerable escitement ; 
and whilst the soldiers and a proportion of the tribesmen 
were disposed to welcome him ns a deliverer, those from 
Wardak and Logar resented his appearance on the scene 

'' Sir Donald Stewnrt'w cliviwion wes replaced nt Kandahnr by troope 
froru Bombay. 

VOL. 11. 5s 
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as putting an end to their hopes of having Takub Khan 
reinstated. 

With a view, therefore, to prevent the Logaris from 
joining any attack which might be made on General Ross, 
I sent a party, 1,200 strong, under Colonel Jenkins, in the 
direction of Charasia. 

On the 22nd April Ross reached Sar-i-top, forty-one 
miles from Ghazni ; Sir Donald Stewart h a h g  arrived 
that same day at the latter place, heliographic com- 
munication was at once opened with him, and the 
welcome news was signalled that Sir Donald had fought 
an engagement at Ahmedkhel on the Nth,  and had 
been entirely successful. On receipt of this intelligence 
I ordered a Royal salute to be fired in honour of the 
victory, the announcement of which I hoped might have 
a quieting effect on the excitement which prevailed around 
Kabul. 

In this I was disappointed. On the evening of the 24th, 
Jenkins, who was encamped at Charasia, heard that he 
was about to be attacked by the Logaris, under Mahomed 
Hasan Khan. At once striking his tents, and collecting his 
baggage in a sheltered spot, he ordered a party of Cavalry 
to reconnoitre up the Logar valley, strengthened his 
piquets, and sent off an express messenger to inform me 
of the situation. 

I immediately despatched Brigadier-Genera1 lfacpherson 
to .Jenkins's assistance. By 9 a.m. he had started, with 
four Mountain guns and 963 Infantry, followed later by two 
more guns and n troop of the 3rd Punjab Cavalry ; and as 
R support to Macpherson, Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, 
with the Cavalry brigade and four Horse Artillery guns, 
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was ordered to take up a position half-way between Kabul 
and Charasia. 

At 1 p.m. on the 25th Macpherson arrived on the high 
ground beyond the saitg- i - ilalrirkta gorge, whence he 
obtained A good view of Jenkins's position ; and seeing 
that the enemy formed a complete semicircle round it, he 
pushed on. Jenkins had stood on the defensive from the 
early morning, and the Afghans, who had advanced to 
within a couple of hundred yards, were only kept at bag 
by the eteadiness of his fire. 

Macpherson first writ back the baggage to Sherpur, so as 
to free all hands for action, and then proceeded to attack 
the left horn of the semicircle. The enemy broke, fell 
I~ack, and were completely scattered by a well - directed 
Artillery fire ; the surrounding hills were speedily cleared, 
and the Cavalry and Horse Artillery pursued for four 
miles. By four o'clock not a single living Afghan was to 
be wen ; more than 200 had been killed, while our casualties 
were only four killed and thirty-four mounded. 

I came up just as the fight was over; and being sure 
from the decisive character of the defeat that a retirement 
could not be misunderstood, I ordered the troops to return 
to Kabul. 

In anticipation of Sir Donald Stewart's arrival, and the 
consequent necessity for my making over to him, as my 
senior, the supreme command of the Kabul Field Force, 
I prepared II report* for his information, which explained 
the general military situation in northern Afghanistan, and 
contained a st~rtement of economic details which I thought 

The part of the report which de& with econo~nic details is given 
in the Appendix ; the ~uilitary portion is omitted, 8 s  it was only 
intended for Sir Donald Stewart's information at the tinir. 
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would be of use to the Government, and concerning which 
an experience of eighteen months in the field enabled me 
to give an opinion with some confidence. 

The strength of the Kabul Field Force at the end of 
April amounted to nearly 14,000 men and thirty-eight 
guns, with 12,500 followers ; * besides 15,000 men and 
thirty guns on the Khyber line, under the immediate 
command of Major-General Bright. 

Sir Donald reached Kabul on the 5th May. On the 
same day we heard that the Beaconsfield Administration 
had come to an end ; that a new Ministry had been formed 
under Xr. Gladstone ; that Lord Lytton had resigned, and 
was to be succeeded by the Marquis of Ripon ; and that the 
Marquis of Hartington had become Secretary of State for 
India. 

Notwithstanding the pleasure of meeting an old friend 
in my new Commander, that 5th of May was altogether not 
a happy day for me. Lord Lytton's approaching departure 
was a sotirce of real sorrow. Personally, I felt that I was 
deeply indebted to him for the confidence he had reposed 
in me, and for the warm support he had invariably 
accorded me. I had hoped that he would have had the 
gratification of seeing, while in office, the campaign in 
which he was so much interested satisfactorily concluded, 
and with the prospect of permanent results ; and I dreaded 
that a change of Government might mean a reversal of the 
policy which I believed to be the best for the security of 
our position in India. Noreover, it was not in human 

* Of these, more than 3,000 were doolie-bearers, and nearly 8.000 
were enices of Native Cavalry rcgimente, and men belonging to the 
Transport and other Departments. 
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nature to feel absolute sntisfaction in yielding up the 
supreme command I had so greatly delighted in, into the 
hands of another, even though that other was one for 
whom I had so great a personal regard, and under whom I 
had already served in the field. 

The amalgamated troops were now styled the Northern 
Afghanistan Field Force, and I retained the command of 
the two divisions at Kabul, with Najor-General John Ross 
as second in command; while Major-General Hills was 
given the brigades from Kandahar, which now became the 
third division of the Force. 

The idea in bringing Stewart away from Kandahar was 
that he should occupy Ghazni and Kabul; that my 
divisions should operate in Kohistan and in the direction 
of Bamian; that General Bright should move against the 
Ghilzais; and that a column from Iiuram should march 
over the Shutargardan to Kabul. I t  was hoped that 
these operations would have the effect of quieting the 
country, and, by the time they had been carried out, it 
would be possible to evacriate northern Afghanistan. 

\Irith a view to having my divisions thoroughly efficient 
and mobile for the service they were expected to perform, 
1 had largely replenished the numbers of my transport 
aninlals, which had suffered greatly from the strain put 
upon them in supplying the troops with food and 
other necesseries during the winter months; they had 
}men continuously at work in the most inclement weather, 
numbera had died, and those that remained required to 1)e 
carefully looked after and given complete rest to render 
them fit for the contemplated operations. Major Mark 
Heathcote, who had taken, at my particular request, 
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the arduous charge of this department, wished to revert to 
regimental duty, so I applied for, and obtained, the servicss 
of Lieutenant-Colonel R. Low* as Director of Transport, 
under whose energetic and intelligent management the 
transport service was rendered as perfect as it was possible 
to make it. In the end, circumstances prevented the con- 
certed movements for which these preparations were made 
being carried out, but I reaped the benefit of them when 
later in the year I was required to undertake a mpid 
march to Kandahar, which could not possibly have been 
successfully accomplished had my transport not been in 
such admirable condition. 

In order to relieve the great pressure put upon the Com- 
missariat Department by having to provide for the in- 
creased number of troops at Kabul, and with a view to 
opening up the roads upon which traffic had been more or 
less impeded for some months, it was considered desirable 
to send a strong brigade towards Maidan, which I accom- 
panied, and remained away from Kabul for some weeks. 
On my return, I found a considerable change had taken 
place in the political situation. The Mustaufi had been 
deported to India; the correspondence between AMur 
Rahman and Mr.  riffi in had taken rather an unsatis- 
factory turn, and the Sirdar's dealings with the leading 
Chiefs and tribesmen had given cause to fear that, if he 
came to Kabul during our occupation, it might be as an 
enemy rather than a friend. 

The Mustaufi was a firm adl~erent of the Sher Ali 
faction, and, finding there was no hope of Yakub Khan 
being reinstated, and that we were negotiating with Abdur 

* Now Major-General Sii Robert Low, G.C.B. 
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Hahman, he had espoused the cause of Yakub's younger 
brother, Ayub Khan, and had been proved guilty of inciting 
the Sirdare and Chiefs to oppose us. For this he was 
very properly sent out of Afghanistan ; nevertheless, I 
looked upon his removal as a misfortune, for it broke up 
the only party that could possibly be formed to counter- 
balance Abdur Rahman, who was astute enough to see that 
the weaker our position became, the more chance there was 
of his being able to get his own terms from us. 

From the letters he had written to his friends end rela- 
tions in northern Afghanistan (the majority of which had 
fallen into our hands), it was evident that he was doing all 
he could to strengthen himself, even at our expense, and 
that he greatly disliked the idea of h n d a h a r  being 
mparated from the kingdom of Kabul. Indeed, in one of 
his communications to Mr. Griffin he had made it clear 
that he expected the whole inheritance of his grandfather, 
h t  Mahomed Khan, to be made over to him. 

The uncertainty as to the result of the correspondence 
with XMur Rahman, the rumours in circulation regarding 
his real disposition and plans, and the general excitement 
throughout the country, suggested such grave doubts of the 
Girder's good faith that, in some quarters, the question wan 
seriously discussed whether it might not be necessary to 
break off negotiations with him, and reinstate Taknb 
Khan, or else set up his brother, Ayub Khan, as Amir. 

I myself was altogether opposed to Yakub Khan's restora- 
tion, and as to Ayub Khan, we were in total ignorance of 
his character and proclivities, even if he had lxen near 
enough to treat with. I t  appeared to me, moreover, that 
we had gone too far with Xbdnr Rahman to throw him 
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over because, in conformity with Afghan character and 
tradition, he was not running quite straight. I, therefore, 
gave it as my opinion that we should not change our 
tactics unless it was found impossible to come to terms 
with him, or unless it was made evident on his nearer 
approach to Kabul that the majority of his countrymen 
were averse to have him as their Ruler. 

Soon after this the situation began to improve, and early 
in July Mr. Griffin was able to inform the Government of 
India that ' the probabilities of a settlement with Abdur 
Rahman appear far more favourable than they did last 
week. . . .' ' Abdur Rahman has seen that we have been 
fully informed of the game he has been playing, that 
trickery and treachery would not be tolerated, and that, 
if he intends coming to a settlement with us at all, he 
must be prepared to accept our terms rather than dictate 
his own.' 

A few days later a letter was received from Abdur 
Rahman, announcing his arrival in Kohistan. His near 
approach, and the report that he was willing to accept our 
terms, excited a keen and hopeful interest throughout the 
country, for the Afghans had a t  length become convinced 
that the only chance of getting rid of us was by agreeing 
to any form of settled government we might establish, and 
they had grown heartily tired of perpetual fighting and of 
having to maintain bands of !~liazis to oppose us, who were 
eating them out of house and home. With the exception 
of the Sher Ali faction, therefore, whose interests were 
directly opposed to his, Abdur Rahman's advent was wel- 
comed by the people, and several of the most influential 
amongst them went to meet him. 
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Towards the end of July Sir Donald Stewart was em- 
powered to conclude all political and military arrange- 
ments preparatory to withdrawing from northern Afghan- 
istan. Abdur Rahman was to be recognized as ' Amibaf 
Kabul '; he was to be provided with a sufficient number 
of guns to strengthen effectively his occupation of the 
city, and he was to be given as much money (within a 
maximum of ten lakhs) as was thought neceestlry to meet 
hia present wants. I t  was to be clearly explained to Abdur 
h h m m  that the Government of India would not engage 
to give him a regular subsidy, or a continuous supply of 
arms or money, and that after he had taken possession of 
his capital he would have to rely upon his own resources 
for holding it. There was to be no treaty, and all ques- 
tions of reciprocal engagements between the two Govern- 
ments were to be postponed until some settled and respn-  
sible administration had been consolidated. 

General Stewart was directed to make the best arrange- 
ments he could with Abdur Rahman for the protection of 

.the tribes and individuals who had assisted us, and the 
Sirdar waa to be informed that, if he desired our good\vill, 
he  could give no b t t e r  proof of his friendly disposition 
than by hie hhaviour towards those of his own nation in 
whom the British Government were interested. 

Sir Donald Stewart considered that the best was of giving 
effect to these instructions was to publicly proclaim AMur 
Rahman as Amir of Kabul; for this purpose he held 
a durbar on the 22nd July, at which the Sirdar's repre- 
mntetives were received. Sir Donald, in a few words, 
gave. his reasons for summoning them to meet him, 
and Mr. Griffin then explained more fully the motives by 

f r 
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which the Government of India were actuated in acknow- 
ledging the claims of Abdur Rahman. Immediately after 
the durbar orders were issued for an early retirement. 

I mas to withdraw my column by the Kuram route ; but 
being anxious to see something of the Khyber line while 
I had the opportunity, I started off the following day to 
ride through the Jagdalak Pass to Gandamak, where I 
was entertained by General Bright and his staff. The 
next day I went on to Jalalabad, and was greatly interested 
in wandering over the place where Sir Robert Sale in some 
measure redeemed the lamentable failures of the first 
Afghan war. 

My intentick, when I left Kabul, mas to ride as far as the 
Khyber Pass, but suddenly n presentiment, which I have 
never been able to explain to myself, made me retrace 
my steps and hurry back towards Kabul-a presentiment 
of coming trouble which I can only characterize as 
instinctive. 

The feeling was justified when, about half-way between 
Butkhak and Kabul, I was met by Sir Donald Stewart and 
my Chief of tho Staff,,* who brought me the astounding 
news of the total defeat by Ayub Khan of Brigadier-General 
Burrows's brigade at Naiwand, and of Lieutenant-General 
Primrose,t with the remainder of his force, being besieged 
at Iiandahar. 

* Colonel Macgregor and Lieutenant-Colonel Chapman had ohenged 
places, the fonner joining Sir Donald Stewart as Chief of the Staff, and 
the latter taking up the same position with me. 

t Lieutenant-General Pril~uose succeeded Sir Donald Stewart in 
col~lrnand of the troops at Kandahar. 



CHAPTER LX. 

. FOR more than six months rumoum had'  been afloat of 
Ayub Khan's determination to advance on Kandahar ; but 
little attention was paid to them by the authorities at that 
place until towards the end of Nay, when a Sirdar, named 
Sher Ah,* who had been a few days before formally in- 
stalled as Wali, or Ruler, of Kandnhar, informed the political 
officer, Lieutenant-Colonel St. John, that the British occu- 
pation of Kabul had had the effect of bringing about a 
reconciliation between the various chiefs at Herat, who had 
placed themselves under the leadership of Ayub Khan and 
induced him to proclnim a jaliad. Sher Ali, who evidently 
considered this news authentic, declared his belief that his 
own troops,t who were then engaged in collecting revenue 
in Zamindawar, would desert to Ayub Khan ns he ap- 
proached Kandahar, and he begged that a brigade of 
British eoldiers might be sent to Girishk to support him. 

On General Primrose communicating this information to 
the Commander-in-Chief in India, he recommended to the 

Sirdar Yher Ali had been appointed Governor of Kandaher by the 
Amir Yaknb Khan after the treaty of Gandamak, and had since 
ruidsd Sir Donald Stewart in the civil administration of the-pro\ ince. 

t Local Native levies. 
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Government that the Bombay reserve division, located a t  
Jacobabad, Hyderabad, and Karachi, should be mobilized 
so soon as it became certain that Ayub Khan really con- 
templated this move, as in his opinion the garrison a t  
Kandahar would be left dangerously weak after a brigade 
had been detached for Girishk. 

Ayub Khan's movements, however, were not ascertained 
until the 27th June, when he had advanced halfway to the 
Helmand ; it was too late then to mobilize troops so far 
off as Jacobabad, Hyderabad, and Karachi with any chance 
of their being in time to check his onward march. The 
news of his approach spread rapidly, and had the most 
disturbing effect in Kandahar and its neighbourhood. 
The Governor's authority daily diminished, and manj  of 
the inhabitants left the city. 

Ayub Khan had with him, when he started from Herat 
on the 15th June, 7,500 men and ten guns as the nucleus of 
an army, which he calculated, as he moved forward, would 
be strongly reinforced by tribesmen, levies, and gitazis. 

On the 4th July a brigade, under the command of 
Brigadier-General Burrows, started from Kandahar, and 
reached the Helmand on the l l t h ,  encamping on the near 
bank of the river opposite Girishk. On the further bank 
Sirdar Sher Ali's troops were located, having with them 
six guns. Two days afterwards these troops deserted in a 
body to the enemy, but did not succeed in taking their 
Artillery with them, as Burrows, on perceiving their inten- 
tion, crossed the river and captured the guns. 

Brigadier-General Burrows's position had now entirely 
changed ; inste~d of there being a loyal force under the 
Wali, with which to co-operate and prevent Ayub Khan 
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crossing the Helmand, he found himself with an inadequate 
number of troops, the Wali's men gone over to the enemy, 
and the Wali himself a fugitive in the British camp. The 
Helmand was fordable everywhere at that season, making 
i t  easy for Ayub to cut off Burrows's retreat; the first 
twenty-five of the eighty miles by which he was separated 
from Kandahar mas a desert, and no supplies were forth- 
coming owing' to the hostile attitude of the people. 
Burrows therefore determined to retire to Iihushk-i- 
Nakhud, an important position half-way to Kandahar, . 
covering the road from Girishk, and where supplies and 
water were plentiful. 

Burrows renched Khushk-i-Nakhud on the 16th July. 
On the 22nd the Commander-in-Chief in India, who had 
been inquiring from General Primrose whether there were 
'any routes from the Helmand passing by the north to 
Ghazni, by which Ayub Khan might move with his guns,' 
telegraphed to Primrose: 'You mill understand that you 
have full liberty to attack Ayub, if you consider you are 
strong enough to do so. Govgrnrnent consider it of the 
highest political importance that his force should be dis- 
persed, and prevented by all possible means from passing 
on to (ihazni.' 

On the afternoon of the 26th information was received 
by Brigadier-General Burrows that 2,000 of the enemy's 
Cavalry and a large body of ghazis had arrived at 
Maiwand, eleven miles off, and that Xyub Khan was 
about to follow with the main body of his army. 

To prevent Ayub Khan getting to Ghazni, General 
Burrows had to do one of two things, either await him at 
Khushk-i-Nakhud, or intercept him at Maiwand. After 
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consulting with Colonel St. John, he determined to adopt 
the latter course, as he hoped thus to be able to deal with 
the yiiazia before they were joined by Ayub Khan. 

The brigade started soon after 6 a.m. on the 27th. I t  
was encumbered by a large number of baggage animals, 
which Burrows considered could not be left behind h u s e  
of the hostile state of the country. and the impossibility 
of detaching any part of his already too'small force for 
their protection. 

At 10 a.m., when about half-way to Maiwand, a spy 
brought in information that Ayub Khan had arrived at 
that place, and was occupying it in force ; General Burrows, 
however, considered it then too late to turn back, and 
decided to advance. At a quarter to twelve the forces 
came into collision, and the fight lasted until past three 
o'clock. The Afghans, who, Burrows reported, numbered 
25,000, soon outflanked the British. Our Artillery expended 
their ammunition, and the Native portion of the brigade 
got out of hand, and pressed back on the few British 
Infantry, who were unable to hold their own against the 
overwhelming numbers of the enemy. Our troops were mm- 
pletely routed, and had to thank the apathy of tlle Afghaus 
in not following them up for escaping total annihilation. 

Of the 2,476 men engaged at Maiwand, 934 were killed 
and 175 were wounded and missing;. the remnant 

* I3ritish officers . . . . . .  
Killed. JVu u d e d  and 

Mw+. 
20 9 .. troop s . . .  . . . . . .  290 48 

Native . . . . . . . . .  624 118 
- - 
984 176 -- 

Total. 1,109 
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etruggled on throughout the night to Kandahar, where the 
fimt of the fugitives arrived early on the morning of the 
Wth. Brigadier-General Burrows, who had two horses 
shot under him during the engagement, was amongst the 
last to reach Kandahar. 

This lamentable story imparted to me by S t e ~ a r t  almost 
took my breath away, and we eagerly discussed the situa- 
tion as we rode back together to Sherpur. I t  was impossible 
to predict how the news would affect thewecent arrange- 
ments entered into with AMur Rahman, or what the 
attitude of the tribesmen would be; but we agreed that, 
whatever might happen in our immediate neighbourhood, 
the only means of affording speedy relief to the Kandahar 
garrison was by sending a force from Kabul. 

I t  soon, however, k a m e  apparent, by telegrams received 
from Simla, that the Government were in doubt as to the best 
course to pursue, and looked to Quetta rather than Kaljul 
aa the place from which Kandahar could be most con- 
veniently and rapidly succoured. T h i ~  was not altogether 
surprising, for the authorities naturally hesitated to weaken 
Kabul until inntters had been finally settled with Abdur 
Rahman, and it was only to be espected that, after what 
had occurred at niaiwand, they should be alarmed at the 
idea of a force being cut off from all communication with 
India during the four weeks, or thereabouts, it would take 

01 tho regimental followem 331 were killed and 7 wen, missing; 
456 trsneport followers and drivers were reported aa killed or mieeing, 
but a number of these, being Afghans, probably joined the enemy. 

A Luge quantity of ar~ns and anl~llunition was lost, including over 
1.000 rifles and carbines, and 600 or '700 swords and bayonets. 

'201 horeee were killed, and 1.676 csmols, 855 ponies. 24 mules, 
Bl donkeys, and '79 bullocks, were not forthcoming. 
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to reach Kandahar. But there was really no alternative, 
for, as Major-General Phayre * (commanding in Balu- 
chistan) reported,t the troops available for Field Service 
were but few in number, it would require at least fifteen 
days to equip them, and there was no organized transport 
at hand, the animals having been mnt to distant grazing- 
grounds on account of the scarcity of water and forage. 

I knew nothing as to the actual condition of the troops 
in Baluchistan, except that, as belonging to the Bombay 
Presidency, they could not be composed of the best fighting 
races, and I had a strong feeling that it would be estremely 
unwise to make use of any but the most proved Native 
soldiers ngainst Ayub Khan's superior numbers, elated as 
his men must be with their victory a t  Maiwand. 

The disaster to our arms caused, as was to be eslwcted, 
considerable excitement all along the border ; indeed, 
throughout India the announcement produced a certain 
feeling of uneasiness-a mere surface ripple-but enough 
to make those who remembered the days of the Mutiny 
anxious for better news from the north. 

To me it seemed of such supreme importance that 
Kandahar should be relieved without delay, and the reverse 
to our arms retrieved, that I made up my mind to com- 
mllnicste my views to the Viceroy through the Commander- 
in-Chief, in the hope that, when he realized that a 

+ Now General Sir Robert Phajre, G.C.U. 
t General Phayre reported on tho 28th July that there were only 

seven Native regiments in 13aluchistan, three of which went required 
for the lines of comnlunication, leaving only four available for Field 
Service ; nnd that a battalion of British Infantry and e betkry of Field 
.Artillery required for his colu~nn were a long way off, being still in 
Sind. 
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thoroughly e5cient force was ready and willing to start 
from Kabul, he would no longer hesitate as to what was 
beat to do. 

On the 30th July I dined with Stewart, and, leaving his 
mess-tent at an early hour, I retired to my own quarters, 
and wrote out the following telegram in cipher, but, before 
despatching it, I showed it to Stewart, for, although I 
knew that his views were in accord with mine, I could not 
with propriety have sent it without his knowledge : 

' To MAJOB-GBNBRAL GBEAVES,* ADJUTANT-GBNEBAL IN INDIA, SIYW. 

' KABUL, 
' 80th July, 1880. 

' P m n a l  and secret. I strongly recoxnmend that a foroe be sent 
from thin to Kandahar. ~ t e w G  has organized a vory complete one 
consisting of nine regimenb of Infantry, three of Cavalry, and three 
Mountain batteries. Thin will suttice to overcoillo all opposition 
m totctc ; it will have the best poseible effeot on the country, and will 
be ready to go anywhere on reaching Kandahar, being fully equipped 
in d mpecb. H e  propwes sonding nne in command. 

'I am sure that but few Bombay regimcnb are able to cope with 
Afghans, and once the Kabul Ficld Force leave8 this country, the chance 
of sending a thoroughly reliible and well-quipped colutnn will be loet. 
The movement of the remainder of the Kabul troom towards India 
should be simultaneous with the advance of my 'division towards 
Kandahru, it being most dtwirable to limit the area of our responsibilities 
u soon an possible; a t  the name time, it is imperative that we should 
now show our strength throughout Afghanistan. The withdrawal. 
under existing circumutnnces, of the whole force from Kabul to India 
would certainly be misundemtood, both in Afghanistan and elsewhere. 
Yon need have no fears a b u t  my division. I t  can take caw of itaelf, 
urd will reach Kandahar under the montl~. I will answer for the 
loyalty and good feeling of the Native portion, and would propone to 
inform them that, M soon as mattera have been satisfactorily rettled at 
Kandahar, they will be wnt straight back to I n d i .  Show this to 
Ly.u.' 
- -  - . - 

Now General Sir Gcorge Greaves. G.C.H., G.C.M.G. 
VOL. 11. 54 
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Exaggerated reports of the Maiwand afkir being rife in 
the Kabul bazaars, which were daily becoming crowded 
with armed Afghans from Abdur Rahman's camp, and 
the prospect of troops having to leave a t  once for Kan- 
dahar, made it more than ever necessary to bring the 
negotiations with the new Amir to a speedy conclusion. 
I t  was accordingly arranged that Mr. G r a  should 
meet him at  Zimma, about sixteen miles from Kabul. 
This interview had the happiest results, and must have 
been extremely gratifying to Mr. Griffin, whom we all 
heartily congratulated on the successful ending to the very 
delicate and difficult negotiations which he had camed on 
with so much skill and patience. 

In taking leave of His Highness, Mr. Griffin invited him 
to come to the British camp the following day to be 
received by Sir Donald Stewart. Bbdur Rahman himself 
was quite willing to come, and some of his supporters were 
in favour of his doing so, but others vehemently opposed 
the idea, and ' swore by their faith they would leave 
him if he persisted.' After a stormy meeting with his 
Chiefs, the Amir wrote to Mr. Griffin as follows : ' If you 
really wish me to come to you, irrespective of the opinion 
of the people, I am quite ready to do so. Please write 
and let me know your wishes. I am in the hands of 
ignorant fools, who do not know their own interests, good 
or bad. What can I do 7 I am most anxious to meet you.' 

Upon receipt of this note Stewart decided that it would 
be impolitic to press for an inten~iew, for, instead of 
strengthening the Amir. as had been the intention, it was 
evident it would have the opposite effect, so the meeting 
was given up. 
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On the morning of the 3rd August the telegram arrived 
from Lord Ripon, which I had been so anxiously expecting, 
authorizing the despatch of a force to Kandahar, and 
directing that I should be placed in command. 

I heard afterwards that my message to the Adjutant- 
General was received at Simla at a most opportune 
moment. Lyall took it without delay to Lord Ripon, who 
from the first had h e n  in favour of a force being sent from 
Kabul, but had refrained from ordering the movement in 
deference to the views held by some members of his 
Council, whose longer experience of India, His Excellency 
considered, entitled their opinions to be treated with 
respect. 

I set to work at once to organize the column which I 
was to have the great honour of commanding. In this 
most congenial duty I received every possible assistance 
and encouragement from Stewart; he gave me carte- 
blanche, and I should only have had myself to blame if 
every unit had not been as efficiently e q ~ p p e d  as circum- 
~tancea would admit. 

I wiehed that the force should be composed, as far an 
possible, of those who had servd with me throughout the 
campaign ; but as some of the regiments (more especially 
Native corps) had been away from their homes for two 
years, and had had more than their share of fighting, 
h i d e s  having sutTerd heavy losses in action and through 
sicknese, I considered it right to colisult their commanders 
before detailing the troops. With the exception of three, 
who thought that their regiments had been long enough 
away from India, all, to my great delight, eagerly re- 
sponded to my call, and I took upon myself to proluim 
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the men that they should not be left to garrison Kandahsr, 
but should he sent back to India aR soon as the fighting 
ceased. 

When the several regiments were decided upon, every 
man not likely to stand the strain of prolonged f o r d  
marches was weeded out, and the scale of baggage, tents, 
and impedimenta was reduced to a minimum.. 

I had no fear as to the officers and men ably and 
cheerfully performing their part of the task ; we had been 
long enough together to enable us thoroughly to under- 
utand and trust each other, and I felt that I could depend 
upon each and all to respond heartily to whatever call I 
might make upon them. 

The question of supplies was my greatest anxiety, and I 
had many consultations with my experienced Commissariat 
officer, Major Badcock, before I could feel satisfied in this. 
respect. 

The transport, as I have already recorded, was in g w l  
order ; it was fortunate that the soldiers had been practised 
in loading, leading, and tending the animals, for the 
Afghan drivers deserted to a man a march or two from 
Kabul, and the Hazaras followed their example on reaching 
their own country. Sir Donald Stewart's account of the 
troubles he had encountered during his march from Ran- 

* E w h  British soldier was allowed for kit and camp- 
equipage, including great-coat and waterproof sheet 80 lbn. 

Emh Native soldiel. - - 2 0 . .  
Each public and private follower - - 10 .. 
Each European officer - 1 IIIIIIC.  
Evcry eight offieem for IIICW - 1 .. 
IIach staff-officer for office pu~poscs - - HO Ibs. 
Each Native offirer - - 8 0 . .  
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dahar was not very encouraging, and I should have been 
glad i f  I could have taken a larger amount of supplies;* 
but on this point I had to be guided by the number of 
animals that could be allotted to the column, which was 
n e c e d y  limited, as carriage had to be provided simul- 
taneously for the withdrawal of the rest of the army of 
occupation. 

The strength of the force placed a t  my disposal consisted 
of 9,986 men of all ranks and eighteen guns, divided 
into three brigades of Infantry, one brigade of Cavalry, 
and three batteries of Mountain Artillery. There were, 

+ The aruount of supplies taken with the force wan an follows : 

FOR ~ R I T I S H  TROOPS. 

Bread-stuff - - 6 days. 
Preserved vegetables - - 16 9 9  

Tea, sugar, salt, and nun - - 80 ,, 

FOE ~ ' A T W B  TROOPS Al lD  FOLLOWEW. 
Flour - - 5 days. 
D a l a n d s d t  - - XI ,, 
Rum for spirit-drinking ulen - - 8 ,, 
Sheep, ten days' supply for British trwpe and four issues for 

Native troop, with 20 per cent. spere. N w l y  6,000 sheep 
were purchlrsed on the ~ m h .  N.B.-There are no horned 
cattle in Afghanistan, except those ueed for the plough or 
transport. 

In addition to the above, a slnnll reserve of lime-juice, pee-soup, and 
h m d  Illeat wan taken; these proved most useful, and might have 
been increased with advantage had carriage been available. 

I gave strict order6 that the reserve of bread-stuff, flour, and sheep 
WM never to be used without ~ u y  sanction, and that wherever ponmiblo 
food for the day's colmuuption WM to be purcheaed. We had occcr- 
siondly to trench upon the reserve, but we nearly made it up at  other 
+xs, and we arrived at  Randahar with three days' supplies in 
hand. 
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besides, over 8,000 followers* and 2,300 horses and gun- 
mules. 

I t  was designated the Kabul-Kandahar Field Force. 
Major-General J. Ross, C.B., mas given the command of 

the Infantry division, his three Brigadier-Generals being 
Herbert Macpherson, T. D. Baker, and Charles Macgregor. 
Brigadier-General Hugh Gough commanded the Cavalry 
brigade ; Colonel Alured Johnson the Artillery ; while 
Colonel a. Perkins held the position of Commanding Royal 
Engineer ; Deputy - Surgeon - General J. Hanbury that of 
Principal Medical Officer; and Lieutenant-Colonel E. F. 
Chapman, Chief of the Staff. 

From the detail of the force given below,t it will be 

The followers consisted of: 
Doolie-bearers - - 2,192 
Transport and other departments - - 4,698 
Private servants, and aakea of Native Cavalry 

regiments - - 1,244 
-- 

Total - - 8,184 

t DETAIL OF FORCE. 

1 s ~  INFANTBY BBIOADE. 
British. Native. 

92nd Highlanders - - 051 - 
28rd Pioneem - - 701 
24th Punjab Native Infantry - - 676 
'2nd Gurkhw - - 601 

- -  
Total - - 651 1,777 

~ N D  INFANTBY I$RIOADE. 
Brit is11 . Native. 

72nd Highlandera - - 787 - 
2nd Sikh Infantry - 612 
8rd Sikh Infantry - - 570 
6th Gurkhas - - 561 

-- 
Total - - 787 1.748 
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seen that there mas no wheeled Artillery, and that the 
number of guns mas not in proportion to the strength of 
the other branches. This was my own doing ; I was pressed 
to take more and heavier guns, but, after due consideration, 
I decided that I would only have Mountain batteries. We 
could not tell how long the Kandahar garrison would be able 
to hold out, so that our first object must be to reach that 

8RD INFANTBY BRIGADE. 
Britwh. Native. 

60th Rifles, 2nd Battalion - 616 - 
16th Sikhs - - 660 
96th Punjab Native Infantry - - 6% 
4th Gurkhas - - 687 -- 

Total - - 616 1,916 

CAVALRY BRIGADE. 
Britwh. Native. 

9th Queen's Royal Lancers - - 818 - 
8rd Bengal Cavalry - 894 
8rd Punjab Cavalry - 408 
Central India Horse - - 496 - -  

Total - - 818 1,997 

ARTILLERY DIYISION. 
Britwh. Nativa. Gum. 

68th Royal Artillery-screw guns 95 189 6 
11-9th Royal Artillery - - 96 189 6 
No. 2 Mountain Battery - - - 140 6 

- - - 
Total - 180 418 18 

TOTAL OF FORCE. 
British troops - 2,662 
Native ,, - 7,161 
British oflicera - '278 
O n n ~  - - 18 
Cavalry horses - 1,779 
Artillery mules - - 460 

Toro hnndred rounds of ammunition were taken for each Infantry 
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place with the least possible delay, and wheeled Artillery 
would, in a country where there were practically no roads, 
have only prevented our moving as rapidly as we might 
otherwise have done. 

For the equipment of the force, inclusive of carrbge 
for footsore soldiers* and followers, and allowing ten 
per cent. spare, more than 8,000-t animals were re- 
quired. 

soldier : ~eventy rounds were carried by each man, thirty rounde were 
in reserve with the regiment, and a hundred rounds in the Field Park. 

Each Mountain battery had : 

Common shell - 264 
Double shell - - 60 
Shrapnel shell - 144 
Sttushell - - a4 
Ceee shot - - 48 - 

Total - - 540romds. 
And thirty rounds per gun in the Field Park. 

+ British troops were allowed ponies at  the rate of 2 per cent. of 
strength. 

Native troop8 were allowed ponies at  the rate of '2& per cant. of 
strength. 

Followers were allowed ponies a t  the rate of 14 per cent. of 
strength 
. 

I With hospital equipment. 
a Only twice had animals to be taken against the will of the owners, 

Yabua or 

- - 1 sk - 

and on both occeeiom the matter wae axx&ably settled in the end. 

t Number of animale that 
left Kabul - - 

Purchased during the 
march' 

Number of animals that 
reached Kandahar - 

Casualties during the 
march 
a- 

- 

1,689 

86 

1,179 

446 
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Fortunately, it turned out that n fair amount of Indian 
corn in the ear was almost everywhere procurable, which 
wee so nutritious that a large majority of the Cavalry 
horsee and transport animals reached Iiandahar in ex- 
cellent condition. 

Throughout the march great difficulties were experienced 
in procuring food, but they were always overcome, with 
the able assistance of Major Hastings and his political 
st&,* and by means of the admirable arrangements 
d e  by the Commissariat t and Transport: officers, who 
were quite untiring, and after the longest march, and 
with the prospect of having to start again at an early 
hour the following morning, had often to work far into 
the night. 

The want of fuel wns our chief drawbeck. We had 
on many occasions to purchase houses and pull them to 
pieces for the sake of the wood to be got out of them, and 
frequently there was nothing to cook with save tiny roots 
of southernwood, which had to be dug out and collected 
after a long clay's march Imfore the men could prepare 
their food and satisfy their hunger. 

One day's corn wae carried by each animal, in addition to 
the ordinary load, and as far as Ghnzni grain was tolerably 

Major E. Hastings, Captain Wesf Ridgeway, Major Euan Smith, 
C.S.I., and Major M. Protheroe. 

t Major .C Badcock, Captau1 -4. Rind, and Lieutenante C. Fitz- 
gerald, H. Hawkes, and H. Lyons-Montgomery, all of the Bengal S t d  

(+ : Lieutenant-Colonel R. Low, Bengal Staff Corps; Captain W. 
Wynter, 88rd Foot; Captains G. H. Eliot and C. R. bfecgregor, Ben& 
Yhtr Carps; Lieutenante L. Booth, iUlrd Foot, H. Elverson, 2nd Foot, 
B. Fisher, 10th Huwars, K Wilson, 10th Hunsara, and C. Roberteon, 
8th Foot. 
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plentiful ; beyond that we had to depend for forage on the 
orops still standing. At the end of the day's march, 
certain fields were told off to the several brigades; from 
these all that was required was cut and mmed away, the 

. fields were then measured and assessed, and compeneation 
was awarded by the political officers, who also adjusted all 
claims on account of wrecked houses, and fruit, vegetablee, 
etc., brought in for the troops. 

On Sunday, the 8th August, the force moved into camp 
by brigades, my Head-Quarters being with the firet and 
third Infantry brigades at Beni Hiessr, on the way to the 
Logar valley, which route I had chosen instead of the 
slightly shorter line by Maidan, on account of the greater 
facility it afTorded for supplies. 

Sir Donald Stewart paid us a farewell visit in the after- 
noon, and at 6 a.m. the lollowing morning we began the 
march to Kandahar. 



CHAPTER LXI. 

BEPOBE daybreak on the 11th August, as I was starting 
from camp, I received my last communication from the 
outside world in the shape of a telegram from my wife, 
sent off from a little village in Somereetshire, congratulat- 
ing me and the force, and wishing us all God speed. She 
had taken our children to England a few months before, 
thinking that the war in Afghanistan was over, and that I 
would soon be able to follow. 

Four days brought us to the end of the Logar valley, a 
distance of forty-six miles. So far the country was may 
and supplies plentiful. I thought it wise, however, not 
to attempt long distances at first, that both men and 
animals might become gradually hardened before entering 
on the difficult and scantily cultivated ground between 
Ghilzai and Kelat-i-Ghilzai, where I knew that forced 
marches were inevitable, and that their powers of endur- 
ance would be sorely taxed. Moreover, it was necessary 
to begin quietly, and organize some system by which con- 
fusion in the crowded camping-grounds might be avoided, 
and the physical strain upon everyone lightened aR much 
es possible. 

When it is remembered that the daily supply for over 
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18,000 men and 11,000 animals had to be drawn from the 
country after arrival in camp, that food had to be dis- 
tributed to every individual, that the fuel with which it was 
cooked had often to be brought from long distances, and 
that a very limited time was available for the preparation 
of meals and for rest, it will readily be understood how 
essential it was that even the stupidest follower should be 
able to find his place in camp speedily, and that everyone 
should know exactly what to do and how to set about 
doing it. 

On the march and in the formation of the camps the 
same principles were, as far as possible, applied each day. 
The ' rouse ' sounded at 2.45 a.m., and by four o'clock 
tents had been struck, baggage loaded up, and every- 
thing was ready for a start. 

As a general rule, the Cavalry covered the movement a t  
a distance of about five miles, two of the four regiments 
being in front, with the other two on either flank. Two of 
the Infantry brigades came next, each accompanied by 
a Mountain battery ; then followed the field hospitals, 
Ordnance and Engineer parks, treasure, and the baggage, 
massed according to the order in which the brigades were 
moving. The third Infantry brigade with its Mountain 
battery and one or two troops of Cavalry formed the rear 
guard. 

A halt of ten minutes was made a t  the end of each hour, 
which at eight o'clock was prolonged to twenty minutee to 
give time for a hasty breakfast. Being able to sleep on the 

shortest notice, I usually took advantage of these intervals 
to get a nap, awaking greatly refreshed after a few minutes' 
sound eleep. 
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On arrival a t  the resting-place for the night, the front 
fece of the camp was told off to the brigade on rear guard, 
and thia became the leading brigade of the column on the 
next day's march. Thus every brigade had its turn of 
rear guard duty, which was very arduous, more particu- 
larly after leaving G h a d ,  the troops so employed seldonl 
reaching the halting-ground before six or seven o'clock in 
the evening, and sometimes even later. 

One of the most troublesome duties of the rear p a r d  
was to prevent the followers from lagging behind. for it 
was certain death for anyone who strayed £rom the shelter 
of the column ; numbers of Afghans always hovered about 
on the look-out for plunder, or in the hope of being able to 
send a Kaflr, or an almost equally-deteeted Hindu, to 
eternal perdition. Towards the end of the march particu- 
larly, this duty became moat irksome, for the wretched 
followers were so weary and footsore that they hid them- 
selves in ravines, making up their minde to die, and 
entreating, when discovered and urged to make an effort, 
to be left where they were. Every baggage animal that 
could pomibly be spared was used to carry the worn-out 
followers ; but, notwithstanding this and the care taken by 
officere and men that none should be left behind, twenty 
of these p o r  cretrtures were lost, besides four Native 
soldiers. 

The variation of temperature (st times as much us eighty 
degrees between day and night) was most trying to tlie 
troops, who had to carry the same clothes whether the 
thermometer was at freezing-point at dawn or at 110' Pahr. 
a t  mid-day. Scarcity of water, too, was a great trouble to 
them, while conetant sand-storms, and the suffocating dust 
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raised by the column in its progress, added greatly to their 
discomfort. 

Daily reports regarding the health of the troops, followers, 
and transport animals were brought to me each evening, 
and I made it my business to ascertain how many men 
had fallen out during the day, and what had been the 
number of casualties amongst the animals. 

On the 12th August the Head-Quarters and main body 
of the force halted to allow the Cavalry and the second 
Infantry brigade to push on m d  get clear over the Zam- 
burak Kotal (8,100 feet high) before the rest of the column 
attempted its ascent. This kotal presented a serious 
obstacle to our rapid progress, the gradient being in many 
places one in four, and most difficult for the baggage 
animals ; but by posting staff officers at intervals to control 
the flow of traffic, and by opening out fresh paths to relieve 
the pressure, we got over it much more quickly than I 
had expected. 

On the 16th we reached Ghazni, ninety-eight miles from 
Kabul, a place of peculiar interest to me from the fact that 
it WAS for his share in its capture, forty-one years before, 
that my father was given the C.B. 

I was met by the Governor, who handed me the keys of 
the fortress, and I placed my own guards and sentries in 
and around the city to prevent collisions between the in- 
habitants and our troops, and also to make sure that our 
demands for supplies mere complied with. Up to this 
point we had Imn fairly well off for food, forage, and 
water. 

Our next march was across a barren, inllospitsble track 
for twenty miles to a place called Yarghati. On the way 
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we paseed Ahmedkhel, where Sir Donald Stewart won his 
victory; the name had been changed by the Natives to 
' the Resting-place of Martyrs,' and the numerous freshly- 
covered-in graves testified to the ghatis' heavy losses. The 
remains of the few British soldiers, who had been buried 
where they had fallen, had been desecrated, and the bones 
were exposed to view and scattered about. 

A t  Chardeh, our next halting-place, a communicatioi~ 
from Colonel Tanner, Commanding at Iielat-i-Ghilzai, was 
brought to me by a Native messenger; it was dated the 
12th August, and informed me that Kandahar was closely 
invested, but that the garrison had supplies for two months 
and forage for fifteen days. 

On the 21st we anived at a point thirty miles from 
Keiat-i-Ghilzai, whence we opened heliograph comm~mi- 
cation with that place, and were told of an unsuccessful 
nortie made from K~ndahar  five days before, in which 
General Brooke and eight other British o&cers had been 
killed. 

On the PSrd Kelat-i-Ghilzai was reached. The garrison * 
had been well taken care of by Colonel Tanner,t and a 
large quantity of food for man and beast had been 
collectai ; but I thought it unadvisable at present to 
continue to hold the place, and have to keep open com- 
munication between it and Kandahar, and as I could see 
no compentltlting advantage in doing so, I determined to 
withdraw the  troop^ and take them along with me. 

The gar rkn  coneistd of 2 gune of Ci2, Royal Artillery, 146 rifle6 
of the 66th Foot, 100 of the 3rd Sind Home, and the 2nd Baluch 
Regiment, 888 ntrong. 

t Sow I.ieutenan&-General Sir Oriel Tnnner, K.C.B. 
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Colonel Tanner's report satisfied me there was no im- 
mediate danger to be apprehended at Kandahar, so I 
decided to halt for one day; both men and animals 
greatli needed rest after a continuous march of 225 
miles. 

I had endeavoured to keep the Government of India in- 
formed of my progress by a message from Ghazni, and one 
fro111 Oba Karez on the 18th August, but neither reached 
its destination. I now despatched a nlessage which =as 
more successful, and was delivered at Simla on the !3Oth 
August. I t  was as follows : 

' KBLAT-I-GHILZAI, 
' 28rd Auguet. 1980. 

'The force under my cornniand nrrived here this morning. The 
authorities at Kandaliar having stated on the 17th i n s t a t  that they 
have abundant supplies and can make forage last until 1st September. 
I halt to-morrow to rest troops, and more especially the transport 
animals and camp-followers. The force left Ghszni on the 16th, 
and haa marched 18% miles during the laat eight days; the troops 
are in good health and spirits. From this I purpose moving by 
regular stages, so that the men may s m v e  fresh a t  Kandahar. I 
hope to be in heliographic cornmunicstion with Kandahar fro111 Robat. 
distant twenty miles, oil the 29th. If General Phayre reaches 

, Takht-i-Pul, I should also hope to co~nmunicate with hini and -e 
a combined ~novement on Kandahar. I am taking tlie Kelat-i-Ghilzai 
gamson with me, making the Fort over to Mahomed Yadik Khan. n 
Toki Chief, who had charge of the plnce when we arrived in 1879 ; the 
present Governor, Sirdar Sheruidil Khan, refuscs to remain. \\'e ha\ e 
met with no opposition duriiig tlie march, and liave been nble to nialie 
satisfactoq nrrangeiiients for supplien, especially forage, which at  this 
seeson is ple~itiful. The ('avalry horse* and Al-tillery ~ilules are in excel- 
lent order; our casualties to date are, one soldicr 72nd Highlandcrx. 
one sepoy 28rd Pioneers, one 2nd Sikhs, two sepoys 8rcl Sikhs dead, 
one sepoy 4th Gurkhas, two sepoys 24th Punjeb Native Infantrj. 
one Duffeclar 3rd Punjab Cavalry initwing, six camp-follo\vers dead. 
five miming. The missing men have. I fear, been murdered. 1 
telegraphed from Ghazni oil the 15th, m d  from Oba Karez on the 
18th August' 
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I wrote also to Major-General Phayre, telling him of 
the date on which I expected to reach Kandahar, and that 
if I heard of his being anywhere near I would arrange 
my movements to suit his, in order that the two 
f o r m  might make a combined attack on Ayub Khan's 

As I was afraid the supplies at Kandahar would be in- 
eaf6cient for the additional troops about to be collected there, 
I sent General Phayre a memorandum* of the amount of 
food required daily by my force, and begged him to get 
puahed up from the rear such articles as were more 
particularly wanted. I pointed out that we were badly 

+ Estimate of daily requirements for the Kabul-Kandahar Field 
Force and the Kebti-(fhilzai garrieon : 

Europeane - 8 , m  
Native troops - 8,C'oo 
Followers 8 , m  
Home 2,800 
Tramport-yabm 1,593, mules and ponies 5,928, camels 400, 

donkeys 400. 
Meat . - 4,000 lbs. 
Brend-etuff - 40 meunds.' 
Vegetables - - 4,000 lba 
Rice - 800 ,, 
8dt - 188 ,, 
sngar - 6otJ ,, 
Tea - 160 8 ,  

Bum, 25 per cent. - - 80 gallone. 
Atb - 830 maunds. 
Ihu - 51# 9, 

Ghee - 1st ,. 
salt - f4 ,, 
Grain - 700 ,, 

A. R. BADCOCK, Major, 
KXWT-I.GEILZAI, Deputy Commisasry-General. 

%th Augurt, 1890. 

1 A maund ia equivalent to 80 lbs. 

-vOL. II. 55 
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off for boots, and that the 92nd Highlanders had only one 
hundred great-coats fit for wear, which were used by the 
men on night duties. 

On the 25th we marched to Jaldak, seventeen miles, and 
, the same distance the next day to Tirandaz, where I 

received a letter from Lieutenant-General Primrose, in- 
forming me that Ayub Khan had raised the siege on the 

23rd, and was entrenching himself s t  Mazra, beyond the 
Baba Wali Kotal, in the valley of the Arghandab. 

I awoke on the morning of the 27th feeling very unwell, 
and soon found I was in for an attack of fever. The heat 
during the day was becoming more and Illore overpowering 
as we proceeded south, and I had lately been feeling some- 
what knocked up by it and by exposure to the sun. I had 
now to give in for the time being, and was compelled to 
perform the march in a doolie, a most ignominious mode of 
conveyance for a General on service ; but there was no help 
for it, for I could not sit a horse. 

That day the 3rd Bengal and 3rd Punjab Cavalry 
marched thirty-four miles to Robat, in order to establish 
direct heliographic communication with Kandahar. The 
main body halted about half-may, when I again reported 
progress as follows : 

' SUB-I-SMA, 
'27th Augwt ,  1880. 

' My force arrived here to-day. I received a letter yesterday, dated 
26th, from Colonel St. John. He writes: "The rumours of the 
approach of jour force have been sufficient to relieve the city from 
investment. On Monday night tho villages on the east and south were 
abandoned by their mixed garrieons of g h a a b  and regulars. Yesterday 
morning Ayub struck his camp, and marched to a p i t i o n  on the 
Argandab, between Baba Wali and Sheikh Chela, due north of the city, 
and separated from it by a range of rocky hille. He has about 4,000 
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Infantry regulars, six 12-pounders and two 9-pounders rifled, four 
&pounder smooth-bore batteries, and one 4-pounder battery, 2,000 
soaars, and perhaps twice that number of ghazir, of whom a third have 
Grcsrma The Kizilbeshea and Kohietenie in his army, about 1,200 
Infantry and a00 Cavalry, offered to desert and join us directly we 
made a show of attack. They are at  lest aware of Abdur Rahm~n ' r  
snccenaion, but I think Ayub will remain unmolested until the arrival 
of the Kabul force, provided he waits, which is unlikely. H e  will, I 
expect, strike away north into Khakrez, on which line a vigorom 
pursuit will give us his guns. Machine, Royal Horse Artillery, is still 
a prisoner; I am making every effort to obtain his releaae, but I em 
not very hopeful of success. This morning, the 25th. 1 went to the 
field of the unlucky sortie of the 16th, and found the bodiea of the poor 
fellows who fell there, some forty in number ; they will be buried thin 
&moon. All the wounded are doing well. No signs or tidings of 
Phayre." General Gough, with two regiments of Cavalry, ie at  Robat ; 
they are in heliographic communication with Kandahar. General 
Rimrose heliographs that Ayub Khan hes entrenched his a m p  a t  
Baba Wali. The force marches for Robat to-morrow, seventeen milea 
distsnt from Kandahar.' 

The following day the column joined the two Cavalry 
regiments at Robat, where I was met by Lieutenant-Colonel 
St. John, from whom I heard that Ayub Khan was likely to 
make a stand. I thought it prudent, therefore, to halt on 
Bunday, the 29th, nnd'divide the last twenty miles into two 
short marches, in order that the men and animals might 
arrive ns fresh as possible, and fit for any work which 
might be required of them; for should Ayob Khan 

retire towards Herat, he would have to be follcwed up, 
and his army attacked and defeated wherever we might 
overtake him. 

Before leaving Robat, a letter arrived from General 
Phayre, which put an end to all hope of his force being 
able to co-operate with mine, for his leading brigade, he 
wrote, had only just got to the Kohjak Pass. This was to 
be regretted, but it was unavoidable. I was well aware 
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of the strenuous efforts the gallant Commander had 
made to relieve the beleaguered garrison, and I knew 
if co-operation had been possible it would have been 
effected. 

We encamped at Momund on the 30th, whence I sent the 
following telegram to Simla : 

' My force arrived here to-dmy ; we march to Randahar to- 
morrow. General Primrose heliographs that a letter from Ayub'm 
eamp brings information that the mother of the late H e i r - A p v n t ,  
Abdulla Jan, with other Isdies, hee been sent to Zemindswu. 
Arrival of the young Musa Jan in Ayub'e camp is eon6r1~1ed. Hmhh 
Khan is also there. The position is being strengthened, eepeaidy 
on the Pir Paimal side, where two grins have been placed with two 
regiments. From former information, I learn that the Baba Wd 
Kotal is occupied by three regiments and two guns. The Kotd-i- 
Murcha is held by the Kabul regiments, and Ayub's own camp b at 
Mazra, wliere it ie said that the majority of his guns are parked I 
propose to encerpp the Infantry to the west of Kandahar immediately 
under the walls, and the Cavalry under the walls to the eouth. Shodd 
I hear that Ayub contemplates tlight, I shall attack without delay. If. 
on the contrary, he intends to resist, I shall take rlly own time. The 
country he is occupying is, from description and map, extremely 
dii%cult and eeeily defensible, and each separate sdvance will reqoire 
careful study and reconnaissance to prevent unnecessary losa of life.' 

On the morning of the 31st we marched into Kandahar, 
just over 313 miles from Kabul. The fever, which hed 
attacked me rather sharply, had left me extremely weak, 
and I was unable to ride the whole way. I got on my 
horse, however, some distance from Kandahar to meet 
Generals Primrose, Burrows, and Nuttall, who came out to 
receive the column. As we approached the city, the whole 
garrison turned out and gave us a hearty welcome ; o5cers 
and men, Native and British, crowded round us, loud in 
their expressions of gratitude for our having come eo quickly 
to their assistance. We, on our side, mere all anxiety to 
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learn the particulars about Maiwand, how they had fared 
while invested, and all they could tell us of Ayub Khan, hie 
position, strength of his army, etc. 

I confess to being very greatly surprised, not to use a 
stronger expression, at the demoralized condition of the 
greater part of the garrison ;* there were some notable 
exceptions, t but the general bearing of the troops reminded 
me of the people at Agra in 1857. They seemed to con- 
eider themselves hopelessly defeated, and wore utterly de- 
p n d e n t  ; they never even hoisted the Union Jack until the 
relieving force was close at hand. The same excuses could 
not, however, be made for them, who were all soldiere by 
profession, as we had felt inclined to make for the residents 
of Agra, a great majority of whom were women, children, 
and civilians. The walls : which completely surrounded 
Kandahar were so high and thick as to render the city 
absolutely impregnable to any army not equipped with a 
regular siege-train. Scaling-ladders had been prepared by 
the enemy, and there was an idea that an assault would 
be attempted; but for British soldiers to have contem- 
plated the possibility of Kandahar being taken by an 
Afghan army showed what a miserable state of depreeaion 
and demoralization they were in. 

I halted the column for two hours outside the south wall 

The effective garrison consisted of 1,000 British soldiers, 8,000 
Native soldiers, and fifteen Field guns. 

) One and all bore teetimony to the unfailing good behaviour end 
oreditable bearing of the Royal Artillery and the Bombay Sappem and 
Miners, not only during the investment, but in the very trying time of 
the retrest from Maiwand. 

J The walls had an average height of 30 feet, and breadth of 1G feet 
on the north and eeet fronts. 
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of the city, where it was sheltered from the enemy's fire, 
Ayub Khan's position being within long range directly 
north of Kandahar. While the men rested and breakfasted, 
and the baggage animals were being unloaded, fed, and 
watered, I went into the citadel to talk matters over with 
General Primrose and Colonel St. .John, and inquire 
whether there was sufficient accommodation for the sick 
men of my force, numbering 940, who needed to be taken 
into hospital. The thermometer now registered 105' F. in 
tents during the day, but the nights were still bitterly cold, 
and the sudden changes of temperature were extremely 
trying to people in bad health. 

On the advice of Lieutenant-Colonel Chapman, whose 
intimate acquaintance with the neighbourhood of Kandahar, 
gained while serving on Sir Donald Stewart's staff, was now 
most valuable to me, I determined to take up a position to 

' the west of the city, with my right on the cantonment and 
my left touching Old Kandahar. This enabled me to cover 
the city, gave me command of a good supply of water, 
m d  placed me within striking distance of Ayub Khan's 

-P- 
At 10 a.m. the first and third brigades moved off and 

occupied Piquet Hill, Karez Hill, and the north-east spur of 
the llill above Old Kandahar. A few shots were fired a t  
the advance guard from distant orchards, and the ground 
proved to be within range of some of the enemy's Field- 
pieces on the Baba Wali liotal, but it was a case of 
Hobson's choice, as water was not to be found anywhere 
else at a come-at-able distance. 

Large numbers of men were to be seen crowning the 
Babe Wali Kotal, and constructing shelter-trenches along 



the crest of the low black ridge, which jutted out in a 
muth-easterly direction from the more lofty range on which 
the kotel is situated. Piquets were immediately sent to 
occupy the northern spur of the Iiohkeran Hill command- 
ing the road to Gundigan, the village of Abbasehd, the 
Karez Hill, the village of Chihal Dukhtaran, the greater 
and leeser Piquet Hills, and the villnge of Kalachi, all of 
which were found to be deserted. 

From a cursory examination of the ground, I satisfied 
myself that any attempt to carry the Baba Wali Kotal by 
direct sttack must result in very severe loss, and I deter- 
mined to turn it. But before I could decide how t h i ~  
could best be done, it was necessary to ascertain the 
strength and precise extent of the Afghan position. I 
therefore detailed a small party ;* under the command of 
Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, to make as complete s 
reconnaissance as time would allow. In the meantime I 
despatched the following telegram to the authorities a t  

' KANDAEAB, 
' 81at Augwt ,  1880. 

'The force under my command amvcd here this morning without 
o p p i t i o n .  Enemy are said to be in considerable strength at  Mezra, 
but the ridge of hills which divides Kandahar from the Argnndsb 
completely covers thcir position, and at present I have only been 
able to eacertain that the Baba IVali Kotal and one or two other 
points on this ridge are held in great strength, end that the enemy 
u e  busily engaged in defensive works. Reconnaimcea are now 
b e i i  conducted, and I shall soon, I hope bo eu5ciently acquainted 
wirh afihirs generally to enable me to arrange for an attack. The 
h d a h a r  garrison are in good health ; the horses and transport animal8 

Two Royal Artillcry guns, 8rd Ben$ Cavalry, and 16th Sikhk 
LiemtenantColonel Chapman accompanied the party, and wee of great 
vrirtance to Brigadier-General Gough. 
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appear to be in good condition. Major Vandeleur, 7th Fusiliers, hee 
died of his wounds ; the remainder of the wounded, both officen, end 
men, are generally doing well. The troop from Kabul aresin famom 
health and spirite. The assurance of the safety of thia garrison enabled 
comparatively short marches to be made from Kelati-Ghilzai, which 
much benefited both men and animals. The Cavalry horses and 
Artillery mules are in excellent oondition, and the transport animels 
are, a~ a rule, in very fair order. General Primrose haci arranged for 
the sick of the force from Kabul being accommodated inside the city ; 
many of the cases are sore feet; none are serious. To-morrow the 
telegraph line towards India will commence to be re-constructed, and as 
General Phayre is probably on this side of the Kohjak to-day, through 
communication should soon be restored.' 

The reconnaissance, which started at 1 p.m., proceeded 
towards the high ground immediately above the villagee of 
Gundigan and Murghan. Here the Infantry and guns 
were halted, while the Cavalry advanced between two or 
three miles, avoiding the numerous orchards and enclosures, 
and coming out in front of Pir Paimal, which was found to 
be strongly entrenched. 

As soon as the enemy's fire along this line had been 
drawn, the 3rd Bengal Cavalry fell back, admirably handled 
by their Commandant, Lieutenant-Colonel A. Mackenzie. 
In the meantime, two guns of No. 11 Battery 9th Brigade 
were brought into action, partly to test the range, and 
pertly to check the enemy, who were passing rapidly into 
the gardens near Gundigan. The Infantry and Artillery 
then retired within the line of piquets, and the moment 
they began to fall back the Afghans came after them in 
greet strength ; they were so persistent that I ordered the 
whole of the 3rd Brigade and part of the 1st Brigade under 
arms. The enemy, however, were unable to come to close 
quarters owing to the bold front shown by the 15th Sikhs, 
under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Hennessy, and 
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before dark the troops were all back in camp, with a lose of 
five men killed and fifteen wounded. 

From the information obtained by this reconnaiamnce, 
I found that it was quite practicable to turn the Afghan 
right, and thus place myself in rear of the Baba Wali 
range; I decided, therefore, to attack the position the 
following morning. I t  was too close to our own camp to 
risk delay. Moreover, I knew that the retrograde move- 
ment of Gough's small body would be construed into a 
defeat by the enemy, who, if we did not move at once, 
would atmuredly think that we were afraid to take the 
initiative, and would become correspondingly bold. 

I accordingly issued orders for the troops to breakfast a t  
7 a.m., and for one day's cooked rations to be camed by 
the Infantry and two days by the Cavalry and Home 
Artillery. Brigades were to be in position by eight o'clook, 
tenta being previously struck and the baggage stored in a 
walled enclosure. 

The night passed quietly except for occasional bursta of 
musketry along the line of piqueta to the west, showing 
that the Afghans were holding the villages they had 
occupied the previous evening. 



CHAPTER LXII. 

THE next morning, the 1st September, in accordance 

with instructions from Simla, I assumed command of the 
army in southern Afghanistan. There was no return to 
show the strength or composition of General Phayre'e 
column, but the troops at Kandahar all told now amounted 
in round numbers to 3,800 British and 11,000 Native 
soldiers, with 36 guns. 

An hour before daybreak the whole of the h o p e  were 
under arms, and at 6 a.m. I explained to Generals P r i m  
and Ross and the officers commanding brigades the plan of 
operations. Briefly, it was to threaten the enemy's left 
(the Baba Wali Kotal), and to attack in force by the village 
of Pir Paimal. 

The Infantry belonging to the Kabul column, upon whom 
devolved the duty of carrying the enemy's position, were 
formed up in rear of the low hills which covered the front 
of our camp, their right being at Piquet Hill and their left 
resting on Chitral Zina. The Cavalry of the K ~ b u l  column 
were drawn up in rear of the left, ready to operate by 
Gundigan towards the head of the Arghandab, so aa to 
threaten the rear of Ayub Khan's camp and hie line of re- 
treat in the direction of Girishk. Four guns of E Battery, 
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Royal Horse Artillery, two companies of the 27th Fusiliere, 
and four companies of the 28th Bombay Infantry, were 
p W  at the disposal of Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, 
whose orders were to occupy with theee troope the position 
above Gundigan, which had been MI useful during the 
previoue day's reconnaissance, and to push his Cavalry on 
to the Arghandab. 

Guards having been detailed for the protection of the city, 
the remainder of Lieutenant-General Primrose's troope 
were ordered to be disposed as follows : Brigadier-General 
Daubeny's brigade to occupy the ground between Piquet 
Hill and Chitral Zina as eoon as the Infantry of the Kabul- 
Kandahar Field Forca advanced to the attack. The 
remnant of Brigadier-General Burrowe's brigade, with 
No. 6 Battery, 11th Brigade Royal Artillery, under Captain 
Horneby, and the Cavalry under Brigadier-General Nuttall, 
to take up a poaition north of the cantonment, from which 
the 40-pounders could be brought to bear on the Baba 
Wali Kotal, while the Cavalry could watch the pass, called 
Kotal-i-Mnrche, and cover the city. 

From an early hour it was clear that the enemy con- 
templated an offensive movement ; the villages of Gundigan 
and Gundi Mulla Sahibdnd were being held in strength, and 
a desultory fire was brought to bear on the British front 
trom the orchards connecting these two villages and from 
the B e h  Wali Kotal. 

The Bombay Cavalry moved out at 7.50 a.m., and 
Daubeny's brigade at eight o'clock. Burrows's troope 
followed, and shortly after 9 a.m., their disposition being 
completed, Captain Hornsby opened fire upon the kotal, 
which was one mass of ghazie. 
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This feint, made by General Primrose's troops, having 
had the effect I had hoped, of attracting the enemy's atten- 
tion, I gave the order for Major-General Ross to make the 
real attack with the 1st and 2nd Brigades of hia division. 
The 3rd Brigade, under Brigadier-General Macgregor, I 
placed in front of the village of Abbasabad, with the 
double object of being a reserve to the 1st and 2nd 
Brigades and of meeting a possible counter-attack from 
the Baba Wali Kotal. 

Rose's orders were to advance against Gundi Mulls 
Sahibdad, capture the village, and then drive the enemy 
from the enclosures which lay between it and the low spur 
of Pir Paimal hill. This duty he entrusted to Brigadier- 
General Macpherson, and he directed Brigadier-General 
Baker to advance to the west, to keep touch with the 1st 
Brigade, and to clear the gardens and orchards in hie 
immediate front. 

Greig's 9-pounder and Robinson's 7-pounder (screw 
gun) batteries covered the attack on Gundi Bfulla Sahib- 
dad, which was made by the 2nd Gurkhas, under Lien- 
tenant-Colonel Arthur Battye, and the 92nd Highlanders, 
under Lieutenant-Colonel G. Parker, supported by the 
23rd Pioneers, under Lieutenant-Colonel H. Collett, and the 
24th Punjab Infantry, under Colonel F. Norman. The 
village was carried with the utmost gallantry, Highlanders 
and Gurkhas, always friendly rivals in the race for glory, 
by turns outstripping each other in their efforts to be fireb 
within its wells. The enemy sullenly and slowly withdrew, 
a goodly number of ghazia remaining to the very last to 
receive a bayonet charge of the 92nd. Neanwhile, Baker's 
troops had been threading their way through the narrow 
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lanes and loop-holed enclosures which lay in the line of 
their spirited attack; the resistance they encountered 
was most stubborn, and it was during this advance 
that the 72nd lost their dashing Commander, Lieutenant- 
Colonel F. Brownlow,* Captain Frome, and Lance- 
Sergeant Cameron, the latter a grand specimen of a 
Highland soldier. 

In the 2nd Brigade, the 72nd Highlanders and the 2nd 
Sikhs bore the brunt of the fighting ; they were the leading 
battalions, and frequently had to fix bayonets to carry 
different positions or to check the desperate rushes of the 
Afghans. 

After continued and severe fighting, both leading 
b r i d e s  emerged at the point of the hill close to Pir 
Paimal, and, wheeling to their right, they pressed rapidly 
on, sweeping the enemy through the thickly - wooded 
gardens which covered the weetern slopes, until noon, 
when the whole of Pir Paimal was in our possession.+ 

During the early part of the advance the Afghane 

Brownlow'a death wes a great lose, for throughout the wer he hsd 
frequently distinguished himself aa a leader-at the Peiwar Kotd, 
dming the operations round Kabul, and notably on the 14th December, 
when he won the admiration of the whole foroe by his brilliant con- 
duct in the attaok on the h m a i  heighta. 

t The following Native ofllcera, British and Native non -cam- 
mkioned o5wn, and Native soldiers were brought forward M having 
bean very conspicuons during thin part of the fight : 

Colour-Sargeant G.  Jecoba - - 72nd Highlandere. 
Colour-Sergeant R. Lander - - ) I  ,, 
Lance-Corporal J. Gordon - ,, ,, 
Subadar-Major Ourbaj Sing - 2nd Sikhs. 
Jemndar Alla G i g  - 1 9  1 ,  

Ndok Dir Sing - I (  ,, 
SapoyHnkim - 9 ,  9 ,  
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collected in great strength on the low hills beneath 
the Baba Wali Kotal, evidently preparing for a rush 
on our guns; t.heir leaders could be seen urging them 
on, and a portion of them came down the hill, but the 
main body apparently refused to follow, and remained on 
the crest until the position was turned, when they at once 
retreated. 

Having become assured of General Ross's complete 
success, and seeing that there was now no necedty for 
detaining Macgregor'~ (the 3rd) brigade to meet a counter- 
attack, I pushed on with it to join Ross, who, however, 
k n o ~ i n g  how thoroughly he could depend upon his troops. 
without waiting to be reinforced, followed up the retreating 
foe, until he reached an entrenched position at the other 
side of the Baba Wali Kotal, where the Afghans made 
another most determined stand. Ghazis in large numbem 
flocked to this spot from the rear, while the guns on the 
kotal were turned round and brought to bear on our men, 
already exposed to a heavy Artillery fire from behind the 
entrenched camp. 

I t  now became necessary to take this position by storm, 
and recognizing the fact with true soldierly instinct, Major 
White, who was leading the advanced companies of the 
92nd, called upon the men for just one charge more ' to 

close the business.' The battery of ecrew guns had been 
shelling the position, and, under cover of its fire and 
supported by a portion of the 2nd Gurkhas and %rd 
Pioneere, the Highlanders, responding with alacrity to 

Sepoy Tej Sing - - 2nd Sikh. 
Sepoy Pertap Sing - - ,, I* 

. Sepoy Bir Sing - - 11 I )  
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their leader's call, dashed forward and drove the enemy 
from their entrenchments at the point of the bayonet.. 

Major White was the first to reach the guns, being 
closely followed by Sepoy Inderbir Lama, who, placing his 
rifle upon one of them, exclaimed, ' Captured in the name 
of the 2nd (Prince of Wales' Own) Gurkhas !' 

Whilst the let Brigade was advancing towards the laat 
position, a half-battalion of the 3rd Sikhs (belonging to the 
2nd Brigade), under Lieutenant-Colonel G. Money, charged 
e body of Afghans and captured three guns. 

The enemy were now absolutely routed, but, owing to 
the nature of the ground, it was impossible for General 
Roes to realize how complete had been his victory, and he 
fully expected that the enemy would take up a fresh posi- 
tion further on ; he therefore ordered the 1st and 2nd 
Brigades to halt while they replenished their ammunition, 
and then proceeded for about a mile, when they suddenly 
came in sight of Ayub Khan's enormous camp. It was 
entirely deserted, and apparently stood as it had been 
left in the mornkg when the Afghans moved out to 
the attack. With his camp was captured the whole of 
Ayub Khan's Artillery, thirty-two pieces, including our two 

+ During this engagement the following offlcere and men were 
specidly remarked for their gallantry : 

Major G. White - - 92nd Highlandere. 
Lieutenant C. Dough - I.  

Corporel William MeOillvrsy - , I  I T  

Private Peter Grieve - I *  I ,  

Private D. Grey - I t  ,, 
Major Sullivan Becher - 2nd Gurkhse. 
aSdilduG~pcrlBorrrh - II  19  
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Horse Artillery guns* which had been taken at Maiwand 
on the 27th July. 

Further pursuit by the Infantry being valueless, the 
let  and 2nd Brigades halted on the far side of Meem, 
where I with the 3rd Brigade shortly afterwards joined 
them. 

Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, having satisfied himself 
ae to the security of our left flank, scouted as far aa 
Kohkeran, and then proceeded with the Cavalry of the 
Kabul-Kandahar Field Force to execute the extended move 
ment entrusted to him. He crossed the Arghandab, and 
pushed round to get in front of the line of the enemy's 
retreat towards Kakrez. Some gh& and Irregular Afghan 
troops were overtaken, but no Regular regiments were met 
with, the soldiers having, as is their custom, quickly 
divested themselves of their uniform and assumed the garb 
of harmless. agriculturists. 

Ayub Khan himself had fled early in the day with hie 
principal Sirdars. 

As I rode into the abandoned camp, I was horrified 
to hear that the body of Maclaine, the Horse Artillery 
officer who had been taken prisoner at Maiwand, was lying 
with the throat cut about forty yards from Ayub Khan's 
own tent. From what I could learn, the latter had not 
actually ordered the murder, but as a word from him 
would have prevented it, he must be held reeponsible for 
the aseessination of an officer who had fallen into hie hands 
as a prisoner of war. 

Our losses during the day comprieed: killed, 3 B r i M  

These gun8 were presented to me by the Indian Government, aod 
are now et the Royal Hospital, Dublin. 
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officers,* 1,Native officer, and 86 men ; wounded, 11 British 
of f im,  4 ,Native officers, and 195 men, 18 of whom suo- 
cumbed to their wounds. I t  wee difficult to estimate the 
loes ef the enemy, bat it muet have been heavy, as between. 
Kandahar and the village of Pir Paimal alone 600 bodiee 
were buried by us. 

With the exception of the let Brigade, which remained a t  
Mazra for the night to protect the captured guns and 
stores, the troops all returned to camp before 9 p.m.t 

Utterly exhausted as I was from the hard day's work 
and the weakening effects of my late illness, the oheere 
with which I  as greeted by the troops as I rode into Ayub 
Khan's camp and viewed the dead bodies of my gallant 
soldiers nearly unmanned me, and it was with a very 
big lump in my throat that I managed to say a few words 
of thanks to each corps in turn. When I returned to 
Kandahar, and threw myself on the bed in the little 
room prepared for me, I was dead-beat and quite un- 
equal to the effort of reporting our success to the Queen 

The third British officer killed wan Captain Straton, aand Foot, 
Superintendent of h y  Signalling, a most accomplished officer, under 
whoso direction signalling aa applied to Field Service reached a 
wonderful pitch of perfection. Hie energy knew no difEculties, and hia 
enthuaieam waa beyond praiee. 

t The rumunition expended by the Kabul-Kandahar Field Force 
on the 81st August and 1st September wae: 

R o d .  
Gun - - 1m j Shrapnell shell 78 

Common ,, 'a4 
Martini-Henry 16,lW 

s717M 1 hider 42,576 

and in addition 818 rounds were fired by the Artillery, and 4,871 roundm 
by the Infantry of the Kandahar Garrison. 

VOL. XI. 66 
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or to the Viceroy. After an hour's rest, however, knowing 
how anxiously news from Kandahar was looked for both 
in England and India, I managed to pull myself together 
snfiiciently to write out and despatch the following 

' ~ D A E I B ,  

' l r t  Ssptarbsr, 1880 (6 p.m.). 

' A p b  Khan's m y  was to -by  defeated and completely disperd ~. 

with, I hope, comparatively alight loss on our aide; hie a m p  WM 

oaptured, the two lost guns of E Battery, B Brigsde Royal Harm 
Artillery were recovered, and several wheeled guns of v ~ o m  calibre 
fell to the splendid Infantry of thie form; the Cavalry are stiIl in 
pursuit. Our casualties are : 22nd Foot, Captain Streton, killed ; 
7%d Highlanders, Lientenant-Colonel Brownlow, Captain F'rome. 
killed, Captain Murray and Lieutenant Monro, wounded, 7 men 
killed, 18 wounded; 92nd Highlandere, Lieutenante Menziea and 
Donald Stewart wounded, 11 men killed and 89 wounded ; %d h r k h ~ .  
Lieutenant-Colonel Battye, and 2nd Sikhs, Major Slater wounded. 
I t  is at present impossible to eecertain the ceeualtiee amongst the 
Native troops, but I have no reason to believe they are exceseive ; full 
deteila will be telegraphed to-morrow. The quite recently murdered 
remains of Lieutenant Maclaine, Royal Horee Artillery, were found on 
the arrival of the British troops in A p b  Khan's camp. Aynb Khan t 
supposed to have fled towards Hertit.' 

I t  can easily be imagined with what an intense sense of 
relief I awoke on the morning of the 2nd September-the 
march had ended, Kandahar had been relieved, A p b  
Khan's army had been beaten and dispersed, and there 
was an adequate force in southern Afghanistan to prevent 
further disturbances. 

Amongst the innumerable questions of detail which now 
confronted me was the all-important one, and that which 
caused me greatest anxiety, of how the large body of troops 
hastily concentrated at Kandahar, and for whioh the 
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produce of the country was quite inadequate, were to be 
fed. 

No supplies and very little forage were procurable 
between Quetta and Kandahar, and in the neighbourhood 
of the latter place there was now hardly anything in the 
h p e  of food for man or beast to be had for love or money, 
the reeourcee of this part of the country having been 
quite exhausted. Relief could only be obtained by reducing 
the number of mouths to be fed, and with this object I 
scattered the troops in different directions, to posts as far 
distant from each other as possible, consistent with safety; 
and in accordance with my promise to the Kabul-Kandahar 
Field Force, that they should not be required to garrison 
Kandahar when the fighting was at an end, I arranged 
to despatch without delay to India the corps which had 
come with me from northern Afghanistan. 

One column proceeded to Maimand to inter the bodiee 
of our soldiers who fell on the 27th July. The Cavalry 
brigade moved with a number of sick men and transport 
animals to Kohkeran. Macgregor's brigade started for 
Quetta on the 8th, and was followed soon after by Baker's 
and Macpherson's brigades. I accompanied Macgregor in 
the hope that the change to Quetta (where I remained 
about a month) would pick me up, and enable me to meet 
Lord Ripon's wish that I should retain the command in 
eouthern Afghanistan until some satisfactory settlement 
could be arrived at. 

Before leaving Kandahar I iseued an order thanking all 
ranks of the Kabul-Kandahar Field Force for the work they 
had so nobly performed, and I had the gratification of 
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acknowledging, on their behalf and my own, congratulatory 
messages from the Queen, the Duke of Cambridge, the 
Marquie of Ripon, and many others. On the way to 
Quetta I had the further gratification of being infomed by 
the Viceroy hhat Her Majesty had been graciously pleased 
to make me a G.C.B., and to appoint me Commander-in- 
Chief of the Madras Army. 

I now heard that Abdur Rahman had been W y  
nominated Amir of Kabul on the 10th August, and that 
immediately after the ceremony of installation Sir Donald 
Stewart had marched the whole British force of 6,678 
men of all arm8 out of Kabul on their return to India. 
Sir Donald left Peehawar to take up hie appointment of 
Military Member of Council at Simla on the Slat August, 
and by the 7th September the last of hia troope hsd 
arrived at the former place, except one brigade left as a 
temporary measure in the Khyber Pass. 

At Quetta I stayed with Sir Robert Sandeman, the 
capable Resident, who by his great pereonal influence had 
done much to allay excitement amongst the tribes, and 
to prevent serious trouble in Baluchiatan and along the 
border. I had never before been to that part of the 
frontier, and I wee greatly impreeeed by the hold Sende- 
man had obtained over the country; he was intimately 
acquainted with every leading man, and there was not 8 

village, however out of the way, which he had not visited. 
' Sinniman eahib,' as the Natives called him, had gained 
the confidence of the lawless Baluchie in a very remarkeble 
manner, and it was mainly owing to his power over them 
that I was able to arrange with camel contractors b 
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transport to Quetta and Kandahar the huge etocke of 
winter clothing, medical comforts, grain, and the various 
requirement8 of an army in the field, which had been 
brought by rail to Sibi, and had there remained for want of 
transport to take them further on. 
Aa the change to Quetta did not benefit me, and as I 

toand that, owing to indifierent health, I was unable to 
aary on my duty with satisfaction to myself, I applied to 
be relieved. My request was acceded to, and I started on 
the 12th October for India. 

Riding through the Bolan Paee I overtook most of the 
regiments of the Kabul-Iisndahar Field Force marching 
towards Sibi, thence to disperse to their respective deetina- 
tions. As I parted with each corpe in turn ite band played 
' Add Lang Syne,' and I have never since heard that 
memory-stirring air without its bringing before my mind's 
eye the last view I had of the Kabul-Iiandahar Field Force. 
I fancy myself croesing and re-croeeing the river which 
winds through the pees ; I hear the martial beat of drums 
and plaintive mueic of the pipee ; and I see Riflemen and 
Gurkhas, Highlanders and Sikhs, gune and horsee, camels 
and mulee, with the endless following of an Indian army, 
winding through the narrow gorges, or over the intermin- 
able boulders which made the passage of the Bolan so 
m c u l t  and wearisome to man and beast. 

I shall never forget the feeling of sadness with which I 
said good-bye to the men who had done so much for me. I 
looked upon them all, Native as well as British, as my 
valued friends. And well I might, for never had a Com- 
mander been better served. From first to laet a grand spirit 
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of cama~aderie* pervaded all r a n l .  At the Peiwar Kohl, a t  
Charasia, and during the fighting round Kabul, all were 
eager to close with the enemy, no matter how great 
the odds against them. Throughout the march from 
Kabul a11 seemed to be animated with but one deaire, to 
effect, coat what it might in personal risk, fatigue, or die- 
comfort, the speedy release of their beleaguered fellow- 
soldiers in Kandahar ; and the unflagging energy and 
perseverance of my splendid troop8 seemed to reach their 
full height, when they realized they were about to put 
forth their strength against a hitherto successful enemy. 
Their exemplary conduct, too, under circumetancss often 
of the most trying nature, cannot be praised in t e r m  too 
strong or too full. Notwithstanding the provocation caueed 
by the cruel murder of any stragglers who fell into the 
hands of the Afghans, not one act infringing the rnlee of 
civilized warfare was committed by my troops. The persons 
and property of the Natives were respected, and full corn- 

+ The 7%d Elighlanders and 6th Gurkhas were brigaded together 
throughout the campaign, and at their return to India the lattermghmmt 
preeented the former with a .shield bearing the following inscription : 

FBOM THE 

MEN OF THE STH GURKHAS 

TO THB 

NEN OF THE 7 2 ~ ~  (DUKE OF ALBANY'S OWN) HIOHLANDEBB. 

M EBXEXBRANCE O F  

THB AFGHAN CAMPAIGN, 1878 TO 1880. 

The gift wee entirely spontaneous, and was nubscribed for by the 
Native officers, non-commiaaioned officere, and men. 

In  retnm, the non-commissioned ofecers and men of the 7 b d  gam 
the 6th Gurkhaa a very handsome ebony, silver-mounted Dmm-Majoo'm 
d. 
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peneation for supplies was everywhere given. In short, the 
inhabitants of the dietricts through which we passed codd 
not have been treated with greater consideration nor with 
e lighter hand, had they proved themselves friendly allies, 
and the conduct of the troops will ever be to me as pleasing 
a memory ee are the results which they achieved. 



CHAPTER LXIII. 

ON the 15th October I handed over my command to 
Major-General Phayre, and started for England, making, 
by the desire of the Viceroy, a diversion to Simla, where 
Lord Ripon received me most kindly, and, to my great 
pride and pleasure, delivered to me a letter from the Queen- 
Empress, written by Her Majesty's own hand, which con- 
veyed in the most gracious terms the Queen's eatisfaction 
at the manner in which the service entrusted to me had 
h e n  performed, thanks to 'the brave officers end men 
under my command,' sorrow 'for those of her gallant 
soldiers who fell for Queen and country,' and anrietg 
for the wounded. Her Majesty also wrote of ' the thrill 
of horror' with which the news of the fate of Lieutenant 
Maclaine had been received, and concluded with words of 
hope that my own health and that of the troops would 
remain good, and that success might attend us 'till the 
blessings of peace are restored.' 

A gracious letter, truly ! And to me a deeply appreciated 
reward for what I had been able to do. 

I landed at Dover on the 17th November. The reception 
I met with from my countrymen was as enthusiastic as it 
was unexpected and gratifying. After an absence of twelve 
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yeers there must almost always be more or less of sadness 
mingled with the pleasure of the home-coming, and two 
vacant places in my family circle-those of my father and 
eister--cast a deep shedow upon what would otherwise have 
been a moat joyous return, for my mother was alive to 
welcome me, and I found my children flourishing and 
my wife well, notwithstanding all the anxiety she had 
undergone. 

I was fkted and feasted to almost an alarming extent, 
coneidering that for nearly two years I had been restricted 
to campaigning diet; but it surprieed me very much to 
find that the kind people, by whom I was so greatly 
honoured, invariably appeared to think the march from 
Kabul to Kandahar was a much greater performance than 
the advance on Kabul the previous autumn, while, to my 
mind, the latter operation was in every particular more 
difficult, more dangerous, and placed upon me as the Com- 
mander infinitely more responsibility. The force with 
which I started from Kuram to avenge the massscre of 
our fellow-countrymen was little more than half the 
strength of that with which I marched to Kandahar. 
Immediately on crossing the Shutargardan I found myself 
in the midst of a hostile and warlike people, entirely de- 
pendent on the country for supplies, heavily handicapped 
by want of transport, and prectically as completely cut 
off from communication with India as I was a year later 
oqthe  march to Kandahar. The Afghans' fanatical hatred 
of Europeans had been augmented by their defeats the 
year before, and by the occurrences at Kabul, and they 
looked upon my emall column as a certain prey delivered 
into their hands by a sympathizing and all-powerful Allah. 
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Before me was Kabul, with its large and well-equipped 
arsenal, defended by an army better organized and more 
highly trained than that possessed by any former Ruler of 
Afghanistan. On all sides of me were tribesmen hurrying 
up to defend the approaches to their capital, and lud 
there been on our part the smallest hesitation or delay, 
we should have found oureelves opposed by as formidable 
a combination as we had to deal with two months later at 
Sherpur. Nothing could then have saved the force, not 
one man of which I firmly believe would have ever re- 
turned to tell the tale in India. Worse than all, I had in 
my own camp a traitor, in the form of the Amir, peeing 
as a friend to the British Government and a refugee seek- 
ing our protection, while he was at heart our bitterest 
enemy, and was doing everything in his power to mnke 
my task more difficult and ensure our defeat. 

The march to Kandahar was certainly much longer, the 
country was equally unfriendly, and the feeding of so large 
a number of men and animals was a continual source of 
anxiety. But I had a force capable of holding ita o m  
egainst any Afghan army that could possibly be opposed 
to it, and good and sufficient transport to admit of ite 
being kept together, with the definite object in view 
of rescuing our besieged countrymen and defeating Aynb 
Khan ; inatead of, as at Kabul, having to begin to unravel 
a difficult political problem after accomplishing the defeat 
of the tribesmen and the Afghan army. 

I could only account to myself for the greater amount of 
interest displayed in the march to Kandahar, and the 
larger amount of credit given to me for that undertalung, 
by the glamour of romance thrown around an army of 
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10,000 men lost to view, as it were, for nearly a month, 
about the fate of which uninformed speculation was rife 
end pessimistic rumoure were spread, until the tension 
became extreme, and the corresponding relief proportionably 
great when that army re-appeared to dispose at once of 
Ayub and his hitherto victorious troops. 

I did not retum to India until the end of 1881, six 
weeks out of these precious months of leave having been 
spent in a wild-goose chase to the Cape of Good Hope and 
back, upon my being nominated by Mr. Gladstone's Govern- 
ment Governor of Natal and Commander of* the Forces in 
South Africa, on the death of Sir George Colley and the 
receipt of the news of the disaster at Majuba Hill. While 
I waa on my way out to take up my command, peace was 
made with the Boem in the most marvellouely rapid and 
unexpected manner. A peace, alas! 'without honour,' 
to which may be attributed the recent regrettable state 
of a h i r e  in the Transvaal-a state of afbirs which waa 
foreseen and predicted by many at the time. My stay 
a t  Cape .Town was limited to twenty-four hours, the 
Government being apparently as anxious to get me away 
from Africa as they had been to hurry me out there. 

In August I spent three very enjoyable and instructive 
weeks aa the guest of His Imperial Majesty the Emperor 
of Germany, while the mancleuvres at Hanover and Schleswig- 
Holstein were taking p l m .  

Shortly before leaving England for Madrae, I waa aeked 
by Mr. Childere, the then Secretary of State for War, 
whether I would accept the appointment of Quartermaster- 
General at the Horse Guards, in succession to Sir Garnet 
Woleeley. The offer, in some ways, was rather a tempta- 
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tion to me, for I had a great wish to take part in the 
administration of our army ; and had it been made sooner, 
before my arrangements for going to Madras had been 
completed, I think I should have accepted it at once ; as it 
was, I begged to be allowed to join my new command, and 
leave the question of the Quartermaster-Generalship in 
abeyance until it was about to become vacant. This was 
agreed to, and I started for Madras, taking my wife and 
two little daughters with me, the boy being left at school 
in England. 

On arriving in Madras, on the 27th November, I had the 
pleasure to find myself associated as a colleague in Council 
with Mr. Grant-Duff,* who had recently been appointed 
Governor of the Presidency. We spent a few pleasant 
days with him and Mrs. Grant-Duff at Government House, 
before proceeding to deposit our children at Ootacamund, 
that Queen of Indian Hill-stations, which was to be our 
home for four years. We spent Christmas there, and then 
went to Burma, visiting the Andaman Islands on the way. 
We had on board our ship some prisoners destined for 
that convict settlement, amongst whom cholera unfor- 
tunately broke out a few hours after we left Madras. 
They were accommodated just outside my wife's cabin, 
and their cries and groans were most distressing. Very 
little could be done for them on board, for the Native 
Doctor accompanying us possessed no remedy but castor 
oil ! and as the disease was spreading rapidly, I took upon 
myself to have the party landed at Vizagapatam. The 

cholera patients were put into tents on the sea-shore, under 
the charge of a medical officer, and every arrangement 

* Now Bir Mount-Btuart Grant-Duff, G.C.B.I. 
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possible for their comfort and relief was made More we 
proceeded on our journey. 

During our stay at Port Blair, the Heed-Quarters of the 
Andaman Administration, we were the guests of the 
hoepitable Superintendent, Lientenant - Colonel Protheroe, 
who had been one of the political officers on my staff in 
Afghanistan. The group of islands forming the settlement 
ere extremely beautiful, but it is tropical beauty, and one 
pays the penalty for the luxuriant vegetation in the climate, 
which is very much like a Turkbh bath, hot and damp. 
While going through the priaons, I came across some of the 
sepoys of the 29th Punjab Infantry who deaerted during 
the advance on the Peiwar Kotel. I wee told that they 
were behaving well, and might in time be allowed some 
remission of their sentences. 

A voyage of thirty-six h o r n  brought us to Rangoon, 
where we had the pleeeure of meeting and being enter- 
bined by our old friends, Mr. Bernard,* the Chief Com- 
missioner of Burma, and hie wife. 

In 1882 Thyetmyo and Tonghu were the two frontier 
Btetions of Burma, and I had been eeked to consider the 
question of the defence of the proposed railway termini at 
these p k .  I accordingly vieited them both, and aa I 
thought I foresaw that the lines of railway could not end 
se then oontemplsted, I recommended that the abeolutely 
necessery works only should be attempbed, and that these 
ehould be ae inaxpensive as poesible. Ere many yeam 
had p a d ,  the line, aa I anticipated, wee completed to 
Mandalay. 

The defences of Rengoon had oleo to be arranged for. 

Now Sir Chrulm Bernard, K.C.8.L 
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An examination of the approeches, however, satisfied me 
that no elaborate system of fortification was necessary, and 
that Rangoon's best security lay in her winding, dangerous 
river; so I gave it as my opinion that, with two small 
batteries at Monkey Point and King's Point, and a couple 
of torpedo-boats, Rangoon would be reasonably safe against 
attack. 

Before leaving Burma I received letters from H.R.H. the 
Duke of Cambridge and Mr. Childers, in which were re- 
peated the offer of the Quartermaster-Generalship at the 
Horse Guards. But I had by this time begun to like my 
new work, and had no desire to leave Madras ; I therefore 
definitely declined the appointment. 

From Burma we returned to Ootecamund, via Calcutta, 
where we spent a few days with Lord and Lady Ripon and 
Sir Donald and Lady Stewart. 

Life at ' Ooty ' was very pleasant ; such peace and 
repose I had never before experienced; I thoroughly 
enjoyed the rest after the turmoil of the preceding years, 
and I quite recovered my health, which had been somewhat 
shattered. Unlike other hill-stations, Ootacamund reets on 
an undulating tableland, 7,400 feet above the sea, with 
plenty of room in the neighbourhood for riding, driving, and 
hunting ; and, although the scenery is nothing like as grand 
aa in the Himalayas, there are exquisite views to be had, 
and it is more restful and homelike. We made many 
warm friends and agreeable acquaintances, who when our 
time in Nadras came to an end presented my wife with s 
very beautiful clock ' as a token of esteem and affection ' ; 
we were very sorry to bid farewell to our friends and 
to our Nilgiri home. 
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Each cold season I made long tours in order to acquaint 
m p l f  with the needs and capabilities of the men of the 
Madras Army. I tried hard to discover in them those 
fighting qualitiee which had distinguished their forefathera 
during the wars of the last and the beginning of the 
preeent century. But long years of peace, and the security 

and prosperity attending it, had evidently had upon them, 
ee they always seem to have on Asiatics, a softening and 
deteriorating effect ; and I was f o r d  to the conclusion 
that the ancient military spirit had died in them, aa it 
had died in the ordinary Hindustani of Bengal and the 
Mahratba of Bombay, and that they could no longer with 
safety be pitted against warlike races, or employed outaide 
the limits of southern India. 

It was with extreme reluctance that I formed this opinion 
with regard to the successors of the old k t  Army, for 
which I had always entertained a great admiration. For 
the sake of the British officers belonging to the Madrse 
Army, too, I was very loath to be convinced of ita inferiority, 
for many of them were devoted to their regimen@ and 
were justly proud of their traditions. 

However, there was the army, and it waa my beainesa 
ee ite Commander-in-Chief to do all that I poseibly 
could towards rendering it an efficient pert of the war 
eatabliahment of Lndia. 

Madraseiee, ee a rule, are more intelligent and better 
educated than the fighting races of northern India, and 
I therefore thought it could not be difficult to t a c h  them 
the value of musketry, and make them excel in it. To thin 
end, I encouraged rifle meetings and endeavoared to get 
(fenera1 Officere to take an interest in musketry inspections, 
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and to make those inspections instructive and entertaining 
b ' t h e  men. I took to rifle-ahooting nryeelf, aa did tge 
d c e l s  con my permnal etaff,' who ware all good shbts, 
m d  our team held its own in meny exoiting mabhae 3 

W'd8erent  rifle meetings. 
'Af that time the importance of musketry trsining m 

not ria generally reosgnized 88 it is now, especially by the 
dmhrofficerw who had all entered the eervioe in the days 
of 'Bfownb B&s:' Some of them htrd failed to note the 
&arw alteration which the change from the mask4 
h f h d  rifle neceaitated in the system of mueketry inetrpo- 

@a& or .to study the very dxerexd conditions under which 
,pb'muld hope to win battles in the present dag, oem- 
pared with those under which some of our most ce leb~ted 
ie(ories l isd been won. I t  required time and pati- $0 

&spire officers with a belief in the wonderful &ookhg 
W*p"sr d the Martini-Henry rifle, and it was even mom 
c&ffieult to 'make them realize that the better the weapon, 
the greeter theqneoessity for its being intelligently used 

f i+ad great faith in the yalalue of Camps of Exercise, and 
notwithstanding the difficulty of obtaining an annual g r d  

to defray their cmt, I managed ea& year, by 
advantage pf -the movement of troaps in course of relie& 
to form smell ,camps at the more inpportant Wtione, and 
on. one occamon was able to collect 9,000 men together ia 
tdae ~eighbourhood of Be~mlore ,  where, the Coxyambm- . t 

ibtaiaf in' lndia and of Bornbey (Sir Danald Stewart and 
r .  ' , . ' ' ". I ,  

* ~ieutenant-kolonel O: T. Pretyman, R.A., was h t a n t  M W m q  
%&& until 1884, ivheh he'w& ~ucceedql. by Lieutenant-C&nd 
Ik RobeC&rew, Colddtream Guerds. Lieutam& Neville Chamkl.in, 
Central India Horse, and Captain Ian Hamilton, the Gordon High- 
lnnders, were Aides-de-camp. 
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the Hon. h-ihnr H-) were present-the first and 
last time that the ' three Chiefs * in India met toget.ar at 

a Camp of Exercise. The Sappers and Miners were a 
ibrilliant exception to the rest of the Madras - h y ,  being 
indeed a most useful, e5cient body of men, but as no 
increase to that branch uns cons ided  n w .  I 
obtained permi+sion to convert two InEanw regiments 
into Pioneers on the model of the Pioneer Corps of the 
Bengal Army, which had always proved themselves sc) 

tiseful on wrrice. Promotion amongst the British otticers 
was accelerated, recruits were not allowed to marrF, or, if 
married, to have their Kives Kith them, and many other 
minor changes were made which did much towards im- 
1)rot-ing the efficiency of the h'ative portion of the Madras 
Army ; and I hope I was  able to increase the comfort and 
11-ell-being of the British portion irlso b j  relaxing irksome 
and useless restrictions, and by impressing upon com- 
manding officers the advisability of not punishing young 
soldiers with the extreme severity which had hitherto been 
considered neceunary. 

I had been unpleasantly struck by tlle frequent Courts- 
Martial on the votinger soldiers, and by the disl)rolmr- 
tionate number of these lads to I s  met with in the 
military prisons. Even when tlie prinoners haplmnecl 
to be of some length of service, I I I R U A I I ~  fotlnd that they 
had undergone previous imprisonments, and hnd beell 
severely punislied within a short tiwe of their enl is tn~e~~t .  
I urged that, in the first two or three years of a 801dier's 
service, everj nlloannce s11o11ld l)e nlade for youth ant1 
inexperience, ant1 that during that timc? faulk should, 
whenever prlrcticnble, be dealt wit11 suuin~arilg, and not 

VOL. 11. 67 
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visited with the heavier punishment which a Court-Martial 
sentence necessarily carries with it, and I pointed out that 
this procedure might receive a wider application, and 
become a guiding principle in the treatment of soldiere 
generally. I sliggested that all men in possession of a 
good-conduct badge, or who had had no entry in their 
company defaulter sheets for one year, should be granted 
certain privileges, such as receiving the fullest indulgence 
in the grant of passes, consistent with the requirements of 
health, duty, and discipline, and being excused attendance 
at all roll-calls (including meals), except perhaps at tattoo. 
I had often remarked that those corps in ahich in- 
dulgences were most freely given contained the largest 
number of well-behaved men, and I had been assured that 
such indulgences were seldom abused, and that, while they 
were greatly appreciated by those who received them, they 
acted as an incentive to less well conducted men to try 

and redeem their characters. 
The reports of commanding officers, on the results of 

these small ameliorations, after a six months' trial, were so 
favouruble that I was able to authorize still further con- 
cessions as a premium on good behaviour. 

The Madras Presidency abounds in places of intereat 
connected with our earlier struggles in India, and it wee 
possible to combine pleasure with duty in a very delightful 
manner while travelling about the country. My wife 
frequently accompanied me in my tours, and enjoyed as 
much as I did our visits to many famous and beautiful 
places. Nadras itself recalled the struggles for supremacy 
between the English and French in the middle of the 
eighteenth century. Arcot reminded one that it was in the 
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tjrilliant wpture and still more brilliant defence of the fort 
at that place that Clive's eoldierly genius first became 
conspicuous. Trichinopoly and Wandewash made one 
think of Stringer Lawrence's and Eyre Coote's splendid 
services, and while standing on the breach at Seringapa- 
tam, one was reminded of Wellington's early: life in India, 
and marvelled how heavily-armed men could have ventured 
to cross the single plank which alone spanned the deep, 
broad ditch of the inner defences. 

I should like to dwell on the architectural wonders of 
Tanjore and the Caves of Ellora; the magnificent enter- 
tainments and Princely hospitality accorded to us by the 
Nizam of Hyderabad, the late Maharajas of Mysore and 
Travaneore, the Maharaja of Vizianagram, the Raja of 
Cochin, and many other Rulers of Native States; the 
delights of a trip along the west coast by the beautiful 
' hack-water,' and the return journey through the glorious 
foresta of Cannara and Nysore ; the pleasure of visiting the 
lovely ' White Lady'. and the wonderful Godaveri falls; 
but to give my readers any idea of their marvels would 
be to put too great a strain upon their patience, which I 
fear has already been severely ttixed. 

The late Maharaja of Travancore was an unusually 
enlightened Native. He spoke and wrote English fluently ; 
his appearance was distinguished, and his manners those of 
a well-bred, courteous English gentleman of the old school. 
Hi8 speech on proposing the Queen's health was a model 
of fine feeling and fine expression, and yet this man wag 

steeped in superstition. His Highness sat, slightly retired 
from the taljle, between my wife and myself while dinner 

* The finest of the Ciaseepa falls. 
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was going on ; he partook of no food or wine, but his close 
contact with us (he led my wife in to dinner and took her 
out on his arm) necessitated his undergoing a severe course 
of purification a t  the hands of the Brahmins as soon as 
the entertainment was over; he dared do nothing without 
the sanction of the priests, and he spent enormous sums 
in propitiating them. 

Notwithstanding the high civilization, luxury, and 
refinement to be found in these Xative States, my visits to 
them strengthened my opinion that, however capable and 
enlightened the Ruler, he could have no chance of holding 
his country if deprived of the guiding hand of the British 
Government as embodied in the Resident. I t  is just that 
control, so light in ordinary times as to be hardly per- 
ceptible, but firm enough when occasion demands, which 
saves the State from being rent by factions and internal 
intrigue, or swallowed up by a more powerful neighbour, 
for, owing to the influence of the Brahmins an$ the prac- 
tical seclusion which caste prejudices entail, involving 
ignorance of what is taking place immediately outside their 
own palaces, the Native Princes of the less warlike peoples 
would have no chance amidst the anarchy and confusion 
that would follow the withdrawal of British influence. 

A remark made to me by the late Sir Nadhava Rao, ex- 
Minister of the Baroda State, which exemplifies my meaning, 
comes back to me nt this moment. Sir Madhava was one 
of the most astute Hindu gentlemen in India, and when 
discussing with him the excitement produced by the ' Illjert 
Bill,' he said : ' Why do you English raise these unneces- 
sary questions? I t  is your doing, not ours. We have 
heard of the cry, " India for the Indians," which some of 
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your philanthropists have raised in England ; but you have 
only to go to the Zoological Gardens and open the doors 
of the cages, and you will very soon see what would be the 
result of putting that theory into practice. There would 
be a terrific fight amongst the animals, which would end 
in the tiger walking proudly over the dead bodies of the 
rent.' ' Whom,' I inquired, ' do you consider to be the 
tiger?' 'The Ifaho~nedan from the North,' was his 
reply. 



CHAPTER LXIY. 

IN March, 1885, we again visited Calcutta. The Marquie 
of Ripon had departed, and the Earl of Dufferin reigned 
in his stead. 

Affairs on our north-west and s o u t h a s t  frontiers were 
at this time in a very unsettled state. Indeed, the political 
outlook altogether had assumed rather a gloomy aspect. 
Our relations with the French had become somemhat 
strained in consequence of their interference with C'ppr 
Burma and our occupation of Egypt ; while Russia's 
activity in the valley of the Oxus necessitated our looking 
after our interests in Afghanistan. These consideratione 
rendered it advisible to increase the army in India 1)y 
11,000 British and 12,000 Kative troops, bringing the 
strength of the former up to nearly 70,000, with 414 guns, 
and that of the latter to 128,636. 

Russia's movements could not be regarded 'with in- 
difference, for, while we had retreated from our dominating 
position at Kandahar, she had approached considerably 
nearer to Afghanistan, and in a direction infinitely 
more advantageous than before for a further onward 
move. Up to 1881 a Russian army advancing on 
Afghanistan would have had to solve the difficult problem 
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of the formidable Hindu Iiush barrier, or if it took the 
Herat line it must have faced the deserts of Khiva and 
Bokhara. But all this was changed by Skobeloff s victories 
over the Tekke Turkomans, which gave New and Saraklis 
to Russia, and enabled her to tranefer her base from 
Orenburg to the Caspian-by far the most important step 
ever made by Russia in her advance towards India. 
I had some years before pointed out to the Govern- 
ment of India how immeasurably Russia would gain, if by 
the conquest of Merv-a conquest which I then looked 
upon as certain to be eccompliuhed in the near future- 
she should 1m able to make this transfer. My words were 
unheeded or ridiculed at the time, and I, like others who 
thought as I did, was supposed to be sder ing from rr 

disease diagnosed by a distinguished politician as ' Merv- 
ousnexs.' But a little later those words were verified. 
Nerv had become a Russian possession, and Turkestan 
was in direct communicntion by rail and steamer with 
St. Petersburg. And can it be denied that this fact, which 
would have enabled the army in the Caucasus to be rapidly 
transported to the scene of operations, made it possiljle 
for General liomaroff practically to dictate terms to the 
Boundary Commission which was sent to define the 
northern limits of Afghanistan, and to forcibly eject an 
Afghan garrison from Panjdeh under the eyes of British 
officers ? 

Lord Dufferin took up the reins of the Government of 
India at a time when things had come to such a p a ~ s  that a 
personal conference with the Amir was considered necessary. 
to arrange for the defence and demarcation of His High- 
nese's frontier, the strengthening of Herst, the extension of 
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the Sakkur-Sibi railway to Quetta, and the discussion of the 
general situation. Abdur Rahman was therefore invited to 
meet the Viceroy at Rawal Pindi, where a large standing 
camp was prepared, and my wife and I were bidden amongst 
a numerous company, including Their Royal Highnesses 
the Duke and Duchess of Connaught, the Ruling Punjab 
Chiefs, and the high officers of Government from various 
parts of India, to be the guests of His Escellency and 
Lady Dufferin on the interesting occasion. 

The meeting mas fixed for the end of March, and as 
there was scarcely time for us to return to Nadrae and get 

back again before then, we proceeded leisurely up country, 
visiting different places and one or two old friends on the way. 

At Multan I received a cipher telegram from Sir Donald 
Stewart informing me that it had been decided to mobilize 
two Army Corps, and that I was to have command of the 
first. This was esciting news, and we lost no time in 
making our way to h w a l  Pindi, where we should be in 
direct communication with Head-Quarters, and hoped to 
hear what had taken place since we left Calcutta to make 
it necessary to prepare for war. 

I soon found out that this action on the part of the 
Government was forced on them by the representatives of 
Russia on the Boundary Commission, who were persistent 
in their attempts to encroach on Afghan territory, in order 
that they might be in a position to control the approaches 
to Herat, a Russian occupation of which fortress we could 
not permit. 

Abdur Rahman arrived at Raw1 Pindi on the last day 
of March ; he was about forty-five ymrs of age, and although 
he required a stick to walk with, being a martyr to rheu- 
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matism, nnd very stout, his appearance was decidedly 
dignified and imposing. He had a manly, clever, and 
rather handsome face, marred only I)y the cruel espression 
of the mouth, and his manner was suficiently courteous 
though somewhat abrupt. 

Several semi-private meetings took place between the 
Viceroy and the Amir, at  the first of which His Highness, 
after expressing his appreciation of the flattering and 
cordial reception he had met with, reminded Lord Dufferin 
that he had consistently warned the British Govenlment of 
the approach of the Russinns towards -4fghanistnn and of the 
unsettling effect their advance was producing on the minds 
of his countrymen; and he advocated the necessity for 
timely action. Xo attention, he said, had been paid to his 
warnings, owing, probably, to the strife of parties in 
England, and to the excessive caution of the British 
Government. 

Lord Dufferin, in reply, pointed out that the Amir 
had been advised to strengthen northern Afghanistan, and 
that the wrvices of Engineer o5cers had been offered to 
him for the purpose of putting Herat into a satisfactory 
state of defence. His Excellency declared that England 
was r w l v d  that a Russisn advance on Herat .should be 
met by a declaration of war ; that preparations were then 
being made to give effect to that resolve; and that it was 
now absolutely necessary for His Highness to make up his 
mind which of his two powerful neighbours he would elect 
to choose ae his ally. 

Abdur Ibhman thanked the Viceroy for his offer of help, 
but showed plninly that he hnd no intention of avuil- 
ing himself of the services of our Engineers. He vowccl 
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that his own personal wishes mere entirely in favour of a 
close and practical alliance with the British, but that his 
subjects did not share his feelings towards us. They were 
' rude, uneducated, and suspicious.' He hoped that in time 

they might become more disposed to be friendly, but at 
present he could not pretend to rely upon them. He 
then disclosed the real reason for his ready response to 
the Viceroy's invitation by saying that he would gratefully 
receive the assistance of the British Govern~llent in the 
shape of money, arms, and munitions of war. 

At a later visit the conversation turned upon the difi- 
culty of the position in which the British members of the 
Boundary Commission were placed, and the impossibility 
of the Afghan posts being able to hold their own in the 
face of a nussian advance was explained to the Amir. 
A map was produced, on which the country to the north 
of Herat \\-as carefully examined, and Russia's clai~ns 
were made known to him. Abdur Rahman's ideas of 
topography were not very accurate, but he displayed 
considerable intelligence in his questions and perception 
of the meaning of the answers, and eventually expressed 
his willingness to leave the question of the delimitation 
of his northern frontier in the hands of the British 
Government. 

On the 6th April there mas a parade of the troops, 
17,000 in number, and that evening the Anlir was 
present at a state banquet, at which, after the usual 
loyal toasts, the 1-iceroy proposed the Amir's health. 
His Highness, in reply, expressed a fervent hope that 
the prosperity of the British Empire might long endure, 
as with it the welfare of Afghanistan was lmund up. He 
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had watched, he seid, the progress of India under British 
rule, and he hoped that Afghanistan might flourish in like 
manner; and he ended with a prayer that the Almighty 
would preserve Her Majesty's troops in ssfety, honour, and 
efticiency. 

Two days later the Amir was publicly received in durbar 
by the Viceroy, on whose right hand he was placed, while 
the Duke of Connaught occupied the seat on his left. 
After a few words had h e n  eschanged, Abdur Rahman 
rom, and spoke as follows : ' I am deeply mnsible of the 
kindness which I have received from His Excellency the 
Viceroy, and of the favour shown me by Her Majesty the 
Queen-Empress. In return for this kindness and favour, 
I am ready with my army and people to render any 
services that may be required of me or of the Afghan 
nation. As the British Government has declared that it 
will assist me in repelling any foreign enemy, so it is right 
and proper that Afghanistan should unite in the firmest 
manner, and side by side by the British Government.' 

On being presented, amongst other gifts, with a sword 
of honour, he said in a loud and determined voice: 'With 
thie sword I hope to smite any enemy of the British 
Government.' 

That same evening the Viceroy received news of the 
Russien attack on Panjdeli, and communicated it to 
the Amir, who heard it with extraordinary equanimity, not 
appearing to attach any great importance to the matter, 
and attributing the defeat of his troops to the inferiority 
of their weapons. He observed that the excuse given 1)y 
the Russians, that the Afghans intended to attack them, 
was  a frivolous pretext, and declared all thnt his men had 



396 FORTY-OSE Y E A R S  IN INDIA 1 1 s  

done was very properly to make preparations to defend 
themselves. 

Abdur Rahman had expressed a desire for a Britiah 
decoration, so shortly before his departure from India he 
was invested, informally, with the G.C.S.I. As the train 
was moving off, he said to the British officers assembled on 
the platform : ' I wish you a11 farewell, and commend yon to 
the care of God. May your Government endure and your 
honour increase. I have been greatly pleased and gratified 
by the sight of the British Army. I hope and am certain 
that the friendship now existing between us will lsat for ever.' 

Abdur h h m a n  had, indeed, every reason to be mtis6ed 
with the result of his visit, for not only was Lord 
Eipon's promise that England would defend his liingdom 
against foreign aggression ratified by Lord Dder in ,  but 
the Amir mas given, in addition to the large sums of 
money and the considerable amount of munitions of war 
already received by him, ten lakhs of rupees, '20,000 
breech-loading rifles, a Heavy battery of four guns and 
two howitzers, a Mountain battery, and a liberal supply 
of ammunition for both guns and rifles. 

On the Amir's departure the great camp was broken up, 
and the troops returned to their respective stations, all pre- 
pared to move towards the Quetta frontier at a moment'e 
notice. The Native Chiefs, in taking their leave of the 
Viceroy, were profuse in their offers and promises of help 
should a recourse to arms be found necessary ; and Lord 
and Lady Dufferin's numerous guests, who, like my wife 
and myself, had for more than a fortnight been recipients 
of the most profuse hospitality, wished their generous host 
and haste~s  a hearty good-bye. 
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Interesting as the whole proceeding had been, by far the 
most gratifying result of tlie gathering was the unmistak- 
able loyalty displayed by the Native  ruler^ who were 
present, as well as by those in distant parts of India, on 
hearing of the unprovoked attack made by the Russians on 
the Afghan troops at  Panjdeli, and our consequent prepara- 
tions for war. The greatest enthusiasm prevailed, and the 
various military camps at  Hawal Pindi were crowcled with 
men desirous of joining the rahks of our army. I was 
literally besieged by old soldiers, Imgging that they might 
be allowed to return to the colours and fight once more for 
tlie Sirkar ; and one Xative officer, who liad h e n  wit11 me 
in Afghanistan, came to me and a i d :  ' I am afraid, salril,, 

I am too old and infirm to do more work mjself ; but you 
must take my two sons nith you-tliey are ready to die for 
the .4 ~~!/rew."' 

\Ve l~astened back to bladras, and reached Ootscanlu~ld 
after seven co~~secutive nights in the train, wit11 a tller- 
mometer at  10-1" in the daytime, the only pause in our 
journey being s t  l'oona, where we nlwnt a few hours uitli 
our friend General Sir Jolin Iioss. 

I left my l~orxen at Lahore, ant1 for some weeks lived in 
daily expectation of l~eing ordered back to the Punjab to 
take command of tlle 1st -4rmy Corps. A change of 
Government, however, took place just in time to prevent 
the war. Lord Salisbury's determined attitude convinced 
Russia that no further encroacllmentv on t l ~ e  Afgl~an 
frontier would be permitted ; she ceased the ' game of brag ' 
she had been allowed to play, and the Boundary Commissio~i 
were enabled to proceed with the work of tlelimitation. 

* A Kative corruption of rile wold ' E~igl i~Ii .  



CHAPTER LYV. 

WE only remained three months at 'Ooty,' for on rhe 
8th July a telegram arrived from Lord Dufferin announcing 
the Queen's approval of my being appointed to succeed Sir 
Donald Stewart as Commander-in-Chief in India, and 
granting me leave to visit England before taking up 
the appointment. 

At the end of a fortnight all our preparations for 
departure had been made, and on the 18th August we left 
Bombay, in the teeth of the monsoon. 

Our boy, whose holidays had just commenced, met us at 
Venice, and we loitered in Italy and Switzerland on our 
way home. I spent but six weeks in England, returning 
to the East at the end of November, to join m j  new 
command. I met Lord Duffenn at Agra, and accompanied 
him to Gwalior, whither his Excellency went for the par- 
pose of formally restoring to the Xaharaja Scindia the 
much coveted fortress of Gwalior, which had been occupied 
by us since 1858-an act of sound policy, enabling us to 
withdraw a brigade which could be far more usefully em- 
ployed elsewhere. 

At Gwalior we received the news of the capture of 
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Mandelay, and I sent n telegram to Lieutenant-General 
Prendergast,. to congratulate him on the ~uccessful conduct 
of the Burma Expedition. 

;\flairs in Burma had been going from bad to worse from 
the time King Thebaw came to the throne in 1878. 
Wholesale murders were of constant occurrence within the 
lwecincts of the palace; dacoity was rife throughout the 
country, and British officers were insulted to such an 
extent that the Resident had to be withdrawn. In  1883 a 
special Mission was sent by the King of Burma to Paris, 
with a view to making such a treaty with the French 
Government as would enable him to appeal to France for 
assistance, in the event of his being involved in difficulties 
with England. The Mission remnined eighteen months in 
Paris, and succeeded in ratifying what the French called a 
'Commercial Convention,' under the terns of i\-hich a 
French Consul was located at  Mandalay, who soon gained 
sufficient ascendency over King Thebaw to enable him to 
arrange for the construction of a railway between JIandalay 
and Tonghu, and the establishment of a French bank at 
Mandalay, by means of which France would speedily have 
gained full coiitrol over the principal sources of Burmese 
revenue, and power to exclude British trade from the 
valley of the Irrawntldy. In furtherance of these, designs, 
the Kuig picked a quarrel a British trnding 
company, threatened to cancel their leases for cutting 
timber, and demanded a fine of ten lakhs of rupees. 

The Chief Commissioner proposed arbitration, but this 
wire declined, and the King refusing to modify his action 
with regard to the trnding company, the Viceroy proposed 

Now General Sir Harry Prendergsst, V.C., K.C.B. 
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to the Secretary of State for India that an ultimatum* 
should be sent to King Thebaw. 

In approving of the ultimatum, Lord Randolph Churchill 
expressed his opinion that its despatch should be con- 
current with the movement of troops and ships to Rangoon, 
that an answer should be demanded within a specified 
time, and that, if the ultimatum mere rejected, an  
immediate advance on llandalay should be made. 

-4 force, of nearly 10,000 men and 77 guns, under the 
command of Lieutenant-General Prendergast, was accord- 
ingly ordered to be in readiness at  Thyetmyo by the 
14th November, and as the reply of the Burmese Govern- 
ment I Y ~ R  tantamount to a refusal, Prendergnst ans  in- 
structed to advance on Mandalay, with the result which 
it was my pleasant dnty to congratulate him upon in my 
capacity as Commander-in-Chief of the Army in India. 

From Gwalior I went to Delhi to prepare for a Camp 
of Exercise on a much larger scale than hnd ever before 
been held. Many weak pointu in the Commissariat and 
Transport Department having become only too apparent 
when the mobilizrrtion of the two Army Corps lind been 

Thc ultilr~atum informed King Thebaw that the British Govern- 
ment insisted upon an Envoy being received at  Mandallry, with free 
access to the King, without having to submit to any humiliating 
ceremony; that proceedings against the trading company would not 
be permitted; that a British Agent, with a suitable guarcl of honour 
and stennner for his personal protection, must be permanelltly stationed 
at  the Burmese capital ; that the Burmese (iovernment must regulate 
their elternal relations in accordance with British advice ; and that 
proper facilities must be granted for the opening up of British trade 
with China viA Bhamo. 

t The force consisted of 364 seamen and 69 Marines formed into a 
Naval Brigade, with 49 guns, including 27 machine guns, and 8,029 
British and 6,005 Kative soldiers, with 28 guns. 
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imminent the previous spring, it was considered necessary 
to test our readiness for war, and orders for the strength 
and composition of the force to be mansuvred had been 
issued before Sir Donald Stewart left India. 

The troops were divided into two Army Corps. The 
northern assembled at Umballa, and the southern at 
Gnrgaon, 25 miles from Delhi, the points of concentration 
being 150 miles apart. 

After a fortnight passed in brigade and divieional 
movements, the opposing forces advanced, and on tlie 
7th January they came into contact on the historic battle- 
field of Panipat.' 

Lord Dderin,  whose interest in the efficiency of the 
army induced him to come all the way from Calcntta 
to witness the last two days mansuvres, was present- 
with the twelve ' foreign officers 't from the principal 
armies of Europe and America, who had been invited to 
attend the camp--at a march-past of the whole force of 
35,000 men on the 18th. It wae a fine sight, though 
marred by a heavy thunderstorm and a perfect deluge of 
rain, and was really a greater test of what the troops could 
do than if we had had the perfect weather we had hoped 

Panipat is famom for three greet battler fought in itr, immediate 
neighbourhood: one in 1626, by the Emperor Baber e g b t  Sultan 
Ibrahim, which resulted in the eetabliahment of the Mogul d y n ~ t y ;  
the second in 1666, when the Emperor Akbar beat the Hindu General 
of the Afghan usurper, and re-established the Mogule in power; and 
tbe t h i i  in 1761, when Ahmed Shah Durani defeated the Mahra ths  

t I WM much gratified at  receiving subsequently from Hi. Imperial 
Majeaty the Emperor Williluu I. and from the Crown Yrineer of 
Prnwia autograph letters of acknowledgment of, and thanks for, the 
reception accorded and the attention paid to Majors \,on Huene and 
von Hagenau, the two repreeentativea of the Oennan 'army who 
attended these manwuvree. 

VOL. 11. 58 
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for. The ' foreign o5cers ' were, apparently, somewhat 
surprised at the fine physique and efficiency of our Native 
soldiers, but they all remarked on the paucity of British 
officers with the Indian regiments, which I could not but 
acknowledge was, as it still is, a weak point in our military 
organization. 

When the camp was broken up, I accompanied the 
Viceroy to Burma, where we arrived early in February, 
1886. Lord Dufferin must, I think, have been pleased at 
the reception he met with at Rangoon. The people gene- 
rally tried in every possible way to show their gratitude to 
the Viceroy, under whose auspices the annexation of Upper 
Burma had been carried out, and each nationality had 
erected a triumphal arch in its own particular quarter of 
the town. 

From Rangoon we went to Mandalay, where Lord 
Dder in  formally announced the annexation by England 
of all that part of Upper Burma over which King Thebaw 
had held sway. We then proceeded to Madras, where I 
parted from the Viceregal party and travelled to Bombay to 
meet my wife. Leaving her at Simla to arrange our house, 
which had been considerably altered and added to, I pro- 
ceeded to the North-West Frontier, for the question of ita 
defence was one which interested me very deeply, and I 
hoped that, from the position I now held as a member of 
the Government of India, I should be able to get my 
ideas on this, to India, all-important subject listened to, 
if not altogether carried out. 

The defence of the frontier had been considered under 
the orders of my predecessor by a Committee, the members 
of which had recorded their several opinions as to the 
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means which should be adopted to make India secure. 
But Sir Donald Stewart relinquished his command before 
anything could be done to give effect to the measures they 
advised. 

The matter had therefore to be taken up afresh by 
me, and I carefully studied the recommendations of the 
' Defence Committee ' Imfore visiting the frontier to refresh 
my memory by personal inspection as to the points to be 
defended. 

It seemed to me that none of the members, with the 
exception of Sir Charles Macgregor and the secretary, 
Major I\-. G. Nicholson, at  all appreciated the great change 
which had taken place in our position since the near 
approach of Russia, and our consequent promise k the 
Amir to preserve the integrity of his kingdom, had widened 
the limit of our responsibilitie~ from the southern to the 
northern boundary of Afghanistan. 

Lees than a year before we had h e n  on the point of 
declaring war with Russia because of her active inter- 
ference with ' the autl~oritg of a sovereign--our protected 
ally-who had committed no offence*;' and even now it 
was not certain that peace could be preserved, by reason 
of the outrageous demands made by the Ruesian members 
of the Boundary Commission as to the direction which the 
line of delimitation between Russian and Afghan territory 
should take. 

It was this widening of our responsibilities which pre- 
vented me from agreeing with the recommendations of tlle 

Worda nwd by Mr. Gladstone when asking for a vote of oredit 
for fe.500,000 for special preparations in connexion with the Afghan 
dif8cnlty. 
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Defence Committee, for the majority of the members laid 
greater stress on the necessity for constructing numerous 
fortifications, than upon lines of communication, which I 
conceived to be of infinitely greater importance, as afford- 
ing the means of bringing all the strategical points on the 
frontier into direct communication with the railway system 
of India, and enabling us to mass our troops rapidly, should 
we be celled upon to aid Afghanistan in repelling attack 
from a foreijp Power. 

Fortifications, of the nature of entrenched positions, 
were no doubt, to some extent, necessary, not to guard 
against our immediate neighbours, for experience had 
taught us that without outside assistance they are in- 
capable of a combined movement, but for the protection of 
such depots and storehouses as would have to be con- 
etructed, and as a support to the army in the field. 

The line chosen at that time for an advance wee by 
Quetta and Kandahar. In  the first instance, therefore, I 
wended my way to Baluchistan, where I met and consulted 
with the Governor-General's Agent, Sir Robert Sandernan, 
and the Chief Engineer of the Sind-Pishin Railway, 
Brigadier-General Browne.* 

We together inepected the Kwaja-Amran range, through 
which the Kohjak tunnel now runs, and I decided that the 
best position for an entrenched camp was to the rear of 
that range, in the space between the Takatu and Mashalik 
mountains. This open ground was lese than four miles 
broad ; nature had made its flanks perfectly eecure, and in 

* The late Major-General Sir Jmes Urowne, K.C.8.1.' C.B., who, 
liko Si Robert Sandeman, died while holding the important and 
responsible position of Governor-General's Agent in Baluchistau. 
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front was a network of ravines capable of being made quite 
impassable by simply flooding them. I t  was unfortunate that 
the railway had been marked out in front instead of in rear 
of the Takatu range, and that its construction was too far 
advanced before the question of defence came to be con- 
sidered to admit of its being altered, otherwise this position 
would have been a complete protection for the line of rail also. 

Having come to a definite conclusion as to the measures 
to be taken for meeting the offensive and defensive require- 
ments of Quetta and the Bolan Pass, I turned my attention 
to Peshawar and the Khyber Pass, which were infinitely 
more difficult to deal with, because of the political con- 
siderations involved. 

Over the whole of Baluchistan we had entire control, 
so that in the event of an army moving in that direction 
we could depend upon the resources of the country being at 
our disposal, and the people remaining, at least, neutral. 
But on the Peshanar side the circumstances were altogether 
difierent: the tribes were hostile to a degree, and no 
European's life was safe across the frontier. Except 
in the Khyber itself (where the policy of establishing 
friendly relations with the Afridh, and utilizing them to 
keep open the pass, had been most succeesfully p r a c t i d  
by the political officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Warburton), 
we could not depend on the tribemen remaining paseive, 
much lese helping us if we advanced into Afghanistsn. 
While, should an army attempt to invade India from that 
direction, we should to a certainty have every man of the 
200,000 warlike people who inhabit the mountainous 
district from Chitral to Baluchistan combining against us, 
and pouring into India from every outlet. 
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For these reasons I recorded a strong opinion in opposi- 
tion to the proposals of the Defence Committee, which were 
in favour of the construction of a large magazine at 
Peshawar and extensive entrenched works at the mouth of 
the Khyber. I pointed out the extreme danger of a 
position communication with which could be cut off, d 
which could be more or lees easily turned, for it was clear 
to me that until we had succeeded in inducing the border 
tribes to be on friendly terms with us, and to believe that 
their interests were identical with ours, the Peshawar valley 
would become untenable should any general disturbance 
take place ; and that, instead of entrenchments cloee to 
the Khyber Pass, we required a position upon which the 
garrisons of Peshawar and Nowshera could fall back and 
await the arrival of reinforcements. 

For this position I selected a spot on the right bank of the 
Kabul river, between Khairabad and the Indus; it com- 
manded the passage of the latter river, and could easily be 
strengthened by defensive works outside the old fort of 
Attock. 

I t  will be readily understood by those of my reedera 
who have any knowledge of our North-West Frontier, or are 
interested in the question of the defence of India, that 
other routes exist between the Bolan and the Khyber P a s m  
which might be made use of either by an army invading 
India, or by a force sent from India to the assistance of 
Afghanistan; and by such it will probably be asked, ae 
was the case when my recommendations were being dis- 
cussed, why I did not advise these lines to be similarly 
guarded. My reply was, and is, that there are no areenals 
or depots near these passes to be protected, as at Quetta 
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end Rawul Pindi ; that we should not be likely to use them 
for en army moving into Afghanistan; that, although 
m a l l  parties of the enemy might come by them, the main 
body of a forca operating towards India is bound to advance 
by the Khyber, for the reason that it would debouch 
directly on highly cultivated country and good roads lead- 
ing to all the great cities of the Punjab ; and finally that, 
even if our finances would admit of the construction of 
euch a long line of forts, it would be impossible for our 
limited army to supply the garrisons for them. 

Having completed my inspection of the frontier, I returned 
to Simla and drew up a memorandum declaring the convic- 
tion I had arrived at after careful deliberation, that the 
improvement of our communications was of far greater 
importance than the immediate construction of forts and 
entrenchments, and thet, while I would not spere money in 
strengthening well-defined positions, the strategical value of 
which wee unmistakable, I would not trouble about thoae 
places the primary importance of fortifying which was open 
to argument, and which might never be required to be 
defended ; these, I contended, might be left alone, except 
eo far as to make a careful study of their localities end 
determine how they could best be teken advantage of should 
occasion require. My note ended with the following words : 
' Meanwhile I would push on our communications with a11 
poasible speed; we must have roads, and we must have 
railways; they cannot be made on short notice, end every 
rupee spent upon them now will repay us tenfold here- 
after. Xothing will tend to secure the safety of the 
frontier so much as the power of rapidly concantrating 
troops on any threatened point, end nothing will strengthen 
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our military position more than to open out the county 
and improve our relations with the frontier tribes. There 
are no better civilizers than roads and railways; and 
although some of those recommended to be made may 
never be required for militav purposes, they will be of 
the greatest assistance to the civil power in the administra- 
tion of the country.' 

Accompanying this paper was a statement of the defen- 
s i ~ e  works which, in my opinion, should be taken in hand 
without delay ; also of the positions which required careful 
study, and the roads and railways which should be con- 
structed, to make the scheme of defence complete. 

Seven years later, when I gave up my command of the 
Army in India, I had the supreme satisfaction of knowing 
that I left our North-West Frontier secure, so far as it was 
possible to make it so, hampered as we mere by want ot 
money. The necessary fortifications had been completed, 
schemes for the defence of the various less important 
positions had been prepared, and the roads and railways, 
in my estimation of such vast importance, had either been 
finished or were well advanced. 

Moreover, our position with regard to the border tribes 
had gradually come to be better understood, and it had 
been realized that they would be a powerful support to 
whichever side might be able to count upon their aid ; the 
policy of keeping them at arm's length had been aban- 
doned, and the advantages of reciprocal communication 
were becoming more appreciated by them and by us. 

I t  was not to be expected that thew results could be 
achieved without a coneiderable amount of opposition, 
owing partly to the majority of our countrymen (even 
amongst those who had spent the greater part of their 
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lives in India) failing to recognize the change that h ~ d  
taken place in the relative positions of Great Britain 
and Russia in Asia, and to their disbelief in the steady 
advance of Russia towards Afghanistan being in any 
way connected with India, or in Russia's wish or power 
to threaten our Eastenl Empire.. The idea was very 
common, too, amongst people who had not deeply con- 
sidered the subject, that all proposals for gaining control 
over our troublesome neighbours on the border, or for 
facilitating the massing of troops, meant an aggressive 
policj, and were made with the idea of annexing more 
territory, instead of for the purpoae of securing the safety of 
India, and enabling us to fulfil our engagements. 

t 

Happily, the Viceroys who govenled India while I was 
Commander-in-Chief were not amongst those who held 
these opinions; and while they had no expectation of 
India being invaded in the near future, they realized 
that we could not unconcernedly look on while a great 
Power was, step by step, creeping closer to our poseeseions. 
I t  wae a fortunate circumstance, too, that, for the fimt five 
yeam I was at the head of the Army in India, I had as my 
military colleague in Council the late General Sir George 
Cliesney, a man of unquestionable talent and eound judg- 
ment, to whose cordial support, not only in frontier abire ,  
but in all my efforts to promote the efficiency and welfare 
of the soldier, I was very greatly indebted. 

A ENatssman of high reputation in England WM so strong in hin 
disbelief of the necessity for lnaking any preparations in India, that 
he publicly stated that if the only barrier between Ruseis in Asis and 
Britain in Asia were a mountain ridge, or s ntreun, or a f e w ,  them 
would be no difiiculty in preeening peace between R d  and the 
United liingdo111.-Spec11 delivered by the Right Eon. John Bright, 
M.P.. st Birminghan~ on the 16th April, 1879. 



CHAPTER LXVI. 

MANY interesting and important questions had to be 
dealt with during this my first year as a member of the 
Viceroy's Council, and it was pleasant to me to be able 
to bring before the Government of India a scheme which 
my wife had had very much at heart for many years-for 
supplying skilled nursing to the military hospitals in India. 
That our sick soldiers (officers and men) should be entirely 
dependent for nursing, even in times of the most dangerous 
illness, on the tender mercies of 'the orderly on duty,' who, 
whether kind-hearted or the reverse, was necesearily utterly 
untrained and ignorant of the requirements of sickness, was 
a source of unhappiness to her, and had been felt as a cruel 
want by many ; but whenever she had discussed the subject 
with those who might have helped her, she was told that 
proposals for supplying this want had already been made, 
that the Government could not, nor would they ever be able 
to, act on such proposals, on account of the prohibitory 
expense, so she felt there was no use in making any appeal 
until I might be in a position to see that any suggestions 
made by her would be certain to receive the careful con- 
sideration of Government. This time had now arrived, 
and almost directly Lady Roberts returned to India in 
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1886 she drew up a scheme for supplying lady nurses 
to the military hospitals throughout India, and set to work 
to try 8nd get the support of some of the principal Medical 
officers. To her great joy, her recommendations were 
accepted by Lord Dufferin and hie Council, and her note 
upon the subject was sent home to the Secretary of State, 
strongly backed up by the Government of India. Lord 
Crose happily viewed the matter in a favourable light, and 
consented, not only to a certain number of nurses being 
eent out the following year as an experiment, but to the 
whole of the cost of the movement being borne by the 
State, with the exception of the provision of ' Homes in the 
Hills ' for the nursing sisters as health resorts, and to 
prevent the expenee to Government of their having to be 
sent home on sick-leave when worn out by their trying work 
in the plains. The Secretary of State, however, declared 
these ' Homes ' to be ' an important part ' of the nureing 
scheme, 'and indispensable to its practical working,' but 
considered that they should be provided by private sub- 
=ription, a condition my wife undertook to carry out. She 
appealed to the Army in India to help her, and with 
scarcely an exception every regiment and battery generously 
responded--even the private soldiers subscribed largely in 
proportion to their small means-so that by the beginning 
of the following year my wife was able to set about pur- 
chasing and building suitable houses. 

'Homes' were established at Munee, Kasauli and 
Quetta, in Bengal, and at Wellington* in Madras, and 

+ The home8 at Quetta and Wellington were eventually taken over 
by Government, and Lady Roberta' nurses, who worked in the military 
hoepit& at them etetions, were replaced by Government nurrell when 
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by making a further appeal to the officers of the army, and 
with the assistance of kind and liberal friends in England 
and India, and the proceeds of various entertainments, Lady 
Roberts was able to supply, in connexion with the ' Homes ' 
at Murree and Kasauli, wards for the reception of sick officers, 
with a staff of nurses* in attendance, whose salaries, 
passages, etc., are all paid out of 'Lady Roberts's Fund.' 
My wife was induced to do this from having known many 
young officers succumb owing to want of care and improper 
food at hotels or clubs on being sent to the Hills after a 
hard fight for life in the plains, if they were not for- 
tunate enough to have personal friends to look after them. 
Although it is anticipating events, I may as well say here 
that the nursing experiment proved a complete success, 
and now every large military hospital in India has its 
staff of nurses, and there are altogether 4 superintendents, 
9 deputy superintendents, and 89 nursing sisters, in India. 
There are many more wanted in the smaller stations, 
where there is often great loss of life from lack of proper 
nursing, and surely, as my wife pointed out in her first 
appeal, 'when one considers what an expensive article 
the British soldier is, costing, as he does, &I00 before 
landing in India, it seems certain that on the score of 
economy alone, altogether setting aside the humane aspect 
of the question, it is well worth the State's while to provide 
him with the skilled nursing care' which has up to now 
saved so many lives. 

the increaae to the Army Nursing Service admitted of thie being 
done. 

* When the ' Ho~uea in the Hills ' are cloaed during the cold months, 
these nurses attend sick officers in their own housee in the plains, free 
of charge except travelling expensea. 
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That officers as well as men might benefit by the 
devotion of the ' nursing sister,' I was able to arrange 
in a11 the large hospitals for some room, or rooms, used 
until then for other purposes, to be appropriated for an 
officers' ward or wards, and these have proved a great boon 
to the younger officers whose income do- not admit of 
their obtaining the expensive care of a nurse from one of 
the large civil hospitals in the Presidency towns. 

The next most intereating question, and also the most 
preseing, which had to be considered by the Viceroy's 
Council during the summer of 1886, was the pacification 
of Upper Burma. People in England had expressed 
surprise at this being so long delayed. I t  is extremely 
easy, however, to sit a t  home and talk of what should 
be done, but very difficult to say how to do it, and more 
difficult still to carry it out. To eetablish law and 
order in a country nearly as large as France, in which 
damity ie looked upon as an honourable profession, 
would be no light task even in Europe; but when the 
country to be settled has a deadly climate for several 
months in the year, is covered to a great extent with 
jungle, and is without a vestige of a road, the task assume8 
gigantic proportions. In Upper Burma the garrison was 
only sufficient to keep open communication along the line 
of the Irrawaddy, and, to add to the embarrassment of 
the aituation, disaffection had spread to Lower Burma, 
and disturbanwe had broken out in the almost unknown 
district between Upper Burma and Assam. 

It  was arranged to send strong reinforcements to Burma 
so eoon as the unhealthy season should be over and it would 
be sefe for the troops to go there, and Lieutenant-General 
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8ir Herbert Macpherson (who had succeeded me as Com- 
mander-in-Chief in Madras) was directed to proceed 
thither. 

In October my wife and I, with some of my staff, started 
from Simla on a trip across the Hills, with the object of in- 
specting the stations of Dhurmsala and Dalhousie before it 
was cool enough to begin my winter tour in the plains. 
we crossed the Jalaurie Pass, between 11,000 and 12,000 
feet high, and travelling through the beautiful Kulu 
valley and over the Bubbu mountain, we finally arrived at 
Palampur, the centre of the tea industry in the Kangra 
valley. Having been cut off from telegraphic communica- 
tion for some time, we went straight to the telegraph-office 
for news, and found at the moment a message being 
deciphered which brought me the terribly sad information 
that General Macpherson had died of fever in Burma. In 
him the country had lost a good soldier, and I a friend 
and comrade for whom I had a great regard and admira- 
tion. We were discussing his untimely end, and I was 
considering who should replace him, when a second 
message arrived. This was from Lord Dufferin, telling me 
that he wished me to transfer my Head-Quarters to Burma, 
and arrange to remain there until ' the neck of the business 
was broken.' 

I hurried to Calcutta, embarked in the first mnil-steamer, 
and landed at Rangoon on the 9th November. 

Sir Charles Bernard (the Chief Commissioner) and 
General White had done well under very difficult circum- 
stances; but owing partly to large districts being im- 
passable from months of heavy rain, and partly to the 
change in Commanders, unavoidable inaction had h e n  
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forced upon our troops, and the dacoits had in consequence 
macle head against us. 

Having been in constant correspondence with General 
White, I had been kept informed of his plane, and, as his 
responsible Chief, I had approved of them ; I therefore 
had the somewhat complicated military situation at my 
fingers' ende, and did not need to lose a single day in 
arranging for a series of combined movements being 
carried on all over the country. 

I t  was hoped that the recently arrived reinforcements 
would be sufficient for all requirements, but it soon became 
apparent that the difficulties connected with the pacifica- 
tion of Burma had been underrated, and that, in addition 
to more troops, an efficient civil administration would have 
to b provided, to take the place of military authority so 
eoon as anything like organized resistance had been 
crushed; for to deal with ordinary robbers I conceived 
to be work more suited to police than to soldiere. 
Upwards of thirty years' experience had proved that the 
Burmese could not be relied upon for this kind of service ; 
I therefore recommended that a large body of police 
should be raised in India without delay, and given a 
8ell1i-military organization, and in the meantime I asked 
for, and was given, five additional regiments. 

I felt very confident of success, for I had taken great 
care in the aelectioli of the brigade commanders and staff 
officers, and I knew the troops could be depended upon in 
any emergency that mas likely to arise. Keverthelese, ae the 
work they would have to perform waa of rather en unusual 
character, irksome as well as difficult, I thought it advisable 
to iseue some general instructions for the guidanoe of the 
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officers in command of the different columns.* These in- 
structions were carried out so intelligently, and the troops 
did such good service, especially a very fine body of Mounted 
Infantry raised and organized by Major Symons, of the 
South Wales Borderers, that before I returned to India in 
February, 1887, I was able to report that the country wee 
gradually becoming quiet and the Burmese reconciled to our 
rule. Most of the principal dacoit leaders had been killed 
or captured, and villages which had been in their hands for 
months were being re-occupied by their legitimate in- 
habitants ; caravans were coming into Nsndalay almost 
daily from districts on the Chinese borders ; contracts for 
making roads were readily taken up, and there was no 
difficulty in obtaining labour for the railway then being 
constructed between Lower Burma and Mandalay, the first 
sod of which mas turned within a month of my arrival at 
that place. 

In achieving these eatisfactory results I was materially 
aided by the hearty co-operation of Sir Charles Bernard 
and the civil officers serving under him; while the entire 
abwnce of fanaticism amongst the Burmese, and their 
cheerful, happy natures, facilitated our intercourse with 
them. I received, besides, most valuable aeaistance from 
the Buddhist Pootaghics, or monks, with many of whom I 
made friends. From the fact that education, secular and 
religious, is imparted by these monks, and that every male, 
from the Iiing to the humblest peasant, was obliged to enter 
a monastery and wear the safbon garb of a monk for a 
certain period, the priesthood had enormous influence with 
the Burmese. There are no hereditary Chiefs or Nobles in 

* Thew instructions are given in the Appendix. 
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Burma, the Pmghier being the advisers of the people and 
the centre round which Native society revolves. 

Our occupation of Upper Burma was necessarily a great 
blow to the Buddhist priesthood, for many of the monas- 
teries* were kept up entirely by the King, Queen, and 
Miniatere of State ; and, as it was most advisable to have 
the influence of the monks in our favour, I recommended 
that a monthly stipend should be paid to the Archbishop 
and two senior Bishops of Mandalay. They showed their 
grstitude by doing all they could to help me, and when 
I was leaving the country the old Thathurtdnain (Arch- 
bishop) m m p a n i e d  me as far as Rsngoon. We cor- 
responded till his death, and I still hear occasionally from 
one or other of my Pooiighie friends. 

I remained only a short time in Calcutta on my 
return to India, and then started off again for the North- 
West Frontier, in company with General Cheaney, who 
had previously expressed his general concurrenoe in my 
defence proposals, but was anxious to see the several 
poeitions and judge for himself, from an Engineer's point 
of view, of their suitability to be treated as I suggested. 
I t  was a great murce of contentment to me to find that 
the sites choeen and the etyle of entrenchments I had 
advocated commended themselves to my expert com- 
panion. 

Simla wes more than usually gay during the summer of 
1887, in consequence of the numerous entertainments given 
in celebration of Her Majesty's Jubilee. We had just added 
a ballroom to ' Snowdon,' and we inaugurated its opening 

Mollrreteries in Burme are not merely dwelling-places for the 
m o t h ,  but are the echoola whero all education is camcd on. 

VOI,. 11. 59 
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by a fancy ball on the 21st June, in honour of the auspicione 
anniversary. 

My name appeared in the Jubilee Gazette as having been 
given the Grand Cross of the Indian Empire, but whet 1 
valued still more was the acceptance by the Government 
of India of my etrong recommendation for the establish- 
ment of a Club or Institute in every British regiment and 
battery in India. In urging that thie measure ehould be 
favourably considered, I had said that the British A r m y  in 
India could have no better or more generally beneficial 
memorial of the Queen's Jubilee than the abolition of that 
relic of barbarism, the canteen, and ita superaeeeion by an 
Institute, in which the soldier would have under the same 

roof a reading-room, recreation-room, and a decently- 
managed refreshment-room. 

Lord Dufferin's Government met my views in the moet 
liberal spirit, and with the sanction of Lord Crow ' The 
Hegimental Institute' became a recognized establinhment, 
a fact which my colleagues in Council referred to ee a 
second Jubilee honour for me ! 

At a time when nearly every soldier could read and 
write, and when we hoped to attract to the army men ol 
a better stamp and more respectable antecedents thPn 
those of which it was composed in ' the good old days,' 
it appeared to me a humiliating anachronism that the 
degrading system of the canteen ehould still prevail, and 
that it was impossible for any man to retain his self- 
respect if he were driven to take his glass of beer ander 
the rules by which regimental canteens were governed. I 
believed, too, that the more the status of the rank and m e  
could be raised, and the greater the efforta made to provide 
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them with rational recreation and occupation in their 
leiuure hours, the less there would be of drunkenness, and 
consequently of crime, the less immorality and the greater 
tlie number of efficient soldiers in the army: 

Funds having been granted, a scheme was drawn up for 
the erection of buildings and for the management of the 
Institutes. Canteens were reduced in size, and such 
nttractione as musical instruments were removed to the 
recreation - rooms; the name ' liquor bar' was substi- 
tuted for that of 'canteen,' and, that there should be 
no excuee for frequenting the ' liquor bar,' I authorized a 
moderate and limitel amount of beer to be served, if  re- 
quired, with the men's suppers in the refreshment-room- 
an arrangement which has been followed by the happiest 
results. 

.At first it was thought that these changes would cause a 
great falling off in regimental funds, but experience hes 
proved the reveree. With good management, the profits 
from the coffee-shop and the soda-water manufactory far 
exceed those to be derived from the canteen, and this 
without permitting anyone outside the regiment to purchase 
from the coffee-shop and without interfering at a11 with local 
tradeemen. 

.bother measure which I succeeded in carrying through 
the same year was the amalgamation of the various sec- 

tarian societies that existed in India tor the prevention of 
drunkenness in the army into one undenominational 
society, under the name of the Army Temperance ABAO- 
ciation, which I hoped would admit of more united action 
and a more advantageous use of funds, besides making it 
eeeier for the Government to assist the movement. The 
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different religious nnd ' total abstinence ' aeeociationa had 
no doubt done much towards the object they had in view, 
but their work was necessarily spasmodic, and being camed 
on independently of regimental authority, it was not always 
looked upon with favour by officers. 

There was of necessity a t  first a good deal of opposition 
on the part of the promoters of the older societies, but 
those who were loudest in denouncing my proposals soon 
came to understand that there was nothing in the eonsti- 
bution of the Army Temperance Association which could 
in any way interfere with total abstinence, and that the 
only ditrerence between their systems and mine coneisted 
in mine being regimental in its character, and including 
men for whom it was not necessary or expedient to forego 
stimulants altogether, but who earnestly desired to lead 
temperate lives, and to be strengthened in their resolve 
by being allowed to share in the advantages of the new 
Institution. 

To make the movement a complete succeso, it was above 
all things important to secure the active co-operstion of the 
ministers of the various religions. To this end I a d d r e d  
the heads of the different churches, explaining my reasons 
and the results I hoped to attain in establishing the 
amalgamated association, and I invited them to testify 
their approval of the scheme by becoming patrons of it. 
With two exceptions, the dignitaries to whom I appealed 
accepted my invitation, and expressed sympathy with my 
aims and efforts, an encouragement I had hardly dared to 
hope for, and a proof of liberal-mindedness on the part 
of the prelates which was extremely refreshing. 

The Government of India were good enough to aanotion 
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the allotment of a separate room in each soldiers' Institute 
for the exclusive use of the Aeeociation, where alcohol in 
m y  shape waa not admitted, and to the grant of this room 
I attribute, in a great measure, the success of the under- 
taking. The s u w s s  was proved by the teot that, when I 
left India, nearly one third of the 70,000 British aoldiers in 
that country were members or honorary members of the 
A m y  Temperance Asmiation. 



CHAPTER LXVII. 

h December I made a prolonged tour along the North- 
West Frontier, accompanied by my wife, who was greatly 
delighted at being able at last to see many places and meet 
many people, of whom she had often heard me speak. 
Part of this trip was made in company with the Viceroy 
and Lady Duilerin, who visited all the principal stations on 
the frontier, including Quetta. I rode with Lord M e r i n  
through the Khyber Pass, and to the top of the Kaaja 
Amren r a g e ,  our visit to this latter point resulting, as I 
earnestly hoped it would, in His Excellency being convinced 
by personal inspection of the advantage to be gained by 
making the Kohjak tunnel, and of the necessity for our en- 
deavouring to cultivate more friendly relations with the 
border tribes. We ended this very enjoyable tour a t  Rawal 
Pindi in order to be present at the winding-up of a Cavalry 
Camp of Exercise in the neighbourhood. There were assem- 
bled together under the direction of Major-General Luck one 
regiment of British and eight regiments of Native Cavalry, 
with two batteries of Royal Horse Artillery, and it was a 
pretty sight, their advance at full gallop, and the halt, se 
of one man, of that long line of Cavalry within a few yards 
of the Viceroy, for the Royal salute. The spectators wem 



1-1 DEFENCE AND MOBILIZATION COMMITTEES 423 
- -  

much impressed with Lord Dufferin's nerve in being able 
to remain perfectly calm and still on his home in the face 
of such an onslaught, and it certainly did Beem rather close 
quartere ; but General Lnck knew his regiments, and had 
confidence in hie men, and we knew General Lnck. 

In the w l y  part of 1888 I visited all the chief military 
stations in the Bengal Presidency, and attended Camps of 
Exercise for all arms, held a t  Rawal Pindi, Umbslla, 
Meernt, and Lucknow, before going to Calcutta for the usual 
discuseion on the Budget; after which the Government 
generally breaks up for the hot weather, and assembles in 
8imla two or three weeks leter. 

During 1887 and 1888 much useful work was got through 
by the Defence Committee, and by another Committee which 
wee aeeembled for the consideration of all questions beering 
upon the mobilization of the army. As Commander-in- 
Chief I presided over both, and was fortunate in being 
able to secure as my secretaries two oficers of exceptional 
ability, Lieutenallt-Colonel W. Nicholson, H.E., for defence, 
and Lieutenant-Colonel E. Elles, R.A., for mobilizetion. 
I t  was in a great measure due to Colonel Nicholson's 
clear-aighted judgment on the many knotty question8 
which came before us, and to his technical knowledge, that 
tlle schemes for the defence of the frontier, and for the 
ports of Bombay, Karachi, Calcutta, Rangoon and W r a s ,  
were camed out so rapidly, thoroughly and economically 
es they were ;* and with regard to measures for rendering 
the army mobile, Colonel Elles proved himself equally 
capable and practical. The Secretary to Government in 

The total cost of the coest and frontier defenoee amounted to ths 
very moderate m m  of five orores of rupees, or about three and s hdf 
milliom rterling. 
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the Military Department, Major-General Edwin Collen, 
was a particularly helpful member of the Committees* 
from his intimate acquaintance with the varioiis subjects 
which had to be discussed. 

If my readers have had the patience to follow in detail 
the several campaigns in which I took part, they will have 
grasped the fact that our greatest difficulties on all occa- 
sions arose from the want of a properly organized Trans- 
port Department, and they will understand that I was 
able to make this very apparent when the necessity for 
mobilizing rapidly only one Army Corps came to be 
seriously considered. We were able to demonstrate con- 
clusively the impossibility of putting a force into the field, 
sufficiently strong to cope with a European enemy, without 
a considerable increase to the existing number of transport 
animals, and without some description of light cart strong 
enough to stand the rough work of a campaign in a country 
without roads ; for it is no exaggeration to say that in the 
autumn of 1880, when I left Kandahar, it would have been 
possible to have picked out the road thence to Quetta, 
and onward to Sibi, a distance of 260 miles, with no 
other guide than that of the line of dead animals and 
broken-down carts left behind by the several columns and 
convoys that had marched into Afghanistan by that route. 

Soon after I took over the command of the Army in 
India, while voyaging to Burma, I had brought this most 
pressing question of transport to the notice of Lord 
Dflerin, who, with his usual quick appreciation of n 

situation, at once fully recognized its urgency, and pro- 

* The Committee8 combtad, besides the Military Member of Council 
I U I ~  myself, of the heeds of Depertmenta with the Government of India 
and at Army Head-Quarters. 
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mised to give me all possible help in my endeavour -to 
render the army mobile-a prombe which he amply ful- 
filled by taking a keen personal interest in the proceeding8 
of the Committee, and giving his hearty support to our 
various recommendations.* 
Our l aburs  resulted in several thousand good pack 

animals (chiefly mules) being purchased, and information 
collected and recorded as to the districts where others could 
be rapidly procured in case of emergency. A transport 
service was establiehed, for which oficere had to go through 
a regular course of instruction, and pass an examination 
in the loading and general management of the animals. 
A prize was offered for a strong, useful light cart; and 
when the most suitable had been selected, large numbers 
were made up of the aame pattern.+ The constitution of 

* When the report of the Mobia t ion  Committee wes submitted to 
the Viceroy, he recorded a minute expreeeing hie I' warm admiration of 
the manner in which the arduoue duty had been conducted," and " hie 
belief that no scheme of a similar description had ever been worked out 
with greater thoroughnem, in more detail, and with clearer apprehen- 
sion of the ends to be accomplished." He concluded by conveying to 
the members an expression of his great satisfaction at what had been 
done, and recording that I the result of the Committee'r labours is a 
magnificent monument of induetry and profewtionel ability.' 

t Statement of transport carriage h t e i n e d  in Indie in the genre 
1878 and 1898 for luilitary purpoeea, exclusive of animals registered by 
the civil authoritiee on the latter date, and liable to be requisitioned in 
t h e  of war : 
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two Army Cow, to be in readiness for taking the field on 
short notice, waa decided upon, and the unite to form the 
several divisions and brigadee were told off and provided 
with the necessary equipment. A railway time-table was 
prepared, giving the hours at which the troops should leave 
their stations so as to avoid any block en r&. Special 
platforms were constructed for training and detraining 
Cavalry and Artillery, and storehouses were erected and 
stocked at those stations where road marching would pro- 
bably commence. Finally, the conclusions we had arrived 
a t  were embodied in a manual entitled 'General Regula- 
tions for Mobilization.' It was extremely gratifying to me 
to learn from India that this manual, with such additions 
and alterations as our subeequent experience in Burma 
and \-arious frontier expeditions proved would be advan- 
tageous, was the guide by which the Chitral relieving force 
was last year so expeditiously and completely equipped and 
despatched. 

Of the many subjects discussed and measures adopted 
during this, the last year of Lord Dufferin's J'iceroyaltj-, 
I think the wheme for utilizing the armies of Native 
States, as an auxiliary force for the service of the Empire, 
was the most important both from a political and military 
point of view. 

The idea was, in the first instance, propounded by Lord 
Lytton, who appointed a committee to consider the pros 
and cons of the question. I was a member of that com- 
mittee, but at that time I, in common with many others, 
was doubtful as to the wisdom of encouraging a high state 

of efficiency amongst the troops of independent States; 
the excellent work, however, done by the Native Contin- 
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gent I had with me in Kuram, and the genuine desire of 
all ranks to be allowed to serve side by side with our own 
soldiers, together with the unmistakable spirit of loyalty 
displayed by Native Rulers when war with Russia wee 
imminent in 1886, convinced me that the time had arrived 
for us to prove to the people of India that we had faith in 
their loyalty, and in their recognition of the fact that their 
concern in the defence of the Empire was a t  leest as great 
as ours, and that we looked to them to take their part in 
strengthening our rule and in keeping out all intruders. 
I believed, too, that we had now little to fear from internal 
trouble so long as our Government continued just and 
sympathetic, but that, on the other hand, we could not 
expect to remain free from outside interference, and that it 
would be wise to prepare ourselves for a struggle which, as 
my readers must be aware, I consider to be inevitable in 
the end. We have done much, and may still do more, to 
delay it, but when that.struggle comes it will be incumbent 
upon us, both for political and military reasons, to make 
use of all the troops and war material that the Native 
States can place a t  our disposal, and it is therefore to 
our advantage to render both as efficient and useful as 
posei ble. 

The subject was, of course, most delicate and complex, 
and had to be treated with the greatest caution, for not 
only was the measure adapted to materially strengthen our 
military position in Indie, but I was convinced it wee 
politically sound, and likely to be generally acceptable to 
the Native Rulers, provided we studied their wishes, and 
were careful not to offend their prejudices and suscepti- 
I~ilitiee by unnecessary interference. 
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I t  was very satisfactory to find how cordially the Chiefs 
responded to Lord Dufferin's proposals, and extremely 
interesting to watch the steady improvement in their 
armies under the guidance of carefully selected British 
officers. Substantial results have been already obtained, 
valuable help having been afforded to the Chitral expedition 
by the transport trains organized by the Maharajas of 
Gwalior and Jaipnr, and by the gallantry of the Imperial 
Service Troops belonging to His Highness the Maharaja 
of Kashmir at Hunza-Naga and during the siege and relief 
of Chitral. 

Two minor expeditions took place this year : one against 
the Thibetans in retaliation for their having invaded the 
territory of our ally, the Raja of Sikim; the other to 
punish the Black Mountain tribes for the murder of two 
British officers. Both were a success from a military 
point of view, but in the Black Mountain the determina- 
tion of the Punjab Government to limit the sphere of 
action of the troops, and to hurry out of the country, 
prevented our reaping any political advantage. We lost a 
grand opportunity for gaining control over this lawless and 
troublesome district ; no survey was made, no roads opened 
out, the tribesmen were not made to feel our power, and, 
consequently, very soon another costly expedition had to 
be undertaken. 

In  November, 1888, Lord Dufferin left India amidst a 
etorlu of regret from all classes of Her Majesty's subjects. 
He was succeeded by Lord Landowne, one of whom 
earliest communications to me r e j o i d  my heart, for in it 
His Excellency inquired whether anything could be done 
towards improving our relations with the frontier tribes. 
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This augured well for the abandonment of the traditional, 
selfish, and, to my mind, short-sighted policy of keeping 
aloof, and I hoped that endeavours would a t  last be made 
to turn the tribesmen into friendly neighbours, to their 
advantage and ours, instead of being obliged to have 
recourse to useless blockades or constant and expensive 
expeditions for their punishment, or else to induce them 
to refrain from troubling us by the payment of a heavy 
blackmail. 

After a visit to the frontier in the autumn to see how 
the defences were advancing, I attended a Cab-alry Camp of 
Esercise at Delhi, and an Artillery Practice Camp at  
Gurgaon, and then went to Meerut to be present a t  the first 
meeting of the Bengal Presidency Rifle Association, which 
was most interesting and successful. We spent Christmas 
in camp-the first Christmas we had all been together for 
ten years. Our boy, having left Eton, came out in the 
early part of the year with a tutor, to be with us for 
eighteen months before entering Sandhurst. 

A t  the end of December I proceeded to Calcutta rather 
earlier than usual, to pay my respects to the new Viceroy, 
and in January of the following year, accompanied by my 
wife and daughter, I started off on a long tour to inspect 
tlle local regiments in Central India and Rajputana, and 
k, ascertain what progress had been made in organizing 
the Imperial Service Troops in that part of India. 

Did space permit, I should like to tell my readers of the 
beauties of Udaipur and the magnificent hospitality ac- 
corded to us there, as well as at Bhopal, Jodhpur, Jaipur, 
a d  Ulwar, but, if I once began, it would be difficult to 
stop, and I feel I have already made an unconscionably 
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heavy demand on the intereat of the public in thin@ 
Indian, and must soon c a s e  my ' labour of love.' I must 
therefore conline myself to thoee subjecba which I am 
desirous should be better understood in England than they 
generally are. 

Upon seeing the troops of the Begum of Bhopal and the 
Maharana of Udaipur, I recommended that Their High- 
nesses should be invited to allow their share of Imperial 
defence to take the form of paying for the services of 
an increased number of officers with their respective local 
corps,* for I did not think it would be possible to make 
any useful addition to our strength out of the material of 
which their emall armies were composed. The men were 
relics of a past age, fit only for police purposes, and it 
would have been a waste of time and money to give them 
any special training. My recommendation, however, was 
not accepted, and neither of these States takes any part in 
the defence echeme. 

At Jodhpur, on the contrary, there was splendid material, 
and a most useful force was being organized by the Maha- 
raja's brother, Lieutenant-Colonel Sir Pertap Sing, himself 
a Rajput, and of the bluest blood of India. The Cavalry 
were specially fine. The gallant Rajput horsemen of 

* According to treaty, the Bhopal State pays nearly two lakhs of 
rupees a year towards the cost of the local battalion maintained by 
the British Govemnent for the purpose of keeping order within the 
State itself. The battalion, however, has only four, instead of eight, 
British oficere, m d  it appeared to me only reseonable that the Begum 
should be invited to pay the additional amount neoesearg to make the 
battalion ae eflicient M the rest of the Native army, M a ' premium of 
insurance ' for the peace and prosperity whioh Her Highness's State 
enjoys under our protection, and M her quota towards the general 
scheme for the defence of the Empire. 
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Jodhpur had always been famous for their chivalrous 
bravery, unswerving fidelity, and fearless self-devotion in 
their wars with the Mahrattaa and the armies of the 
Mogul Emperors, and I felt, as the superbly mounted 
tqaedrops passed before me, that they had lost none of 
their characteristics, and that blood and breeding must tell, 
and would, if put to the test, achieve the same results now 
ee of old. There could be but one opinion as to the value 
of the ' Sirdar Riasale,'* so named after the Maheraja's eon 
and heir, Sirdar Sing, a lad of only nine years old, who 
led the little army past the saluting flag mounted on a 
beautiful thorough-bred Arab. 

The Jaipur troops were much on a par with those of 
Bhopal and Udaipur. I was glad, therefore, that, in lieu 
of troops, the Maharaja had agreed to organize, as his 
contribution to the Imperial service, a transport corps of 
1,000 fully-equipped animals. 

At Clwar I found that the 600 Cavalry and 1,000 Infantry 
(all Rajpute) well advanced in their drill and training; 
thia wea evidently owing to the personal interest taken 
in them by the Maharaja, who seldom allowed a day to 
pcure without visiting the parade grounds. 

By the end of March I had finished my tour in Central 
India and Rajputana, and as the heat was every day 
becoming more intense, I was not eorry to turn my steps 
northwards towards Iiashmir, the army of which State still 
remained to be inspected, and the measures most ~uitable 
for ita re-organization determined upon. 

Our whole family party re-assembled a t  Yurree early in 
April, and we all went into the ' Happy Valley' together, 

Rieaal. in s body of Cavalry. 
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where between business and pleasure we spent a moet 
delightful six weeke. The Maharaja personally superin- 
tended the arrangements for our comfort. Our travelling 
was made easy-indeed luxurious-and evewhing that 
the greatest care and forethought and the most lavish 
hospitality could accomplish to make our visit happy 
was done by the Maharaja and by the popular Resident, 
Colonel Nisbet. 

The Kashmir army was much larger than any of 
those belonging to the Native States I had lately visited; 
it consisted of 18,000 men and 66 guns-more than was 
needed, even with the Gilgit frontier to guard. Some of 
the regiments were compoeed of excellent material, chiefly 
Dogras; but as the cost of such a force was a heavy 
drain upon the State, and as many of the men were old 
and decrepit, I recommended that the Maharaja should be 
invited to get rid of all who were physically unfit, and to 
reduce his army to a total of 10,000 thoroughly reliable 
men and SO guns. I knew this would be a very difficult, 
and perhaps distasteful, task for the Commander-in-Chief 
(who was also the Maharaja's brother), Raja Ram Sing, to 
perform, so I recommended that a British officer should be 
appointed military adviser to the Kashmir Government, 
under whose supervision the work of reformation should be 
carried out. 

At that time we had none of our own troops in the 
neighbourhood of Gilgit, and as I thought it advisable, 
in case of disturbance, that the Kashmir troops should be 
speedily put into such a state of efficiency as would enable 
us to depend upon them to hold the passes until help could 
arrive from India, I urged that the military adviser should 
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be given three British officers to assist him in carrying out 
his difficult and troublesome duty ; and a t  the same time I 
pointed out that it was absolutely easenth1 to construct e t  
an early date a serviceable road between Kashmir and 
Gilgit, as the sole approach to that strategic position waa 
not only difficult, but very dangerous. 

All these proposals commended themselves to, and were 
acted upon by, the Viceroy. 

Lieutenant-Colonel Neville Chamberlain-a yeraorra grata 

to the Kashmir authorities-was appointed hLilitary Seere- 
tary to the Kashmir State, and by his ability, tact, and happy 
way of dealing with Nativee, quickly overcame all obstacles. 
The Maharaja and his two brothers, Rajas Ram Sing and 
Amar Sing, entered heartily into the scheme; the army was 
remodelled and rendered fit for service ; and an excellent 
road waa made to Gilgit. 

1)uring the summer of 1889 I was able to introduce 
several much needed changes in the annual course of 
musketry for the Native Army. The system in vogue at 
that time dated from a period when fire diecipline was 
not thought of, and when the whole object of the course 
waa to make soldiers individually good shota After the 
Delhi Camp of Exercise in 1885-86, when the want of fire 
control was almost the only point unfavourably criticized by 
the foreign officers, the Army in India made a p e a t  advance 
in this important branch of musketry training ; nevertheless, 
I felt that further progrees was possible, and that the course 
of instruction was not altogether as practical as it might 
be. I therefore gave over the work of improvement 
UI this respect to an enthusiast in the matter of rifle- 
shooting and an oecer of exceptional energy and intelli- 

VOL. 11. 60 
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gence, Lieutenant-Colonel Ian Hamilton, and directed him, 
as Assistant Adjutant-General of Musketrj, to arrange a 
course of instruction, in which the conditions should 
resemble as nearly as possible those of field service, and 
in which fire discipline should be developed to the utmost 
extent. He was most successful in carrying out my wishes, 
and the results from the first year's trial of the new system 
were infinitely better than even I had anticipated. 

Simultaneously with the improvement in musketry, a 
great advance was made in gunnery. Artillery, like 
Infantry officers, had failed to realize the value of the 
new weapon, and it required the teaching of a man who 
himself thoroughly believed in and understood the breech- 
loading gun to arouse Artillerymen to a sense of the 
tremendous power placed in their hands, and to the 
importance of devoting much more care and attention 
to practice than had hitherto been thought neceseery. 
Such a man was Major-General Nairne, and I was happily 
able to induce the Government to revive in him the 
appointment of Inspector-General of Artillery. 

Under the unwearying supervision of this ofticer, there 
waa quite as remarkable an improvement in Artillery 
shooting as Colonel Hamilton had effected in musketry. 
Practice camps were annually formed at convenient localities, 
and all ranks began to take as much pride in belonging to 
the ' best shooting battery ' as they had hitherto taken in 
belonging to the ' smartest,' the ' best-horsed,' or the ' best- 
turned-out ' battery. I impressed upon officers and men 
that the two things were quite compatible ; that, according 
to my experience, the smartest and best-turned-out men 
made the best soldiers ; and while I urged every detail being 
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meet carefully attended to, whieh could enable them to 
become proficient gunners and take their proper place on 
the field of battle, I expressed my earnest hope that the 
Royal Artillery would always maintain its hitherto high 
reputation for turn-out and srnartnees. 

The improvement in the Cavalry was equally apparent. 
For thie arm of the service also the Government consented 
to an Inspector-General being appointed, and I was fortunate 
enough to be able to secure for the post the services of 
Major-General Luck, an officer as eminently fitted for this 
position as was Gen~ral  Nairne for his. 

dust a t  first the British officers belonging to Native 
Cavalry were apprehensive that their soware would be 
turned into dragoons, but they soon found that there was no 
intention of changing any of their traditional characteristics, 
and that the only object of giving them an Inspector- 
General was to make them even better in their own way 
than they had been before, the finest irregular Cavalry 
in the world, as I have not the slightast doubt they will 
always prove themselves to be. 

Towards the end of the Simla sewor: of 1889, Lord 
Lansdowne, to my great mtisfaction, announced his in- 
tention of visiting the frontier, and asked me to accompany 
him. 

We rode through the Khyber and Gomal Passes, visited 
l'eshawar, Iioliat, Bannu, Dern Ismail Khan, and ;Quetta, 
looked into the Kohjnk tunnel, and attended some in- 
teresting manmuvres, carried out with a view of testing, in 
an practical a manner as possible, the defensive power of 
the recently-finished Takatu-Mashalik entrenchment. The 
principal works mere fired upon by Artillery and Infantry, 
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and, notwithstanding the excellent practice made, in- 
finitesimal damage was done, which proved the suitability 
of the particular design adopted for the defences. 

Lord Lansdowne expressed himself greatly interested, 
and much impressed by all he saw of the frontier ; and he 
was confirmed in his opinion as to the desirability of 
e~tablishing British influence amongst the border tribes. 
IYith this object in view, His Excellency authorized Sir 
Robert Sandeman (the Governor-General's Agent a t  Quetta) 
to establish a series of police posts in the Gomal Pass, and 
encourage intercourse between the people of the Zhob 
district and ourselves. 

It was high time that something should be done in this 
direction, for the Amir's attitude towards us was becoming 
day by day more unaccountably antagonistic. He was 
gradually encroaching on territory and occupying places 
nltogether outside the limits of Afghan control; and 
erery movement of ours--made quite as much in His 
Highness's interest as in our own-for strengthening the 
frontier and improving the communications, evidently 
aroused in him distrust and suspicion as to our motives. 
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the Cabinet, and that my presence in England was strongly 
desired in the autumn. I t  was therefore with very great 
surprise that I received a second telegram three weeke 
later from the Secretary of State, telling me that, as it was 
then found to be impossible to chome my successor, and 
as the exigencies of the public service urgently required my 
presence in India, the Cabinet, with the approval of Her 
Majesty and tbe coilcurrence of the Duke of Cambridge, had 
decided to ask me to retain my command for two more years. 

I felt it my duty to obey the wishes of the Queen, Her 
Majeety'e Government, and the Commander-in-Chief ; but 
I fully realized that in doing so I was forfeiting my chance 
of employment in England, and that a long and irksome 
term of enforced idleness would in all probability follow on 
my return home, and I did not attempt to conceal from 
Mr. Stanhope that I was disappointed. 

At the lathr end of this year, and in the early part of 
1891, it was found necessary to undertake three small 
expeditions: one to Zhob, under the leadership of Sir 
George White, for the protection of our newly-acquired 
sul)jwts in that valley; one on the Kohat border, com- 
manded by Sir Willimm Lockhart, to punish the people 
of the Miranmi valley for r e p t e d  acts of hostility; snd 
the third, under Ma'or-General Ellee,* against the Black b 
Mountain tribes, who, quite unsubdued by the fruitle~s 
expedition of 1888, had given trouble almost immediately 
afterwards. All these were as completely succseeful in 
their political results as in their military conduct. The 
columns were not withdrawn until the tribesmen had 
Imome convinced that they were powerless to s~lstairl a 

Thc Intc 1,irutcnerit-<ienerel Sir \\'. K. El le~ .  K.C.B. 



4.1" FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA [I831 

hostile attitude towards us, and that it was their interest, 
as it was our wish, that they should henceforth be on 
amicable terms with us. 

While a considerable number of troops were thus em- 
ployed, a fourth expedition had to be hurriedly equipped 
and despatched in quite the opposite direction to punish 
the Raja of Manipur, a petty State on the confines of 
h s a m ,  for t.he treacherous murder of Mr. Quinton, the 
Chief Commissioner of Assam, and four other British 
officers. 

Notwithstanding its inaccessibility, two columns, one 
from Burma, the other from Cachar, quickly and simnl- 
taneously reached Manipur, our countrymen were avenged, 
and the administration of the State was taken over for a 
time by the Government of India.* 

Towards the end of January the Cesarewitch came to 
Calcutta, where I had the honour of being introduced to 
our august visitor, who expressed himself as p l e a d  with 
what he lied seen of the country and the arrangements 
made for His Imperial Highness's somewhat hurried 
journey through India. 

In April my military colleague in the Viceroy's Council 
for five years, and my personal friend, General Sir George 
Chesney, left India, to my great regret. We had worked 
together most harmoniously, and, as he wrote in his 
farewell letter, there was scarcely a point in regard to the 
Army in India about which he and I did not agree. 

Sir George was succeeded by Lieutenant-General Brtrcken- 

A detachment of the Calcutta Volunteer Rifles, at the partiuular 
request of the regiment, took part in the expedition, and did (pod 
service. 
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hury, who had been Director of Military Intelligence a t  the 
War Oftice. I was relieved to find that, although in some 
particulars my new coadjutor's views differed from mine, 
we were in accord upon all essential points, particularly 
as to the value of the Indian Army and the necessity for 
ite being maintained in a state of preparedness for war. 

From the time I became Commander-in-Chief in Madras 
until I left Indie the question of how to render the army 
in that country as perfect a fighting machine as it 
waa possible to make it, was the one which caused me 
the most anxious thought, and to its solution my most 
earnest efforts had been at all times directed. 

The first step to be taken towards this end was, it seemed 
to me, to substitute men of the more warlike and hardy 
races for the Hindustani sepoys of Bengal, the Tamils and 
Telagus of Madras, and the so-called Mahrattas of Bombay ; 
but I found it difficult to get my views accepted, because of 
the theory which prevailed that it was necessary to maintain 
an equilibrium between the armies of the three Presidencies, 
and because of the ignorance that was only too universal 
with respect to the characteristics of the different races, 
which encouraged the erroneous belief that one Native was 
as good as another for purposes of war. 

In former days, when the Native Army in India was so 
much stronger in point of numbers than the British Army, 
and there existed no means of rapid communication, it was 
only prudent to guard against a predominance of soldiers 
of any one creed or nationality ; but with British troops 
nearly doubled and the Native Army reduced by more than 
one-third, with all the forts and arsenals protected, and 
nearly the whole of the Artillery manned by British 
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soldiers, with railway and telegraph commnnication born 
one end of India to the other, with the risk of internal 
trouble greatly diminished, and the possibility of external 
complications becoming daily more apparent, circumstance*l 
and our requirements were completely altered, and it hd 
become essential to have in the ranks of our Native Army 
men who might confidently be trusted to take their &are 
of fighting against a European foe. 

In the British Army the superiority ot one regiment over 
another is mainly a matter of training ; the same conrsge 

and military instinct are inherent in English, Scotch and 
Irish alike, but no comparison can be made between the 

martial value of a regiment. recruited amongst the Gurkhaa 
of Nepal or the warlike races of northern India, and of one 
recruited from the effeminete  people^ of the south. 

How little this was understood, even by those who had 
spent a great part of their eervice in India, was a marvel to 

me ; but, then, I had had pecqliar opportunities of judging 
of the relative fighting qualities of Natives, and I was in 
despair at not being able to get people to see the maw 
with my eyes, for I knew that nothing was more sure to lesd 
to disaster than to imagine that the whole Indian Army, .s 
it was then constituted, could be relied on in time of war. 

General Chesney fortunately shared my opinions, and M 

Lords Dufferin and Lansdowne trusted us, we were able b 

do a great deal to\vtrrds increasing the efficiency of the 
Nathe Army and improving the status and prospects of the 
Native soldier. Several companies and regiments com- 
posed of doubtful material were disbanded, and men of 
well-known fighting castes entertained instead. Class regi- 

ments were formed, as being more congenial to the men tmd 
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more conducive to ~ ~ p ~ i t  de corps ; recruiting was made the 
business of carefully selected officers who understood Native 
character, and whose duty it was to become acquainted with 
the various tribes inhabiting the districts from which the 
recruits for their own regiments were drawn ; and special 
arrangements were made with the Nepaleee Government by 
which a suficient number of the best class of men could be 
obtained for our thirteen Gurkha regiments. 

The pay of Cavalry soldiers was improved, and it was 
pointed out to the Government that an increase to the 
Infantry soldiers' pay could not be long deferred;* the 
imue of good-conduct pay was accelerated; jaqirst were 
sanctioned ann~lally for a limited number of specially die- 
tingubhed Native officers; full pay was authorized for 
recruits from date of enlistment instead of from the d a b  
of joining their regiments ; field Imtta : was sanctioned 
whenever t roop should be employed beyond ma or on 
serrice; pensions were granted after a shorter period of 
service than heretofore ; medals for meritorious eervice 
and good conduct were given in commemoration of Her 
Majesty's Jubilee ; bronze war medals were sanctioned for 
all authorized Government followers; a reserve, which it 
w a ~  arranged should undergo an annual course of training, 
wrrs formed for the Artillery and Infantry; and a system 
of liliked battalions was orgellized, three battalions being 
grouped together, and the men being interchangeable during 
war-time. 

Thc pay of the h'ative Infantry has been suitably inrreased ninoe 
I left Indin. 

t Jagira are grante of land. 
$ Untta, extrn nllowances given to Native soldiers when proceeding 

on field wrvicc. 
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While the tendency of these alterations and concessioiis 
was to make all ranks happy and contented, their training 
was carefully attended to, and, as I have before mentioned, 
musketry particularly reached a very high standard. 

The one thing left undone, and which I should like to 
have been able to accomplish before leaving India, was to 
induce the Government to arrange for more British officers 
to be given to the Native regiments in time of war. Nine to 
a Cavalry and eight to an Infantry corps may be sufficient 
in time of peace, but that number is quite too small 
to stand the strain of war. Indian soldiers, like soldiere 
of every nationality, require to be led ; and history 
and experience teach us that eastern races (fortunately 
for us), however brave and accustomed to war, do not 
possess the qualities that go to make leaders of men, 
and that Native ofticers in this respect can never take tlie 
place of British officers. I have known many Natives 
whose gallantry and devotion could not be surpassed, but 
I have never known one who would not have looked to 
the youngest British officer for support in time of diffi- 
eulty and danger. I t  is therefore most unwise to allow 
Native regiments to enter upon a war with so muoh 
emaller a proportion of British oficers than is con- 
eidered necessary for European regiments. I have no 
doubt whatever of the fighting powers of our best Indian 
troops; I have a thorough belief in, and admiration for, 
Gurkhas, Sikhs, Dogras, Rajputs, Jets, and selected 
Mahomedans; I thoroughly appreciate their soldierly 
qualities; brigaded with British troops, I would be proud 
to lead them against any European enemy ; but we cannot 
expect them to do with less leading than our own soldiere 



l ~ l  1 OFFICERING OF T H E  NATII 'E  A R d f l -  
- - 

445 
-. . - - . - - - - - 

require, and it is, I maintain, trying them too highly to 
send them into ~ctioil with the present establishment of 
British officers.* 

In the late autumn of 1891 our latest acquisition, the 
Zhob Valley, was included in my frontier tour, which 
I had the pleasure of making, for the greater part of 
the way, in the company of General Brackenbnry. He 
was prevented from getting as far as Quetta by an accident 
which laid him up for some time, but not, as he told 
me, before he had seen enough of the frontier to satisfy 
him that the tribes were a factor in our system of defence . 

+ During the Mutiny the casualties amonget the British officers 
with the six Punjab regiments which saw the most fighting amounted 
to 80 per cent. ! Luckily, thew were able to be replaced by officers 
belonging to corps which had mutinied. This supply, however, hae 
long since been used up, and it behoves the Goverrunent either to 
provide an adequate reeerve of officere, or to arrange for a suflicient 
number being sent out from England whenever India is likely to be 
engaged in a serious war. 

C A I U A L T ~ Y .  1 
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which could not be ignored, and that I had not exaggerated 
the importance of having them on our side. 

During this winter the brilliant little Hunza-Naga cam- 
paign took place, which has been so graphically described 
in Mr. Knight's 'Where Three Empires Meet.' I t  was 
brought about by Russia's intrigues with the Rulers of the 
petty States on the northern boundary of Kashmir; and 
our attention was first roused to the necessity for action 
by two British officers, who were journeying to India by 
way of the Pamirs and Gilgit, being forced by Russian 
soldiers to leave what the leader of the party called ' newly- 
acquired Russian territory '*- territory to which Russia 
had not the shadow of a claim. 

In addition to this unjustifiable treatment of Captain 
Younghusband and Lieutenant Davison, Colonel Panoff 
crossed the Hindu Kush with his Cossacks by the Korabhut 
Pass, and, after reconnoitring the country on the bordera of 
Kashmir, re-crossed the range by the Baroghil Pass. As 
this was a distinct breach of the promises made by the 
Russian Government, and an infringement of the boundary 
line as agreed to between England and Russia in 1873, it 
was necessary to take steps to prevent any recurrence of 
such interference, and a small force was accordingly sent 
against the Chief of Hunza, who had openly declared 
himself in favour of Ruesia. He made a desperate stand, 
but was eventually driven from his almost inaccessible 
position by the determined gallantry of our Indian  troop^, 

assisted by a Contingent from Kashmir. Three Yictoria 

Captain Younghusband wan at Bozei-Gun~baz, end Lieutellant 
Devhn on the Alichur P&, both places being south of the brnnch 
of the Oms which takee ita rise in the Sir-i-kul Lake. 
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Croeses were given for this business, and many more were 
enrned, but of necessity there must be a limit to the dia- 
pjml of decorations; and in an affair of this kind, in 
which all proved themselves heroes, each individual must 
have felt himself honoured by the small force being awarded 
such a large number of the coveted reward, in proportion 
to its size. 

We reaped the benefit of having taken this district under 
our own control when Chitral required to be relieved, and 
the Hunza-Xaga people afforded Colonel Kelly ~ u c h  valnal)le 
help. 

On the 1st January, 1892, I received an intimation that 
Her Majesty had been graciously pleased to bestow a 
peerage upon me, and the same day the Secretary of State 
for India offered me a further extension of my appoint- 
ment ee Commander-in-Chief-an offer I would gladly have 
accepted, as I knew it had been made with tlie concurrence 
of the Viceroy, if I could have taken even a few months' 
leave to England. But during a quarter of a century I had 
only been able to s p n d  eighteen months out of India, and 
I felt the need of change of climate and a little rest after 
eo many years of continued hard work. I:nder the exist- 
ing regulations a Commander-in-Chief could have no lave. 
Lord Croes had tried to remedy this hard rnle by bringing 
in the ' 05cers' Leave Bill ' ; but aa he informed Lord Lans- 
d o m e  it wee impossible $0 get it throiigl~ the House of 
Cbmmons that eession, I was obliged very reluctantly to 
beg to he allowed to resign my command in the ~pr ing of 
1898. 

Before returning to Bimla for really the last time, my 
wife and I made another trip to Burma as far as Man- 
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dalay, and after this was over we paid a most interesting 
visit to Nepal, having received the very unusual honour of 
an invitation to Khatmandu from Mnharaja Bir Shumsher 
Jung Rana Bahadur. 

Khatmandu is about n hundred miles from our frontier 
station of Segowli, by a very rough road over a succession 
of steep, high hills and along deep, narrow valleys, which 
would have been quite impossible for a lady to travel by 
but for the excellent arrangements made by the Sepalese 
officials ; the last descent was the worst of all ; we literally 
dropped from one rock to the next in some places. But on 
reaching the base of the mountain all was changed. A 
beautifully cultivated valley spread itself out before us; 
comfortable tents were prepared for our reception, where 
we were met by some of the State officials ; and a perfectly 
appointed carriage-and-four was waiting to carry us on to 
Khatmandu, where we were received by the Resident, 
Lieutenant-Colonel Wylie, and hie wife, old fiends of ours. 
That afternoon the Maharaja paid me a private visit. 

The next morning the official call was made, which I 
returned soon afterwards; and in the evening the Maha- 
raja, accompanied by hie eldest son and eight of hie 
brothers, all high officers of state, were present at Mrs. 
Wylie's reception, wearing military frock-coata and forage- 
caps. They all spoke English fluently; their manners 
were those of well-bred gentlemen, easy and quiet, as free 
from awkwardness as from forwardness; each, coming up 
in turn, talked very pleasantly to Lady Roberts for a time, 
and then made way for someone else. The Maharaja is 
extremely musical, and has several well-trained bands, 
taught by an English bandmaster ; three of them were in 
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attendance, and were directed to play selections from 
our favourite operas, and then a number of the beautiful 
plaintive Nepalese airs. Altogether, we passed a most 
agreeable evening. 

The following day a review of nll the troops (18,000 men 
and 78 guns)* was held on a ground one mile in length 
by half a mile in breadth, perfectly level and well turfed. 
It would be considered a fine parade-ground for the plains 
of India, and must have entailed a considerable expendi- 
ture of time, labour, and money to make in such a hilly 
place as lihatmandu. 

On reaching the ground, I was received by the Maharaja 
and Deb Shamsher Jung, the eldest of his many brothers, 
and the nominal Commander-in-Chief of the army; we 
rode along the line together, and the march-past then 
began. Everything was done with the utmost precision; 
there was no fuss or talking, and from first ts Inst not 
a single bugle so~lnd was heard, showing how carefully 
officers and men had been drilled. I was told that the 
executive Commander-in-Chief, the third brother, by name 
Chandra Shamsher, had almost lived on the parade-ground 
for weeks before my arrival. The Maharaja's sons and 
brothers, who all knew their work, and were evidently 
fond of soldiering, commanded the several divisions and 
brigades. 

The troops were not, perhaps, turned out quite so 

* The Infantry comprised twenty-four battalions drawn up in line 
of quarter columns. The Artillery consisted of one battery (six 
7-pounders) carried on elephants, six batteries (six guns each, 
5-pounders and 7-pounders) dragged by soldiers, and six batteries (six 
guns each, 8-poundere and 6-pounders) carried by Bhutia coolies. 

VOL. u. G 1 
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smartly as those in our service, and several of the officers 
were old and feeble; but these were the only faults per- 
ceptible, and I came to the conclusion that the great 
majority of the 18,000 men were quite as good as the 
Gurkhas we enlist ; and I could not help thinking that 
they would be a valuable addition to our strength in the 
event of war. 

General Chandra Shamsher is a very red-hot soldier. 
He said to my wife: ' Lady Roberts, when are the Russians 
coming? I wish they would make haste. We have 40,000 

soldiers in Nepal ready for war, and there is no one to 
fight !' 

The next day a grand durbar was held, at which the 
King (the Maharaja Dhiraj, as he is called) presided ; he 
was an unusiially handsome lad of about eighteen years of 
age, fairer than most Nepalese, and very refined looking. 
As on all previous occasions, everyone wore uniform 
except the King, who had on a perfectly plain dress of 
spotless white. Great deference is outwardly paid to the 
Dhiraj, but he has no power, and is never consulted in 
matters of State, being considered too sacred to be troubled 
with mundane affairs. Although a mere boy, he had 
four wives, two of them daughters of the Maharaja Bir 
Shamsher Jung. 

After the durbar, I was shown over the principal school 
and hospital ; both appeared to be well conducted, and evi- 
dently no expense was spared upon them. I was then 
taken to a magazine, in which were a number of guns of 
various calibre and any amount of ammunition. I was told 
there were several other magazines, which I had not time 
to see, and a few miles from Khatmandu extensive worli- 
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shops, where all kinds of munitions of war were manu- 
factured. 

That evening, accompanied by Colonel and Mrs. Wylie, 
we attended a reception at the Maharaja's palace. The 
durbar hall, which was filled with men in uniform, was of 
beautiful proportions, and very handsomely decorated and 
furnished. After the usual introductions and some con- 
versation with the chief officers, we were invited to visit the 
Maharani in her own apartments, and having ascended a 
flight of steps and passed through numerous corridors and 
luxuriously furnished rooms, we were shown into a spacious 
apartment, the prevailing colour of which was rose, lighted 
by lamps of the same colour. The Maharani was sitting on 
a sofa at the further end of the room, gorgeously apparelled 
in rose-coloured gauze dotted over with golden spangles; 
her skirts were very voluminous, and she wore magnificent 
jewels on her head and about her person. Two Maids of 
Honour stood behind her, holding fans and dressed in the 
same colour as their mistress, but without jewels. On 
each side of her, forming a semicircle, were grouped the 
ladies of the Court, all arrayed in artistically contrasting 
colours ; they were more or less pretty and refined looking, 

and the Maharani herself was extremely handsome. My 
wife was placed by her side on the sofa, and carried on a 
long conversation with her through one of the ladies who 
spoke Hindustani and acten as Interpreter. The Maharani 
presented Lady Roberts with a beautiful little Chinese pug- 
dog, and the Maharaja gave me a gold-mounted kookri 
(Gurkha knife). After this little ceremony there was a 
grand display of fireworks, and we took our leave. 

Nothing could exceed the kindness we met with during 



452 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA [m 

our stay in Nepal. The Maharaja endeavoured in ereq 
way to make our visit enjoyable, and his brothers vied 
with each other in their efforts to do us honour. It mas  
impressed upon me that the Nepalese army waa a t  tbe 
disposal of the Queen-Empress, and hopes were repeatedly 
expressed that we would make use of it in the event of 
war. 

Notwithstandiilg the occasional differences which have 
occurred between our Government and the Nepal D u r b r ,  

I believe that, ever since 1817, when the Nepal war was 

brought to a successful conclusion by Sir David Ochterlonj. 
the Gurkhas have had a great respect and liking for 118 ; 
but they are in perpetual dread of our taking their coontq,  
and they think the only way to prevent this is not to 
allow anyone to enter it except by invitation, and to ineist 
upon the few thus favoured travelling by the difficult 
route that we traversed. Nepal can never be required 
by us for defensive purposes, and as we get our k t  
class of Native soldiers thence, everything should, I think. 
be done to show our confidence in the Nepalese alliance, 
and convince them that we have no ulterior designs on the 
independence of their kingdom. 

On leaving Nepal we made a short tour in the Punjab, 
and then went to Simla for the season. 

One of the subjects which chiefly occupied the attention 
of the Government at this time was the unfriendly attitude 
of the Ruler of Afghanistan towards us. Abdur Rahman 
Khan appeared to have entirely forgotten that he owed 
everything to us, and that, but for our support and levieh 
aid in money and munitions of war, he could neither have 

gained nor held the throne of Kabul. We refused to Sher 
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Ali much that we could have gracefully granted and that 
would have made him a firm friend, but in our dealings 
with Abdur Hahman we rushed into the other extreme, 
and showered favours upon him; in fact, we made too 
much of him, and allo\ved him to get out of hand. The 
result was that he mistook the patience and forbearance 
with which we bore his fits of temper for weakness, and 
was encouraged in an overweening and altogether unjustifi- 
able idea of his o\vn importance ; he considered that he 
ought to be treated as the equal of the Shah of Persia, and 
keenly resented not being allowed to communicate direct 
with Her Majesty's Ministers. 

In the hope of being able to establish more satisfactory 
relations with the Amir, Lord Lansdowne invited him to 
come to India, and, on His Highness pleading that his 
countr? was in too disturbed a condition to admit of his 
leaving it, the Viceroy expressed his willingness to 
meet him on the frontier, but Abdur Rehman evaded 
this arrangement also under one pretext or another. 
I t  we3 at  last proposed to send me with a Mission ae 
far as Jalalabsd, a proposal I gladly accepted, for I was 
sanguine enough to liope that, by personal explanation, I 
should be able to remove tlie suspicions which tlie Amir 
evidently entertained as to the motives for our action on the 
frontier, and to convince hill1 tliat our help in the time of 
his need must depend upon our mutually agreeing in what 
manner that help should be given, and on arrangements 
being completed beforehand to enable our troops to be 
rapidly transported to the tlireatened points. 

Abdur Rahmnn agreed to receive me in the autumn, and 
expreeeed pleasure at the prospect of meeting me, but 
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eventually he apparently became alarmed at the size of 
the escort by which the Government thought it necessary 
that I, as Commander-in-Chief, should be accompanied ; 
and, as the time approached for the Mission to start, he 
informed Lord Lansdowne that his health would not permit 
of his undertaking the journey to Jnlalabad. 

Thus the opportunity was lost to which I had looked 
forward as a chance for settling many vexed questions, and 
I am afraid that there has been very little improvement in 
our relations with Abdur Rahman since then, and that we 
are no nearer the completion of our plans for the defence 
of his kingdom thnn we were four years ago*-a defence 
which (and this cannot be too strongly impressed upon the 
Amir) it would be impossible for us to aid him to carry 
through unless Kabul and Kandahar are brought into 
connexion with the railway ~ystem of India. 

In the autumn, just before we left Simla, our friends 
bestowed upon my wife a farewell gift in the shape of a 
very beautiful diamond bracelet and a sum of money for 
her fund for ' Homes in the Hills, and Officers' Hospitals,' 
made doubly acceptable by the kind words with which 
Lord Ilansdome, on behalf of the donors, presented it. 
Shortly afterwards we bade a regretful adieu to our happy 
home of so many years, and made our way to the Punjeb 
for a final visit. 

We spent a few days at Peshawar, and then went to 
Rawal Pindi to be present at a Camp of Exercise, and see 

how the works under construction for the protection of the 

* I am not unmindful of the visit which Sir Mortimer Durand paid 
to Kabul after I hed left India, but on that occasion, I believe, the 
cluestion of the defence of Afghenietan wee not diecueaed. 
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arsenal were progressing. These works had been put in 
hand in 1890, when, according to my recommendation, it 
had been decided not to fortify Nultan. No place in the 
Punjab appeared to my mind to possess the same military 
value as Rawal Pindi, its strategical importance with 
regard to the right flank of the frontier line being hardly 
inferior to that of Quetta in relation to the left flank ; but 
of late the advisability of completing the works had been 
questioned by my colleagues in Council, greatly to my 
concern, for I felt that it would be unwise to leave the 
ehboration of the defences of such a position until war 
should be imminent.* 

In January, 1803, n series of farewell entertainments 
were organized for me a t  Lahore by the people of the 
Punjab, as touching as they were highly appreciated, and 

The works were stopped after I left India, but not, I waa glad to 
think, bofore the redoubts had been finished, with the communications 
thereto. The reasons given were that a change of plans was necessary 
for economy'~ sake, and that the construction of fortifications might 
induce the Natives to think we were doubtful of the continuance of our 
supremacy. As regarded the first, I explained that the totel outlay 
for works and a r t n t ~ ~ n e n b  was estimated a t  only E382,WPconsider- 
ably less than one hrrlf the coat of n nritish line-of-battle ship ; and M 

to the second, I urged that an argument of this sort against frontier 
defence0 would hardly benr examination ; that the possibility of 
external sttack wae freely diacuased in every newspaper ; that Russian 
movernenta and frontier difficulties were known and commented on in 
every bnzaar ; that the construction of fortifications in support of the 
Ruling Power had been an Oriental practice from time immemorial ; 
that o w  action in thin respect waa a t  leaet as likely to inetil the idea 
that we meant to retain our eastern poeeeseions at  any cost, as to give 
an impreanion of weakness ; that the progressive re-organization and 
mobilization of our arniy were well known to have reference to service 
beyond the frontier ; and that we had extended our confidence in this 
mpec t  to Native Princes by encouraging them to train their own 
troops and fit them to take their place in line with ours. 
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intensely gratifying. Amongst the crowds assembled in 
the Town Hall to bid me good-bye, 1 was greatly pleased to 
see, besides the Maharaja of Kashmir, Chiefs and men 
from beyond our frontier, from Kuram, from the confine8 
of Baluchistan, even from the wilds of Waziristan ; for 
their presence on this occasion I felt to be, not only a 
proof of their kindly feeling towards me personally, and of 
their approval of the measures for their safety and welfare 
that I had always advocated, but a very distinct sign of 
the much to be desired change that was taking place in 
the sentiments of the border tribes towards us as a nation. 

Four addresses mere presented to me, from the Sikh, 
Hindu, Nahomedan, and European communities of the 
Punjab, respectively, which I will venture to give in the 
Appendix, as I feel sure that the spirit of loyalty which 
pervades them will be a revelation to many, and a source 
of satisfaction to all who are interested in the country 
to which we owe so much of our present greatness, and 
which I conceive to be the brightest jewel in England's 
crown. 

I t  was a wonderful and moving scene upon which we 
looked from the platform of the Town Hall on this memor- 
able occasion, made up asit was of such different elements, 
each race and creed easily recognizable from their different 
costumes and characteristics, but all united by the same 
kindly desire to do honour to their departing friend, or 
comrade, for there were a great number of old soldiere 
present. 

At each place that we visited on our way to Calcutta 
there mas the same display of killdly regret at our de- 
parture; friends assembled to see us off at the railway- 
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stations, bands played ' Auld lang syne,' and hearty cheers 
speeded us on our way. 

In February we went to Lucknow for a few days, 
when the Talukdars of Oudh gave my wife and me an 
entertainment on a very splendid scale in the Wingfield 
Park, and presented me with an address* and a sword of 
honour. 

On our return to Calcutta, just before we left for England, 
the European community entertained me at a dinner, at 
which more than two hundred were present, presided over 
by Sir James Mackay, K.C.I.E., Chairman of the Calcutta 
Chamber of Commerce. Sir James was far too kind and 
eulogistic in speaking of my services, but for his appre- 
ciative allusion to my wife I could only feel deeply gratified 
and thankful. After dinner a reception was given to Lady 
Roberts and myself, a t  which the Viceroy and Lady Lans- 
d o m e  and all the principal Native and European residents 
of Calcutta were assembled. An addresst was presented to 
nie on this never-to-be-forgotten occasion, in which, to my 
supreme satisfaction, the Sative noblemen and gentlemen 
expressed their hearty approval of what had been done 
during my tenure of office as Commander-in-Chief to 
etrengthen the defences of the frontier and render the army 
in India efficient, and declared that ' we cheerfully bear 
our share of the cost, as in posaession of these protections 
against aggressions from without we believe all who dwell 
within the borders of the land will find their best guarantee 
for peace, and in pace  the best safeguard they and their 
children can possess to enable them to pass their lives in 

+ Given in the Appendix. t I l i d .  
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happiness and prosperity, and escape the misery and ruin 
which follow war and invasion.' 

We travelled to Bombay rid Jeypur and Jodhpur. At 
both places we were royally entertained by the Rulera of 
those states, and my staff and I were given exeellent sport 
amongst the wild boar, which was much enjoyed by all, 
particularly by my son, who, having joined the King's 
Royal Rifles at Rawal Pindi,  as attached to me as A.D.C. 
during my last six months in India, and had not before had 
an opportunity of tasting the joys of pig-sticking. 

At Jodhpur my friend the Maharaja Sir Pertap Sing 
gave us a signal proof that the ancient valour of the 
Rajputs has not deteriorated in the present day. I had 
wounded a fine boar, and on his making for some rocky 
ground, where I could hardly have followed him on horse- 
back, I shouted to Sir Pertap to get between him and the 
rocks, and turn him in my direction. The Maharaja 
promptly responded, but just as he came face-to-face with 
the boar, his horse put his foot into a hole and fell ; the 
infuriated animal rushed on the fallen rider, and, before 
the latter could extricate himself, gave him a severe wound 
in the leg with his formidable tushes. On going to his 
assistance, I found Sir Pertap bleeding profusely, but 
standing erect, facing the boar and holding the creature 
(who was upright on his hind-legs) at arms' length by h k  
mouth. The spear without the impetus given by the horse 
at full speed is not a very effective weapon against the 
tough hide of a boar's back, and on realizing that mine 
did not make much impression, Pertap Sing, letting go his 
hold of the boar's mouth, quickly seized his hind-lep, and 
turned him over on his back, crying : ' .Varo, ~ali i l ,  nlorof 
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(' Strike, sir, strike !') which I instantly did, and killed him. 
Anyone who is able to realize the strength and weight of 
a wild boar will appreciate the pluck and presence of mind 
of Sir Pertap Sing in this performance. Fortunately, my 
wife and daughter, who had been following the pig-stickers 
in a light cart, were close at hand, and we were able to 
drive my friend home at  once. The wound was found to be 
rather a bad one, but it did not prevent Sir Pertap from 
attending some tent-pegging and other amusements in the 
afternoon, though he had to be carried to the scene. 

A few months after my return to England the boar's 
head arrived, set up, and with a silver plate attached to it, 
on which was an inscription commelnorating the adventure. 

At Ahmedabad, where the train stopped while we lunched, 
I was presented with an address by the President and 
members of the Municipality, who, ' with loyal devotion to 
Her Imperial Majesty the Queen and Empress of India, to 
whose glorious reign we sincerely wish a continuance of 
brilliant prosperity,' expressed their hope that Lady 
Roberta and I would have ' a  happy voyage home and 
enjoyment of perfect health and prosperity in future.' 

The day before we left Bombay for England, the 
members of the Byculla Club gave me a parting dinner. 
It was with great difficulty I could get through my speech 
in response to the toast of my health on that occasion, for, 
pleased and grateful as I was at this last mark of friend- 
ehip and approval from my countrymen, I could not help 
feeling inexpressibly sad and deeply depressed at the 
thought uppermost in my mind, that the time had come 
to separate myself from India and my gallant comrades 
end friends, British and Native. 



460 FORTY-ONE Y E A R S  I S  INDIA [la 

In dwelling on the long list of farewell addresses and 
entertainments with which I was honoured on leaving 
India, I feel that I may be laying myself open to the 
charge of egotism ; but in writing of one's own experiences 
it is d a c u l t  to avoid being egotistical, and distasteful as it 
is to me to think that I may be considered so, I a d d  
rather that, than that those who treated me so kindly and 
generously should deem me unmindful or ungrateful. 

Thus ended forty-one years in India. No one can, I 
think, wonder that I left the country with heartfelt regret. 
The greater number of my most valued friendships had 
lwen formed there ; from almost everyone with whom I had 
lwen associated, whether European or Sative, civilian or 
soldier, I had experienced unfailing kindness, sympathr, 
end support ; and to the discipline, bravery, and devotion 
to duty of the Army in Lndia, in peace and war, I felt 
that I owed whatever success it was my good fortme to 

achieve. 
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Tan column WM composed as  follows : 
F Bsttery. A Brigade, K.H.A., commanded by Colonel 

\V. Sterling ... ... ... ... 
One quadron 10th Hussnrs, commanded by Major 

Hulkeley ... ... ... ... ... 
G Battery, 8rd Brigade, I1.;1., comlnanded by Major 

S y d n e y P m y  ... ... ... ... 
%d Battalion 8th Foot, commnnded by Colonel Barry 

... ... Drew ... ... ... 
Wing 72nd Highlanders, commanded by Lieutenant- 

Colonel F. Brownlow ... ... ... 
Total British troops ... ... 

l a th  Bengal Cavalry, c o i ~ ~ ~ n r u ~ d e d  by Colonel Hugh 
... ... &ugh, V.C. ... ... 

No. 1 Mountain Battery, commanded by Caphin Kelw 
7th Company Bengal Sappers and Miners ... ... 
2nd (Punjab Frontier Force) Infantry, commanded by 

Lieutenant-Colonel Tgndall ... ... ... 
6th (Punjab Frontier Force) Infantry, colnmanded by 

Major McQueen ... ... ... ... 
6th (Punjab Frontier Force) Ourkhee, commanded by 

Major Fitz-Hugh ... ... ... ... 
... alsr  Punjab Infantry, commanded by Major C d i s  
... B r d  Pioneers, conuuanded by Colonel Cnrrie 

29th h j a b  Infantry, commanded by Colonel J. J. 
Gordon ... ... ... ... ... 

... Total native8 ... 
Ctnrnd total . . . . . . . . .  

Men. 
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Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander Lindsay commanded the Artillery. 
Colonel iEneas Perkins was Commanding Royal Engineer. Colonel 
Hugh Gough commanded the Cavalry, Brigadier-Generals Cobbe 
(17th Foot) and Thelwall (21st Punjab Infantry) the two Infantry 
brigades. Major W. Galbraith (85th Foot) was histant-Adjutant- 
General ; Major H. Collett, Assistant, and Captains ' Dick ' Kennedy 
and F. Carr, Deputy-Assistant-Qmmastem-General. Captains O. 
de C. Morton and A. Scott, V.C., Brigade- Majors. Captain A. 
Badcock, Chief Commieeariat officer; Captain J. Colquhoun, R.A., 
Commissary of Ordnance; Major Moriarty, Captain Goad, and Lieu- 
tenant F. Maisey, Transport officers ; Captain A. Wynne (61st Foot). 
Superintendent of Field Telegraphs; Captain R. Woodthorpe, RE.. 
Superintendent of Surveys ; Deputy - Surgeon - General F. Allen, 
Principal Medical officer ; Rev. J. IV. Adam,  Chaplei.  
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ALIKHEL. 18th September, 1879. 

( h m n  the usual comphente.) Tour Highness's letter of the 28th 
Ranuean. with the enclosures from Herat and Turkestan, reached me 
last night. I have acquainted lnyself a i t h  the contents. I am glad to 
find your EIighness is in good health, but sorry to hear of the un- 
fortunate disturbances in your Highness's dominions. Your Highnees's 
letter, in original, has been sent with enclosures to His Excellency the 
Vicemy. I have already informed your Highness of the wiahes of Hie 
Excellency the Viceroy, and the reasons for the movements of the 
British troops, and I have requested your Highneua to send a confi- 
dential representative to my camp. I am awaiting a reply to that 
letter, and the amval  of your Highness's confidential representative. 
Ln the meantime I hnve sent a Proclmilntion to the tribes, and letters 

to some of the L o w  ~rtnlikr, your Hi~hncss  a subjects, to aesure 
those not concrrnrd in the hakful niwsacrc, and asking them for 
amistance in ca- and sr~pplics on payment. As it appears to me 
proper I should M o m  your Hi~hnrua.of what I have done, I enclose 
mpim of the Prochnation to the tribes and of my letter to the L o p  
maliks, and hopc that your Highucss m y  also isnue necessary orders 
for the furtherance of our p h s .  Rest assured of the support of the 
Government of India. 
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Notes of an interview between GENE- SIB FREDERICK ROBBBTS and 
the AMIR'S AGENTS, MUSTAUFI HABIBULLA KHAN and WAZIB SHAH 
Mff ioms~ KHAN. Dated ALIKEEL, 2ard September, 1879. 

AFTER compliments, General Roberts intimated to the Agents that at 
their desire he had granted them a second interview. H c  now requested 
them to be good enough to speak freely all that they wished him to 
know. 

The MUSTAUFI then spoke in the following fienuc : The interests of 
England and Afghanistan are the same, and thc Amir and his officieh 
are deeply grieved at  the late occurrences in Kabul. Moreorcr, the 
Amir is anxious to do whatever the British Government wishes, and 
most desirous that the dignity of the British Government should be 
maintained by any means which may seem proper to the Viceroy. But 
His Highness cannot conceal from himself that the mutinous troops 
and the people in gencral, ryots 8e well as  soldiers, are in fear of an 
indiscriminate revenge, which will fall alike upon innocent and guilty. 
H e  hopes, therefore, that measures will be taken to guard against the 
possibility of a general rising consequent on fear. 

The bfustaufi was here reminded of the tenor of General Roberta's 
Proclamation of 16th September. H e  answered that the people were 
too ignorant to be acted upon by a Proclamation, and then went on as 
foHows : 

Of course, it is possible that no such combination may take plnce. 
The Afghans are selfish, and divided against themeelvea Still, lest he 
should be blamed if it should occur, the Amir thinks it right to exprem 
his opinion, and give the British Government all the information in 
hi power. On the whole, his advice, aa an earnest friend, is that the 
advance of a British force on Kabul should be delayed for a short time 
('I Panjroz "). I n  the interval he will endeavour to dislvm the Regular 
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troops, raise new levies, and, by the aid of the latter, punirh all 
mncerned in the late abo~ninable outrage. Hie idea is to get rid of 
Sher Ali's soldiery-always a sourca of danger--and keep only 15,000 
men for the future. I t  would be very deeirable to delay the advance 
until he could establish his power. The Amir doea not mean to imply 
that any Afghan army, were it 60,000 strong, oould resiet the Britieh. 
The mutinoas troops have neither organization nor lendem. But the 
mutinous t m p e  are of all tribes ; and if the British army dentroye 
them, M it would undoubtedly do in caee of resiatanoe, the whole 
aountry may combine against the British and the Amir. I t  is for thin 
nnson that he advises delay, and that the punishment of the guilty be 
left to him. The Viceroy may rest assured that he will show no 
mercy. He will make an example which will be conepicuous in the 
eyes of the world aa the sun at  noonday. Already everyone in Kabul 
regardo the Amir se an infidel, because of the way in which he and his 
have thrown in their lot with the British Government 

Notwithstending all that bee been mid, however, thing8 might go 
right if the mutinous h o p s  would keep together and attempt a stand. 
But the Amir feam they will not do so. They aro more likely to 
s u t t e r  here and there, and raise the country. I n  that oese there will 
be constant attecks on the communications of the force, and the 
gathering of supplies will be di5cnlL They would come chiefly from 
h e  d i d o n  of Ghazni, partly also from Logar. If the triber rise it 
would be hard to collect them. Only one month remains before the 
oetting in of winter. Of course, it is impossible to say what may 
happen. There may be no opposition, and the Amir is in any c n ~  
ready to do what the British Government desires. But he feela it ia his 
duty to express his cltrong opinion that tho preaent seseon in unsuited 
for a forward movement. 

G ~ n a u .  ROBERTS replied that on behalf of the Vicaroy he 
thanked the Amir for hi kind advico, whioh he WM coddent  was the 
advice of a friend. H e  said the matter wan important, and required 
eueful consideration, and ~ k e d  whether the Agenb b d  anything 
more to bring forward. 

The & ~ W S T A U ~ I  then rpoke se follows : The Amir's advice to delay the 
advance is that of a sincere friend, m d  it in the best he can give. But 
if the Brit* Anny ia to march on Kabul, there in one thing more 
which I am desired to say : let it march in such strength aa to mush 
dl h o p  of mkhief ,  and put down all rebellion throughout the 
country. You cannot wait for reinforcements. If you come, you mnrt 
come in full strength-in sdlcient  strength to put down all opposition. 
There may be no oppoeition, but you cannot count on this. 

G n n r u ~  Boaxars replied : The Amir's advice is of great importance, 
VOL. n. 69 
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and must be carefully considered. When Hie H i g h  tl& wrote. 
announcing the outbreak a t  Kabul and d i n g  for help. the &.t 
desire of the Viceroy waa to send British forces without delay. I 
wee ordered to Kuram at once to lead the force here. Gimnl- 
taneously the Kmndahar force wee ordered by telegram to retorn 
to h d a h a r ,  which it wee then leaving, and to advrrnee t o 4  
Kelat-i-Qhilzai, and instructions were bed to collect a third toma 
at Peahawar; all this wae to help the Amir. The V i y  f ran  
the firat contemplated the possibility of such a general rising n tbe 
Amir now fears, and the several armies were, therefore, by HL 
Excellency's order, made up to such strength that dl Afghmirt.rr 
mmbined could not etcmd against them for a moment. The 5d .bu  
troop were ready in a very ahort time, and are now beyond hdrhu,  
on the road to Kabul.' The Peehawar foroe waa rapidly collected d 
puahed on ; and the Amir may reat easured that the British umy is 
advancing in ample strength I will think over the Amir'r dviee. 
nevertheleati, for it is important. But His Highness must remember 
that the late occurrences at Kabul do not affect only the En@ 
officer8 and the fifty or sixty men who were treechemnely killed-the 
honour of the English Qovernxnent is concerned ; and so long M the 
bodies of these officers and men remain unburied or uncared for in 
Kabul, I do not believe the English people will ever be sstisfied. They 
will require the advance of a British force, and the adequate punishment 
of the crime. Still, the Amir's advice, which I am convinced is that 
of a friend, must be carefully considered, and I will think over it d 
give an anewer later. 

The MUSTAUFI then said : We quite understand w h J  h~ been 
about the strength of the British army. Doubtless it in sufficiemt. 
all Afghanistan could not stand ageinst it. But the Amir d e d  nr to 
mention, what I have hitherto forgotten, that there are in Turk& 
24 regimente of Infantry, 6 of Cavalry, and 56 p a  These troop 
were the first to show a disaffected spirit at Mazar-i-Shad; and 
putting aside external enemies, there are Abdur Rahmrrn and the rrnr 
of Azim Khan waiting their chance. Herat again is doubtful ; when 
the troops there hear what haa occurred at Kabul, there is no mying 
what they may do. If Abdur Rahman ingratiates himaelf with thae 
people, Herat and Turkestan will be permanently severed horn the 
Afghan dominions. This is another reason why the advance of tbe 
British force should be delayed, in order that the Amir may have time 
to gain over the Herat and Turkestan troops. 

ORNEW ROBERTS replied: All theae reeaona will have fd ran- 
- - - - -- - . - - - - - - - - 

+ The Agenta here seemed surprieed and anxioua-H. M. D. 
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aderstion. The Viceroy's first order waa to push on a t  once to help 
the Amir ; but I am sure His Highness's advice is friendly, and that 
in any ease he will do his utmost to co-operate with the British 
Government Therefore every consideration will be given to what 
His Highneee h~ desired you to nay. 
The Musrrm: The Viceroy may be m e  the Amir will do what he 

pleases. 
The WAZIB : When the Amir learnt from General Roberta's letter 

that the Viceroy had given General Roberts powor to deal with the 
whole matter, he was very pleeeed, knowing General Roberta's character 
am a soldier and his kindnese of heart. 

Oanalw. ROBERTS replied that he would carefully comider the 
proposals brought forward, and give en answer later on. Meanwhile, 
he  must request the Agenta to stay e day or two in c m p  until ho 
mhonld have thoroughly weighed the Amir's advice, which was of the 
ntmoet importance to both the British and Afghan Governmenta. 

The interview then came to an end. 
(Signed) H. M. DURAND, 

Politioal Secretary to General Roberts, K.C.B., V.C., 
Commanding Kabul Field Force. 
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From LIEUTENANT-GENE- SIB F. &BEETS, K.C.B., V.C., Command- 
ing Kabul F k l d  Force, to A. C. LYALL, ESQ., C.B., Secretory to 
the Government of India, Foreign Dcp~tman t .  

KABUL, aand N o v d w ,  1879. 

1. I HAVE the honour to submit a brief account of an interview 
which took p h  between the Amir Yakub Khan and myself on the 
22nd October. The interview wee a private and informal one ; but 
recent events have lent some interest to what paased on the occasion, 
and I have, therefore, thought it desirable that a report should be 
prepared for the information of the Governor-General in Council. 

2. After nome conversation upon matters of no special importance, 
the Amir introduced his father's name, and thus gave me the 
opportunity I had often wished to have of leading him on to speak 
naturally and unconstrainedly about Sher Ali Khan's feelinp and 
policy during the last ten years. I waa most careful to avoid any 
expression of my own views upon the eubject in order that I might, if 
possible, obtain from the Amir a perfectly spontaneous and truthful 
account of the circumstances which led, in  his opinion, to Sher Mi's 
estrangement from ourselves and rcyrprochemmt to Rueeie. In this I 
think I succeeded. Yakub Khan spoke readily and freely of all that 
had paseed, and needed no question or suggestion from me to declare 
hie conviction regarding the cause of hie father's unfriendly attitude 
towards us during the paat few yeare. 

8. The substance of the Amir's statement waa aa follows : 
In 1869 my father waa fully prepared to throw in hie lot with yon. 

H e  had suffered many reverses before making himself secure on the 
throne of Afghanisten ; and he had come to the conclusion that his 
best chance of holding what he had won lay in an allienoe with the 
British Government. H e  did not receive from Lord Mayo ae k g e  a 



A P P E N D I X  ZV. 4% 
-- 

supply of arms and ammunition aa he had hoped, but, nevertheless, he 
returned to Kabul fairly satisfied, and so he remained until the visit of 
Saiyad Nur Muhammud to India in 1878. This visit brought matters 
to a head. The diaries received from Saiyad Nur Mahomed during 
his stay in India, and the report which he brought back on his return, 
convinced my father that he could no longer hope to obtain from the 
Britinh Government all the aid that he wanted ; and from that time he 
began to turn his attention to the thoughts of a Russian alliance. You 
know how thk ended. 
' When my father received from the Government of India the letter 

informing him that a British Mission waa about to proceed to Kabul, 
he read it out in durbar. The members of the Russian Embassy were 
present. After the reading waa finished, Colonel Stolietoff rose, saluted 
the Amir and d i e d  permission to leave Kabul. If permitted, he 
would, he said, travel without delay to Tashkent, and report the state 
of .flairs to General K a u h a n n ,  who would inform the Czar, and thus 
bring pressure to bear on England. H e  promised to return in six 
weeks or two months, and urged the Amir to do everything in his 
power meanwhile to prevent the British Mission from reaching Kabul. 

'Colonel Stolietoff never returned to Kabul. H e  lost no time in 
reaching Tashkent, where he remained for a few weeks, and he then 
started for Ruseie. 

'The Afghan official, Mirza Mahomed Hassan Khan, generally 
lmown M the " Dabir-ul-Mulk," who had travelled with Colonel 
Stolietoff from the Oxus to Kabul, accompanied him on his return 
journey to Tashkent. Here the Mirza wee detained under pretence 
that orders would shortly be received from the Emperor, until the news 
of my father's fight from Kabul reached General Kauffmann. H e  waa 
then permitted to leave. Two Aides-de-Camp were sent with him, one 
European, the other a Native of Bokhanr. 
' My father waa strongly urged by General Kauffmann not to leave 

Kmbd At the name time the members of the Embassy were ordered 
to return to Tashkent, the Doctor being permitted to remain with my 
father if his services were required. 
' Thmughout, the Rusaien Embeeey WM treated with great honour, 

and at  all stations between Mazar-i-Shariff and Kabul, orders were 
given for the troops to turn out, and for a salute to be fired on their 
u r i v d  and departure.' 

4. I cannot, of conree, vouch for the exact worde.used by Yakub Khan, 
but I am coddent  that the foregoing paragraph, which is written from 
notes taken at  the time, contaim a substantially accurate m r d  of the 
convmtion.  

6. I t  would be superfluous for me to advance any proof of the fact 
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that for one reason or another, Sher Ali did during the latter part of 
his reign fall away from us and incline towards an alliance with R u b .  
But I think the closeness of the connexion between Russia and Kabul. 
and the extent of the Amir's hostility towards ourselres, has not 
hitherto been fully recognized. Yekub Khan's statements throw some 
light upon this question, and they are confirmed by various circum- 
stances which have lately come to my knowledge. The prevalence of 
Russian coin and wares in Kabul, and the extensive military prepara- 
tions made by 8her Ali of late years, appear to me to afford an in- 
structive comment upon Yakub Khan's assertions. Our recent rupture 
with 8her Ali has, in fact, been the means of unmasking and checking 
a very serious conspiracy against the peace and security of our Indim 
Empire. 

6. The magnitude of Sher Ali's military preparations is, in my 
opinion, a fact of peculiar significance. I have already touched upon 
this point in a former letter, but I shall perhaps be excused for noticing 
it  again. Before the outbreak of hostilities last year the Amir had 
raised and equipped with arms of precision 88 regiments of Infantry and 
16 of Cavalry. The Afghan Artillery amounted to nearly 800 guns. 
Numbers of skilled artizane were constantly employed in the manufac- 
ture of rifled cannon and breech-loading small -. More than a 
million pounds of powder, and I believe several million rounds of home- 
made Snider ammunition, were in the Bale Hisser at  the time of the 
late explosion. Swords, helmets, uniforms, and other articles of 
military equipment were stored in proportionate quantities. Finally, 
8her Ali had expended upon the construction of the Sherpur canton- 
ments an astonishing amount of labour and money. The extent and 
cost of this work may be judged of from the fact that the whole of the 
troops under my command will find cover during the winter within the 
cantonment, and the bulk of them in the main line of rampart itealf, 
which extends to a length of nearly two miles under the southern 
and western slopes of the Bimaru hills. Sher Ali's original de ign  
wee apparently to carry the wall ontirely round the hills, a dietencs 
of nearly five miles, and the foundations wero already laid for s 
considerable portion of this length. All these military preparations 
were quite unnecessary except 8s a provieion for contemplated 
hostilities with ourselves, and it is difficult to underatand how their 
entire cost could have been met from the Afghan treasury, the gmtm 
revenue of the country amounting only to about eighty lacs of rupees 
per annum. 

7. I have referred to tho prevalence of Russian coin and wares in 
Kabul ee evidence of the growing oonnexion betweon RUE& and 
Afghanistan. I an1 unable to find proof that tho Czar's coin wss 
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introduced in any other way than by the usual channele of trade. I t  
is quite posaible that the bulk of it, if not the whole, came in gradually 
by this means, the accumulation of foreign gold in particular being 
considerable in this country, where little gold is coined. Nevertheless, 
it sooms to me a curious fact that the amount of Russian money in circu- 
lation should be so large. No less than 18,000 gold pieces wore found 
among the Arnir's treasure alone ; similar coins are exceedingly common 
in the city bazaar ; and greet numbers of them are known to be in p m s -  
sion of the Sirdars. Of course English goode of all kind0 are plentiful 
here-that is inevitable, particularly with a considersble body of Hindu 
merchants settled in the city, but Russian goode also abound. O h ,  
crockery, s i b ,  tee, and many other things which would seem to be far 
more e a d y  procurable from Indie than from Ruesian temtory, are to 
be found in great quantities. A habit, too, seems to have been growing 
up among the Sir- and others of wearing uniforms of Russian cut, 
Rusclian buttons, Russian boots and the like. Rueeian goods and 
R& ways seem, in fact, to have become the fashion in Afghanistan. 
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T r m l a t i o n e  of letters from GENER~L-ADJUTANT VON &uFFXUW, 
Goventor-General of Twkestan, to the address of ths Arra  o r  
APGEANISTAN, received on 10th Shuban, 1295, through G ~ ~ r a r u .  
STOLIETOFF, 9th Auguat, 1878. 

B e  it known to you that in these days the relations betwcen the British 
Government and ours with regard to your kingdom require deep con- 
sideration. As I am unable to communicate my opinion verbally to 
you, I have deputed my agent, Major-General Stolietoff. This gentlc- 
man is a near triend of mine, and performed excellent servioea in the 
late Rusm-Turkish war, by which he earned favour of the Emperor. 
The Emperor has always had a regard for him. H e  will inform you 
of all that is hidden in my mind. I hope you will pay great attention 
to what he says, and believe him aa you would myself, and, after due 
oonsideration, you will give him your reply. Meanwhile, be it known 
to you that your union and friendship with the Ruesian Government 
will be beneficid to the latter, and still more so to you. The advankges 
of a close alliance with tho Russian Government will be permanently 
evident. 

This friendly letter is written by the Govemor-General of Turkestan 
and Adjutant-General to the Emperor, Von K a d m m n ,  Tashkent, 
J a m d i a l  Akbar, 1296 (=June, 1878). 

To the AXIB of the whle of Afglranutm, SERB ALI KIULW. 
(After compliments.) Be it known to you that our relations with the 

British Government are of great importance to Afghanistan and ib 
dependencies. Aa I am unable to see you, I have deputed my truet 
worthy (official) General Stolieteff to you. The Genersl is an old 
friend of mine, and during the late Ruseo-Turkieh war euned the favour 
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of the Emperor by hie spirit and bravery. He has become well known 
to the Emperor. Thin trustworthy person will communicate to you 
what he thinke best. I hope you will pay attention to what he says, 
.nd  repow M much confidence in hie worda as if they were my own; 
d that you wi!l give your answer in this matter through him. In  the 
meantime, be it known to yon that if a friendly treaty will be of benefit 
to us, it will be of far greater benefit to yourself. 

Qrwrau, STOLIBTOPP rent the following Ictts*, on h b  return to Tash- 
kent from Kabul, b tha addrenn of tho Foreign Minietcr, WAZIB 
Saaa MAHOMED KHAN, dated 28rd of the holy month of Ramazan, 
1296 (= 2lat Septutnber, 1878). 

Thank God, I reached Tashkent safely, and at an auspicious moment 
paid my respect to the Viceroy (Yaroni Padishah means ' half king '). 
I a m  trying day and ~ i g h t  to gain our objects, and hope I shall be 
sncceaaful. I am starting to see the Emperor to-day, in order to inform 
His Majesty personally of our affairs. If God pleases, everything that 
in necessary will be dono and affirmed. I hope that thons who want 
to enter the gats of Kabul from the east tvill aee that tha door u 
cloned; then,  plcuse God, they will tremble. I hope you will give my 
respocta to His Highness the hllir. May God make his life long and 
increase his wealth ! May you remain in good health, and know that 
the protection of God will arrango our a e s  ! 

(Signed) GENERAL STOLIBTOFF. 

From G a ~ n a a ~  KAUYFXANN to the ~ I B ,  dated Tashkent, 8th Zekada, 
1296 (=22nd October, 1878). 

(After compliments.) Be it known to you that your letter, dated 
12th Shawal, reached me at  Tashkent on the 16th October, i.e., 
8rd Zekada, and I understood its contents. I have telegraphed an 
abstract of your letter to the address of the Emperor, and have sent 
the  letter itself, as also that addreseed to General Stolietoff, by post to 
Livadia, when? the Emperor now is. I am informed on good authority 
that the English want to come to terms with you ; and, M a friend, I 
dvise you to make peace with them if they offer it. 

Prom G ~ m u  STOLIBTO~ to W A Z ~  S a m  MAHOMED KHAN, datcd 
8th October, 1878. 

FL.t of all, I hope yon will be kind enough to give my respecb to the 
hmir. May God make his life long and incrcaee hie wealth I I shall 
d w a y  remember his roj-a1 hospitality. I am buey day and night in 
hh dab, and, thank God, my laboors have not been without m d t .  
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The great Emperor is a true friend of the Amir's and of Afghanistan, 
and His Majesty will do whatever he may think neceesary. Of corn, 
you have not forgotten what I told you, that the affairs of kingdoms 
are like a country which haa many mountains, valleys, and rivers. One 
who sits on a high mountain can see things well. By the power and 
order of God, there is no empire equal to that of our great Emperor. 
May God make his life long ! Therefore, whatever our Government 
advises you, you should give ear to it. I tell you the truth that our 
Government is wise as a serpent and harmless as a dove. Thew are 
many things which you cannot understand, but our Government under- 
stands them well. I t  often happens that a thing which is unpleasant 
a t  first is regarded as a blessing afterwards. Now, my kind friend, I 
inform you that the enemy of your famous religion wants to make 
peace with you through the Kaisar (Sultan) of Turkey. Therefore you 
should look to your brothers who live on the other side of the river. If 
God stirs them up, and gives the sword of fight into their hands, then 
go on, in the name of God (Bismilla), otherwise you ahould be as a 
serpent ; make peace openly, and in secret prepare for war, and when 
God reveals His order to you, declare yourself. It will be well, when 
the Envoy of your enemy wants to enter the country, if you send an 
able emissary, possessing the tongue of a serpent and full of deceit, to 
the enemy's country, so that he may with sweet worde perplex the 
enemy's mind, and +duce him to give up the intention of fighting 
with you. 

My kind friend, I entrust you to the protection of God. May God 
be the protector of the Amir's kingdom, and may trembling fall upon 
the limbs of your enemies ! Amen. 

Write to me soon, and send the letter to the aapitd. Please write 
in Arabic characters, so that I may be able to read your letter. 

From G ~ r n ~ n c  KAUFFYANN to the AYIB OF APOWISTAN, dated 80th 
Zckada (=26th November, 1878). 

(After compliments.) I was much pleased to receive your letter, dated 
'24th Zekada, 1296 (=18th November, 1878), and to hear of your good 
health. I have also received a copy of the letter which you sent to the 
Governor.GenerP1. May God be pleased with you. The British 
Ministen, have given a pledge to our Ambassador in London that they 
will not interfere with the independence of Afghanistan. I am directed 
by His Majesty the Emperor to communicate thin news to you, and 
then, after forming friendship, to go to H ~ B  Majesty. I intend to go to 
the Ruesian capital after I have arranged the afbim of this country 
(Turkestan). -4s I do not consider it advieable to keep your trusted 
otiicials, whom you are in want of, here any more, I send Mahollled 
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Haasan Khan, Kamuah (Deputy-Governor), and Gholam Haidar Khan, 
with two officers, back to you. I hope you will consider me a well- 
wisher of your kingdom, and write to me now and then. I hove given 
instructions that, until my return, every lcttcr of yours which they 
receive at  Tnrkestan should be fonvnrded to the capital. Your good 
fortune is a cause of happiness to me, and if any troubles come upon 
you, I also s h d  be grieved. Sorue presents have been sent by me 
through M i r ~ a  Mahomed Haaaan, Kamuah; perhaps they may be 
rccepted. 

Trawlation of a letter from GKNERAL KAUFFMANN lo GENERAL VOZ- 
OONOFF, dated Zel Hijja, 1296 (=December, 1878). 

The Amir knows perfectly well that it is hpoesible for me to assist hi 
with troops in winter. Therefore it is necessary that war should not 
be commenced a t  this unseasonable time. If the English, in spite of 
the Amir'e exertions to avoid the war, commence it, you must then 
h k e  leave of the Amir and start for Tashkent, because your presence 
in Afghanistan in winter is useless. Moreover, a t  such a juncture aa 
the commencement of war in Afghanistan, you ought to come here and 
explain the whole thing to me, eo that I may communicate it to the 
Emperor. Thie will be of p a t  benefit to Afghanistan and to Ruseia 

From G l r n ~ a a ~  K A U ~ A N N  to ths AMIB OF AFGHANISTAN, &fed 25th 
December, 1878 ( R ~ a k n ,  18th Muharran~,  1298). 

Pour letter, dated27th Zel Hijja (=20th November), 1878, haa reached 
me. I wan pleased to hear tidinge of your good health. The Emperor 
h.a caused the British Government to agree to the continuance of 
Afghan independence. The Englieh Ministen, have promised this. 
I m e e t l y  q u e s t  you not to leave your kingdom. As far aa possible, 
consider your own interests, and do not lose your independence. For 
the present come to terms with the British Government. If you do 
not want to go back to Kabul for this purpose, you can write to your 
m. Mahorned Yeknb Khan, to make peace with the English M you 
m y  direct hiru Do not leave the soil of Afghanistan a t  this time, 
because it will be of benefit to yon. My words ere not without truth, 
beesum your arrival in Russian temtory will make thing0 w o w .  

From GENBBAL KAUPFMANN to the AMIB OF AF~HANISTAN, rewived at 
Marir-GBharif on the 17th January, 1879. 

I have recei~ed your friendly letter, dated 18th Zel Hijja (-8th De- 
cember. 1878). In  that letter you d e d  me to send you M many troop 
ma could be got ready. I have written to you o letter to thc effect that 
the Emperor, on eccount of your troubles, had c o ~ ~ ~ u ~ u n i c a t e d  with the 
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British Government, and that the Russian A m b d o r  at London had 
obtained a promise from the British Ministers to the effect that they 
would not injure the independence of Afghanistan. Perhaps you sent 
your letter before you got mine. Now, I have heard that-you have 
appointed your son, Mahomed Yakub, as your Regent, and have come 
out of Kabul with some troops. I have received an order from the 
Emperor to the effect that it is impossible to assist you with troop 
now. I hope you wil l  be fortunate. I t  all depends on the decree of 
God. Believe me, that the friendship which I made with yon will be 
perpetual. I t  is necessary to send back General Vozgonoff and his 
companions. You can keep Dr. Yuralski with you if you please. No 
doubt the doctor will be of use to you and to your dependents. I hope 
our friendship will continue to be strengthened, and that intercourse 
will be carried on between us. 

From GENE- QUWN to the Axm SHER ALI, dabd 29th Decm- 
ber, 1878 (=17th Muharram, 1296). 

(After compliments.) The Foreign Minister, General Gortchakoff, ham 
informed me by telegraph that the Emperor has directed me to trouble 
you to come to Taahkent for the pr&ent. I therefore communicate 
this news to you with great pleasure ; at the same time, I may mention 
that I have received no instructionasbout your journey to St. Petersburg. 
My personal interview with you wil l  increase our friendship greatly. 

Translation of a letter from MAJOB-GENBU I V ~ O P F ,  G o v m  of 
ZarafeJm, to thu Heir-Apparent, MMiorn~~ MUSA KE.u~, and 
ofhere. 

On the 26th of Rabi-ul-Awul, at  an auspicious moment, I received 
your letter which you sent me, and understood its contents. I was 
very much pleased, and at once communicated it to General K a d -  
mann, the Governor-General. With regard to what you wrote about 
the friendly relations between the Russian and Afghan Governments, 
and your own desire for friendship, I have the honour to state that we 
are also desirous of being friends. The friendship between the two 
Govcmmente oristed in the time of the late Amir, and I hope that it 
will be increased and strengthened by Amir Mahomed Yakub Khan. 

May God change the wars in yonr country to happiness ; may peeoe 
reign in it ; and may your Government be strengthened ! I have bean 
forwarding all your letters to the Governor-General, General KadTmmn. 
May God keep you safe ! 

The Zarafshan Province Governor, 
MAJOR-G~NERAL I v m o n .  

Written and sealed by the General. 
Written on 29th Mart (March), 1879 (=6th Rabi-ul-Saui, 1298). 
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T r d y  between the RUSSIAN G O V E B N ~ N T  and Axm Sam ALI KEAN ; 
w r i t h  from memory by Mmza MAFIOYED NAEBL 

1. The Russian Government engages that the friendship of the 
Russian Government with the Government of Amir Sher Ali Khan, 
Amir of all Afghanistan, will be a permanent and perpetual one. 

2 The Russian Government engagee that, ss Sirdar Abdulle Khan, 
son of the Amir, is deed, the friendship of the Russian Government 
with any person whom the Amir may appoint Heir-Apparent to the 
throne of Afghanistan, and with the heir of the Heir-Apparent, will 
remain firm and perpetual. 

8. The Ruaeian Government engages that if any foreign enemy 
sttacks Afghanistan, and the Amir is unable to drive him out, and asks 
the sesistance of the Rneeian oovernment, the Rueaian Government 
d repel the enemy, either by means of advice, or by such other means 
M it may consider proper. 

4. Tho Amir of Afghanistan will not wage war with any foreign 
power without condt ing  the Ruaeian Government, and without it8 
permission. 
6. The Amir of Afghanistan engages that he will always report in a 

friendly manner to the Russian Government what goes on in his 
kingdom. 

6. The Amir of Afghanistan will communicate every wish and im- 
portant affair of his to General Kentfmann, Governor-General of 
Tnrkeatm, and the Governor-General will be authorized bx the Ruaeian 
Government to fultil the wishes of the A m i r  

7. The Ruesian Government engages that the Afghan lncrchanta who 
may trmde and sojourn in Ruaeian temtoty will be aafo from wrong, 
emd that they will be allowed to carry away their profits. 

8. The Amir of Afghanistan will have the power to send his sewanb 
to Rnssis to learn arb and trades, and the Russian o5cera will treat 
them with consideration and respect M men of rank. 

9. (Does not remember.) 
10. I, Major-General Stolietoff Nicholas, being a trusted Agent of the 

Rnesian Qovernment, have made the above-mentioned Articlos between 
the Rueeien Government and the Government of Amir Sher AU Khan, 
m d  have put my sesl to them. 
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Letter porn SIBDAB ABDUB RAEMAN KHAN to LEPBL GRIPTIN, Esq., 
dated 16th April, 1 W .  

Wasmm at this happy time I have received your kind letter. In  a 
spirit of justice and friendship you wrote to inquire what I wished in 
Afghanistan. My honoured friend, the servante of the great [British] 
Government know well that, throughout these twelve yeara of exile in 
the territories of the Emperor of Russia, night and day I have cherished 
the hope of revisiting my native land. When the late Amir Sher Ali 
Khan died, and there was no one to rule our tibee, I propoeed to 
return to Afghanistan, but it was not fated [that I should do so] ; then 
I went to Tashkent. Consequently, Amiu Mahomed Y h b  Khan, 
having come to tarma and made peace with the British Government, 
wan appointed Amir of Afghanistan ; but since, after he had left you, 
he listened to the advice of every interested [dishonest] person, and 
raised fools to power, until the ignorant men directed the afiairr of 
Afghanistan, which during the reign of my grandfather, who had 
eighteen able sons, was so managed that night wae bright like day, 
Afghanistan was, in consequence, disgraced before all. States, and 
ruined. Now, therefore, that you seek to learn my hopes and wishes, 
they are these : that as long as your Empire and that of Russia exist, 
my countrymen, the tribes of Afghanistan, should live quietly in erse 
and peace ; that these two States should find us true and faithful, and 
that we should rest at peace between them [England and R&J for 
my tribesmen are unable to struggle with Empires, and are ruined 
by want of commerce; and we hope of your friendship that, gym- 
pathizing with and assisting the people of Afghanistan, you will pl.ce 
them under the honourable protection of the two Powers. This would 
redound to the credit of both, would give peece to Afghanistan, and 
quiet and comfort to God's people. 

This in my wish ; for the rest, it is youre to decide. 
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Letter from A. C .  LYALL, E~Q. ,  C.B., Secretary to tho Cfouernmcnt of 
India. Foreign Department, to LEPEL H .  G ~ ~ F X N ,  EsQ., C.S.I., 
Chief Political O f l u r ,  Kabul, dated Simla, April, 1880. 

I HA- the honour to inform you that the Governor-General haa 
received and considered in council your telegrams of the 22nd and 
a8rd instant, forwarding the translation of a letter received by you 
from S i i a r  Abdur Rahman on the 21st instant, together with a 
smmaqy of certain oral explanations which accompanied that letter, 
and a etatement of the recommendations suggested by it to Lieutenant- 
General Sir Frederick Roberta and youreelf. 

I n  conveying to you ite instructions on the eubject of this im- 
portent communication, the Government of India considers it expedient 
to recapitulate the principles on which it has hitherto been acting in 
northern Afghanistan, and clearly to define the point of view from 
which it contemphtee the present situation of &mire in that country. 
The aingle object to which, 8s you are well aware, the Afghan policy 
of thin Government haa at  ell timea been directed and limited, is the 
security of the North-West frontier of India. The Government of 
India hes, however, no less invariably held and acted on the con- 
viation that the security of this frontier is incompatible with the 
intrunion of any foreign influence into the great border State of 
Afghanistan. To exclude or eject such influence the Government of 
India haa frequently subsidized and otherwise assisted the Amire of 
Kabul. I t  hna dm, more than once, h k e n  up arms against them. 
But it hss never interfered, for any other purpose, in the affairs of 
their kingdom. Regulating on this principle and limiting to this 
objeat the conduct of our relations with the rulers of Kabul, it waa our 
long-continued endeavour to find in their friendship and their strength 
the requite guarantees for the aecarity of our own frontier. Fdling 
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in that endeavour, we were oompelled to seek the attainment of the 
object to which our Afghan policy wna, and is still, exclusively directed, 
by rendering the permanent security of our frontier as much as posible 
independent of such conditions. 

This obligation waa not accepted without reluctance. Not eren 
when forced into hostilities by the late Amir Sher Ali Khan'e espousal 
of a Russian alliance, proposed by Russia in  contemplation of a 
rupture with the British Government, did we relinquish our desire for the 
renewal of relations with a strong and friendly Afghan Power, and, when 
the son of Sher Ali subsequently sought our alliance and protection, they 
were at  once accorded to him, on conditions of which His Highness 
professed to appreciate the generosity. The crime, however, which 
dissolved the Treaty of Gandamak, and the disclosures which followed 
that event, finally convinced the Government of India that the interests 
committed to its care could not but be gravely imperilled by further 
adhesion to a policy dependent for its fruition on the gratitude, the 
good faith, the assumed self-interest, or the personal character of any 
Afghan Prince. 

When, therefore, Her Majesty's troops re-entered Afghaniatsn in 
September last, it wes with two well-defined and plainly-avowed 
objects. The first was to avenge the treacherous maasacre of the 
British Mission at  Kabul ; the second was to maintain the safeguards 
sought through the Treaty of Gandamak, by providing for their main- 
tenance guarantees of a more substantial and less precarious character. 

These two objects have been attained: the first by the capture of 
Kabul and the punishment of the crime committed there, the eecond 
by the severance of Kandahar from the Kabul power. 

Satisfied with their attainment, the Government of India hee no 
longer any motive or desire to enter into fresh treaty engagements 
with the Rulers of Kabul. The arrangements and exchange of friendly 
aasurancos with the Amir Sher Ali, though mpplemented on the part 
of the Government of India by subsidies and favours of various kinds, 
wholly failed to secure the object of them, which was, nevertheless. 
B thoroughly friendly one, and no less conducive to the security and 
adventago of the Afghan than to those of the British Power. The 
treaty with Yakub Khan, which secured to him our friendship and 
material support, was equally ineffectual. Moreover, recent events 
and arrangements have fundamentally changed the situation to which 
our correspondence and engagements with the Amir of Afghanistan 
formally applied. Our advance frontier positions at  Kandahar and 
Kurtun have matcrially diminished the political importance of Kabul 
in relation to India, and although we shall always appreciate the 
fiendship of ita Huler, our relations with him are now of m little 
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importance to the pnra~nount objects of our policy that we no longer 
require to maintain British agentn in m y  part of his dominiore. 

Our only reasons, therefore, for not immediately withdrawing our 
forces from norther0 Afghanistan have hitherto been-firet, the excited 
and unsettled condition of the country round Kabul, with the attitude 
of hostility assumed by eome leaders of armed gathering near Ghazni; 
and. u e a d l y .  the inability of the Kabul Sirdare to agree among them- 
e lves  on the selection of a Ruler strong enough to maintain order 
after our evacuation of the country. 

The first-named of these reasons haa now eeeeed to exist. I n  s 
minuto dated the aOth ultimo, the Viceroy and Governor-General 
stated that ' the Government is anxious to withdraw 8s soon aa possible 
the troop from Kabul and from all points beyond those to be ocmpied 
under the Treaty of Gaudamak, except Kandahar. In order that thin 
may be done, it is desirable to find a Ruler for Kabul, which will be 
mparated from Kandahar. Steps,' continued Hie Excellency, 'are 
being taken for this purpose. Meanwhile, it is essential that we 
should make such a display of strength in Afghanistan as will show 
that we are mseters of the situation, and will overawe dim5ection.' . . . 
' All that is necessary, from a political point of view, is for General 
Stewart to march to Ghazni, break up any opposition he may find 
there or in the neighhourhood, and open up direct communication with 
General Sir Frederick Roberts a t  Kabul.' The military operations t h m  
defined have been accomplished by General Stewart's successful action 
before Ohazni 

With regard to the second reaaon mentioned for the retention of our 
voop in northern Afghanistan, the appearance of Abdur Rahman se a 
candidate for the throne of Kabul, whose claims the Govenunent of 
Lndia has no causc to oppose, and who seems to be approved, and 
likely to be supported, by at  least a majority of the population, affords 
fair ground for anticipating that our wishes in regard to the restoration, 
before our departure, of order in that part of the country will now be 
fdi l led.  

The Governor.General in Council has consequently decided that the 
evacuation of Kabul shall be effected not later than October next, and 
i t  is with special reference to this decision that the letter and meeaage 
.ddremed to you by Birdar Abdur Rahman have been carefully oon- 
sidered by His Excellency in Council. 

\+%at fimt claims notice in the conaideration of that letter is the deaire 
that it cxpreboes for the permanent establishment of Afghanistan with 
our aesiatance and syn~pathy under the joint protection of the Britieh 
m d  I l u e e h  Empirua This suggestion, which is more fully developed 
in the SirJsr's unwritten message, cannot be entertained or diineeed. 
VOL. XI. 63 
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As already stated, the primary object and declared determination 
of the Government of India have been the exclusion of foreign influence 
or interference from Afghanistan. This cardinal condition of amicable 
relations with Afghanistan has, a t  all times and in all circumstances, 
been deemed essential for the permanent security of Her Majesty's 
Indian Empire. As such, it  has hitherto been firmly maintained by 
successive Governors-General of India under the explicit instructions 
of Her Majesty's Government. Nor haa it ever been ignored, or 
officially contested, by the Russian Government. That Government, 
on the contrary, has repeatedly, and under every recent change of 
circumstances in Afghanistan, renewed the assurances ~olemnly given 
to the British Government that 'Russia considers Afghanistan 8e 

entirely beyond the sphere of her influence.' 
I t  is true that negotiations at one time pessed between the two 

Governments with a view to the mutual recognition of certain tem- 
tories as constituting a neutral zone between their respective spheree 
of legitimate influence and action, and that a t  one time it was proposed 
by Russia to treat Afghanistan itself as a neutral temtory. Those 
negotiations, however, having proved fruitless, the northern frontier of 
Afghanistan was finally determined by mutual agreement, and in 1876 
the Russian Government formally reiterated its adherence to the con- 
clusion that, ' while maintaining on either side the arrangement come 
to as regards the limits of Afghanistan, which is to remain outside the 
aphere of Russian action, the two Cabinets should regard aa terminated 
the discussions relative to the intermediate zone, which promised no 
practical result.' 

The position of Afghanistan as defined and settled by these engage- 
ments was again distinctly affirmed on behalf of the Queen's Govern- 
ment by the Marquis of Salisbury in 1879, and the Government of 
India unresemedlj maintains it in the fullest conviction of its essential 
necessity for the penceable protection of Her  Majesty's Indian 
dominions. I t  is therefore desirable that you should take occanion to 
inform Abdur Rahman that the relations of Afghanistan to the British 
and Russian Empires are matters which the Government of Indin 
must decline to bring into discussion with' the Sirdar. The Afghan 
states and tribes are too contiguous with India, whose North-Western 
frontier they surround, for the Government of India ever willingly to 
accept partnership with any other Power in the exercise of ite legiti- 
mate and recognized influence over those tribes and Statee. 

The Governor-Genera1 in Council is, nevertheless, most anxious that 
the Sirdar should not lnisunderstand the light in whioh his p e r s o d  
sentiments and obligations towards Russia are regarded by the 
Government of India. So long aa tho Rulers of Kabul were amenable 
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Lo i b  edvice, this Government has never ceased to impress on them 
the international duty of scrnpulously respecting all the recognized 
Wb and interests of their Russian neighbour, refraining from every 
not calculated to afford the Ruesian authorities in Central Asia any 
just cause of umbrage or complaint. The intelligence and good sense 
which are c o ~ p i c u o u s  in tho Sirdar's letter and messages to you will 
d l e  him to appreciate the difference between conduct regulated on 
them principlm and that which cost Sher Ali the loss of his throne. 
This Government does not desire, nor haa it ever desired, to impom on 
any Ruler of Kabul conditions incompatible with that behaviour which 
Brrssia, M a powerful and neighbouring Empire, is entitled to expect 
from him; least of all can we desire to i~npose soch co~ditions on a 
Prince who has received hospitality and protection in Russian territory. 
I am therefore to observe that, in the natural repugnance expressed 
by Abdur R ~ h m s n  to conditions which ' might make him appear un- 
grateful' to those ' whose salt he has eaten,' the Governor-General im 
Council recognizes a sentiment altogether honourable to the Sirdar, 
d perfectly oonsistent with the sincerity of his profeased goodwill 
torvds oumlves. 

These observations will furnish you with a sufficient answer to the 
question asked by Abdur Rshman as to the ' nature of our friendship ' 
and ' ita conditions.' 

The frankness with which he haa explained his position entitles him 
to receive from us a no less unreserved statement of our own. The 
Government of India cordially shares the wish expressed by Abdur 
Fhhman that, between the British and Russian Empires, his 'tribes 
and countrymen may live quietly in ease and peace.' We do not 
dedre to place them in a position of unfriendliness towards a Power 
which ia pledged to us to regard their country as ' entirely beyond the 
sphere of its action.' The injury to Afghan commerce caused by the 
pretwnt condition of Afghmistan, to which the SirdRr has alluded, L 
fully appreciated by the Government of India, and on the restoration 
of jmace between the two countries the revival and development of 
trde intercourw need present no difficulty. As regards our own 
triendship, it will, if sincerely mught, be freely given, and fully oon- 
tinued so long ea it is loyally reciprocated. But we attech to it no 
other condition. We have no conccseiona to ask or make, and the 
Sirdar will therefore perceive thet there is really no matter for 
negotiation or bargain between him and us. 

On thin point your reply to Abdur Rahmen cannot be too explicit. 
Revioue to the Yirdar's wrival in Turkestan, the hostility and 
tmechery of those whose misconduct he admits end deplores had com- 
pelled the Government of India to make territorial arrmgcmenta of a 
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material and permanent character for the better protection of our 
frontier. The maintenance of these arrangemente ia in no wiw 
dependent on the w e n t  or dissent, on the good-will or ill-will, of m y  
Chief a t  Kabul. The character of them has been so fully explained by 
you to all the other Kabul Sirdars that it is probably ad known to 
Abdur Rahman. But in order that our present intercourse and fntnm 
relations with the Sirdar may be perfectly clear of doubt on a point 
affecting the position he aspires to fill, the Governor-General in C o d  
authorizes you, if necesaary, to make him pleinly understand thsl 
neither the district assigned to us by the Treaty of Gandamak, nor rsy 
psrt of the province of Kandahar, will ever be restored to the Kabul 
Power. 
AE r e p &  this last-mentioned province, the Government of India 

hee been authorized by that of Her Majesty to give to Sher Ali Khan, 
the present Wali of Kandahar, a distinct assurance that he will be 
not only recognized, but maintained, by the British Government as the 
Ruler of that province. Sher Ali Khan ia one of the Native noblea of 
Kmndahar. H e  is administering the province with ability, good aense, 
and complete loyalty to the British Govemment, which hea promined 
him the support of o British garrison so long 8a he reqniree such 
support. The Governor-General in Council cannot doubt that Sirdar 
Abdur Rahman will readily recognize the obligation incumbent on tbe 
honour of the British Govenunent to keep faith with all who, whehca 
at Kandahar or elsewhere, have proved themselves true and logo 
adherents. Yakub Khan forfeited our alliance, and with it hia throne, 
by mistrusting the assurances we gave him, and falsifying those which 
he had given to us. If, misled by his example, Yakub Khan's mc- 
cessor attempts to injure or oppress the friends of the British Govern- 
ment, its power will again be put forth to protect or avenge them. 
S i i a r l y ,  if the next Kabul Ruler reintroduces into hia Court or 
country foreign influences adverse to our own, the Government of 
India will again take such steps as it may deem expedient to deal with 
such a case. These contingencies, however, cannot occur if the senti- 
ments of Abdur Rahman are such as he repreeents them to be. 
Meanwhile, the territorial and administrative arrangemente already 
oompleted by us for the permanent protection of our own interests are 
not susceptible of negotiation or discussion with Abdur Rahman or m y  
other claimant to the throne of Kabul. 

To the settlement of Herat, which is not included in these oompleted 
arrangements, the Governor-General in Council cannot authorize you 
to make or invite any reference in your reply to Abdur Rahman. The 
settlement of the future administration of Herat has been undertaken 
by Her Majesty's Government; with those present views in regad 
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to thie important question, the Government of India is not yet 
rquainted. 

Nor can our evacuation of Kabul constitute any subject for p r o p o d  
in your correspondence with the Sirdar. This meaeure wae determined 
on by the Government of India long before the appearanoe of Abdur 
Rahman an a candidate for the government of the country we are 
h u t  to evacuate. I t  haa not been caused by the hostility, and is not, 
therefore, conditional on the goodwill, of any Afghan Power. 

The Government of India is, however, very willing to carry out the 
evacuation of Kabul in the manner most conducive to the personal 
advantage of Abdur Rahman, whose interests we believe to be, more 
than those of any other Sirdar, in rtccordence with the general interests 
of the Afghan people. For this reason it is desirable that you should 
inform Abdur Rahman of our intention to evacuate Kabnl, and our 
desire to take that opportunity of unconditionally transferring to his 
authority the whole of the country from which our troops will be 
withdrawn. You are authorized to add that our military and political 
officers at Kabnl will be empowered to facilitate any practical arrange- 
ment suggested by the Sirdar for promptly and peaceably effecting, in 
ao-operation with him, the transfer thus contemplated on his behalf. 
Such arrangement must, however, be consistent with our obligations 
towards those who have served and aided the British Government 
during our occupation of those territories. 

For this purpose, it appears to the Governor-General in C o u n d  
desirable that thc Sirdar should lose no time in proceeding to Kabul, 
and there settling, in conference with General Stewart and yonreelf, 
mch preliminary arrangements as may best promote the undisturbed 
estsblishment of his future government. 

The Governor-General in Council hae, however, no desire to press 
this suggestion, Bhould it appear to the Sirdar that his presence at  
Kabul, previous to the withdrawal of our troops for the purpoee of 
persod oonference with the British authorities, might have the effeot 
of weakening his popularity, or compromising his position in the eyes 
of his future subjects. 

The point is one which must be left entirely to the Sirdar's own 
judgment and inclination. 

But Abdur Rahman is doubtlese aware that there are at  present, in 
and around Kabul, personages not destitute of influence, who them- 
d v e s  aspire to the sovereignty he eeeks, and that the family of Yaknb 
hes still numeroue personal adherents, who may possibly take advantage, 
of the withdrawal of our troops to oppose the Sirdar's authority if he 
ia not personally present to assert it. 

It should on both Bides be remembered and understood that it  ia not 
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the policy of this Government to impose upon the Afghan people a n  
unpopular Ruler, or to interfere uninvited in the a d m i n i i t i o n  of a 
friendly one. If Abdur Rahman proves able and disposed to conciliate 
the confidence of his countrymen, without forfeiting the good under- 
standing which he seeks with ns, he will -redly find his best eupport 
in o w  political appreciation of that fact. Our reason for unmnditionany 
transferring to him the government of the country, from which our 
forces will in any case be withdrawn a few months hence, is that, on 
the whole, he appears to be the Chief beet able to restore order in t h d  
country, and aleo best entitled to undertake wch  a task. In his 
performance of it he wil l  receive, if he requires it, our assistance. But 
we neither need nor wish to hemper, by preliminary stipulations or 
provisoes, his independent exercise of a sovereignty ,which he deelaran 
himself anxious to maintain on a footing of peace and friendship with 
the Britieh Government. 

The present statement of the views and intentions of His Excellency 
the Governor-General in Council reepecting Abdur Rahman will enable 
you to represent them with adequate accuracy in your reply to the 
Sirdar's friendly overtures, and it will now be your duty to convey to 
Abdur Rahman, without any avoidable delay, the amwer of the 
Government of India to the letter and message received from him. 
His Excellency feels aseured that you will give full expression to the 
spirit of candour and goodwill in which these communications have 
been received and are reciprocated. 

But I am to impress on your attention the importanoe of avoiding 
any expression which might appear to suggest or admit matter for 
negotiation or discussion in reference to the relative poeitions of the 
Sirdar and the Government of India. 

I n  conclueion, I am to request that on receipt of this letter you will 
be eo good as to lose no time in submitting its contents to Generd 8ir 
Donald Stewart, should he then have reached Kabul. In any cam, 
yon will, of course, communicate them to General Roberta, and .et 
upon them in consultation with the chief military authority on the 
spot. 
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(Referred to at p. 323.) 

Extract from a Report by LIEUTENANT-GENERAL SIB FREDERICK 
R o a a a ~ s ,  V.C., K.C.B., to the QUABTERXASTER - GENERAL IN 

INDIA, dated Kabul, 17th April, 1880. 

a. I THWX I haye now dealt with all the pointe of military import- 
ance connected with the military position in northern Afghanistan, but 
there .re a few questions of more general interest which I desire to 
bring to the notice of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief and the 
Government of India. 

28. First with regard to rations. The daily scale of inme to Native 
troops is given in the margin. I t  hrrs 

Doily o f N d i n  sdtfirrs: been found throughout the campaign, 
Attag - - l2 chittackst even when the rncn were employed h l l :  - - 2 
(;hi# . - I upon hard work, that ' 12 chittacks ' of 
1 - - $ ,, ' atta ' daily are amply sufficient for the 
lien' - - Ib' bi-aeeklJ' Native troops, supplemented, as of lab, Bum - - 1 dmni ,, 

through the liberality of Government, 
by a bi-weekly iseue of 1 lb. of mat: In  a climate- like Afghanistan. 
where the inhabitants are all meat-eaters, this liberality has been moat 
wiw. Every endeavour was made, before this sanction was granted, to 
supply the Native portion of the force with meat on payment, and I 
attribute to this in p e a t  meaeure the sound health andexcellent stamina 
whioh they now exhibit. 

With regard to the issue of rum, I would suggest that it should not 
be h u e d  free to Native troop, except under exceptional c i r c u m s t a n ~ ~ .  
of fatigue and weather, but that the Commissariat Department should 
be authorized to have in store a sutficiency of rum to admit of a bi- 
weekly h u e  to such t roop  as drink the spirit, o n  paynrent, and then 

- - - - -- - .  - .  

Flour. t A chittack =2 ounces. 
$ A kind of pea. Q Clarified butter. 
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only on the recommendation of the Medical Officer, and under the 
~ ~ n c t i o n  of the General Officer commanding. On all occ~sions when 
rum is sanctioned, either free or on payment, those who do not partake 
of spirits should be allowed a ration of tea and sugar under similar 
conditions. 
27. The scale of rations for Native followers requires no alteration. 
a8. The European rations now under issue in Kabul are 8s per 

Daily ration of 
European soldicta : 

Meat- - - 1) lb. 
Bread - - 1* ,, 
Vegetables - 1) ., 
Rice - - - 4 oz. 
s a l t  - - - 4 ,, 
Tea - - - g , ,  
Sugar - - 3 ,, 
Run1 - - - I dl.  

margin, and with reference to them I would 
make the following remarks: The increase of 
4 lb. in bread and meat is, in my opinion, very 
desirable, for not only is the meat, as a rule, on 
senice inferior to that served in cantonments. 
but the extras which can be procured from the 
coffee-shop are not here forthcoming. When 
the vegetable ration consist8 of potatoes, 1 lb. 
is suflicient, but when it is made of mixed v e p -  

tablee 1+ lb. is necessary. The substitution of dall for any portion of 
the veeetable ration I consider undesirable. " 

Tinned soups and meats and biscuita are most valuable, and should 
be liberally supplied to every force in the field. They are portable md 
liked by the men, to whom they furnish a very welcome change of 
diet. I would very strongly recommend that a much larger irsue of 
theee articles than has hitherto been sanctioned should be provided. 

29. A question which has arisen during this campaign, and which 
may crop up again, has been the provision ol tirewood for 
cooking to Native troops and followers. Throughout the 

winter firewood could not be purchased at Kabul, and it was absolutely 
neoessery to issue it to these men. This was done a t  the rate of one 
ae~-+ per man, but this a~nount  is not arbitrary, aud might, under 
certain circumstaneea, be diminished. Since roads were re-opened and 
markets re-established the issue of wood has been diecontinued In 
framing any future rules for the guidance of a force in the field, the 
queetion of providing firewood through the Commissariat Department 
for Native troops and followera, free or on payment, should be vested 
in the General Officers commanding. , 

80. The scale of clothing authorized by Government for Xative 
troops and followers was found, 'even in the rigorous climate of 
Afghanistan, to be most liberal, except that during the very cold& 
weather a second blanket was required. This want I was able to meet 
from stock in hand, and 8s the weather became milder these extra 
blankets were withdrawn ~ n d  returned into store. Warm stockings, 

* A seer=2 lb. 
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too, are very necessary in a climate where frost-bite is not uncommon ; 
fortnnstely, Rome thousands were procured locally and issued to 
followers. The ordinary Native shoe of India, aa provided by the 

Commiesariat Department, is utterly unfitted for a country 
such as Afghanistan. Major Badcock will send to Peshawar 

(where they can eaaily be made up) a pattern Kabali shoe, which I am 
aonvinced would be found admirably suited for Native troops and 
followere crossing the frontier. We are now dmoet entirely dependent 
on  the local market for our shoes. 

A large supply of English-made ammunition boob should alwnye 
accompany a force in the field, in order to allow 

Ammunition lmta. those Natives who use them, and who are often 
crippled by wearing other descriptions of shoe, to obtain them on pay- 
m&t at  the moderate rate now fixed, viz., Re. 4 per pair. 
The country-made waterproof sheets, though slightly heavier, have 

proved themselves quite as serviceable, if not Inore 
W.tsproof'heeta so, than the English-made ones. 

At the close of the campaign, I would very strongly recommend that 
m intelligent committee should be required to go thoroughly into these 
questions of clothing for troops, British and Native, and for followers. 
I would elso suggest that when a decision is nrrived at, maled pt te rne  
of every article approved should be deposited at  all manufacturing 
centres and in all the large jails, eo that when certain articles are 
required they need only be called for, and precious time (often wanted 
in reference and correspondence) saved. 

81. The number of doolie-bearers with t l ~ e  two divisions of the 
Kabul Ficld Force now at  Kabul is 8,686, with the very 

Doolie~lnuers' moderate sick report of 85, or 1 per cent. of strength. 
Doolien and dandies are distributed aa follows : 

troops doolies, 8 per cent. 
dandies, 2 per cent. 
dooliee, 2 per cent. 

trmpa { dandies, 8 per cen l  

-a percentage which I consider sufficient for field-service, as, in the 
event of any unusual number of casualties, transport animals could 
md would be d e  use of, and it is most undesirable to increaae 
the number of followers. 
The Luahai dmndy for this eort of warfare is much prefcrable to the 

carpet or dhume dandy, aa it can be made into a 
Luahri dandy' bed, and men are not so liable to fall out of it. 

Bowke's doolie is very good, but liable to get out of order, and 
clifficult to repair when broken; the ordinary kind is 

Boartc's doolie. fairly good and serviceable. 
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84. I would urge that in future all field-service tents should be made 
after the pattern of the Mountain Battery tent, 

Field-service tents. 
single fly for Natives, double for Europeanq and 

that the poles should be constructed on the telescopic principle ; that is, 
that no thinning of the wood where it entors the socket should be 
allowed either on uprights or ridge-pole, and that the old system of 
paring away should be abandoned. Instead, the upper section should 

- sit flat on the lower. Doubtless the sockete will have to be longer and 
stronger than thoee now in use, but this is the only means by which 
tents can be adapted to mule and pony carriage, which will no doubt in 
future ware be our chief means of transport. 
85. The Waler horses of the Cavalry and Artillery have efood the 

strain renlarkably well, considering the hard work and 
Waler horaea. 

great exposure they have had to bear, and also that for 
a considerable time they were entirely deprived of green food. I feel 
sure this information kill be most satisfactory, seeing that, for the 
future, the Artillery and Cavalry in India must mainly depend upon the 
Anetralian market for their remounts. 

84. A8 there are eome minor pointe of detail which might advan- 
tageously be considered by those who have 

Committee to m r d  sugges- 
tions on equipment. had the experience of recent service, I 

have convened a committea, with Colonel 
MacGregor, C.B., aa President, which will take suggeetions and 
record opinions regarding packing tramport snimnln, equipment, kit, 
dress, etc., of both offieen, and men of the several branches of the 
service. From the constitution of the committee, I feel certain that 
their recommendations cannot but be valuable, and I hope to have the 
honour of submitting them shortly for the consideration of Him 
Exoellency the Commander-in-Chief. 
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The following general instructions for the guidance of Brigadier- 
h e r d s  and Oficere in Colnrnand of columns are publiehed by order 
of Hb Excellency the Commander-in-Chief in India : 

let.-Columne sent out for the pacification of a district, or in p d t  
of particular gang of b i t s ,  muat be amply provided and 
able to keep the field for ten days at leest. To enable this 
to be done without employing an undue number of tranrport 
animnla, it is necessary that every endeavour be ~nmde to 
obtain grain for Cavalry horses and Transport poniee from 
the villages passed through ; careful inquiry must be made 
M to where supplies can be obtained locally, and the line 
of advance determined accordingly. Arrangemenb must 
be made for replenishing the enpply when neceesary from 
depob which must be formed at convenient centres when 
the nature of the operations may necessitate it. Theee 
depob should be puehed forward from time to time M the 
troop advance. The work of a column obliged to return to 
it8 bese of supply before it haa had an opportunity of com- 
pleting the object of the expedition must be more hrrrmtnl 
then beneficial, M i b  fsilure emboldens the enemy and 
weakens the confidence of the people in our power to proteot 
them and to reach the offendere. 

W.-Where two or more columns are acting in concert, the de t ab  
of time and place of movement should be settled beforehand 
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with the greatest nicety, and the commanding offioem of 
all such columns should be provided with the same msp, 
or tracings from them, so that subsequent changes of pbn, 
rendered necessary by later information, may be understood 
and conformed to by all. Officers commanding ao1umn.n 
must do their utmost to get into, and keep up, cornmunic8- 
tion with onc another. This can be effected by: 

Visual signalling, 
Spies and scouts, 
Patrolling. 

&d.-Movements to be executed in concert with the t roop  in othar 
brigades or commands, or likely to tell directly or indirectly 
on the districts commanded by other officers, will be fully 
communicated to those officers, both beforehand and when 
in progress. 

4th.-Brigadier- Generals are empowered to give very liberel m 
muneration for the effective service of guides and for 
information involving danger to thoso who give it. They 
may delegate this power to selected officers in detached 
commands, but a close watch must be kept on expenditure 
under this head. Opportunities should be afforded to timid 
informers who are afraid to compromise themselves by 
entering camp to interview officers at  some distance out 
and in secrecy. 

6th.--Cavalry horses and Mounted Infantry ponies must be saved m 
much as is compatible with occasional forced and rapid 
marches. On ordinary occasions the riders should dia- 
mount, from time to time, and march alongside of their 
horses or ponies. 

6th.-The special attention of all officers is called to the careful 
treatment of pack-animal, and officers in command of 
columns and parties will be held strictly responsible that 
the animals are properly loaded for the march, saved m 
much as possible during it, and carefully attended to md 
fed after it. O5cers in command will ascertain by drily 
personal supervision and inspection that these orden are 
carricd out. 

7th.-It must be remembered that the chief object of traversing the 
country with columns is to cultivate friendly reletions with 
the inhabitants, and a t  the same time to put before them 
evidences of our power, thus gaining their good-will .nd 
their confidence. I t  is therefore the bounden duty of 
commanding o5cors tcr m e r t a i n  that the troop6 under 
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their command are not permitted to injure the property of 
the people or to wound their susceptibilities. 

6th.-The most injurious accounts of our intontiom have been 
ciraulated amongst, and believed by, the people, and too 
much pains cannot be taken to eradicate this impreanion, 
and to assure the people both by act and word of our good- 
will towards the law-abiding. Chief men of districts ahodd 
be treated with oonsideration and distinction. The wcceee 
of the present operations will much depend on the tent with 
which the inhabitants are treated. 

9th.- When there is an enemy in arms against British rule, d 
arrangements must be made not only to drive him from his 
position, but also to surround the position so as to i d i o t  
the heaviest loss possible. Resistance overcome without 
indioting punishment on the enemy only emboldene him to 
repeat the game, and thus, by protracting operations, costa 
more lives than a severe lesson promptly administered, even 
though that lesson may cauae some casualties on our side. 
Arrangements should be made to eurround villagee and 
jungle retreats with Cavalry, and aftarwarda to hunt them 
closely with Infantry. In  the pursuit the broadest margin 
possible will be drawn between leaders of rebellion and the 
professional h i t  on the one part, and the villagem who 
have been forced into combinations against us. B o h  and 
leaders will generally be found heading the column of 
fugitives, and a portion of the Cavalry should be directed to 
p m u e  them without wasting time over the rank and file of 
the enemy. 

10th.-Unlese otherwise ordered, columm of occupation ehould move 
in short marchee, halting at  the principal towns and villeges. 
This will giva civil officers opportunities for becoming 
thoroughly acquainted with their districts, and give military 
oflicers time to reconnoitre and sketch the country. 

11th.-\\'here troope are likely to be quartered for some time. 
bamboo platforms should be erected to keep the men off the 
ground. Tents, if afterwards provided, can be pitohed on 
the platforms. 

1Yh.-The greatest latitude will be allowed to Brigndier-Gene& 
and officers in local command in ordering and carrying out 
movements for. the pacification of their districts. They 
will, however, report as fully as poseible all movements 
inteuded and in progrees, through the regular channel, for 
the information of Hie Excellenoy the Commander-in-Chief. 
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18th.-Civil officers will be detailed under the orders of the Chief 
Commiesioner to accompany columns. As they are in a 
position to reward loyalty and good service, they will be able 
to obtain more reliable guides and intelligence then the 
military officers can hope to get. The Chief Commiesioner 
h w  authorized selected Burmane, men of position who m y  
look for official appointments, being employed aa econb by 
the civil officers of districts and being attached to a o l u m ~ .  - 
These scouts should wear some distinguishing and con- 
spicuous mark or badge to prevent them b e i i  fired on by 
the troops. They should not be cmlled upon to take the 
front when approaching on unbroken enemy, or when 
ambuscades may be expected, but their services will be 
most valuable in gsining information, and later in hunting 
down the individuals of a broken-up gang. 

14th.-Absolute secrecy must be maintained regarding movement. 
against the enemy and every device resorted to to min- 
lead him. 

16th.-When civil officers accompany columns, all prisonem will 
be handed over to them for disposal. When no civil 
officer is present, the officer commanding the column will. 
ez ofieio, have magiaterial powers to inflict punishment 
up to two years' imprisonment, or 110 leshes. Wenden 
deserving heavier punishment must be reserved for dispmd 
by the civil officers. a 

16th.--Officers commanding columns wil l  be held responsible that 
the troops are not kept in unhealthy districts, snd that, 
when a locality has proved itself unhealthy, the troops are 

removed at  the earliest possible opportunity. Military 
officers are responsible for the location of the troop. The 
requisitions of civil officers wil l  be complied with, when- 
ever practicable, but military officers are to judge in dl 
matters involving the military or sanitary s & b & t y  of a 
position. 

17th.-In the class of warfare in which we are now enguged, whom 
night surpriees and ambuscades are the only formibbb 
tactics of the enemy, the greatest care muat be taken b 
ensure the safety of the C&FI at night. To meet -bus- 
cades, which usually take the form of a volley followed by 
flight, and which, in very dense jungle, it mey be impoenibb 
to discover or guard against by means of flankers, Hir 
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief would whh thr 
following plan to be tried : Supposing, for inatence, tbs 
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tke of the enemy to be delivered from the right, a portion 
of the force in kont should be ready to dash along the 
road for 100 yards, or so, or until some opening in the 
jungle offers itself. The party should then turn to the right 
and sweep round with a view to intercepting the enemy in 
his flight. A party in rear should similarly enter the jungle 
to their right with the Bsme object. The centre of the 
column would hold the ground and protect the baggage or 
any wounded men. The different parties must be previoudy 
told off, put under the command of selected leaders, and 
munt act with promptitude and desh. Each party must be 
kept in compnct order, and individual firing must be pro- 
hibited, except when there is a clear prospect. Pant 
experience suggests the adoption of some such plan an the 
above, but in guerilla warfare officers must suit their 
tactice to the peculiar and ever-varying circumstances in 
which they may find themselves engaged 

l a - T h e  Government have ordered a general disarmament of the 
country, ae m n  es the large bands of rebels and dacoita 
are dispersed. The orders for this dinarmament direct that 
all firearms are to be taken from the people, but that a 
moderate number may be returned to reeponeible villagers 
who are loyal and are able to defend themselves. No fire- 
erms will be returned moo under registered licenses; and 
licenses will be given only for villages which can produce a 
certain number (6 to 10) guns, and are either stockaded or 
fenced again~t sudden attack. The duty of disarming liee 
on civil officers and the police; but an it is desirable h t  
the disarmament should be e5ccted as quickly as possible. 
officers commanding posts and columns will give such 
d t a n c e  aa may be in their power in carrying it out. 
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To HIS EXCELLENCY TEE RIOHT HONOURABLE FREDBRICK BIBOH 
ROBBETS OF KANDAHAR AND WATEBPOBD, BART., V.C., G.C.B.. 
G.C.I.E., R.A., Commander-in-Chief of Her Majaty'a Form 
in India. 

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY, 
We, the undersigned, representing the Sikhs of the Panjab. 

moat respectfully beg to approach Tour Excellency with this humble 
address of farewell on Your Lordship's approachiig departure from 
this country. We cannot give adequate expression to the variotu 
idem which are agitating our minds a t  this juncture, relating r 
they do to the past, present, and future, making us feel, a t  one and 
the same time, grateful, happy, and sorrowful. The success which 
Your Excellency haa achieved in Asia is such as makes Indin and 
England proud of it. The history of the British Empire in India 
has not, a t  least for the last thirty years, produced a hem like 
Your Lordship, whose soldier-like qualities are fully known to the 
world. The country which had been the cradle of Indian invseionr 
came to realize the extent of your power and recognized your 
generalship. The victories gained by Sale, Nott, and Pollock in 
the plains of Afghanistan have been shadowed by those gained by 
Your Excellency. The occupation of Kabul and the glorioqs battle of 
Kandahar are among the brightest jewels in the diadem of Your 
Lordship's Baronage. Your Excellency's achievements checked the 
aggressive advance of the Great Northern Bear, whose ambitious 
progress received a check from the roar of a lion in the person of 
Your Lordship ; and a zone of neutral ground has now been fixed, and 
a line of peace marked by the Boundary C o d s s i o n .  The strong 
defences which Your Excellency has  provided on the frontier add 
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mother bright stone to the building of your fame, and constitute in 
themselves a lasting memorial of Your Excellency's martial skill. 
Never had any British General to face more arduous tasks, and none 
bas proved more completely succeseful in overcoming them than Your 
Lordship. The result is that India haa been rendered safe from the 
fear of invasion from without. Your Excellency is not only adorned 
with heroic qualifications, but the love and dection with which the 
people of India regard Your Lordship show what admirable qualities 
are exhibited in the person of Pour Excellency. Terrible in war and 
merciful in peace, Pour Excellency's name haa become a dread to the 
enemies of England and lovely to your friends. The interest which 
Your Lordship has always taken in the welfare of those with whom 
you hare worked in India is well known to everybody. The Sikhs in 
particular are, more than any other community in India, indebted to 
Pour Lordship. \ire find in Pour Excellency a true friend of the Sikh 
aommunity-a community which is alwaye devoted heart and soul to 
the service of Her Most Gracious Majesty tho Empress of India  No 
one understands better than Pour Excellency the value of a Sikh 
soldier, and we feel very grateful that the military authorities recognize 
the necessity of requiring every Sikh recruit to be baptized according 
to the Silih religion before edmission to the Army-a practice whioh 
nukes  the Sikhs more true and faithful, and which preservee the 
existence of a very useful community. The Sikhs are said to be born 
.oldiere, but they undoubtedly make very good citizens in time of 
peace also. Unfortunately, however, they have had no oppottunity of 
fully developing their mental powors, so aa to enable them to advanoe 
with the spirit of the age. We thank God that Your Excellency waa 
among those wllo most-desired to see the Sikhs refined and educated 
bg es~bliuhing a Central College in the Punjab for the use of the Sikh 
people, and we confidently hope that the Sikhs, of whom a large 
portion is under Your Excellency's couunand, will give their mite in 
support of this national seminary. The subscriptions given by Your 
Lordship, His Excellency the Viceroy, and His Honour the late Lieu- 
tenant-Governor, were very valuable to the Institution, and the Sikhs 
u e  highly gratified by the honour Your Excellency has lately given to 
the b;halria Diwan by becoming its honorary patron. In conclusion, we 
beg only to repeat that it is quite beyond our power to state how much 
we are indebted to Your Excellency, and how much we are affected by 
the new8 that Tour Lordship will shortly leave this land. The very 
I& of our separation from the direct contact of so strong and 
affectionate a leader, aa Your Excellency undoubtedly is, makea ur 
feel very sorrowful ; but aa our hearts and prayers will always be with 
you and Lady lbberts, we shall be oonaoled if Your Excellency would 
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only keep us in your memory, and on arrival in England aaanra H a  
Most Gracious Majesty, the Mother-Empm, that all Sikhs, whether 
high or low, strong or weak, old or young, are heartily devoted to hez 
Crown and her representatives in this country. Before retiring. we 
thank Your Excellency for the very great honour that has been done 
to the people of Lahore by Your Lordship's vieit to thin oity. 
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To HIE E x c u ~ l m c ~  GENERAL THE RIGHT HONOURABLE FEEDBRICK 
BABON ROBERTS OF KANDAHAI~ AND WATI(RFOBD, BART., V.C.. 
O.C.B., O.C.I.E., R.A., Commander-in-Chief of Her Majerty'r 
F o r m  in India. 

MAY rr PLEASE YOUB EXCELLBNCY, 
We are proud to h d  in Tour Lordship's presence to-day on 

b e W  of the Hindus of the Punjab, the loyal subjecta of the Qaeen- 
Empress, who appreciate the countless blessings which British Rule 
h.a conferred upon this country, to give expression to the feelings of 
gratitude which are uppermost in their hearta. We feel it really en 
honour that we are able to show our eppreciation of Britiah Rule in the 
preaence of the eminent soldier and statesman who hee taken an 
importaot part in making the India of to-day what it is-wntented 
within and strengthened egeinst aggression from abroad. The Punjab 
k the province where the military strength of the Empire is being 
concentrated, and the bravery of the warlike races inhabiting it, whioh 
tarnish the flower of Her Gracious Majesty's forces of the Army in 
In&, has been conspicuously dieplayed on several occesions during 
the k t  thirty years. We, Hindus, have availed ourselves the most of 
the facilitier which British Rule hee provided for the progrecls of the 
people in conunercial enterprise, educational advanae, and political 
progress. We are, therefore, all the more proud that we have been 
allowed to-day to greet in person the mighty soldier, the sympethetio 
Commander, and the aegacious Statesman, the record of whose dia- 
t inpished career in the Eaat is virtually the hietory of nearly half e 
century of glorious victoriee-victoriee both of peace and war-achieved 
by the British Power in Asia, to rhow how intenee in our gratitude 
towards the Queen-Empress and one of her eminent reprosentativos in 
India, who have striven to do their duty by the people of this country 
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and done it to the satisfaction of the people and of their Gracions 
Sovereign. The interests of India and England are identical, and the 
Hindus of the Punjab regard British rule as a Providential gift to thie 
country-an agency sent to raise the people in the scale of civilization. 
Anything that is done to guarantee the continuance of the preeent 
profoundly peaceful condition of the country is highly appreciated by 
us, and we are, therefore, all the more grateful to Pour Lordship for 
all that your courage, foresight, ssgacity, and high statesmanship have 
been able to achieve. At a time when all the races and communities 
inhabiting this frontier province, which has been truly described aa the 
sword-hand in India, are vying with each other in showing their high 
appreciation of the good work done by Your Excellency, of which not 
the least significant proof lies in the arrangement for the defence of 
the country at all vulnerable points of the frontier, the Hindus are 
anxious to show that they yield to none in the enthusiasm which 
marks the demonstrations held in your honour. But Your Excellency 
commands our esteem and regard on other grounds also. The deep 
interest that you have throughout your career felt in the welfare of the 
sepoy, and the closest ties of genuine friendship which you have 
established with many a notable of our community, have laid us under 
deep obligations to Your Excellency. The encouragement that yon 
have given to the organization of the Imperial Sewice Troops of the 
Native States is also gratefully appreciated by us ; and only the other 
day we were gratiied to learn the high opinion Your Excellenoy 
entertained of the appearance and military equipment of the Imperial 
Service Troops of Jammu and Knahmir, the moet important Hindu 
State in this part of India. We should be wanting in duty, we feel, 
did we not on this occasion give expression to the great regret which 
the news of your approaching departure from India has.caueed among 
the Hindus of the Punjab, who feel that they are parting from a kind 
friend and a sympathetic Ruler. At the same time, we feel that the 
country will not low the benefit of your mature experience and wim 
counsel for long ; for we are hopeful that you may some day be called 
upon to guide the helm of the State in India, a work for which yon are 
so specidly fitted. I n  conclusion, we have only to pray to the Father 
of All Good that H e  may shower Hie choicest blessings upon yon and 
your consort--that noble lady who has, in addition to cheering you in 
your hard and onerous work in India, herself done a great deal for the 
comfort of the soldier and the eepoy, and that H e  may grant you many 
years of happy life-a life which has done so much for the Queen- 
Empress's dominions, and which may yet do much more. 
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To Hm EXCELLENCY OSNBRAL TEE RIGHT HONOUBABLE FREDEBICK 
Bmmr Boaasm OF KANDAEAB AND WATERFORD, BART., V.C., 
G.C.B., G.C.I.E., R.A., Concmander-in-Chkf of Her Majmty'a 
Forcu in India. 

MAT IT PW YOUR EXCELLENCY, 
We, the Mahomedane of the punjab, have dared to approach 

Your E x d e n c y  with this addreee with eyes tear-bedimmed, but a 
faax smiling. The departure of a noble and well-beloved General like 
yourself from our country ia in itself a fact that naturally fills our eyea 
with m. What could be more sorrowful than this, our farewell to 
ul old ofeeer and patron of ours, who haa paseed the prominent 
portion of his life in our country, developed our young progeny to 
bravery and regular soldiery, decorated them with honourn, and 
aterbd them to high titles? Your Excellency's separation is the 
hvdsr to b e u  for the men of the Punjab because it is our Punjab that 
k proud of the fact that about forty years ago the foundation atone of 
dl your famous and noble achievements, which not only Indis, but 
England, rightly boastn of, wae hid down in one of its frontier citiea, 
md rhrt the greater part of your indomitable energies wae spent in the 
Punjab frontier defence. If, therefore, we are sad at separating from 
Your Excellency, it will not in any way be looked upon ae strange. 
But hew feelink of sorrow are mixed with joy when we soe that the 
useful officer whom in 1852 we hexl welcomed at Pcahawar, when the 
star of his merits waa beginning to rise, departs from us in splendour 
and glory in the capecity of the Commander-in-Chief of the Armies of 

vut Empire like India, and is an example of the highest type to all 
ddiera. This addresa in too brief for a detail of all the meritorious 
.e r r i~  rendered by your Excellency in the Punjab, India and other 
tasign countria from that early epoch to this date. Your zeal in the 
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Mutiny of 1867, your heroic achievements in the A b p d n h  and 
Afghan wars, your repeated victories of Kandahar, and your sbtea- 
manlike conduct of the Burma wars--all these are feob which deserve 
to be written in golden chareoters in the annals of Indian h i i r y .  
Your appointment es legislative and executive member of the Supreme 
Council of the Government of India for a considerable period hu 
proved a source of blessings to the whole of India, and Your Excellency 
deserves an ample share of the credit due to the Council for all its 
useful regulations and reforms. The great liking that men of noble 
birth in India have been showing for some time towarb  military 
aervice is a clear demonstration of the exoellent treatment received at 
your hande by military oflcere, es in the reforms made by yon in the 
militery pay and pension and other regulations. Another boon for 
which the Nativea of India will always remember your name with 
gratitude, ie that you have fully relied upon, and placed your 00x1- 

fidence in, the Natives, thus uniting them the more firmly to the 
British Crown, making them more loyal. and establishing the good 
relations between the Rulers and the ruled on a h e r  footing to their 
mntual good. Especially es Muesalmans of the Punjab are we proud 
that before Your Excellency's departure yon have had the opportunity 
of reviewing the Imperial Service Troops of the Mahomedan StrCe of 
Bhawalpur, one of the leading Native Statea of tho Punjab,  who^ 
Ruler's efforts to make his t r o o p  worthy to take their place by the 
mde of British troops for the defence of India is only one instanae of 
the spirit of active loyalty which we are glad to say animates the 
entire M u s s a h  community of the Punjab. Disturbances ari6ing 
from foreign intrusions are not unknown to us, and we have not 
d c i e n t  words to thank your Lordship for the admirable mmagement 
of the frontier defence work carried on to protect our country from dl 
possiblc encroachments. The greatest pleasure and satisfaction, how- 
ever, that we Mahoxnedans feel in presenting this addreee to Your 
Lordehip emanates from the idea that you go on your way home to 
your native country with a high and favourable opinion of the 
Mahomedans of India, true and loyal subjects to Her Majesty the 
Queen - Emprese, whose number exceeds six crores, and who .re 
rapidly growing. During the Mutiny of 1867 the Chieftaim .nd 
soldiers of our nation spared neither money nor arms in the reduction 
and submission of the rebols. Your Lordship is also aware wh& 
loyalty waa displayed by the Mahomedans of India during the Atghrn 
and Egyptian wars, waged against their own co-rcligioniab, and the 
cheerfulness shown by them in following your Lordehip in dl your 
victories. Frontier services, such as the Kabul Embasay and the 
Delimitation Commission, rendered by the officers of our creed ue 
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.Lo well known to you. We are therefore s a n g m e  that Your Lord- 
mhip'n own o b m a t i o n  will enable all the member0 of the Ruling race 
in India to form an opinion of the relations that exist between us and 
the British Crown. The Mehome- of India and the Punjab are 
proud of being the devoted subjects of the Queen-Empress. I n  so 
acting we perform our religious duties, for our sacred religion enjoine 
upon ns faithfulnese and obedience towards our Ruling monarch, and 
rerrehes ns to regard the Chrietians aa our own brethren. The regard 
and esteem which we should have, therefore, for a Christian Govern- 
ment, M that of our k i d  mother the Queen-Empress, needs no 
demonstration. Although, for certain reawns which wo need not 
&tail here, our nation hes been deficient in education, and we have 
been left much behind in obtaining civil employment, we hope that 
your long experience of our service will prove a good testimonial in 
hvour of the warlike spirit, military genius, and loyalty of our nation, 
and if the circle of civil employment has become too straitened for us, 
the military line will be generously opened to us. We do not want to 
encroach npon Your Lordship's valuable time any further. We therefore 
finish our address, offering our heartfelt tha& to your Lordship for 
all those kindnesses you have been wont to show during your time 
tow& India and Indians in general, and the Punjsb and Punjabii in 
particular, and take leave of Your Lordship with the following prayer: 

May God bless thee wherever thou mayst be, nnd niay thy generoeitien 
continue to prevail npon us for a long time.' While actuated by thcee 
eelings. we are not the less aware that our country owea a great deal 
to Lady Roberts, to whom we beg that Your Excellency will convey 
our heartfelt thaukn for her lively interest in the welfare of Indian 
~ l d i e r e  in particudar and the people generally. I n  conclusion, we 
winh Your Excellencies God-speed and a pleesant and safe voyage. 
That Your Excellencies may have long, happy, and prosperous lives, 
and achieve ever no many more distinctions and honours, and return 
to us very ahortly in a still higher position, to confer upon the 
E m p h  the bleesings of a beneficent Rule, is our henrtfelt and most 
sincere prayer. 
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To HIS EXCELLENCY GENERAL TEE RIGHT HONOUBABL~ FREDBBICX 
BARON ROBERTS OF KANDAEAB AND WATEBFOED, BART., V.C.. 
O.C.B., O.C.I.E., R.A., Cornllucn&r-dn-Chief of Her blajuty'a 
Forcea in India. 

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY, 
We, the representatives of the European community in the 

Punjab, ere the prouder to-day of our British blood, in that it linb us 
in oloee kinship to one who hee so bravely maintained the honour of 
the British Empire alike in the years of peace and storm that India 
hes seen during the last three decedea During the Mutiny Your 
Excellency performed feats of gallantry that are historic. Since then 
your career has been one of brilliant success end growing military 
ranown. Whenever, in the histories of war, men apeak of famous 
marches, that from Kabul to Kandahar comes straightway to the l ip .  
When our mind turns to military admiiatration. we remember the 
unqualified success of Your Excellency's career as Quartermaster- 
General and as Commander-in-Chief of Her Majesty's Forces in Indi., 
in both of which high offices you have added honour and glory to your 
greet name, which will never be forgotten in India  When the privats 
soldier, rightly or wrongly, thinks he has a grievance, his desire is only 
that somehow it may be brought to the notice of Tour Excellency, 
from whom, through experience, ho expects full justice and generous 
sympathy. \\'hen we look towards our fronticr and see the strategic 
railways nnd r o d s ,  and the strong places of srnls that threaten the 
invader, we hiow that for tllose safeguards the Empire is in no s n ~ d  
degree indebted to tlie resolute wisdoni of Tour Excellency ns military 
adviser to the Governiuent of Inilia. Last, but not least, as n Statee- 
man, Tour 12rcellency ranks second to none in the Ellipire in the 

.opinion of your countrymen in this North-West frontier province; 
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md we should gladly welcome the day, if it might ever arrive, when 
Your Excellency returned to India. I t  is here that we see most clearly 
the pMsage of events beyond our borders and mark the signs of 
brooding trouble; and our hope has always been that, when that 
trouble should break forth, yours might be the hand to guide England's 
d.g to victory again. The Punjab is the sword of India, and Your 
E d e n c y  has had the courage to lean moat strongly upon that sword. 
It ir here that the pulse of the army beats in India; it  in hence that 
the anemies of our country shall feel the downright blow; and it in 
here that the greatest grief is felt in parting from so true a soldier and 
no far-seeing a Statesman as Your Excellency. I t  is meet, therefore, 
Lhst hew we should assemble upon this occasion of farewell to exprese 
the great sorrow which we. the representatives of the Europeans in the 
Prmjab, feel a t  the prospect of losing so soon the clear brain and strong 
iund  that Your Excellency has always brought to the control of the 
h y  in India and to the solution of all questions of political or military 
moment. In  doing so, wc mourn for the loss of one of the best 
statcanen, the best general, and the best friend to the soldier in India. 
We my nothing of the kindly relations Your Excellency has always 
been able to establish with the other m e s  in India ; our fellow-subjects 
here will doubtlees do so in their turn. We say nothing of Your 
Excellency's end Lady Roberts' charming social qualities, nor Her 
Ldyship's philanthropic work in India. We are here only to exprees 
om grief a t  parting with one whom we value so highly for the aake 
of our comlnon country, and our hope that as your part has been full 
of glory to the Enlpire and honour to yourself, so mmy your future be ; 
m d  that you may be spared for many years to wield the sword and 
gnide the counsels of our country. 
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To Hxa EXCELLENCY GENEEAL THE RIGHT HONOURUILB FEEDB~CX 
BABON ROBEBTS OF KANDAEAE AND W A T E B ~ E D ,  BAET., V.C.. 
G.C.B., G.C.I.E., R.A., Commundm-in-Chief of Her I m p w l  
Majeaty'r A m y  in India. 

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY, 
We, the Talukdare of Oudh, ae. loyal and faithful eubjecta of the 

Empress of India, avail ourselves of the present opportunity of offering 
Your Excellency a most cordial and reepectful welcome to the Capital 
of Oudh. 

The long and valuable aervices rendered by Your Excellency to the 
Crown and the country are well known to, and are deeply apprecirted 
by, us. Tour Excellency's wise and vigorous administration of Her 
Majesty's Army in India has won for you our roepectful admiration; 
while your prowess in the battle-field, and your wisdom in Council 
during the eventful period of your supreme com~nand of Her Majeaty'r 
Indian Forces, have inspired us with confidence in your great military 
talents and your single-minded and earnest devotion to duty. In 
many a battle you hare led the British A m y  to victory, and the 
brilliant success which has invariably attended the British Arms under 
Your Excellency's command has added to the glory of the British 
Empire. 

But the pride and pleasi~re we feel a t  being honoured by Your 
Excellency's presence in our capital town give place to sorrow and 
rege t  a t  the approaching retirement of Your Excellency from the 
great service of which you are an ornament. 

I n  grateful acknowledgment of the most important services ren. 
dered by Tour Excellency to our Empress and our country, we beg to 
be allowcd the privilege of presenting you with a Sword of Indian 
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lpulnhcture, whioh will, we hope, from time to time, remind you of 
ru and of Oudh. 

Wishing Yow Lordship s safe and plessemt voyage home, and a 
lane .rrd happy life, 

We eobecribe o u ~ ~ l v e a ,  
Tour Lordehip'e moat humble 

and obedient aervante, 
TH. TALUKDABLI OF OUDU. 
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TO HI8 EXCELLEN~Y QENBB~L THE RIGHT HONOWBABLE SIB FEEDICBICK 
SLRIGH, BABON ROBERTB OF KANDAEAB AND WATEBWRD, BABT., 
V.C., Q.C.B., Q.C.I.E., D.C.L., LL.D., R.A., C m f i l t c r *  
Chief in I&. 

YOUR EXCELLENCY, 
Viewing with concern and regret your approaching departure 

from Indim, we beg-in bidding you farewell-to expreee our admirr- 
tion of your life and work aa Commander-in-Chief of the Imperial 
Forcee in India, and to request you to permit your portrmit to be 
plmced in the Town Hall of Calcutta, in token for the present gene* 
tion of their high apprecimtion of your eminent sewicee, and in witmu 
to a future generetion of the esteem in which yon were held by your 
contemporaries. 

With foresight denoting wise etmtesmanship, Governments which 
you have served have initiated and maintained a policy of h n t i a r  
Defence, and encouraged the increeeed e5ciency of the Fo rm.  

In the furtherance of these objects we recognize the d e n t  poinb 
of your career and character whilst holding the high rank of Com- 
mander-in-Chief. 

In your continued efforta to ameliormte the condition of the private 
soldier we recognize broad humanity. I n  the incremning efticiency of 
the Army, which, in our belief, characterizes your tenure of wm- 
mand, we recognize high soldierly qualities. In the etete of etrengh 
which the Frontier Defences have attained, mainly due, we believe, to 
you, we recognize practical sagacity, conspiouous ability in discern- 
ment of requirements, and in pursuit of your aims an unwearying 
industry, a resolute porsistenoe, and a determination that no difficultg 
can turn, in which a noble example for all true workers may ba 
found. 
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In a word, your life and work are to UE identified with Frontier 
Defence and Efficient Forces. We cheerfully bear our share of the 
cost, aa in possession of these protections against aggression from 
without, we believe all who dwell within the borders of the land will 
find their best guarantee for peace, and in peace the beat aafegmud 
they and their children can possess to enable them to peee their livee 
in happiness and prosperity, and escape the misery and ruin which 
follow war and invasion. For all that you have done to give them 
mch security, we feel you deserve, and we freely give, our heartfelt 
umlks. 

Within the limitations of a farewell address, we hardly feel justified 
in personal allusion8 trenching on your private life, but we cannot 
refrain from noticing with responsive sympathy the feeling of personal 
. tbchment to yourself which is widespreed throughout India, and 
ueuring you that we share in it to the fullest extent that private 
feeling can be affected by public services. We endoree our Bseuranae 
with a n  expression of the wish that, in whatever part of the British 
Empire your future life may be spent, i t  may be attended, M in the 
past, with honour, and, by the blessing of God, with health and happi- 
nees for yourself and all thoee you hold dear. 

It is the prerogative of the Crown alone to bestow honours on thoee 
who have served their country well, and none have been better merited 
than those which you enjoy, and to which, we trust, additions may be 
made. I t  is the privilege of a community to make public profewion 
of merit in a fellow-citizen where they consider it is due, and in 
availing ourselvee of the privilege to make this public recognition of 
the great services which, in our opinion, you have rendered to India, 
we beg with all sincerity to add a hearty Godspeed and a regretful 
Farewell. 

We have the honour to be, 
Your Excellency, 

Your obedient servante. 
C A L ~ U ~ A ,  

11 th  March, 1898. 
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coping with tllc nilitilr 50i-510 ; Malcolni. Sir .lolin. i. 423, 440 
memorandunr in his M a n s 1  Pandy. i. 78 
510, 511 : i. 135, 201, Mannerj-Sniith. Lielitenant, ii. 186 
352, 440 Mansfield. Sir William. See Ssndhurat 

Lswrence, Captain Snui, Martin, Cla~ide, i. 302, 303 
M i o r  Strin ~ e r ,  ii. 3 8 i  , I.icoteuant, ii. 219 

Lennox, Sir \Vhbisliam, i. 306, 33i, BIsrtindalr, Miss, i. 265 
338 I M-y, Brigadier-(:meral, ii. 183, 186, 

Liddell, L i~utena~r t .  ii. 290 'L11, 215, 226, 257, 239, 267, 268, 
Little, Brib~drer, i. 312. 368 1 269, 270, 2i1, 272, 273, 276, 277, 
Lockhart, Sir \Villiain, ii. 264, 265, 278, 281, 286 

439 1 Matthew, Bishop, ii. 27 
Longden. Cal~tain, i. 306, 336 Maxwell, Major Henry Hamilton, i. 
Lo@eld, Brigadier, i. 2'26 383 
Louglman, Csptaiir, i. 340 1 Mayne, Lieutenant Otway, i. 296, 297, 
Low, Sir Hnlwrt, ii. 326, 315 298, 299,312, 313, 314 
Luck, C:rn~ral, ii. 422, 423, 435 / Mayo, Lord, ii. 41, 48, 50, 53, 67, 72, 
L u g a d ,  Sir hlward, i. 390, 403 108, 247 
L ~ n ~ a d e n ,  Captain, i. 326 I Mazr Ali. .lr~nadar, ii. 274 

Sir Harry, i. 45, 57 McQuwu, Sir John, i. 247, 829 ; ii. 
Sir Peter, i. 23, 57, 501 ; ii. 39, 1 148 

70, il, 84, 92 I Medley, Lieutcuant, i. 221, 222 
Lynll, Sir Aifrid, i. 260. 263, 264 ; , Melitab Sing, Ckneral, i. 136, 137 

ii. liti, 183, 316, 33i, 339 Merewether, O,lonel, ii. 32, 38 
Lyons-Montgomc.ry, Lieutenant, ii. 345 Metccrlfe, Sir Cliarlm, i. 440 
Lytton, Tlie h r l  of, i. 46 i  ; ii. Rti, 91, Sir Thoo ~liil~w, i. 234 

93, 94, 96, 98, 99, 100, 102, 111, Middleton, dajor ,  i. 306, 320, 552 
113, 118, 120, 121, 168, l iO,  lil, hlir hlolmrak Shah, i. 184 
172, l i 5 ,  179, 183, 186, 18i, 194, Hoir, Captain, i. SO9 
205, 234. 242, 245, 295, 313, 315, Money, Colonel O.  h'., ii. 202, 208, 
316, 317, 324 240, 265, 292, 285 

Lytton, Tlre (!orintesu of, i i  93, 96 Blontanaro, Lieutenant, ii. 290 
AIontgoniery, Sir Robert, i 119 ; ii. 2 

M d o n a l d ,  &lour - &rgvant, ii. 200, Moore. Major H e n y ,  ii. 57 
221 I Morraby, Captain, i. 1 

M d o n n e l l ,  Major-General, ii. 82 Morgan, Car?in,.fi. 266 
Mscgregor, Sir Cliarlr~, i. 408 : ii. 186, Moriarty, ajor, 11. 251 

239, 250, 342, 364, 3i1, 403 BI~ikmnuh lihan, S p y ,  i. 396, 3%' 
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Mrmro, Sir Thomas, i. 440 
Murphy, Private, i. 294 
Mnna Lieutenant, ii. 218 
MUM khan, ii. 201, 314 
Mushk-i-Alani, ii. 261, 300 
Mysore, Mahalaja of, ii. 387 

Nabha, Raja of, i. 103, 4 i 4  
Nadir Shah, i. 471 
Nairne, Major-General, ii. 434 
Nana Sahib, i. 292, 293, 374,375, 390, 

424,426, 427, 428, 429 
Napier, Ensign, i. 153 
Napier, Lord (of Magdiila), i. 163, 220, 

338, 346, 390, 396, 453, 498 ; ii. 33, 
34, 36, 37, 52, 54, 63, 69, 70, 71, 
79, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86 

Napier, Lord (of Murchieton), ii. 69 
Sir Charles, ii. 98 

Nek Mahomed Kban, ii. 210, 211 
Nepal, Maharaja of, ii. 448, 449, 450, 

451, 452 
Neville, Ca tain Philip, ii. 271, 273 
Nicholson, Lieutenant Charles. i 114 

237, 254 
Colonel W. G., ii. 403, 423 
John, A name to conjure with in 

the Punjab, i. 59 ; the beau- 
ideal of a soldier and a entle- 
man, 60 ; puniel~ment of i e h t a b  
Sing, 136 ;  llissoldierly instincts, 
138 ; his determination, 215, 
216 ; the nlan to do a desperate 
deed, 228 ; does it, 233 ; mor- 
tally wounded, 234 ; theauthor's 
last sight of Iiin~, 236 ; hisanger 
a t  the 811 tion of retreat, 239 ; 
his d e a t r  261 ; i. 52, 64, 65, 
66, 6 i .  68, 69, 71, 133, 134, 139, 
208, 214, 221, 227, 229, 235, 
440 ;  ii 13 

Major Lotl~ian, i. 400 
Norman, Sir Henry, i. 23, 149, 204, 

217, 219, 239, 240, 252, 258, 272, 
274, 305, 331, 337, 338, 339, 360, 
485, 493, 494 ; ii. 8, 68 

Northbrook, The Earl of, ii. 73, 79, 80, 
81, 8 i ,  99 

Northcote, Sir Stalford, ii. 38 
Nott, General, ii. 260 
Nugent, Lieutenant, ii. 306 
Nur Jehan, i. 38 
Nuttell, General, ii. 356, 363 

O M  Ulla Kllan, Sii~lar, ii. 113 
Oldfieltl, Lieotc~lant, i. 329 
Oll~l~ertu, Sir Willianl, i. 339 

INDEX 
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Omar Pesha, i 429 
Onelow, Captain, ii. 113 
Ondh, King of, i. 421 422, 424. 429 
~ u t r a m ,  s i r  James, i. 290, 295, 301, 

302, 303, 305, 306, 312, 317, 321, 
337, 338, 339, 345, 348, 351. 354, 
357, 358, 359, 389, 390, 395, 397, 
398, 999, 400, 401, 402, 403, 405, 
406, 407, 422, 440, 462 

Ouvry, Major, i. 257, 262. 268 
Om-en, Dr., ii 307 
Oxley, Captain, ii. 219 

Packe, Lieutenant, i. 118 
Palmer, Major, ii. 146 
Parry, bIajor, ii. 219 
Patiala, Maharqja of, i. 103, 474 
Paton, Colonel, i. 501 
Paul, Lieutenant, i. 325, 329 
Payn, Sir William, i. 383, 384 
Peacock, Sir Barnes. i. 3 
Peel, Sir William, i. 296, 306, 313, 320, 

332, 369, 394, 412 
Pelly, Sir Lewis. ii. 87 
Perkins, Colonel, i i  133, 145, 199, 297, 

299, 309, 342 
Pertap Sing, Maharaja, ii. 113, 430. 

458, 459 
Phayre, Sir Robert. ii. 336, 352. 355, 

355, 360, 362, 3 i 6  
Pole-Carew, Captain, i i  2 i 2 ,  273, 584 
Pollock, General Sir George, i i  l i l ,  

260 
Sir Frederick, ii. 72 

Polwhele, Brqadier, i. 283, 284, 2S5 
Powell, Captam, i. 3 ; ii. 153 
Poalett, Captain. i. 336 
Prendergast, Sir Harry, ii. 399, 400 
Pretyman, Captain, ii. 125. 135, 384 
Prideaux, Lieutenailt. ii. 32 
Primrose, Genenrl, ii. 330, 331, 3S3, 

354, 356, 358, 360, 36'2, 363. 364 
Probyn, Sir Dighton, i. 114, 237. 257. 

262, 265, 2 i 4 ,  275, 276, 291, 311, 
315, 373, 384, 411 ; ii. 5, 13 

Protheroe, Major, ii. 345 
Prumia, Crown Prinwm of, ii. 401 
Pursoo Khatri, Jemadar, ii. 171 

Qninton, Mr., ii. 440 

Ragobir K rkoti, Sahadar, ii. l i 4  
Ram sing,%. Ja, ii. 432, 433 
Rampur, Nawab of, i 465 
Rao, Sir Madhava, ii. 388, 369 
Rawlinsou, Sir Henry. ii. 46, 47 
W e ,  Mr., i. 281, 285 
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Reed, General, i 49, 58, 68, 186, 191, 

1Q7 *,. Private,.i 207 
Bei , S u  Chaa, L 164, 218, 225 ; ii. 82 
b m m g t o n ,  Chptain, i. 257,274, 310, 

313. 345 
Benaick, Captain, ii. 151 
Bewa, Maharqja of, i. 465 
Rich, Captain, ii. 40 
Ricketts, George, i. 143,144, 145, 146, 

14; 
way, Sir West, ii. 316, 345 &% Captain. ii. 345 

Ripon, The Maquis of, ii. 324,339,371, 
376,390 

Rohr ts ,  General Sir Ahraham, i. 18, 
19, 20, 23, 24, 29, 30, 3 1 ;  ii. 80 

Boberta, Hon. F. 9.. ii. 69, 70 
Roberts, M y ,  i. 451, 452, 453, 455, 

458, 459, 460, 489, 471, 472, 473, 
4 i i ,  4 i9 ,  481, 485, 489, 490, 493, 
494, 495, 497 ; ii. 22, 23, 06, 2 i ,  30, 
31, 38, 39, 40, 51, 52, 69, 70, 77, 81, 
92, 100, 101, 167, l i 9 ,  181, 183, 
189, 347, 3 i7 ,  380, 382, 387, 392, 
4@2, 410, 411, 412, 450, 451 

B o h ~ r t r ,  Lord, leavea England, 1 ; 
arrives in India, 4 ; life in Calcutta, 
4 10 ; joomey to Pwhawar, 1 1 - l i  ; 
a t  Peshawar, 18-31 ; visib Kaelrmir, 
35-10 ; joins Ilorne Artillery, 41 ; 
t in t  visit to Sin~la, 43 ; returns to 
Prahawar, 45 ; tirst Statf alqmillt- 
nlvut, 47 ; secontl Statf appiutnleut ,  
57 ; refixw al~lmiutn~elrt In P.W.D. 
58 ; first merting with Sichnlson, 
59 ; hears first t i d i n g  of Mutiny, 
6'2 ; Statf Officer to Brigadier Chanl- 
Iwrlain, iO ; leaven Prsllawar with 
Slt~vable Colun~n. i 3  ; ni mu& to 
Ihdlhi, i4-148 ; a t  Lallore, 118-126 : 
f o r e  h i ,  1 4 9 :  appointed 
1I.A.Q.M.G. with Artillc~y, 177 : 
timt u~lder t in,  180 ; a o ~ ~ ~ ~ d t v l ,  194 ; 
lnht night of Sicl~vlson, 238 : cllargrr 
killed. 240;  takes ]art  in ntorm- 
ing of thr  mlacr, 243 ; leavrn Dclhi 
a i t h  (;reathrci's colunln for Cawn- 
pow, 258 ; iu artion at Bulnlldshahr, 
261 ; narrow ewalr ,  262 : in tight at  
Aligarh, 267 : ill tight a t  A p ,  275 ; 
first sight of Taj Yahal, 2 i 9  ; amves 
a t  Cawn re, 29'2 ; m w b  Sir Colin 
Campbel&05 ; nlarches to L~lcknow, 
306-310 ; meets a i t h  a night advert- 
tl~re, 316-320 : in the atoruling of 
the S ikandar lqh .  321 -328 ; in the 

attack on the Shah Najaf, 331-334 ; 
plant8 the colours on the nless-house, 
837 ; a t  the relief of the Residency, 
337-341 ; uins the V.C., 3 8 6 ;  a t  
the siege of Lucknoa, 394-413 ; his 
views on the Mutiny, 414-437 ; on 
our preaent position in India, 438- 
449 ; takw furlough, 450 : marries, 
451 ; rettrrna to India, 453 ; reftlaeu 
p t  in Revenue Survey, 451 ; ac- 
w m p n i e s  Lord Cann on his 
Viceregal pro-. 4 5 4 3 8 :  visits 
Sin~la, 4iH-48'2 : anwmpnirs  Lord 
Canning thro~rgh Cer~tral India, 485- 
489 : returns to Silnlo, 4b9 ; odered 
to Allalrald,  490 ; accomlarries 
Conlmander-in-Cl~irf on tour, 492- 
495 ; mturns to Sin~la,  496 ; again 
on tour a ith Con~mander-in-Chief, 
497-500 ; hm a snnstroke, 500 ; 
made A.Q.M.C., 501 ; nerves with 
Umbeyla E x p i t i o n ,  -i. 1-22 ; 
voyage round t e Cape, 24 26 ; servea 
with Ab rwinian Expedition, 32-37 ; 
bearer o t the  All wininn desptches, 
38 : t in t  A.Q.L!.C., 3 9 ;  r e t u r n  to 
India, 40 : birth of dau Ilter, 52 : 
nerves wit11 Ltlal~ai Expcfition, 53- 
68 ; of ti cia ti^^ Q. bl.O., 81 : sc~*]~ta 
couln~and of L a j a b  Fmutier Force, 
100 ; assunlcs mn~nlaud of Kuranl 
Field Forre. 121 : sl~ortn)nlinp of 
his colunln, 112, 123 ; Ilia able staff, 
124 ; advunwa illto the I(umm 
valle . 127-133 ; bkw the Peiwu 
Kotai: 1 3 i - l r S  ; devotion of his 
orderlies, 113 : congratulated 11y ihe 
Queen, 150 ; han~l r red  hy want of 
translr,rt, 155 ; ]~urli:lir~~ent of 
treachey, 156 ; action a t  lihost, 
159 : nllsrel~mntccl  in the IIouw of 
Commons, 182 ; disll~i~w* a war COT- 

~.eslmutleut. 105 ; holds a @I~@II's 
hirthdov prrade, l i 4  : says p o d - b  e 
to Cavippari, l i i  : wrvm on t i e  
Arm Con~llliasiot~, 179 : his m n l -  
nieniatioll* ~ m l r ~ a l l y  rnrrid out, 
180 : alqminted Conrnlander of Kabul 
Field Force, 134 : startafor Eahul.189 ; 
correqmndc~~n.  a i t h  Yakul~ K h ,  
190 ; b u r s  a Pnr-lanlation to the 
m p l e  of Kal~ul, 1%t : ruertin with 

\-akub Khan, 20:! ; iasurs a #mcl.- 
nlation and an Ordr.r, 204 ; takes the 
Shutaqpnlan, 208 ; drfcata the 
Afghar~s a t  (:hnmia. 216 - 2.22 ; 
advances 1111 lial1111, 223-2'28 : in- 
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stn~ctiona from the Government of 
India, 230-232 ; ins cts the Eru- 
baas7 and the 8.1. &, 232.233 ; 
receives abdication of Yakub Khan, 
235 ; issues a Proclanlation, 237 ; 
makes a formal entry into Kabul, 
238 ; adoptn measures for c n ~ ~ y i n g  
on administration, 239 ; nlisrepre- 
sented in House of Conimolls, 239 ; 
congratulated by the Queen and the 
Viceroy, 242 ; wintering a t  Kabul, 
243.262 ; attacked by the tribesmen 
on all sides, 263-281 ; life saved by 
Mazr Ali, 274 ; storming of the 
Takl~t-i-Sllal~, 283 ; further attacks, 
285 -291 ; concentrates his forces 
a t  Sher ur, 292-294 ; strengthens 
his de$iices, 295 - 300 ; arrcsta 
Daud Shah, 301 ; defeats and 
dispcws the tribesmen, 305 ; re- 
opens communication with India, 
307 ; iwues a Proclanlation, 307 ; 
fortifies Sllerpor, 309 ; negotiations 
a t  Kabul, 310-320 ; lloltls a durbar, 
319 ; hands over supreme comn~and 
to Sir Donald Btowart, 325 ; visita 
Jalalabad, 330 ; 11rars uews of Mai- 
wand, 330 ; telegram to Adjutant- 
General, 337 ; a )pointed Commander 
of liabul-lCandJlar Field Force, 339 ; 
 repr rations for the n~nl rh ,  339-441 ; 

aetaila of the Force, 342-344 ; con)- 
ii~issariat and transport, 345, 346 ; 
starta for Kandahar, 347 ; order of 
marching, 340, 349 ; rwcllea Ghazni, 
9.50 ; reachea Kelat-i-Ghilzai, 351 ; 
t l r g r a l ~ h s  progress to Gove~nnleut, 
352 ; food required daily for the force, 
353; down with fever, 354 ; reports 
~rogress, 354 ; letter from General b h a p ,  355 ; telegraphs to Yhla ,  

356 ; reaclres Knn(lnltar, 356 ; de- 
moralized condition of the gerrison, 
35i  ; encanrps to the west of tho city, 
358 ; lrconnoitres the enemy's posi- 
tion, 359 ; arrs~~nles con~nland of the 
Army of Southern Afghanistan, 562 ; 
defeats Ayob Khan. 363-367 ; and 
c a p t ~ l m  his camp, 367 ; t e l c p p h s  
tho new,  370; ditficulties about 
aupplirs, 371 ; e o r l r t u l a t r d  by tho 
Q o m  and the Du e of Cumbridge, 
372 ; made G.C.B., 3 i 2  ; a p  minted 
Commander-in-Chief of the badma 
Amy.  3 i 2  : proceeds to Qlletta, 3 i 2  ; 
p r t i n ~  with the t m o p ,  3 i 3  ; plemant 
memones, 374 ; receives autogral~h 

X 

letter from the Qneen, 376 ; weep 
tion in England, 376 ; appointed 
Governor of Natnl and Commander 
of the Forces in Youth Africa. 379 ; 
witnesses the mancrovn?s of the Ger 
man Arn~y,  379 ; otfeml the Quarter- 
master - Generalshi11. 379 ; p r d  
to Mndras, 380 ; visits the h L n d a m a n  
Islands, 380 ; proceeds to Burma,381; 
declinea the Quartermaster-General- 
ship, 382 : measures for improvingtpe 
Madras A ~ m y ,  383 386 ; memones 
of Madras, 386-389 ; visits Calcutta, 
390 ; meeting with AMnr  Rahman 
a t  Rawal Pindi, 392-397 ; r e t o m  to 
Madnrs, 397 ; a ,pointed Conin~andsr- 
in-Chief in India, 398 ; blief visit to 
England, 398 ; accompnies Lord 
Dufferin to Gwalior, 398 ; p r o d  
to Dclt~i, 400 ; Camp of Exercise at 
Dell~i, 401 ; accompanies Lord 
Dutferin to Bumla, 402 ; prooeeds 
to thc North-West Frontier, 402 ; 
makes a tour of i n s ~ w t i o n ,  402- 
406 ; dmws up a niemorandrrm on 
frontier defence, 407-409 ; Ld 
Roberts's Homes. 410-413 ; e n d :  
reinfolcenlenta to Burma, 413 ; 
lands a t  Rangoou, 414 ; nleasnm 
for pacification of U per Burma, 
415 ; inspects ~ o r t h - \ F e a t  Frontier 
with General Cheune 4 1 i  ; rrceivtm 
Grand C h s s  of the Tndian Empire, 
41 8 ; establishes " Re 'mental Insti- 
tutes," 418 ; wtat,lisfes the A m y  
Tenlperance Association, 419-421 ; 
makes a tour with Lord Dn6crin 
along the North-\Vest Frontier. 
42'2 ; otficial inspections, 423 ; pre- 
sides over Defence and Mobilization 
Conln~ittees, 423-426 ; supporta Lard 
Dutferin's scllenlr for the utilization 
of Native States' armies, 427 ; 
visits the fruntier, 429 ; spends 
Christmas in camp, 429 : visits 
Calcutta, 429; makes 8 tour of 
inspection in Centnrl India and 
Bqipatana, 429.431 ; and in K.shmir, 
431-433; remodrls the s tern of 
musketry instruction for tc Nat im 
Arn~y,  433 : iulprovements in 
Artillr and Cavalry, 434, W ; 
visits x e  fmntier with Lord knc 
d o m e .  435, 436 : o 6 e d  the t of 
Adjutant-General. 437 ; n t c c t a f k c s  
Albert Victor in Ulcuth,  437 ; 
enterbins tlkr Prince a t  Muridki. 
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438 ; exteiision of command, 439; Shah Mahomd Khan, Wszir, ii. 196, 
meeta the Cesarewitch in Calcutta, 211, 233, 259 
440 ; viewa on tire Native Amry, Shall Shtrja. i. 19, 26 
441 ; s t e p  t k e u  to increase its Sliaidad Khan, Reaaidar, i. 129 
efficiency, 442 ; c n n w i o n  to tho Sher Ali, Amir. ii. 41, 42, 43, 44, 46, 
Native Amry, 443 ; unahle to 47, 48, 49, 50, 72, 73, ii, i5, 76, 99, 
remedy the orrder-officering of Kative 109. 110. 11 1, 112, 116, 118, 120, 

ments, 444 ; inn ts tilo Zhob 156. 15i, 168, 172, 247, 261, 312, 
fgley wit11 ( i e i r e r a ~ r a c k c n b u y ,  316, 468. 4iO. 477. 484 
445 ; raised to the perage. 44; ; Sherries, Lieutellant, ii. 145 
visits Hurnra, 447 ; visits Nepal, Shernton. Lient~.nant John, ii. 272 
448 ; review of tlre hlalrarnja's t roop,  Showem, Brigadier, i. 160, 200, 201 
449 ; a p i i d  d u r h r .  450 ; an even- Sikinr, Haja of. ii. 428 
ing reception a t  the palace, 451 ; a Sindhia. Maharaja, i. 280, 498 ; ii. 06, 
short tour in tlie Punjah, 452 ; pro- 898 

Mission to the Amir, 453 ; the Sirdar Sing, ii. 431 
mion a h n d o n d ,  454 ; adieu to Skinner, Jarnos. i. 241 P 

Sinila, 454 ; final tour in tlre Punjab, Sleerrrcrn. Colonel, i. 421 
455 ; farewc~ll rntertaininerrtr a t  Snritll, hlajor E:uaii. ii. 345 
Lahore, 456 ; a t  Lucknoa, 4.57 ; and Sn~yth-Windlianr, Major, ii. 270, 273 
a t  Calcutta, 45i ; pig-stickin a t  S p n s ,  Cal~tuiii, ii. 293 
Jaipur and Jodhpur, 458 ; a d f s  Spttiawoale. Colonel, i. 112 
from tlie m~ruic ip l i t  of Alrrneda- Stavelcy, Sir Charles, ii. 98 
bad, 459 : parting Luner  a t  the Stewart, .Iohu, i. 2 
Byculla Cluh, 469 ; the end of forty- Patrick, i. 321 
one yeam in India, 460 Sir Donald, i. 16, 17i, 404, 

Romanofski, (;errernl, ii. 43 411, 502, 503, 504, 505, 506; 
Rose, Sir Hugh. Sex Strathnaim ii. 29. 53, 67, 82, 117, 183, 
b a s ,  Sir John, ii. 311, 321, 322, 342, 199, 310, 315, 317, 321, sn, 
362, 364, 366, 397 323. 324, 329, 330, 335, 3.97, 

Dr. T y m l l ,  i, 385, 386, 477 338, 339, 340, 346, 351, 312, 
RIISSC~~,  Hripdicr D., i. 306, 313. 336, 382, 384, 392, 398, 401, 403 
343, 344 Sir Herbert, ii. 71 

Sir Edward I,., ii. 31, 37 Stewart-Mackenzir, Captain. ii. 274, 
Rottun Siug. SuLdar,  i. 254 276 

St. John, Sir Oliver, ii. 113. 317, 354. 
355, 35s 

Saivad Nur Mahomed. ii. 73. 74, 75. . . .  
f6, 98 

ale, Sir RoIwrt, i. 26 ; ii. 171, 253, 330 
Saliebu y ,  The Marquis of. ii. 119, 397 
Salkeld, Lieutenant, i. 229, 230 
Salmon, Sir Nowcll, i. 333 
Salmoncl. Lientruant, i. 373 
Sandcrr~an. Culor~el, i. 140 

Sir Roljert, i. 140 ; ii. 88, 372, 
404, 436 

Gendhurst, L o ~ l  (Sir Willian~ Mans- 
firlti), i. 301, 323, 331, 354, 355, 356, 
363, 371, 3i3, 374, 382, 383, 406 ; 
ii. 26, 2R, 39. 52 

Sankar DM. Xntive Doctor, ii. li4 
Raml, Captain, i. 261 
SchouvalulT, C't~unt, ii. 107 
k t t .  Mqjor, i. 219 
ShaRo, Cuptain, ii. 241 

Stillman. Lieutenant, i. 187 
Stolietoff, Cerreral, ii. 110, 113, 248 
Strathnairn, Lord (Sir Hugh Roee), i. 
13i, 410, 481. 483, 486, 490, 493, 
494, 498, 499 ; ii. 1. 14, 'L'2, 26, 71 

Stratton, Captain, ii. 2!!, 369 
Yullivsn, Gunner, i. 294. 
Solten Jan, Sllalizada, 11. 163, 164 
Swat, Akh~md of, ii. 4, 8 
Swinley, Ca ~ta in ,  ii. 160, 290 
~ y a c i  Alrmnf shah,  ii. 2, 3 
Symons. Major, ii. 416 
Syngc, Captain, i. 230 

Tanrerlanr, i. 471 
Tanner, Sir Orirl, ii. 351, 352 
Tantia Topi, i. 294, 304, 368, 369,3i4, 
378, 379, 498 

Taylor, Co mral, i. 230 
Colon2 Rcynell. ii. 7, 9,ll. 19, 21 
Sir Alexander, i. 181, 217, Pal, 
244 ; i i  6, 19 
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Temple, Sir Richad, ii. 81 
Thebaw, King, ii. 399, 400 
Thelwall, Brigadier, ii. 137 
Theodore, King, ii. 27, 32, 33, 37 
Tllomson, Lieutenant, I. 294 
Thornton, Thomaa, i. 144 
Tonlbs, Sir Harry, i. 162, 169, 175, 

187, 220, 237 
Tonk, Nawab of, i. 467 
Towusend, Dr., ii. 200 
Travancore, Maharaja of, ii. 38i, 388 
Travera, Lieutenant Eaton, i. 203 

Major, i. 320, 324 
Trevelyan, Sir Charles, i. 480 
Troser, Lieutenant, ii. 286 
Tryon, Sir George, ii. 36 
Turner, Colon01 F., i. 275, 391 

Sir IV. If'., ii. 14, 15, 16, 17 
Tytler, Captain, i. 160 

' Welchman, Colonel, i. 173 
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